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ORDER OF REFERENCE

Extract from the Minutes of the Proceedings of the Senate, Thursday,
March 12th, 1964:

“Pursuant to the Order of the Day, the Senate resumed the debate on the
motion of the Honourable Senator Leonard, seconded by the Honourable Sen-
ator Inman, for second reading of the Bill S-6, intituled: ‘“An Act to incorporate

Bank of Western Canada”.
After debate, and—
The question being put on the motion, it was—
Resolved in the affirmative, on division.
The Bill was then read the second time, on division. ’

The Honourable Senator Leonard moved, seconded by the Honourable
Senator Inman, that the Bill be referred to the Standing Committee on Bank-

ing and Commerce.
The question being put on the motion, it was—
Resolved in the affirmative.”

J. F. MacNEILL,
Clerk of the Senate.
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MINUTES OF PROCEEDINGS

WEDNESDAY, March 18, 1964.

Pursuant to adjournment and notice the Standing Committee on Bank-
ing and Commerce met this day at 9.30 a.m.

Present: The Honourable Senators Hayden (Chairman), Aseltine, Baird,
Beaubien (Bedford), Beaubien (Provencher), Blois, Brooks, Burchill, Cho-
quette, Connolly (Ottawa West), Cook, Crerar, Croll, Davies, Fergusson, Flynn,
Gelinas, Gershaw, Hugessen, Irvine, Isnor, Kinley, Lambert, Lang, Leonard,
McCutcheon, McLean, Monette, Pearson, Pouliot, Power, Reid, Roebuck,
Smith (Kamloops), Taylor (Norfolk), Vaillancourt and Woodrow.—37.

In attendance: Mr. E. Russell Hopkins, Law Clerk and Parliamentary
Counsel.

Bill S-6, intituled: “An Act to incorporate Bank of Western Canada”,
was read and considered.

On Motion of the Honourable Senator Leonard, it was RESOLVED to
Report recommending that authority be granted for the printing of 1000
copies in English and 400 copies in French of the Committee’s proceedings on
the said Bill.

The following witnesses were heard:

Mr. Clayton F. Elderkin, Inspector General of Banks.

Mr. Sinclair M. Stevens.

Mr. James E. Coyne.

Further consideration of the Bill was adjourned.

The Committee adjourned at 12.55 p.m. to the call of the Chairman.

Attest.

F. A. Jackson,
Clerk of the Committee.
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THE SENATE

STANDING COMMITTEE ON BANKING AND COMMERCE
EVIDENCE

Otrrawa, WEDNESDAY, March 18, 1964.

The Standing Committee on Banking and Commerce, to which was re-
ferred Bill S-6, to incorporate the Bank of Western Canada, met this day at
9.30 a.m.

Senator Salter A. Hayden (Chairman) in the Chair.

The committee agreed that a verbatim report be made of the committee’s
proceedings on the bill.

The committee agreed to report recommending authority be granted for
the printing of 1,000 copies in English and 400 copies in French of the com-
mittee’s proceedings on the bill.

The CHAIRMAN: Senator Leonard, you were the sponsor of this bill in the
Senate. Have you any statement to make?

Senator LEoNARD: Mr. Chairman and honourable senators, I would like to
introduce to you the gentlemen who are appearing on behalf of the petitioners.
I will ask them to come forward and take seats beside the chairman so that
when they make their submissions they will be more readily heard.

Mr. Ross Tolmie, Q.C., well-known counsel of Ottawa, is counsel for the
petitioners in this application. He has with him Mr. Maxwell Bruce, Q.C. of
Toronto, who is also a counsel for the petitioners. Also appearing is Mr. James
E. Coyne, who is well known to all members of this committee, and who is one
of the provisional directors, as is Mr. Maxwell Bruce. Mr. Sinclair Stevens,
another provisional director of the proposed bank, is also present.

Mr. C. F. Elderkin, the Inspector General of Banks, is present, and subject
to the wishes of the committee my suggestion would be that we might hear
Mr. Elderkin first. He can give us the story with respect to banks and the
banking system, and the background against which this application is being
made. I suggest that because when dealing with bills incorporating insurance
companies we usually hear Mr. MacGregor, the Superintendent of Insurance.

The CHAIRMAN: Before calling on Mr. Elderkin I want to remind honour-
able senators that we are proposing to adjourn the sittings of the committee at
about 10.20 for 15 minutes or so so that we may take part in the ceremony in
the Speaker’s chambers in connection with the unveiling of a portrait of Sen-
ator White, a former Speaker.

Before honourable senators start putting their questions I will ask Mr.
Elderkin to give us a statement in connection with banking in Canada as he
has seen it over the years he has occupied his position.

Mr. Clayton F. Elderkin, Inspector General of Banks: Thank you, Mr. Chair-
man and honourable senators. You might be interested in a very brief history
of banking in Canada in respect of incorporations, mergers, failures, et cetera.

7



8 STANDING COMMITTEE

The first bank charter was granted in the old Province of Canada in 1822,
and between that time and the time of Confederation some 80 banks were cre-
ated in British North America, of which 35 charters were in effect on July 1,
1867. Five of those banks or their successors are in operation today.

The British North America Act of 1867, as you well know, placed under
the exclusive legislative authority of the Parliament of Canada the power to
make laws with regard to banking and the incorporation of banks. Since then
77 banks have obtained charters, of which three have survived. Of the 112
banks that were active on, or which have been incorporated since, July 1, 1867,
104 have ceased to exist. Of these 38 never commenced business, 28 failed, and
38 were taken over by or were amalgamated with other banks. It is probable
that many of those merged in earlier years—that is, before the last three amal-
gamations—would have failed had they not been taken over by stronger insti-
tutions.

The total of losses to creditors through bank liquidations since Confedera-
tion has been about $15 million, of which over half resulted from the failure
of the Home Bank of Canada. Losses to bank note holders included in that
figure amount to about $250,000, all of which occurred prior to 1882.

This record of bank closing is unfortunately high. It must be borne in
mind that it occurred during a period of enormous and violent economic changes
in Canada and in the rest of the world.

The last bank failure in this country, namely, that of the Home Bank,
occurred in 1923.

Coming across to somewhat more modern times, some 50 years ago
Canada had 24 banks. Since then, two have failed—the Vancouver Bank and
the Home Bank; two new banks have been incorporated and commenced
operations, namely, Barclays and the Mercantile; 16 have merged or amalga-
mated; eight are active now.

In the same period, five were incorporated but never commenced business.

It might also be interesting to give you a little breakdown about periods.
In the period 1913-23, there were six mergers; in 1923-34, there were
seven mergers; in 1934-54, that is, in those 20 years, there were none; in 1954-
64 there were three mergers; making a total of 16 mergers.

Those figures do not include The Sovereign Bank of Canada, which appears
in the Bank Act, 1913, but which really ceased to operate in 1908. It was
wound up in 1914. Its liabilities were taken over by other chartered banks.

It is also interesting to note that the British Bank of North America
was not listed in the Bank Act 1913, as it was then operating under Royal charter
and not under the Bank Act.

This, honourable senators, is just a brief history of the banking system,
as to its mergers, amalgamations and failures since we started to have banks
in Canada.

It might be of interest also to note the location of banks that have been
created since Confederation and which have ceased to operate. In Nova
Scotia there were four, three of which failed and one was merged; in New
Brunswick there was one, which failed; in Prince Edward Island there was one,
which was merged; in Quebec there were nine, of which two merged and
the remainder failed; in Ontario there were 16, of which 10 were merged and
the remainder failed; in Manitoba there were two, of which one failed and one
was merged; in Saskatchewan there was one, which was merged; in British
Columbia there were two, one of which failed and the other was merged.

The CHAIRMAN: Was there nothing in Alberta?

Mr. ELDERKIN: There was none in Alberta. There was one charter granted
in Alberta, but it never commenced business. The charter was issued and not
used.
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As to those charters which were issued and not used, if it is of interest,
they were as follows:

2 in Nova Scotia

2 in New Brunswick
10 in Quebec
13 in Ontario

7 in Manitoba

2 in Saskatchewan

1 in Alberta

1 in Yukon
making a total of 38 charters which were granted but never used.

Senator KINLEY: How many in Nova Scotia, did you say?

Mr. ELDERKIN: As to the banks which started in Nova Scotia after July
1 (1867) and have since ceased to operate, there were four, of which one was
merged, namely, the Halifax Banking Company Bank, which was merged with
the Bank of Commerce; and there were three which failed, namely, the Bank
of Acadia and Liverpool; the Bank of Liverpool; and the Pictou Bank in
Pictou.

Senator KINLEY: Did not the People’s Bank amalgamate with the Montreal
Bank; and the Merchants Bank of Halifax—

Mr. ELpERKIN: That was, I believe, before Confederation.

Senator KiNLEY: No.

An HonN. SENATOR: It was in 1906.

Senator KINLEY: In my time, it was.

Mr. ELDERKIN: Was that in Nova Scotia?

Senator KINLEY: It was the Merchants Bank of Halifax, which went to
the Royal.

Mr. ELDERKIN: The Merchants Bank became the Royal.

Senator KINLEY: And the People’s Bank of Halifax went to the Montreal;
and the Canadian Bank of Commerce absorbed the Halifax Banking Company.

Mr. ELDERKIN: The Halifax Bank went to the Commerce. The People’s
Bank of—

Senator KiNLEY: To the Montreal.

Mr. ELDERKIN: In 1905. It was an 1864 charter. I was giving you those
which were created after Confederation.

Senator KINLEY: Created? Oh, yes. But, since then?

Mr. ELDERKIN: Those created since Confederation. The People’s Bank
was created before Confederation.

Senator Remp: Can you say, of the banks that failed, were the depositors
paid?

Mr. ELpERkIN: In regard to the banks that failed, since Confederation,
most of them paid off their note holders in full. A few did not, namely, the
Bank of Acadia, the Mechanics Bank of Montreal, the Bank of Prince Edward
Island; the remainder paid their note holders in full. The payments to depositors
ranged from full payments to none.

Senator RoEBUCK: What happened to the Bank of Upper Canada? It was
incorporated at Confederation, or just before Confederation.

Mr. ELDERKIN: There were two, were there not? One was the so-called
‘“Pretended” Bank.
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Senator RoeBuck: I am thinking of the regular banks.
Mr. ELpERKIN: It closed in 1866, the Bank of Upper Canada.
Senator RoEBUCK: Do you know anything more about it? 18667

Mr. ELDERKIN: Yes, it was chartered in 1821 under the Province of Canada,

and closed in 1866.

Senator RoeEBUCK: Did it fail?

Mr. ELDERKIN: Yes. It suspended payment on the 18th September 1866 and,
after going through a certain period of liquidation by the trustees, the estate
was transferred to the Crown by an act passed in 1870. Various claims were
disposed of by the Crown and those which were not filed lapsed at that time.
It amounts to prescription, I suppose. The bank was indebted to the old Province
of Canada for over $1 million and when the federal Government took over
they wrote the claim off for the benefit of the depositors.

Senator RoEBUCK: Thank you.

The CHAIRMAN: Have you any figure in dollars as to what depositors have
lost over the years through bank failures?

Mr. ELpERKIN: Not prior to Confederation, but, since Confederation, ap-
proximately one and a half million dollars. We have quite a record of failure
prior to Confederation but not too much of the detail of the amounts
involved.

Senator Brooks: What happened to the banks that were in existence at
the time of Confederation? There must have been quite a number in the
provinces?

Mr. ELDERKIN: Of those in existence at the time of Confederation, as I
said a few moments ago, we still have five, namely, the Bank of Montreal,
chartered in 1822; the Bank of Nova Scotia, chartered in 1832; the Toronto
Dominion, of which the Toronto was chartered in 1855; La Banque Pro-
vinciale du Canada, which was chartered in 1861; the Canadian Imperial
Bank of Commerce, of which the Canadian Bank of Commerce was chartered in
1867.

Senator McLEaN: When was the bank in New Brunswick started?

Mr. ELDERKIN: The Bank of New Brunswick was, if I remember rightly,
the second bank to be chartered. That was prior to Confederation, of course.
It was merged with the Bank of Nova Scotia. It was chartered in 1820 and
merged in 1913.

Senator KiNLEY: What happened to the Bank of Liverpool, the Bank of
Yarmouth and the Bank of Windsor. All of them were before Confederation,
in Nova Scotia.

Mr. ELDERKIN: The Bank of Liverpool was chartered in 1871. It first
failed in 1873. In 1878 it received some new capital and was revived. However,
it only managed to survive until 1879. The Bank of Nova Scotia bought its assets
and paid off its note issue, but not all of its depositors.

Senator KiNLEY: How about the Bank of Yarmouth?

Mr. ELDERKIN: The Bank of Yarmouth? I do not think it had a very good
reputation, if I remember rightly.

When the bank failed, it was found that its capital had been wiped out for
years, but its dividends continued. There were false and deceptive statements
filed with the Government, in regard to one of which a charge of fraud
was brought against the cashier, the president and vice-president. The cashier
was convicted. The president and vice-president pleaded ignorance and pleaded
their implicit confidence in the cashier, and the charges in respect to them
were dismissed. The directors were held jointly and severally liable for the
dividends paid out of capital.

sk
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Senator KinrLeEy: What about the Windsor Bank?

The CHAIRMAN: We might as well have it complete.
Senator RoeEBUCK: It is a very interesting history.

Mr. ELDERKIN: Was that Windsor, Nova Scotia?
Senator KINLEY: Windsor, Nova Scotia, yes?

Mr. ELDERKIN: It must have been before Confederation.

Senator KiNnLEY: It was.

Mr. ELDERKIN: The Commercial Bank of Windsor. It was chartered in
1865. It merged with the Royal Bank of Canada in 1902.

Senator RoeBuck: They will never plead ignorance in Nova Scotia now.

Senator LAMBERT: I was wondering, Mr. Chairman, if it is possible for
the witness to tell us something about capitalization of the banks, in 1914,
after World War I in 1920, in 1940, in 1950 and in 1964. If he has those figures
conveniently at hand, it would be interesting to know the capitalization.

The CHAIRMAN: Do you mean the sum total, or the capitalization for each
bank?

Senator LaAMBERT: Collectively, not for each bank.

Mr. ELDERKIN: I am afraid I have not those figures available. I can obtain
them for the committee. You are selecting years relative to the revision of the
Bank Act, are you senator?

Senator LAMBERT: Largely in connection with the pre-war figure 1914, and
the same with regard to the others.

Mr. ELDERKIN: I have not those figures in front of me, but I can obtain
them for you, if there is another hearing of the committee. Of course, I can
give you the figure for 1964. At the present time the shareholders equity,
paid up capital, the rest, and undivided profits, amount to approximately
$1,150,000,000.

Senator LAMBERT: What is the number of banks represented?
Mr. ELpErRkIN: Eight banks now.

Senator CrRERAR: I should like to ask the witness if he has any views he
can give us about these mergers, and what occasioned them. In a few instances,
quite clearly it was a case of bad management resulting from failure. It
would be interesting if you have any theory as to why banks merge.

Mr. ELDERKIN: As you know, we have had three amalgamations, which
are different in some respects but much the same as mergers, since 1954,
but prior to that time there had not been any for a considerable period of
time. I cannot give you any particular reasons for the former ones. In some
cases, without doubt, it was definite weakness. I do not think I should mention
names, but the last two that took place, prior to 1954, were occasions of
which a really substantial loss had occurred in the absorbed bank. The Na-
tionale, for instance, is public information. It was almost bankrupt when
taken over by the Bank of Hochelaga. The Merchants Bank of Canada was
taken over by the Bank of Montreal. You will remember, probably, there was
a government investigation of that particular one which was carried out
by Mr. Edwards of Edwards Morgan, on behalf of the Minister of Finance,
and following that particular one, in which the difficulty arose through bad
lending in two or three substantial accounts—and this was the case with the
Nationale too, incidentally—the Government brought in a revision to the
Bank Act in 1924, which created the office I now occupy. In some cases one
could say general economic conditions, particularly in some parts of the
country, caused the losses. The ones that are more recent, and perhaps about
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which we have more detail—I am not speaking of the last three—I think
were caused by bad credit policies, lending in many cases far beyond the
capacity of the bank.

The CHAIRMAN: And the borrower too.

Mr. ELDERKIN: The borrower eventually went into liquidation, I think in
most cases.

Senator CrorLL: May I ask a question. The last bank failure we had was
41 years ago?

Mr. ELDERKIN: 1923, yes.

Senator CroLL: Who lost in that bank, have you a run down?

Mr. ELpErRKIN: That was the Home Bank of Canada.

Senator CROLL: Yes.

Mr. ELpERgIN: I am sure Senator Crerar could tell you about the early
history of the Home Bank, before he resigned as a director. This was sometime
before they wound up.

The CHAIRMAN: I think the Chairman could tell you something about it,
too. He cut his teeth in law in that prosecution.

Mr. ErpErkIN: The Home Bank was incorporated in 1903, and failed in
1923. There was an interim dividend of 25 per cent paid by the liquidator in
December 1923 to the depositors. Following the failure, there was a commission
appointed—

Senator CroLL: Stop at that moment. You say “to the depositors.” Were
there some depositors who were paid in full?

Mr. ELDERKIN: I could go on to say that following the commission report
the Government granted relief to the extent of 35 per cent of the claims of
those individuals where the claim was less than $500, or those with claims of
less than $500 got, in other words, paid off at the rate of 60 per cent.

Senator CroLL: I got all my money, if I recall correctly. I was a depositor,
at school at the time, and they cashed my cheque.

Mr. ELDERKIN: You were lucky.

Senator CrorLL: It was only a couple of hundred dollars.

The CHarMAN: It is too late to do anything about it now.
Senator CroLL: I wondered if the small depositors were not paid.

Mr. ELpErRgIN: Not according to the records. According to the liquidators
records they paid 25 cents, and then 35 cents.

Senator CroLL: Another question, on the revision of the Bank Act. When
did the decennial revision first commence?

Mr. ELpERKIN: In 1867, the time of Confederation, the relevant act simply
extended the provincial charters of the banks, and in 1871 really the first Bank
Act was passed. At that time, according to history, the government discussed
with the banks the question of whether they should have perpetual charters
or should have charters subject to revision, and in view of the rather disturbed
economic situation at the time and the forecast for the future they thought the
Bank Act should come up for revision at regular periods, and it was decided
to have decennial revisions. These occurred, and have occurred, with the ex-
ception of three times, that is, in 1911, 1912 and in 1933. In 1911 and 1912
revisions did not occur for government reasons at that time, I believe; and in
1933 one was waiting for the report of the Macmillan Royal Commission on
Banking and Finance.

Senator CroLL: Did it take place subsequently?
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Mr. ELDERKIN: In 1934; and then of course we have had a revision in 1944
and in 1954, and normally there would be one in 1964, but I think the min-
ister mentioned in the house the other day that he was asking Parliament to
extend the bank charters until 1965, awaiting the report of the royal commis-
sion now sitting.

Senator CroLL: Can you now or subsequently trace the powers the banks
possess, starting at a reasonable time? I do not care when, say from Confedera-
tion; and bring it up to date, if you haven’t that already before you.

Mr. ELDERKIN: I can do it generally for you, senator. There have not been
too many changes in the powers, except in the class of securities on which the
banks could loan. One major change on the other side of the balance sheet
would be the revision in 1944 of the par value of capital stock, when the par
value was changed from $100 to $10 per share. On the powers that have been
extended, one of the major ones was placing the banks in a position to lend
under the National Housing Act for mortgages and also to take mortgage
securities on certain other types of Government guaranteed loans such as
the Farm Improvement Loans, Small Businesses Loans and Fisheries Improve-
ment Loans.

Senator CroLL: Could you give us some of the years, please? That is not
quite clear.

The CHAIRMAN: The National Housing, where the banks could loan on
insured mortgages, was in 1954.

Mr. ELDERKIN: Yes, 1954.

Senator CroLL: What about since?

Mr. ELDERKIN: Nothing since 1954—except, the only one that has hap-
pened is the Small Businesses Loans which permits Government guaranteed
loans to small businesses. I am not quite sure of the date of that. I think it
was about three years ago.

Senator Davies: I would like to ask, why was the Imperial taken over by
Commerce and the Dominion taken over by Toronto? Was it a financial weak-
ness on the part of these banks, or was it just a commercial merger?

Mr. ELDERKIN: There have been three. The first was Barclays with Im-
perial—no, I am sorry, Toronto-Dominion. The reason given in making the
application for approval by the minister for sending out the notice to the
shareholders was" that both banks had concentrated their operations very
generally in the province of Ontario, that with an amalgamated bank their
need for further branching in the province of Ontario would be greatly re-
duced and they could devote their resources for expansion to the remainder
of the country and become more a national bank than either one of them
was at that time. T think this was the main reason given in approaching that
amalgamation.

In the Barclays-Imperial, I think one could say Barclays had decided they
were not going to make further investment, if you will, at that stage in the
bank side in Canada, and that under the circumstances they would much
rather have an interest in a larger and nation-wide bank than a small one which
had only four branches at that time.

In the last one the reason given for obtaining the approval of the minister
was that the two banks’ branches were reasonably complementary, that no
branches would be closed at least for two years, and that they could offer a
better service as a combined or amalgamated bank than they could as two
separate ones. There was no financial weakness in any of the situations.

Senator RoEBUCK: May I ask this, is Barclays Bank included in the eight
you have enumerated?
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Mr. ELpERKIN: No, it no longer exists in Canada; it amalgamated with
Imperial; and they amalgamated Imperial and Barclays with Commerce.

Senator ROEBUCK: What about the English banks, such as the Williams
Deacon’s Bank? Does it do any business in Canada?

Mr. ELDERKIN: No bank can do business in Canada under its own name
unless Parliament gives it the right to use the word ‘bank”.

Senator Baimrp: What about double liability?

Mr. ELDERKIN: It started to pass out, or passed out as such in 1944, when
the Bank Act prohibited the banks from issuing notes. This gradually dimin-
ished until January, 1951, at which time the banks were required to pass over
to the Bank of Canada or pay to the Bank of Canada, rather, an amount
equivalent to the outstanding note liability on their books. At that time all
additional liability of any kind on the banks’ shares ceased to exist.

Senator RoeBUck: Why do not foreign banks do business here just as the
insurance companies do?

Mr. ELDERKIN: Because the Bank Act provides they would have to get a
charter from Parliament to do so.

Senator RoEBUCK: Have they applied?

Mr. ELDERKIN: Barclays was the only British bank that applied for a
charter and obtained it in 1929. Then you had the Mercantile, which was
formerly owned by the Handelsbank of Amsterdam, which applied for and
received a charter in 1953. No other foreign interests have applied in the
meantime. .

Senator RoEBUCK: No American bank?

Mr. ELDERKIN: No American bank has applied, but the National City
Bank of New York purchased from Handelsbank a 50 per cent interest in the
Mercantile Bank of Canada.

Senator McLEAN: Of the number of banks incorporated since Confedera-
tion, I wonder if the witness could tell us the percentage of banks that failed,
losing the money of their shareholders, noteholders or depositors? I know that
in the case of some banks the depositors were looked after, but I think
the shareholders lost a lot of money. There has been a large percentage that
have failed.

Mr. ELDERKIN: There are 26 banks that have failed or wound up since
Confederation. Of these, up until 1895 there was some loss in a couple of cases
to noteholders. The loss occurred in the Bank of Acadia, where the noteholders
received nothing; in the Mechanics Bank of Montreal, where they received
57% per cent; and in the Bank of Prince Edward Island, where they received
594 per cent. In other words, three banks only in that period did not pay in full
to noteholders.

Senator McCutcHEON: That would imply they lost all their capital.

The CHAIRMAN: That would imply everybody else did not get anything.

Mr. ELDERKIN: Nothing in the case of the Bank of Acadia. It was a pretty
horrible failure. It was in existence only three months and twenty nine days.

Senator McLEAN: What about the Maritime Bank?

Mr. ELDERKIN: The Maritime Bank paid off its noteholders in full, and the
depositors were paid 103 cents on the dollar.

May I explain the Government brought in legislation in 1880 whereby
they created a bank circulation redemption fund, and all noteholders of banks
placed in liquidation between 1881 and 1890 were paid in full in respect
of claims duly filed and allowed in liquidation proceedings. There are still
some notes outstanding of course, but that money has been deposited, first with
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the Receiver General and then, on claim, with the Bank of Canada. But the
bank circulation redemption fund was a fund created by legislation which re-
quired all banks to contribute to the fund, and if I remember rightly, I think
it was 1 per cent of their note circulation outstanding. This fund was used to
pay off, if necessary, the notes of a bank that went into liquidation. If the
fund was not sufficient for it, the banks could again be taxed for sufficient
to pay off. That is one reason why every bank that has failed since 1880, up to
1891, and on, has paid off in full, whether they paid their depositors anything
or not.
Senator McLEeaN: Some of the directors had to pay up to the fund.

Mr. ELDERKIN: I mentioned one a minute ago, but there have been more
than one.

Senator McLEAN: Coming back to amalgamations, was not one of the
chief reasons for the amalgamations of banks a shortage of top executives?

Mr. ELDERKIN: I would not care to express an opinion on that. Quite
frankly, it would be a matter of opinion. I do not know that is necessarily the
case. It might be they felt that with the two banks combined they had a
wider range to pick from as far as top executives are concerned. However, I
have never heard it publicly expressed that way.

Senator McLEAN: Would you agree we are short of top executives at the
present?

Mr. ELDERKIN: I do not think that is a question I would like to try to
answer.

Senator LEONARD: Mr. Elderkin, in 1924, when the Bank Act was revised,
it provided for the appointment of an Inspector General of Banks.

Mr. ELDERKIN: Yes.

Senator LEONARD: Up to that time there had been no Inspector General
of Banks?

Mr. ELDERKIN: That is right.
Senator LEONARD: And that is the position you now hold?
Mr. ELDERKIN: Yes, that is what I am.

Senator LEoNARD: Your duties are laid down in Section 63 of the Bank
Act?

Mr. ELDERKIN: Yes.

Senator LEoNARD: And, broadly speaking, under it you are to satisfy your-
self that the provisions of the Bank Act for the safety of creditors and share-
holders are being observed?

Mr. ELDERKIN: That, I think, is being spelled out. In section 63, subsection
1, it says:

“The Inspector, from time to time, but not less frequently than once
in each calendar year, shall make or cause to be made, such examination
and inquiry into the affairs or business of each bank as he may deem to
be necessary or expedient, and for such purposes take charge on the
premises of the assets of the bank or any portion thereof, if the need
should arise, for the purposes of satisfying himself that the provisions of
this Act having reference to the safety of the creditors and shareholders

of the bank are being duly observed and that the bank is in a sound
financial condition, , . .”

Senator LEONARD: I think that may be taken as a tribute to you and to
your predecessor, because there has been no bank failure since the Inspector
General has been appointed.
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Mr. ELDERKIN: There has been none since that time. I like to take as much
credit as I can, but it is also by virtue of the fact that the auditing provisions
of the act were revised in 1924, and since that time we have had as auditors
of all chartered banks very competent well-trained public accountants. And
there is an interesting provision in the Bank Act which has been used rarely
but which permits the minister to expand the audit procedure, or the procedure
of the auditors as he sees fit on my recommendation. We have done that on a
couple of occasions. We have never reduced it but we have asked the auditors
to carry out a more detailed examination.

Senator CROLL: Are these your own auditors?

Mr. ELDERKIN: No, they are appointed by the shareholders under the Bank
Act but the minister has the power, which flows to me, of expanding their
power and obtaining information from them.

Senator CROLL: But you rely on the shareholders’ auditors?

Mr. ELDERKIN: No, only for certain things like physical examination of
securities, and for certain branch returns to see that they are properly compiled
and made in a proper way. We don’t rely on shareholders’ auditors for all
the work.

Senator LEONARD: In fact you have complete rights to call for any books
and inspections you like.

Mr. ELDERKIN: I also have the right to ask the auditors to do that work
for me.

Senator LEONARD: Since 1924 there are now very strict safeguards with
respect to the operation of banks.

Mr. ELDERKIN: Yes, to a very great extent, the procedure now has been
formalized and is standard.

Senator CRoLL: How big a staff have you?

Mr. ELDERKIN: Four, including myself.

The CHAIRMAN: Senator Aseltine?

Senator ASELTINE: Mr. Chairman, I would like to ask a question. We used
to have a bank in western Canada with the head office in Winnipeg, the Union
Bank of Canada. It carried on business for so long, and then it was taken over

by the Royal Bank of Canada. Can you give me the details in connection with
this bank?

Mr. ELDERKIN: It was incorporated in 1865, and merged with the Royal
Bank in 1925.

Senator ASELTINE: That was a merger?

Mr. ELDERKIN: That was a merger. I am afraid I haven’t any further
information on that one. There was no question of failure; it was a merger.

Senator ASELTINE: I would like to ask why it was taken over and why it
didn’t continue. I understood it couldn’t make a go of it because it was only a
western bank and didn’t have branches throughout Canada. I think that is very
important when we are considering another bank in western Canada.

The CHAIRMAN: I think we will give Mr. Elderkin some time to look up
these matters while we attend the ceremony in the Speaker’s chamber. We will
come back here at about 20 minutes to eleven.

—A short recess.

—Upon resuming.

The CHAIRMAN: I call the meeting to order.

Senator CHOQUETTE: Mr. Chairman, I would like to ask a question.
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The CHAIRMAN: Senator Aseltine had not finished, and I think also that
Senator Pouliot wants to ask a question. I will call on him next, and then
upon you.

Senator ASELTINE: When we adjourned I was asking a question with
respect to the Union Bank of Canada which had its head office in Winnipeg
and which was unable to make a success of its business. It was taken over by
the Royal Bank of Canada. Now, if this bill that we are considering is passed
we are going to have another bank in western Canada called the Bank of
Western Canada. I would like to have more information as to how it came
about that the Union Bank of Canada, which was in on the ground floor and
which had branches all over the Prairie provinces, was unable to carry on
successfully and had to be taken over by another bank. I would like to have
those questions answered very fully before I can make up my mind as to
whether or not I am going to support this bill.

The CHAIRMAN: Mr. Elderkin, are you ready to take on that job?

Mr. ELpErkIN: My explanation is not going to be a very full one because
I have not had an opportunity of getting as much information as would be
available upon further research. Before the Union Bank of Canada merged
with the Royal it had shown some signs of being in difficulty to some extent.
It had cut its dividend, and in doing so it had announced that there had been
a substantial contraction in loans, that the rate of interest obtainable upon its
investments had decreased, and that it had made quite large foreign exchange
losses which, possibly, is rather exceptional—at least, it would be normally
exceptional for it. Apparently they were dealing in foreign exchange futures,
possibly in the grain business, although I do not know, and had sustained quite
heavy losses, and in some of their more important lending accounts. That is
about as far as I can give it to you on such short notice. I would be pleased—

Senator ASeLTINE: Would you be able to get further information? Surely
there were some representations made when the merger was being put through.

Mr. ELDERKIN: The merger went through, but whether the Union ap-
proached the Royal, or whether the Royal approached the Union, I cannot tell
you at the present time. What did happen in the final merger was that the
Royal issued one share of its stock for every two shares of Union stock. There
was no loss to depositors or to creditors.

Senator ASELTINE: Was not the merger approved by the Minister of Fi-
nance?

The CHAIRMAN: It would have to be.

Mr. ELpErgIN: It would have to be approved by the Governor in Council.

Senator ASELTINE: So there must be a record of what happened?

Mr. ELpErRkIN: The petition to the Governor in Council is very brief, and
does not necessarily carry any detail whatsoever.

Senator LEoNARD: In what year was this?

Mr. ELDERKIN: 1925.

Senator RoeBuck: That bank had business outside of the west. I dealt with
it for ten years in northern Ontario. Perhaps it was the loss of my loan that
caused its difficulties.

The CHAIRMAN: Or the withdrawal of your deposit.

Senator RoEBUCK: No, it was a very small deposit but a very big loan.

Mr. ELDERKIN: I will try to develop more information, but that is all that
I could get over the telephone from the file. Normally there would be nothing
in the petition to the Governor in Council on this.

The CHAIRMAN: Senator Pouliot?
20529—2
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Senator Pourior: I have a very short question to ask you, Sir. Did the
Department of Finance receive any complaints about the insufficiency of the
number of branches of banks in Canada?

Mr. ELpERKIN: Not that I have heard of, Senator. At the present time
there are almost 5,500 branches of banks in Canada. This is almost double the
number there was at the end of the last war. This is roughly one branch office
for every 3,300 persons in the country, and is far greater than the corresponding
figure for either the United States or the United Kingdom.

The CHAIRMAN: Senator Choquette?

Senator CHOQUETTE: This might not be provided for in the Bank Act, but
the point I am going to raise is this: Have there not been in the last 15 or 20
years statements made by our Prime Ministers or Ministers of Finance that
there could never be a repetition of the failure of the Home Bank because
the Government would step in and take over the liabilities and be good for the
losses?

Mr. ELDERKIN: No, Senator. In my experience, which is a matter of almost
20 years, I have never had any declaration to that effect whatsoever. The
Government has no responsibility. The Government does not guarantee. As a
matter of fact, the Bank Act expressly states in respect of my duties that the
Government still does not assume any responsibility for any losses which the
banks may incur.

Senator CHOQUETTE: I was just referring to an editorial appearing in the
Saskatoon Star-Phoenix where this is being discussed. The article, in part,
reads:

On this point, Professor C. A. Curtis of Queen’s University wrote:
“It is doubtful if any Canadian bank would be allowed to fail, even
though public funds were needed to clear its liabilities.

A condition of affairs has developed in Canada that seems to make
for the safety of the depositors’ funds.”

Mr. ELpErRKIN: I think I would agree that, in view of the fact that the
Government now has inspection procedure under my office, they would know
well in advance if a bank were getting into difficulties. This did not—

Senator Bamrp: How could you stop it?

Mr. ELDERKIN: There are various ways. The Bank Act provides that a
curator may be appointed for a bank. The Inspector General could put in a
curator.

The CHAIRMAN: At that stage they are really hanging out the red flag.

Senator LAMBERT: Just bearing on the question which Senator Aseltine
asked, I wonder if Mr. Elderkin has any recollection or record of the experi-
ence of the Park Bank, a foreign branch of the Union Bank established in
China after the first Great War.

I think the unsuccessful banks in that field did exchange banking. If I
remember correctly, that was quite a factor in the decline.

Mr. EvLpErRkIN: This is what the note says in the file: the major losses
were in the foreign exchange field.

Senator LAMBERT: It really closed up?
Mr. ELpErRgIN: They made substantial losses in foreign exchange.
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Senator LEoNARD: In your capacity as Inspector General of Banks, and
having in mind your responsibilities and duties, have you any objection to the
incorporation of another chartered bank in Canada?

The CHAIRMAN: Just a minute.

Senator RoEBUCK: That is not a fair question. That is for us to decide.

Senator LeEoNARD: In view of his duties and responsibilities, and his
great experience—it is true it is our decision here, but we would all be greatly
helped to have his view. I do not want to make a point of it, but I would
like to know.

The CHAIRMAN: Do not answer for a moment.

Senator KINLEY: It is a question of policy.

The CHAIRMAN: What we have to decide here is how we are going to
report this bill out of committee, having heard all the evidence. I think
the opinion we have to form, in order to report the bill favourably, is one
that, having regard to its makeup, its personnel, the economic situation in
Canada, all those are factors which would justify having another bank.

In that regard, personally, as chairman—the committee can always over-
rule me—I am not prepared, nor do I think I want Mr. Elderkin’s opinion
as to whether he thinks there should be or not.

His job is that of Inspector General and he is telling us what he finds.
With all due respect I am not interested in his opinion.

That is the Chairman speaking, and the committee can always say
whether it agrees or not.

I am ruling it out.

Senator LAMBERT: I am interested and I would suggest that most of the
committee would be interested. Mr. Elderkin has duties under the Bank
Act which he will have to perform if there is to be another chartered
bank. It is easy for him to say whether he can see that there is difficulty
or objection to that, or whether there is not.

Senator McCuTcHEON: Mr. Elderkin cannot confess that he could not
look after another chartered bank.

Senator LEoNARD: I am asking, in the light of his duties and responsi-
bilities—it is quite easy for him to say.

Senator BurcHILL: I think it is an unfair question.

Senator ROEBUCK:' It is a matter of policy.

The CHAIRMAN: I am sorry, Senator Leonard. The Chair has ruled.

Senator LEoNARD: I will not put it to appeal, but I still think it is a fair
question.

Senator VAILLANCOURT: Before we close the story of the bank system
in Canada, before Confederation there was a co-operative bank, which
was known as the Farmers Bank of Rustico, I think. Can you say a few
words, Mr. Elderkin, on this organization?

Mr. ELDERKIN: As you say, senator, it was started out as a co-operative
bank. It came under an act of incorporation in Prince Edward Island in
1862. It actually carried on under provincial legislation. It was not included in
the banks which came under the Bank Act of 1871. It continued as a co-
operative. The difficulties became apparent in the late 1880s and the bank
went into liquidation in 1892.

As I have said, it never came under the operation of the federal Bank
Act. In 1891, just before it went into liquidation, it was granted power to
amalgamate with a loan company, but we have no record that this actually
happened.

20529—2}
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I have an answer here to a question which was asked by, I think, Senator

Lambert.
As to the number of chartered banks and the amount of shareholders
funds at various dates, as of December 31, the figures are as follows:

Shareholders funds

In 1914,.22 banks s Bk $227 million
In' 1920, 19 banks: ./ ;.. 4 aSline s i 261 million
In 1940, 10 banks| . yuissden e rie 277 million
In: 1950, -10- bankes: AL £.880 5 S Suaur: 343 million
In 1963," 8. banks i:irna Sisrnrnets 1,150 million

Senator LAMBERT: Thank you.

Senator DaviEs: In connection with the amalgamation of the Bank of
Commerce and the Dominion Bank of Toronto, did any of the shareholders
lose any money?

Mr. ELDERKIN: No. It was a straight exchange. All of the three amalgama-
tions were on an exchange of shares in a new continuing bank. The act
was changed in 1954 to permit amalgamations by the continuation of the
amalgamating banks under another or the same name, and they each received
shares in the new bank.

Senator McCUTCHEON: In referring to the three mergers since 1954, and
referring to one of them at least, I think it was the Toronto Dominion Bank,
Mr. Elderkin indicated that one of the reasons advanced was that they con-
centrated their operations in the same area.

Earlier, when he was dealing with some of the history, he said, as I
noted it here, that some of the mergers and some of the failures, no doubt,
arose by economic conditions in the area in which they operated. I wonder if
Mr. Elderkin would care to expand particularly on that last statement.

Mr. ELDERKIN: Prior to the last three amalgamations, the one before
that was the Weyburn and Security Bank. It did not fail, as you know;
it merged with the Imperial Bank of Canada. Possibly economic conditions
in the middle west had something to do with that one, because the merger took
place in 1931 when conditions on the Prairies were not very good. In fact,
conditions everywhere were not too good. That probably had some effect
on the Weyburn asking to be merged and taken over, as they did.

Prior to that, it is a little difficult to tell, senator.

The Standard Bank of Canada was the one prior to that in 1928. I
think that the Standard had concentrated in certain types of loans and in
primary producers’ loans, for instance, and primary manufacturers’ loans,
and these became in rather poor shape prior to 1928. This may have had
some effect. It is difficult to go back to the present time. I have spoken about
the Union Bank of Canada, and what happened in that case. It would appear
that a large part of their difficulty was in dealing with foreign exchange trans-
actions, which was rather an exceptional one.

Going back to 1925, the Molsons Bank, which merged with the Bank
of Montreal, was an exceptionally strong bank. It was certainly in no financial
difficulties in any manner whatever. Although it was a publicly owned bank,
it had very large family interests, etcetera, and that might have had some
effect in bringing the two banks together.

I am afraid I cannot go too far back, but one would naturally conclude
that during the period in the early twenties, and certainly in the thirties, there
were considerable difficulties incurred by some of the banks. In some other
cases, I think it was just a desire to be big or bigger.
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Senator McCuTcHEON: The result of all these mergers, from this whole
history you have given us, is that today we have eight banks in Canada, two of
which for special reasons possibly their operations have become limited recently
in probably three or four provinces; but five of the six others—the Mercantile
is a special case—are giving a general banking service from Halifax to St. Johns
to Victoria, and are not providing the public with every type of service and
are not concentrating in any particular field, either geographically or com-
mercially. Is it fair to say that it is a natural and inevitable development,
as you see it?

Mr. ELDERKIN: I think, Senator McCutcheon, this would depend very much
on the viewpoint of the administration.

Senator McCUTCHEON: What do you mean, ‘“administration”?

Mr. ELDERKIN: Administration of the bank, or management. There would
be certain advantages to a bank to have a national branch network in dealing
with the larger customer, etcetera. There may be certain advantages in having
a closer network in operating in a concentrated or fairly concentrated region,
which is well known to bank management. You get this situation such as you
mention, where you have the two banks which are incorporated under a
French name, which operate for the most part in the province of Quebec.
Although one of them does a fair amount of business in Manitoba, and the
other through New Brunswick now, their tendency is actually at the present
time to branch out more than they did in the past. If a bank wished to con-
centrate entirely in one area and conduct its banking services entirely in that
area, it would perhaps be limited in working on a national basis, but I do not
think it would be inhibited to any extent from operating profitably if it were
properly managed.

Senator ROEBUCK: You spoke of advantages in a national network. In view
of the clearing facilities we have today, what are the advantages of a national
network?

Mr. ELDERKIN: Well, for one thing, at the present time a national network
bank can offer better clearing facilities throughout the country.

Senator ROEBUCK: What might the disadvantages be?

Mr. ELDERKIN: There would be an advantage in getting business, but maybe
a disadvantage as far as earnings are concerned.

The CHAIRMAN: When you speak of advantage and disadvantage, is that
from the point of view ‘of the public, of the shareholder, or of whom?

Mr. ELDERKIN: From the point of view of the customer he may have some
advantage if he is doing a nationwide business. If he is not doing a nationwide
business he has not any particular advantage.

Senator RoEBUCK: What is the advantage from the standpoint of a bank?

Mr. ELDERKIN: To attract perhaps customers who are doing nationwide
business, and normally these are very big ones; and there are many types of
earnings, of course, from a large customer.

Senator McCUTCHEON: And also to attract deposits, I suppose?

Mr. ELDERKIN: And exchange business, and so on.

Senator KINLEY: In Mr. Elderkin’s interesting discourse on the history of
banking in Canada he did not mention the Bank of Canada and the Industrial
Bank of Canada. Can he tell us how banking in Canada was influenced by those
two banks? I think it is admitted that they have a control which has changed
the whole method of the banks in Canada.

Mr. ELDERKIN: I do not think I should go too deeply into that, in the case
of the Bank of Canada, because the question of monetary policy is involved,
and that is not in my field, and I am far from being any kind of an expert.
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Senator KINLEY: But in an issue of currency, the Bank of Canada took
over from the local banks?

Mr. ELpErkIN: That is right, and it has the sole power. You will recall
that prior to the creation of the Bank of Canada, the currency in the ones and
twos was issued by the Government of Canada, and the banks only had power
to issue currency in the higher denominations.

Senator KINLEY: And the Industrial Bank of Canada was created for the
purpose of enabling people to get loans who were unable to get them from
the banks?

Mr. ELpERKIN: The Industrial Development Bank—again, I can only speak
generally on this—has far more powers than a chartered bank. It has no
restrictions on the loan interest it may charge; it may take any form of security;
it may invest in equities if it wishes to do so. So that at the present time at
least, it has far more freedom in its operations than has a chartered bank.

Senator KINLEY: I believe we were told on second reading of this bill
that the banks had to deposit with the Bank of Canada certain securities
in order to improve the circulation, or to control the circulation, of their
business, and that they receive no interest on that money. Is it to their ad-
vantage to deposit that security with the Bank of Canada?

Mr. ELpERKIN: They do not deposit securities for that purpose. They are
required to maintain an 8 per cent reserve, consisting of currency—*“till money”
as it is called, and to deposit it with the Bank of Canada. On this amount of
money they do not receive any interest. They do hold securities on deposit
with the Bank of Canada, and they receive the income from those, but those
deposits of securities are to cover loans, if they want to make them, and for
this purpose only. The deposit of securities is just to save the movement of
securities back and forth when a bank wants to make a loan.

The question depends entirely on the Bank of Canada and how they restrict
it. They can shorten down deposits in the bank or extend them.

Senator KINLEY: Is there not quite a distinction as between the ability of
a trust company and a bank?

Mr. ELpERKIN: Well, you mean as far as being able to—

Senator KiNLEY: The trust company has to take more money off the shelf.
The bank can lend ten to one.

Mr. ELpERKIN: If they will let them have the deposits, but this will depend
upon the monetary policy at the time. Although this is really out of my field, the
trust companies are able to pay more at the present time, speaking from the
bank’s viewpoint, because they can charge higher interest on their loans, and
they also go in more for mortgage lending.

Senator KiNLEY: Even that field is limited today, is it not?

Mr. ELDERKIN: Not on mortgage lending, no.

Senator KINLEY: But on automobiles and all that sort of thing?

Mr. ELDERKIN: Trust companies do not lend on that type of security.

Senator KINLEY: No, but the banks do.

Mr. ELDERKIN: Yes, but the trust companies do not.

Senator RoEBUCK: Witness, you said the notes of lower denominations are
taken over now by the Government?

Mr. EupErgIN: No, I said that before the Bank of Canada took over the
issuing of notes the lower denominations were issued by the Government of
Canada.

Senator RoEBUCK: Do the banks now have the privilege of issuing the notes
of higher denomination?
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Mr. ELDERKIN: No, not any longer. Since 1944 they have not been able
to.

Senator ASELTINE: I would like to ask Mr. Elderkin another question. I
understand that he is the Inspector General of Banks throughout Canada. I
would like to know if he has any authority over, or any control over, credit
unions or trust companies who are carrying on a general banking business in
opposition to—

Senator LAMBERT: ‘“in competition with”.

Senator ASELTINE: —in competition with our chartered banks.

In the west we have a credit union in every town of any size. The trust
companies in the cities of Saskatoon, Regina and other places are carrying on
a banking business, accepting deposits and allowing people to cheque on those
deposits, and all that kind of thing. Have you any control over those people
at all?

Mr. ELpERKIN: None, senator. My control only covers the eight chartered
banks and the two savings banks in the province of Quebec.

Senator ROEBUCK: So that when a bank becomes the owner of a trust
company their real operations through the trust company are not under your
control?

Mr. ELDERKIN: No.

The CHAIRMAN: Well, except—

Mr. ELDERKIN: Well, it depends on what you term ‘“a real owner”. Under
the Bank Act, in the case of any company that is entirely controlled by a
bank the Bank Act provides that the same auditors must be appointed. To
the extent any investment of that type is in the bank’s portfolio I have, of
course, the authority to investigate it, but I have no authority to go into the
trust company, for instance, and check their operations.

Senator KINLEY: A bank cannot own control of a trust company.

Mr. ELDERKIN: There is nothing to stop it.

Senator KINLEY: It must be 49 per cent though.

Mr. ELDERKIN: But if it owns complete control of a trust company it has
to publish a statement along with its own statement.

Senator KiNLEY: What does control mean—50 per cent?

The CHAIRMAN: In excess of 50 per cent.

Senator KINLEY: In excess of 50 per cent?

Mr. ELDERKIN: The only stipulation that is in here is that it has
to publish its statement along with its own.

Senator KiNLEY: For practical purposes I think it is assumed that 40 or
30 per cent will control an associated company.

The CHAIRMAN: You are talking about the practical situation, but we are
talking about control in law.

Senator McCuTcHEON: It is only when a bank owns all of the stock.

Mr. ELDERKIN: Yes, all the stock except the directors’ voting shares.

Senator McCuTcHEON: In other words, 90 per cent is still just a portfolio
investment as far as you are concerned?

Mr. ELDERKIN: That is right.

Senator DAviEs: Who gives these credit unions and trust companies their
charters, if the Bank Act does not do it?

Mr. ELDERKIN: The credit unions are entirely provincial creatures. Some of
the trust companies have provincial charters and operate in other provinces by
means of a licence. Some trust companies have federal charters.
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Senator KINLEY: Where do they get those federal charters?

The CHAIRMAN: Here.

Mr. ELDERKIN: From the Secretary of State.

The CHAIRMAN: The Superintendent of Insurance.

Mr. ELDERKIN: They come under the Superintendent of Insurance. Any
federal trust company comes under the Superintendent of Insurance.

Senator GERsSHAW: What about the treasury branches in Alberta?

Mr. ELDERKIN: We have two provinces operating on this basis. The savings
office of the Province of Ontario and the treasury office of the Province of
Alberta are directly under provincial control.

Senator McCuTcHEON: Would you like to tell us something about savings
banks in the Province of Quebec, the type of business they operate and the
restrictions, if any, imposed on them that differ from the general restrictions?

Mr. ELDERKIN: The two savings banks in the Province of Quebec are both
very healthy. I think, if I remember rightly, their present deposits are up
around $350 million. They are both over 100 years old. One was founded in
1846 and the other, I think, in 1848.

The CHAIRMAN: They have a special statute.

Mr. ELDERKIN: Yes, they have a special statute, the Quebec Savings
Bank Act.

Senator McCUTCHEON: They are not subject to your jurisdiction?

Mr. ELDERKIN: Yes, they are.

Senator McCuTcHEON: Well, tell me about that.

Mr. ELDERKIN: The same provisions apply to them from the inspection point
of view as apply to chartered banks. There are slight differences in the appoint-
ment of auditors. In the chartered banks two auditors cannot serve together
for more than two years at a time. There is no such provision in the Savings
Bank Act, where the same auditors may continue on indefinitely.

Senator McCUTCHEON: Have they wider or narrower investment powers?

Mr. ELDERKIN: Narrower in some respects, but wider in one, where they
can make conventional mortgage loans without any restriction on interest
charges. They are narrower in the type of investment they can invest in or
loan on.

Senator McCUTCHEON: On what type of security?

Mr. ELDERKIN: They cannot take common stock. They can lend on chartered
bank stock and accept it as security. They can lend on preferred stock providing
the company has a certain standard of capitalization—if I remember rightly,
$500,000 minimum—and provided it has been dividend earning for a period
of years. The provisions in this respect follow very closely those of the Trust
Companies Act; they are almost the same. They can lend on mortgages up to
60 per cent of appraised value. They have recently applied for and hope to
get in the revision, when it comes along, an increase in this because it is a bit
outdated, and their application will probably be looked upon favourably.

Senator DaviEs: Did I understand Mr. Elderkin to say he has only a staff
of four in his office?

Mr. ELDERKIN: That is right.

Senator DAVIES: Do you think that is enough to handle all the banks in
Canada? :

Mr. ELDERKIN: I know this sounds a little bit modest—

Senator ROEBUCK: What do you do in your spare time?

Senator DavIEs: I thought you did the inspecting of all the banks.
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Mr. ELDERKIN: Yes, but remember there are only ten—the eight chartered
banks and the two savings banks in the province of Quebec.

Senator DAVIES: But you just inspect the head offices and never inspect
the branches?

Mr. ELDERKIN: We never inspect the branches. You must realize that in
the Canadian banking system as it is set up, the reports on everything flow
through head office. This means that in head office on any one loan you will
have the branch manager’s report, the supervisor of the district’s report, the
credit officer’s in head office—who may be anybody up to an assistant general
manager, depending on the size of it—report, and there may be the board of
directors’ report as well. So that every loan, outside of a very small discretion-
ary maximum that is given to the branch manager, will have a detailed report
on it in head office. All securities, or almost all securities, with the exception
of some local ones and foreign ones in the case of the foreign business, are
carried at head office and are available there for inspection. This means that
under the Canadian banking system you can obtain all the information, almost,
on a loan, not only from one viewpoint but perhaps from three or four view-
points, in your head office files.

Senator McCuTcHEON: Is that a matter of law, or a matter of practice?

Mr. ELDERKIN: It is a matter of practice, but it is a matter, or could be a
matter of enforcement if necessary, in this way, that under the Bank Act I
have the power, as I mentioned earlier, to lay down the audit procedure for
the shareholders’ auditors. In turn, the shareholders’ auditors can demand such
information as they want, and one of the things they demand is that this
information is available in head office, including inspection reports by the
inspectors who inspect at least once a year on every branch.

Senator LANG: Probably Mr. Elderkin has answered this question already in
reply to other questions, but as a matter of comparison would you mind
repeating it? Could you relate, say, the dollar volume of banking business
done in Canada in 1924 and the number of banks doing that business as com-
pared to the dollar volume of banking business done in Canada today by the
eight chartered banks?

Mr. ELDERKIN: I am afraid I have not those statistics in front of me,
senator. The closest I can get to it is to—No, I do not think I would want to
guess.

I told you a short time ago that since the last war we have more than
doubled the branch expansion in Canada. I mentioned a few minutes ago the
figures on shareholders’ equities, but I do not have in front of me the relative
figures of the assets of the banks during the period you have asked about. I
can only tell you that they have enlarged enormously and they have more than
doubled in the last 20 years.

Senator CHOQUETTE: The number of banks involved has declined very
considerably in that time.

Mr. ELDERKIN: Not in the last 20 years, but in the last 50 years that is so.

Senator POULIOT: Do you make the inspection of the Bank of Canada?

Mr. ELDERKIN: No, it is inspected by two auditors appointed by the
Minister of Finance under the Bank Act.

Senator RoeEsuck: You say the banks’ assets have doubled since the war,
does that mean the profits have been inordinate?

Mr. ELDERKIN: That is a matter of opinion. The doubling of assets does not
mean doubling the profits. It depends upon how you regard this. For example
for the fiscal years of 1963 the profits of Canadian banks as a whole were
slightly over one-half of one per cent of assets after income tax.
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Senator KINLEY: Don’t you think we need a constant money in comparing
business of other years with business of any one particular period. Don’t you
think we need to have a constant value for the dollar?

The CHAIRMAN: Everything is relative, Senator Kinley.

Mr. Elderkin, I would like to ask a question. Do you take any part or lay
down any rules in connection with the percentage basis of the various fields
of investment and loans in which a bank may engage?

Mr. ELDERKIN: There is no authority under the Bank Act to do so. There
have been a couple of occasions in the past when we have discussed the fields
of lending with the banks, or with a particular bank. We do get from the
banks very detailed quarterly reports on all of their loans by classification.
One of these reports is published in the Bank of Canada Statistical Summary.
We watch this—I should say the compilation is published. The individual bank
percentages are watched closely to see in what way they may be developing
bank by bank. We have had a couple of instances in the past years where we
have felt under the circumstances a bank was getting too heavily involved in
a particular type of lending or in a particular industry. We have never
suggested to a bank to call a loan, but we have suggested that they should not
be extending their resources very much more in that particular field under the
circumstances.

Senator McCuTcHEON: What are the major classifications in this regard
and what do you regard as appropriate percentages?

Mr. ELDERKIN: The appropriate percentages are related to the business of
the bank. The classifications are broken down roughly into about twenty-five.
You have municipal loans, provincial loans, religious and educational loans.
You have a classification of brokers’ and dealers’ loans, day-to-day call, and
those to dealers. Then you have personal classifications which are loans to
stocks and bonds. You have others on the securities of chattels and some on an
individuals. Here we have subclassifications of those based on marketable
unsecured basis.

Senator CHOQUETTE: Guaranteed on farm implements?

Mr. ELDERKIN: No, this comes under farm improvement loans, guaran-
teed by the Government, and other farm loans which are not guaranteed.
Then we get down to the main classification of commercial and industrial
loans, and here the manufacturing industries and commercial trading loans
come in. In this classification we are really watching our step a bit. Let us as-
sume a bank has 10 per cent of the loans in Canada, and this is what we
normally relate it to, the total percentage of loans, and we see that in one
particular field of industry they are getting beyond 10 per cent, and by
that I don’t mean 12 or 15 per cent, but up to 20 or 25 of the total loans
to that industry, then we would take a substantial interest in it because
such things have done a lot of damage in the past. Banks in the past have
at times been bankers for a particular industry when something has hap-
pened to that industry. This roughly is the way we look at the picture.

Senator McCuTcHEON: In other words what you are looking for is a
proper diversification of loans in the various categories which, in your opinion,
will cushion the ups and downs. Do you go so far as to be concerned about
regions of classification?

Mr. ELpErkIN: Classifications. I could give an example that happened a
long time ago with regard to textile loans.

Senator McCuTcHEON: Or pulp and paper loans?

Mr. ELDERKIN: Yes, pulp and paper loans. You see a bank getting loaded
up with textile loans, and the market in those textiles, the world market,
is bad, for instance the market for wool is falling off badly along that line,
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and we think it is about time the bank should not be lending money for the
acquisition of more wool. This is the way we look at it.

Senator McCuTcHEON: You are going to get diversification to protect the
bank, the depositors, the shareholders and the public against violent ups
and downs.

Mr. ELDERKIN: Under the present act I can only advise if I feel there is
going to be trouble.

Senator LAMBERT: In the course of your inspections have you made any
classifications of the banks with regard to their ownership of bank buildings
and real property?

Mr. ELDERKIN: Of course the investment in realty companies under con-
trolled companies comes in on the monthly statements of the banks every
month. The statement appears in the Canada Gazette. In the annual inspec-
tion we break this down into various categories such as realty companies and
controlled trust companies. The controlled trust companies—

Senator McCUTCHEON: By controlled you mean 100 per cent?

Mr. ELDERKIN: Yes. They control trust companies who act for example
in the State of New York. As agencies they cannot do certain types of busi-
ness, but as subsidiary companies they can do other things such as acting
as registrar for Canadian securities and transfer agencies for Canadian
securities. They also own trust companies in several places in the Carib-
bean now. These are fully controlled companies, realty and trust, and their
financial statement must appear together with the financial statement of the
bank which it sends to shareholders and the minister.

Senator LAMBERT: The head offices of the bank themselves and the branch
property, is there a special capital in this, or are they incorporated under a
different company altogether?

Mr. ELDERKIN: Both. What I mean by that is that most of the banks
have a realty company which holds some of their properties, probably their
main office properties. Some of their branches are owned directly or rented.
The main reason, I would think, why the large head office buildings and land
are in subsidiary realty companies is that the subsidiary company may then
issue mortgage debentures on a long term basis.

Senator LamBeRT: Which would be included in the assets of the bank?

Mr. ELpERKIN: No, they do not take them. They are sold to the public. The
result is that they can borrow money by way of mortgage, which a bank has no
authority to do.

Senator LamBERT: The ownership of these structures is still in the—

Mr. ELpERKIN: The stock will all be owned by the bank, but the debentures
will be owned by the public.

Senator Davies: Mr. Chairman, could I ask a question? How are the banks
looked upon in connection with taxation? Are they treated in the same way
as other companies? Do they pay corporation tax?

Mr. ErLpErIN: The only exception is in the one provision whereby the
Minister of Finance determines what is a fair amount of reserve for losses.
The Bank Act provides, and the Income Tax Act provides, that the Minister of
Finance may in effect establish a maximum for the banks, and if a bank should
try to set up any amount over that the Minister of Finance is required to re-
port that as taxable income.

The CHAIRMAN: It is in the Tax Papers.

Senator Davies: They are not treated as companies. They can still pur-
chase automobiles, costing more than $5,000?
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Mr. ELDERKIN: Anybody can, but it is a question of getting depreciation
on them. They are treated the same as any other Canadian corporation in
every respect except for the authority of the minister to evaluate their inner
reserves, which normally is not—well, the only thing I can compare it to are
the loan companies and trust companies which have a rate fixed by statute at
3 per cent.

Senator Davies: They do not pay corporation tax in Ontario, for instance?

Mr. ELpergIN: Yes, they do, and in Quebec as well. They pay provincial
tax in both Ontario and Quebec.

Senator Davies: And federal?

Mr. ELpERKIN: Yes, and federal. They are treated in exactly the same way
as any other corporation.

The CHaIRMAN: What is the difference you make as to the reserves and
the minister’s authority? Is that so different from that applying to the ordinary
company?

Mr. ELDERKIN: No. In one place it is left to the Minister of National Rev-
enue, and in the other it is left to the Minister of Finance. That is all.

Senator Isnor: When the classified return of loans was mentioned by Mr.
Elderkin he did not mention loans to finance companies. The banks, I under-
stand, advance fairly substantial amounts to the so-called finance or loan com-
panies. If so, would he indicate the percentage of loans made by the banks to
these loan companies?

Mr. ELpErRRIN: While I did not mention it, it is one of the main categories
in the report that we receive. I have not a copy of the report with me—well,
perhaps I have. The fact is that this has been a reducing factor in bank loans.
The reason for this is that in 1957, I think I am right in saying, when there
was a peried of tighter credit, the banks were asked to hold a certain level of
loans; not to increase loans above a certain level in respect of the finance com-
panies. The finance companies then started to employ to a greater extent than
they ever had before what is called street paper; that is, putting out short
term paper to the street market.

The result today is that some finance companies do not borrow anything
from the banks at all, and these loans really have ceased to be of very great
importance in bank lending, because the finance companies feel they have a
more unrestricted credit market from the street than they have from the
banks.

Senator McCutcHEON: The Governor of the Bank of Canada cannot advise
the street as effectively as he can the banks?

Mr. ELDERKIN: That is right.

The CHAIRMAN: What approach do you take to the question of liquidity,
and are there any rules?

Mr. ELpERKIN: Well, we have some pretty standard rules on liquidity as
between the Bank of Canada, if you will, and the banks. First, of course, you
have your 8 per cent cash reserve which I menticned earlier. Then, by agree-
ment between the Bank of Canada and the banks several years ago the banks
agreed to maintain a further 7 per cent in cash assets, or in day to day loans or
treasury bills. So, this builds them up to, say, 15 per cent in any case. Then,
the banks themselves must protect their liquid position against loan demands,
and to do this they retain what are commonly called more liquid assets, and
which consist of Government of Canada securities.

The banks will, in establishing their portfolios of Government of Canada
securities, endeavour to protect themselves further by having a maturity
spread which will permit them in case of a sudden demand for loans to sell
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at as little loss as possible. Therefore, they will have a spread which will
involve—and you can see this from the monthly statement—a considerable
amount of Government of Canada bonds with maturities of under two years,
in respect of which the market will be very close to the call or the maturity
price.

The total combined normally will run to something over 35 per cent, and
sometimes very much higher. This will depend on the credit demand.

Senator Lang: Just to satisfy a long-standing curiosity of mine, why is it
that the banks do not publish the amounts of these inner reserves in the
financial statements that are given to the shareholders each year?

Mr. ELpERKIN: They are not required to, and their argument against it
is that these may fluctuate very greatly from year to year, and because of
losses which they may take in their loans and because of fluctuations in their
annual earnings. There has been a growing tendency, I might say, in the
United States to publish these figures. I think you will find that a great num-
ber of the larger banks in the United States today publish their inner reserves,
and publish their loss experience on an annual basis. Maybe we will hear some-
thing about this from the Royal Commission.

The CHAIRMAN: Are there any other questions?

Senator IsNor: Is it not a fact, Mr. Chairman, that some of the banks
which do carry out what Senator Lang has mentioned show the dividends
plus an extra dividend in their annual statement?

Mr. ELDERKIN: Yes, but this has nothing really to do, Senator, with what
they might have in their inner reserves or provisions or reserve for loss. Most
of them declare an extra dividend. It is becoming somewhat of a custom to have
a regular dividend rate, and then to have an extra dividend declared near the
close of the fiscal year.

The CHAIRMAN: I think you mentioned a one and a half per cent earning
or interest net on assets. That is about the rate of earnings?

Mr. ELDERKIN: No, one-half of one per cent.

The CHAIRMAN: Then, the gross rate would be more than one per cent?

Mr. ELDERKIN: Oh, yes. I think I can give you the gross rate on that. The
gross rate in 1963 was 5.2 per cent, as a matter of fact. The expenses other than
income taxes were 4.2 per cent, leaving a net of one per cent. Income taxes
amounted to approximately one half of one per cent.

Senator McCutcHEON: That would be after transfer from the general to
the inner reserve?

Mr. ELDERKIN: Yes—no, I am sorry; perhaps I got that question wrong.
No, the expenses do not include transfers to inner reserves.

Senator McCuTcHEON: They are an expense.

Mr. ELDERKIN: They are, but in this figure I am quoting they are not.
These are the actual published figures that you can get from Schedule Q
which is published in the Canada Gazette annually so far as dollars are con-
cerned. The figures I am quoting are on a percentage basis.

Senator KINLEY: Mr. Chairman, the Canadian banks have extensive opera-
tions in foreign countries. Is there any local control that they have to submit
to in those countries, and it is all right for Canadians to own banks in foreign
countries? I ask that question in the reverse as well; could an English company
or an American company obtain approval in Canada if they applied for a bank
charter?

Mr. ELDERKIN: There are several questions involved here, senator. First,
a Canadian bank operating a branch or agency, operating in a foreign country,
must abide by the laws of Canada—not only by the laws of the country but
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by the Canadian laws as well, in effect. For example, in most countries, banks
can lend on the security of mortgages; but, notwithstanding the fact that the
bank is operating in a country where they do lend on the security of mortgages
under the local law, it cannot do so under Canadian law, because there is an
overriding prohibition, which says it cannot give additional powers.

Senator McCuTcHEON: It would not have them if it operated on an agency
basis, but if it is a wholly owned subsidiary?

Mr. ELDERKIN: If it were a national bank of the country. For example,
we have the Bank of Commerce which has a subsidiary in California and the
adjoining states. There is also a subsidiary of the Bank of Montreal. Then, in
Europe, in Paris, we have a branch or rather a subsidiary of the Banque Ca-
nadienne Nationale and a subsidiary of the Royal Bank of Canada. These sub-
sidiaries operate entirely under the local law.

Senator KiNLEY: What about the West Indies, and the Caribbean?

Mr. ELDERKIN: They are all branches down there. They operate entirely
as branches and not as separately incorporated companies.

Senator KINLEY: Do you regard the conditions as being favourable to the
operation of Canadian banks in foreign countries? Do they treat them liberally?

Mr. ELDERKIN: It is hard to generalize. The Royal Bank of Canada has just
closed its branch in Montevideo in Uraguay, because the conditions were such
that they could not continue and operate at a profit.

The CHARMAN: This is getting a little far afield, senator.

Senator KINLEY: It is all in the picture.

Senator ReID: Keeping to the bill itself, on page 4, clause 5(9) says:

This section shall have effect notwithstanding anything in the Bank
Act but shall cease to have effect on and after July 1, 1965 unless other-
wise provided by Parliament.

Mr. ELDERKIN: The reason for that was that the incorporators, or rather
the proposers of this particular bill, wanted to assure Parliament that they were
going to retain absolute control of this bank in Canada, if they got the charter.
In fact, they would prohibit any ownership of more than 10 per cent by any
foreign interest. But this is really a provision which overrides the present
provision in the Bank Act, where there is no prohibition on the transfer of
shares at the present time.

Therefore, this provision had to say ‘“notwithstanding anything in the
Bank Act”, it would have effect; but it only takes effect up until the time the
Bank Act is scheduled for revision on July 1, 1965. It expires at that date and
the bank, if incorporated, will fall then under the provisions of the Bank
Act as revised.

The CHAIRMAN: This provison in the bill disappears, even if a charter is
issued, when the Bank Act is revised; and what will apply, if there is a
similar or other provision in the Bank Act, is that provision.

Mr. ELDERKIN: That is right.

Senator RoEBUCK: I would like to know why it is that the foreign banks
are not doing business in Canada. I remember hearing at one time that Lloyds
of London was not allowed to do insurance business in Ontario. I went into
that subject very fully as Attorney General in Ontario and advised that they
be allowed to do so. They have been carrying on business ever since, and I
think to the advantage both of the customer and of the institution.

Why is it that English banks are not doing business here, through
branches or in any other way? Is there some material reason or is it a matter
of law, or what?
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Mr. ELDERKIN: It is the law as far as the branches are concerned, senator,
yes.

Senator RoEBUCK: They had to be incorporated?

Mr. ELpERKIN: They have to be incorporated. They have not come to us
and asked us for incorporation, as far as I know—with the exception of
Barclays in 1929. They came and asked for incorporation, and it was granted.

Senator RoEBUCK: Why are others not doing business?

Mr. ELDERKIN: In many cases because they felt it was equally profitable,
if not more so, to do business through correspondents, by agents, by working
in with Canadian banks. This is done on a reciprocal basis. The Canadian banks
feed them a fair amount of business and they in turn perhaps can feed
business to Canada.

The CHAIRMAN: They avoid all the overhead.

Senator DAviEs: The Bank of Commerce and the Bank of Montreal have
branches in Britain.

Mr. ELDERKIN: Five banks have branches in Britain. They all have,
except the Banque Canadienne Nationale, Banque Provinciale and the Mer-
cantile Bank.

Senator Davies: They must have special provisions?

Mr. ELDERKIN: No, they operate there as banks and wholly as such.

Senator KINLEY: It seems to me that Lloyds of London have exemptions
under insurance laws that are advantageous in Canada, over and above
what we have; and furthermore it has become a monopoly. No one in Can-
ada is in the marine insurance business, practically; and Lloyds seem so
efficient that they control the whole situation.

The CHAIRMAN: That is a question we could have discussed with more
relevance when Mr. MacGregor was here earlier, on another bill.

Senator KINLEY: I am telling you now, and I think it is right to state
this.

The CHAIRMAN: Are there any more questions to be put to Mr. Elderkin?

Senator LEONARD: No. I would like to call on the other two. I think every-
one in this committee feels we should thank Mr. Elderkin for his very
complete, interesting and informative statement; and I suppose he will be
available if we want him further.

Senator ROEBUCK: Mr. Chairman, I would like to say how much we have
been impressed by the evidence of this witness, by his very large general
knowledge, and by the freedom with which he has imparted it to us.

I think I express the opinion of everyone here when I say that we are
grateful to him.

The CHAIRMAN: The senator might add that that is only what we expect
from Mr. Elderkin, having had him before us on other occasions.

Mr. ELDERKIN: Thank you very much, gentlemen.

Senator LEONARD: May I suggest now, subject to the wish of the committee,

that we ask Mr. Tolmie to present, on behalf of the petitioners, any further
evidence he would like to give.

Senator McCuTCHEON: Mr. Chairman, how long are you proposing to
continue?

The CHAIRMAN: Until 12.30.

Mr. J. R. Tolmie, Q.C., Counsel for Petitioners: If it is the wish of the

committee, I would like to call both Mr. Stevens and Mr. Coyne. Each has
a prepared statement. Those statements run in sequence. Mr. Stevens will
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deal with the incorporation, the organization of the proposed bank and the
raising of the capital. Mr. Coyne will carry on from there and discuss the
method of operation of this proposed bank and how it will function.

The CHAIRMAN: Mr. Tolmie, you use your own judgment because you are
the pilot as far as your presentation is concerned. We are going to sit only
until 12.30. You use your own judgment as to the evidence you want to present
in that time.

Mr. ToLMIE: If it is the wish of the committee, I would like to distribute
to members of the committee these two statements; and then let each witness
deal in sequence with them. That will probably take until 12.30 and that would
make a convenient break.

The CHAIRMAN: Subject to what the committee may say, if Mr. Stevens
or Mr. Coyne is going to put in the first statement, it may well be that when
he has read that statement there will be some questions which we would like
to put, rather than postpone those questions until we get the second statement.

Mr. ToLmiiE: They do read in sequence,

The CHAIRMAN: Even so.

Senator McCUTCHEON: Could we have the statements filed? I do not think
the committee could possibly get through the questioning that it will wish on
those statements?

The CHAIRMAN: Alternatively, what you are suggesting is that both state-
ments be filed and that we adjourn?

Senator McCUTCHEON: And hear the witnesses on another occasion.

Senator LEONARD: With all due respect, these witnesses have come from
Toronto and are here now. We could sit certainly until 12.30 and we might as
well get their evidence while they are here now. We could hear as much as
possible and then perhaps sit after the Senate rises. They are here and I think
we should carry on and let them get their case before this committee.

Senator ROEBUCK: Let us proceed.

The CHAIRMAN: We will proceed in the ordinary way.

An Hon. SENATOR: Can we have two statements in 20 minutes?
The CHAIRMAN: We will proceed in the ordinary way.

Senator ROEBUCK: Let us proceed.

The CHAIRMAN: We will proceed in the ordinary way, since there is a
difference of opinion. If the witness has a statement we can distribute copies
of it, and he can read it to the committee. Questions can follow. Then if it is
felt you have not had time to digest it sufficiently, we can adjourn and continue
the discussion at a later date. Mr. Stevens will be the next witness.

Mr. Sinclair McKnight Stevens: Mr. Chairman and honourable senators,
I wish to thank you for giving Mr. Coyne and myself this opportunity to
appear before you and outline our plans and purposes in applying for an Act
of Parliament to incorporate the Bank of Western Canada.

We have prepared a submission in two parts. My part will be to tell you
what steps have been taken by various institutions and individuals to prepare
for organizing a new bank and to raise the necessary capital for it. Mr. Coyne
will complete our opening statement by describing the kind of bank we hope
to establish and how, as we see it, this bank will fit into the existing banking
system in Canada. At the conclusion of Mr. Coyne’s remarks we shall both be
available to answer any questions that you may wish to put to us.

Senator RoEBUCK: May I ask a question now? Who are you?
Mr. STEVENS: My name is Stevens.
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Senator ROEBUCK: What relationship have you to this bank?

Mr. STEVENS: I am one of the proposed provisional directors of the bank,
and one of the petitioners in the bill itself.

The CHAIRMAN: And beyond that, what?

Mr. STEVENS: I would hope that I will be a permanent director of the bank,
if the bank is chartered, and possibly have an executive position with the bank.

Senator ROEBUCK: Are you a solicitor?

Mr. STEVENS: I am a solicitor.

Senator KiNLEY: Residing in Winnipeg?

Mr. STEVENS: No, in Toronto.

Senator RoEBUCK: What is your experience?

‘The CHAIRMAN: Would you care to go further and indicate your, shall we
call them, extramural activities in relation to a bank. In other words, what is
your background?

Mr. STEVENS: In the course of my prepared speech, Mr. Chairman, I have
touched on this, with reference to what I am charged with, and other general
information that I hope will be helpful to you on that point.

The CHAIRMAN: Very well.

Mr. STEVENS: To make one point clear at the outset, our application is for
incorporation of a chartered bank under the Bank Act. Our bank, if chartered,
will do a general banking business of the same nature as that carried on by the
existing banks and will be subject to the same safeguards and regulations as
existing banks, and it will be inspected and supervised by the Inspector General
of Banks. Every bank, incidentally, which receives a charter under the Bank
Act is automatically a member of the Canadian Bankers’ Association and of the
clearing houses maintained and operated at a number of points in Canada by
that association.

A number of my associates and I have felt for several years that it was
financially a feasible proposition, and desirable in the public interest, to
organize a new bank in Canada We hope to show that a group of Canadians—
and I would emphasize this—using only Canadian capital can form such a bank.

We feel that the best starting point for a new bank in Canada is in Western

" Canada, and we soon found, upon inquiry, that such a feeling was widespread

among Western Canadians.

It is rather amazing, when you come to think of it, that we have in
Canada the unique position of not having a head office of a banking institution
from Bay Street west to the Pacific, a distance of approximately 2,100 miles.
This is so in spite of the fact we have insurance companies, trust companies,
finance companies, mutual funds and virtually every other type of financial
institution in the West, but not the head office of a bank.

For years it seems to have been generally assumed in Canada that a
bank charter could not be obtained: Various reasons have been given for this,
in spite of the fact that the Bank Act so obviously provides for the incorpora-
tion of new banks. It is now 52 years since a group of Canadians has put a new
bank in operation, and 36 years since any serious attempt was made to
charter a bank—other than the two which have been referred to today,
Barclays and the Mercantile.

Senator KINLEY: And the Alberta group, which came to us to apply for
a bank within the past 30 years.

Mr. STEVENS: The general attitude was indicated in the remarks of the
then Governor of the Bank of Canada, Graham F. Towers, at the Mercantile
hearing before this committee in 1953, when he is reported in the Globe and
Mail to have said he did not feel very happy that despite the growth which

20529—3
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already had taken place and would take place in Canada, there would never
be another bank, and he did not think a little new blood in Canadian banking
would do the public any harm. I understand he went on to say he did not
see any possibility of there ever being another Canadian bank, Canadian in
the sense of one which obtains capital from a number of individual stock-
holders in Canada and sets out to create a branch banking system.

Times have changed, even since 1953, and we are here to say we believe it
can be done. It is not proposed that our operation would deviate from the sound
banking principles that have so long been the backbone of the Canadian banking
system. It has often been stated, and rightly stated, that Canada’s banking
system enjoys a world-wide reputation for soundness and stability. Surely,
however, such soundness and stability does not depend on mergers and con-
solidation of the existing banks, or on the discouraging of the formation of new
banks. Our life insurance industry also enjoys a world-wide reputation for
solidity, yet the number of companies registered to write life insurance in
Canada has risen from 41 in 1940 to 128 in 1962.

Would anyone suggest that this growth of life insurance companies has
undermined the industry or caused a lack of public confidence in our life
insurance companies? This growth has taken place in spite of the fact that
it is probably much harder to start a profitable life insurance company than
a bank.

With respect to our application, we feel there are interesting attributes
which should be considered. In the first place, one hundred individuals have
joined as petitioners in our application for incorporation who are resident in
the provinces of Canada, where this bank will chiefly operate in the early
years. These petitioners come generally from every walk of life, and while
they include men of substance, they are not representative of particularly
wealthy interests. Eighty-five per cent of the petitioners come from the four
western provinces and 15 per cent from Ontario. About 60 per cent of the
total are businessmen in these areas, but there are also 14 lawyers, five physi-
cians, four chartered accountants, four university professors, farmers, engineers,
journalists, pharmacists and other occupational groups. We feel it is a
representative list and we look forward to working with this group. We are
sure they will be a great help in organizing the bank. Directors of the bank
will come from this list and other persons active in Canada’s economic life.
The majority of the directors will be resident in the west.

In the case of the Bank of Western Canada, we expect to be able to com-
mence business with almost $13 million in capital and rest account, which will
be the largest amount any Canadian chartered bank has had at its beginning.
The Mercantile Bank of Canada started with $1.5 million and now has $5 mil-
lion. In 1958, the Provincial Bank of Canada had $12 million in capital and
rest account, its total assets were $326 million and it earned $1,650,000 that
year.

In 1940, the capital and reserve of the Bank of Toronto totalled $15 mil-
lion, and in 1945 the Dominion Bank had $14 million. On this point it is inter-
esting to note that most of our largest banks started with a total capital of
less than half a million dollars, and in 1900, The Royal Bank of Canada had
only reached $2 million in capital and a reserve of $1.7 million.

Rather than merely indicate our intention to raise almost $13 million, we
decided to raise such funds on a trusteed basis, pending the granting of a
charter. Should a charter not be granted, the funds will be returned to the
would-be subscribers. We are pleased to tell you today that our financial agents
have advised us that the entire amount has been raised or is firmly committed
for, and should a charter be granted, funds will be available to take down
almost $13 million of stock.



BANKING AND COMMERCE 35

Our financing has been as follows: By a prospectus dated February 11,
1964, The Wellington Financial Corporation, Limited, sold Trustee’s Subscrip-
tion Certificates for an aggregate amount of $3,750,000. Canadian Finance and
Investments Limited is closing an underwriting today which will net its treas-
ury $2,800,000. Of this amount, Canadian Finance and Investments Limited
will designate $2,250,000 for investment in the proposed bank stock. York
Trust and Savings Corporation has indicated its intention to subscribe for
$495,000 worth of bank stock and each of the five proposed provisional direc-
tors of the Bank has subscribed for 500 bank shares. All shares in the bank
will be sold for $15 each.

Monday and Tuesday of this week, a pre-incorporation offering of certifi-
cates evidencing subsecriptions for 430,000 shares in the proposed bank were
offered mainly in the west at $15 per share. We understand the issue was
over-subscribed within hours. Some $6,450,000 will be raised through this
distribution and it will result in virtually every Western Canadian financial
institution and approximately 3,000 private investors in the west having an
investment in the proposed bank, should a charter be granted. These insti-
tutions include: All Canadian Funds, Grouped Income Shares Limited and
Seaboard Life Insurance, all of Vancouver. Alberta Fidelity Trust Company
and First Investors Corporation of Edmonton. Great-West Life Assurance Co.,
Monarch Life Assurance Company, Sovereign Life Assurance Co. of Canada, all
of Winnipeg; and Empire Life Insurance Co. of Kingston.

The CHAIRMAN: That is Ontario, is it?

Mr. STEVENS: That is right.

In total the above financings have raised $12,982,500 for investment in the
proposed bank stock and we have an impressive future shareholders’ list.

Wellington now has shareholders or certificate holders in excess of 2,500;
Canadian Finance & Investments will have shareholders in excess of 2,500, and
we have been assured by the financial agents handling the pre-incorporation
offering that there will be at least 3,000 potential bank shareholders, resulting
from that distribution. This will result in the bank having 8,000 shareholders
directly or indirectly through Wellington and Canadian Finance. This list of
shareholders compares favourably with shareholders in our existing banks. For
example, the Banque Canadienne Nationale in 1962 had 4,806 shareholders
and the Provincial Bank of Canada had 5,349 in 1963; the Bank of Nova
Scotia had 13,122 in October, 1963. We have made stock available to mutual
funds and other financial institutions in the west to ensure as wide an interest
as possible in the bank.

We have not sought and will not accept any foreign participation in the
formation of our bank. The pre-incorporation offering prospectus makes it
clear that this offering may not be purchased by non-residents of Canada.
We are requesting each subscriber to sign a statement which I would like
to read to you.

1. The applicant understands that ownership of shares in the proposed
bank by non-residents of Canada may be prohibited or restricted
by provisions in the Act of Incorporation, and that the subscription
certificates hereby applied for are not available for ownership by
and cannot be transferred to a non-resident or any person acting
as nominee, agent, trustee or otherwise directly or indirectly on
behalf of a non-resident.

The application form goes on to say:
2. The applicant is:

(a) a natural person ordinarily resident in Canada, or
20529—33
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(b) a company incorporated under the laws of Canada or of a Province
of Canada and has its principal place of business in Canada and
is not by any means whatsoever under the control of non-residents
of Canada.

3. (a) the applicant is subscribing for shares in his own right to be held
by him as sole beneficial owner and is not acting as nominee, agent,
trustee or otherwise on behalf of any other person, and has not
made and no person has made for him any other application for
shares or subscription certificates relating to shares in the proposed
bank, or—as the case may be—

(b) The applicant is subscribing on behalf of another person, namely
Full Name. ;i bidebiire it outoi S o el e SRt e

Address . s i LR TR St e AL P Calling 3 LAt e Tl

(hereinafter called the “beneficiary”), who is a natural person or-
dinarily resident in Canada, who will be the sole beneficial owner
and who is not acting as nominee, agent or trustee or otherwise on
behalf of any other person, and neither such beneficiary nor any
person acting for him has made any other application for shares or
subscription certificates relating to shares in the proposed bank.

Gentlemen, prospectuses with respect to each of these issues are available.

It is sometimes mentioned that a new financial institution may have
difficulty in attracting suitable staff. Any doubt we might have had on this point
has certainly been dispelled. Since our announcement was made public in
December, we have received dozens of inquiries and letters from persons in
the banking community requesting positions and indicating their desire to
become associated with a new institution such as the one we propose. These
overtures have come to us from those employed at many different levels
in these institutions.

We realize that it is proposed to revise the Bank Act, probably some time
next year, and we would like to clarify that our plans are not based on the
anticipation of the Bank Act provisions being liberalized in favour of the banks
in Canada. We are quite satisfied to commence business under the existing
Bank Act and to continue in business regardless of any revisions which may
be in the act.

It is proposed that our bank will carry on a general banking business
much the same as the presently existing banks.

Now about ourselves. As I have mentioned, The Wellington Financial
Corporation, Limited, Canadian Finance and Investments Ltd., and York Trust
and Savings Corporation intend to subscribe for stock in the proposed bank
should a charter be granted. I am a director and president of these three
companies, and Mr. Coyne is a director and chairman of C.F.I. and York Trust.
Mr. Nesbitt—who is one of the proposed provisional directors, in addition to
those already mentioned—is vice-president and a director of C.F.I., Mr. Bruce—
who has been introduced to you today—is vice-president and a director of The
Wellington Financial Corporation Limited, and Mr. Bodie is a director of C.F.I.

Wellington is a company incorporated under the laws of Canada in 1926,
It has carried on business from Guelph, Ontario ever since and it came under
our group control in 1961. It is now engaged primarily in the real property
mortgage business, but upon the contemplated purchase of the bank stock,
75 per cent of its net worth will be in that one investment.

C.F.I. is a Manitoba company incorporated in 1926. It operates out of
Winnipeg and is now engaged in the real property mortgage business. It intends
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to invest in various financial institutions now operating or expected to operate
in western Canada, including the proposed bank. Its bank commitment will
represent 66 per cent of its net worth.

York Trust was formed in 1962 under the laws of Ontario and it has since
grown into a $20-million organization with a net worth of $3.5 million, and
almost 1,000 shareholders. Its investment in the proposed bank would be
relatively small.

These companies are autonomous in their operation but they do co-operate
among themselves where it is convenient. The Alberta Fidelity Trust Com-
pany is a 1912 Alberta company of which Mr. Bodie is now president. Mr. Bodie
is another of the proposed provisional directors. This company plans to invest
in the bank and it may also co-operate in the same way as the above com-
panies.

While British International Finance (Canada) Limited does not plan
to invest directly in the bank, I would point out that it holds approximately
60 per cent of the equity of Wellington, 40 per cent of York Trust and 20 per
cent of C.F.I. I am a directer and president of British International. Like all
the other companies mentioned above, our shareholders are Canadian almost
100 per cent.

Gentlemen, by that I mean that I checked with our transfer agencies, and
they have one or two non-resident shareholders holding 50 or 100 shares. We
cannot say 100 per cent owned, but it is within a whisker.

The CHAIRMAN: “Owned” may not be the most apt word, because the
shares register indicates who ‘“holds”.

Mr. STEVENS: I can go further: beneficiaries, either directly or indirectly.
There is no non-resident ownership other than a minute registration, as I
have said.

British International’s name is sometimes confusing but as was pointed out
in a recent article in the Executive Magazine, the company is “not really British,
International or in the finance field.”

The CHAIRMAN: It has a good name!

Mr. STEVENS: The name comes from a small company we own in Nassau
called British International Finance Trust Limited.

British International, an Ontario company, was formed in 1960, by a group
which included Mr. Nesbitt and myself, and became active in acquiring
substantial interests in Canadian concerns, as in the case of Wellington or by
starting new companies such as York Trust. Usually we have had public under-
writings with respect to our undertakings and sometimes we have been part-
ners with substantial interests such as in the case of Canadian First Mortgage
Corporation where 20 per cent is held by Mid-Continent Investments Limited
of Winnipeg which is associated with The Osler Corporation Limited of that
city; the Toronto-Dominion Bank holds 20 per cent—that is, of the Canadian
First Mortgage Corporation—and British International holds 20 per cent.

Our federation of companies has resulted in the combined group having a
net worth of $10 million and should our bank proposal materialize, this net
worth figure will rise to over $20 million.,

British International owns certain smaller companies outright such as
Scarboro Finance Corporation Limited and Simcoe Retail Acceptance Limited.
Combined total assets of these companies is only a little over $100,000. They
have been partly inactive and have only been servicing incidental business
for several years.

It would not be our intention should we receive a charter to have other
companies in our group borrow funds from the new bank. In fact, prior to an-
nouncing our intention to apply for a bank charter we spoke to each of the
existing banks with which we deal and gave and received assurances from
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them that in the event we received a charter, our groups’ existing banking
arrangements would be maintained.

We do hope, however, that our group of companies, including the bank, if
incorporated, will co-operate wherever possible to ensure that the best pos-
sible and broadest service will be given to our customers. This is the present
day trend in the financial field as is evidenced by moves made by our existing
banks of which you are all aware, some of which Mr. Elderkin referred to in
his remarks.

In summary then, we have no grievance with any of the existing banks in
Canada. In fact, we have excellent banking arrangements with most of these
banks with respect to the various companies in our group. We feel that our
Canadian banks are providing an excellent service to the people of Canada,
but we also feel that there is room for one more bank in Canada and more
particularly, one having its head office in the centre of that vast area stretching
from Bay Street to the Pacific Ocean.

Before making our intentions known with respect to our proposed bank,
our group was most hesitant and cautious as to the outcome or repercussions
which might result when our intentions were announced. In spite of these
feelings, we finally determined to attempt to do what we had been assured
was impossible, namely, to obtain a charter for a bank in Canada.

We have been assured by the response we have received from the invest-
ment community in Canada by the fact that some sixty investment dealers in
Canada have been active in selling Trustee’s Subscription Certificates of The
Wellington Financial Corporation, Limited and/or stock in Canadian Finance
& Investments Ltd., and/or the pre-incorporation offering of the bank stock
which I referred to—the subscription certificates—and that these investment
dealers include: A. E. Ames, Bell Gouinlock, Bongard, Burns Bros. & Denton,
F. H. Deacon & Co., Dominion Securities, Gairdner & Co., Greenshields Inc.,
Houston, Willoughby & Co., McLeod, Young Weir, Midland-Osler Securities,
Mills, Spence & Co., Nesbitt Thomson, Oldfield, Kirby & Gardner, Odlum,
Brown, Pemberton Securities, W. C. Pitfield, Ross, Knowles & Co., Royal Se-
curities, Sydie, Sutherland & Ritchie, Walwyn Stodgell, Wood Gundy, etc.

We have been encouraged by the petitioners who have joined us in our
application to Parliament and by the many thousands of shareholders who
have shown their confidence in their willingness to invest money in the new
venture. Finally, we are delighted by the public response that has been
evidenced throughout Canada and in particular throughout the area in which
we hope to be most active initially:

This is the first opportunity that the Parliament of Canada has had for
nearly fifty years to demonstrate that a Canadian group with Canadian money
in hand can receive a charter for a bank in Canada. We sincerely hope that
our charter will be granted and that this impression that has been prevalent
for so long that it is impossible to receive a bank charter in Canada, will not
prevail.

The CHAIRMAN: Gentlemen, it is now at least 12.30.

Senator LEONARD: Mr. Chairman, I think you all have before you the brief
that Mr. Coyne was going to read.

The CrAIRMAN: It has not been distributed.

Senator LEONARD: It should not be distributed unless you are going to
hear it now. Could we at least read it now and have the cross-examination at
some other time? It really all goes into one statement, having regard to what
Mr. Stevens has read, and I think the committee should hear it now.

The CHAIRMAN: You can file the statement, but that of course may not
be the best way. On the other hand, we could adjourn now to the call of the
Chair. I doubt if it will be possible to deal with it later today.
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Senator LEoNARD: I would ask the indulgence of the committee while Mr.
Coyne reads the statement.

Senator KiNLEY: I would like to hear Mr. Coyne.

Senator McCutcHEON: I had thought we would be through by twelve.
I have to leave now, but I would be perfectly happy to have Mr. Coyne
read or present the statement. I am sure the matter will not reach finality
at this stage.

May I request that Mr. Stevens provide the members of the com-
mittee with copies of the prospectus to which he referred in his statement.

The CHAIRMAN: Then perhaps we should hear Mr. Coyne now and then
adjourn.

Mr. James E. Coyne: Honourable senators, I thank you for giving us this
opportunity to make known to you our plans, and the reason why we are
applying for the incorporation of a chartered bank under the Bank Act. I
may say that my part of the statement is only half as long as that of Mr.
Stevens, so I won’t detain you very long.

Mr. Stevens in his part of our opening statement has described the
steps which have been taken, and will be taken, to organize the bank and
raise the necessary capital for it. I shall complete the story by describing
the kind of bank we hope to establish and how, as we see it, this bank will
fit into the existing banking system in Canada.

A very important feature of our proposal is to make it in a real sense
a bank of and for western Canada with its head office in Winnipeg. Aside
from a securities trading office in Toronto, to facilitate dealings in treasury
bills and other Government securities, it is expected that at first this bank will
have branches only in the four western provinces.

Later, once a strong base has been established, branches will from time
to time be opened in other provinces. It is intended to keep the executive
offices and general management of the bank permanently in Winnipeg, and
western Canada will always be the area of special interest and special
strength for this bank.

In its origin, therefore, this will be to a large extent a regional bank. It
should not be forgotten that all our chartered banks in Canada started as
regional banks. Two of them still do 90 per cent of their business in a single
province, Quebec,—one having 96 per cent of its branches in Quebec and
the other, 88 per cent. On the other hand the five larger banks have less
than 14 per cent of their branches in Quebec. One has 58 per cent of its
branches in a single province, Ontario. Three of these five banks have col-
lectively less than 5 per cent of their branches in the four Atlantic prov-
inces, which have 10 per cent of the populaticn of Canada. Another indi-
cation of the local character of much of our banking may be seen in the
fact that there are 1,650 towns in Canada with only one bank, 330 with two
banks and 300 with three, four, five, six, seven or eight banks represented.

There are other variations among the banks, even excluding the special
case of The Mercantile Bank, which show that there is not just one stereo-
typed model to follow. There is clearly room for differences in outlook
and methods and results. The number of branches in Canada varies from
364 for the smallest bank to 1,264 for the largest. The average amount of
capital per branch varies from $70,000 to $285,000. Total capital and rest
fund per bank varies from $26 million to $316 million.

Total deposits of the banks vary from over $5 billion to just under half
a million. Canadian dollar deposits per branch average $3 million for all banks,
but for individual banks average deposits per branch vary from $3.7 million
to $1.3 million.
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I mention parenthetically that York Trust and Savings Corporation with
which I am connected already has average deposits and guaranteed certificates
of $1.8 million per branch for the six branches opened in 1963.

A second major feature of our plans for the Bank of Western Canada is
to have it become closely knit to the fabric of the communities where it operates.
Mr. Stevens has described fully the broad base of stock ownership in the bank
and in the institutions which are playing a special part in its initial financing.
I shall emphasize the operating principle that we want the Bank of Western
Canada to base itself on the deposits of the general public and on a great num-
ber of small and medium sized loans, not on the accounts of large corporations
in Central Canada.

Instead of trying to start from the top down, with a handful of branches
and a small number of large accounts—as in the case of the two non-Canadian
banks that obtained charters from Parliament in the past 25 years—we are
planning to build from the ground up and expand our number of branches in
western Canada within the limit of our deposit-gathering capacity.

Our Board of Directors will be chosen so as to be broadly representative
of all sectors of the community with which we have connections.

We hope that our managers and staff will in most cases stay in the com-
munities where they establish our branches, and will have a closer and more
continuous connection with their customers and with the whole community
than is possible when there are frequent transfers of staff from one town to
another. Our branches will be modest in size and appearance but will be
spread through all parts of the community in locations designed to give the
best service and hence attract the largest volume of business.

Our loans and investments will be made in the areas from which we draw
our deposits. We shall publish figures showing for each region the volume of
each kind of business that we do.

We do not quarrel at all with those institutions that operate differently.
We feel, however, that there is plenty of room for an institution operating
along the lines indicated to render valuable assistance to the public and to
make profits for its shareholders.

At this point I should like to state as Mr. Stevens has done without quali-
fication that we do not intend to use the funds of this bank to make loans to
other institutions, such as York Trust, Wellington Financial, British Interna-
tional Finance, Canadian First Mortgage Corporation, or Simcoe Acceptance,
with which some of the organizers of this bank are connected.

These companies all have established banking connections which they
expect to maintain, and in any case the size of loan that could be made avail-
able by the Bank of Western Canada would be of no interest to them. Similarly
as regards the financial institutions in Western Canada with which we are
connected—in their case, they will no doubt do some of their regular banking
business with the bank, but will not look to it as a source of funds to be used
in their own operations.

The Canadian banking system today is very different from what it was 40
or 50 years ago, and is much larger than it was even so recently as the eve
of World War II. In the 25 years from 1938 to 1963 the volume of Canadian
deposits has multiplied 6% times, and total deposits—including foreign de-
posits—38 times. There are three banks today, each of which is larger than by
50 per cent than the entire system in 1938. In the past ten years, total Cana-
dian deposits have grown from $9 billion to $16 billion, an increase of $7
billion. Instead of an increase in the number of banking corporations, however,
the number of banks declined from 11 to 8. During this ten-year period the
published capital and reserves of the Canadian banks nearly tripled, rising from
$413 million in 1953 to $1,144 million in 1963. Net operating earnings multiplied
by five and dividends multiplied by seven in that ten-year period. The average
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value of one share of stock in each of the banks has risen from about $15 in
1943 to about $35 in 1953 and to a high of about $70 in 1963. Dividends, as I
have said, have multiplied seven-fold since 1943 and over three-fold in the
past ten years.

The total number of branches has both grown and fluctuated in our
banking history. From about 700 in 1900 the number rose to 4,676 by 1920,
dropped by 900 in the next six years, rose 300 in the next four years, and
dropped again by 1,000 over the next 13 years to a total of 3,084 in 1943, or
less than two-thirds of what it was in 1920. In the ten years 1943 to 1953 the
number of branches grew again by 1,000 and by a further 1,500 during 1953
to 1963 to a total of 5,626 at the end of last year, of which 5,447 were in Canada
and 179 outside Canada.

Obviously not all of these branches were well chosen, and some were
and are considerably more expensive or less profitable than others. The es-
tablished banks have indicated to the Royal Commission that it takes from
three to five years for a new branch to operate at a profit. We believe that
in the case of the Bank of Western Canada we can shorten the period to an
average of two years.

This brings me to the third main feature we expect in the Bank of
Western Canada, namely economical operations based on low operating costs. '
We expect to operate, as I have said, in very modest premises, in locations
suitable for a large volume of business but by no means the most expensive
corners in town, and not necessarily corner locations at all. By using modern
accounting machines and methods from the start, we believe we can operate
with less staff and a lower overall expense ratio than some, at least, of the
older institutions.

We shall put great emphasis on flexibility in methods to suit various
local conditions and the requirements of our customers. By establishing in
Western Canada a Bank of Western Canada, giving quick decisions from a
head office in western Canada and from regional offices with real authority
in each province, we expect to develop a greater volume of business per
branch than some other institutions. The already demonstrated enthusiasm
of western Canadians for our project is most encouraging.

On all these counts, we confidently expect unit operating costs—that is,
costs per dollar of deposits or per dollar of loans—to be lower than other
banks.

For all these reasons also, we believe we will be able to compete strongly
and effectively with the other banks, without attempting to get too big or to
take on business which we cannot handle. We will no doubt compete with
them more effectively in some fields of business than in others, and perhaps
not at all in the field of large national corporations. But there is going to be
a great increase in the number of business enterprises with head offices in
western Canada, and we expect to get a significant share of their business
and to grow with them. .

Needless to say, the other banks will, of course, continue to grow by
billions of dollars as well.

Our planning has been based on the belief that there is room for more
banks in Canada, and for more competition in banking in Canada, and for
new ideas and new methods in banking in Canada. We believe there is room
for small banks that keep a sense of proportion, and for new banks that respect
the best traditions of Canadian banking but have some ideas of their own too.

As I have said, great changes have .occurred in the 52 years that have
passed since the last occasion on which a Canadian-owned bank obtained a
charter and commenced operations. I have already mentioned statistical
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changes and I wish now to refer to changes in methods and in environment,
which may affect the ability of a new bank to operate successfully.

In 1911, as you have heard from the Inspector General of Banks, there
was no provision for an outside audit of a bank—the so-called shareholders’
audit. That only began in 1913 and the provisions in this regard were strength-
ened in 1923 as a result of experience when one bank was absorbed by another
in 1922 after its affairs were shown to be precarious. The Home Bank failure
later in 1923 led to the creation of the office of Inspector General of Banks in
1924. There have been no bank failures since, and it is difficult to see how
there could be, with today’s safeguards.

Another change has been the removal of the right of note issue by the
chartered banks. With that went the removal of double liability of share-
holders. This plus the reduction of the par value of bank shares from $100
to $10 made it possible for persons of relatively small means to become share-
holders of Canadian banks. No bank owned by Canadians has started since
these changes were made, but in the past 20 years the number of Canadian
shareholders (including some duplications, no doubt) in the existing banks
has risen from 36,000 to over 90,000.

Another great change in the banking situation resulted from the establish-
ment of the Bank of Canada which began operations in 1935. The central bank
lends strength to all the chartered banks both because it stands ready to lend
money to them at a moment’s notice, and because it participates in security
markets and ensures that these will not be disorganized at a time when banks
or others may wish to raise liquid funds by selling Government securities.
The creation of a Treasury Bill market and further development of the money
market by the Bank of Canada have also greatly improved the liquidity and
the assurance of liquidity of all the banks. These matters are perhaps of
particular importance to small banks and newly established banks.

On the side of investments and earnings, there have also been very
important developments in recent years. In 1954 the banks were authorized
to invest in government-insured housing loans. A new bank would be partic-
ularly interested in these loans with their high yield—6 per cent or better—
and unquestioned safety, which are also very liquid and command a ready
market.

Again, for some years, but especially since 1954, the banks have shown a
rapid growth in personal loans in the nature of consumer credit loans, or
which the return is usually ten per cent or twelve per cent on the fund:
actually employed. At the end of 1963 such loans amounted to $1,432 millio1
or 20 per cent of total “general” loans of the banks. Total personal loans of al.
kinds—including consumer credit loans, loans secured by Government bonds
and so on—were 33 per cent as great in dollar volume as total business loans
In the case of some individual banks these ratios were of course higher than
the average. As I have said in the past—and as the presidents of several
chartered banks have also emphasized—consumer credit loans should not be
given priority over normal commercial loans, but subject to that, they offer a
good outlet for a proportion of a bank’s lendable funds.

The picture today is that the established banks are now in the mortgage
business and the consumer credit business in a big way, and find these lines
of business both safe and profitable. They also own important share positions
in trust companies, mortgage companies, and instalment finance companies. The
largest bank in Canada has recently started making conventional mortgage
loans, which it cannot make by itself under the Bank Act, through all its
branches, by acting as agent for a newly established mortgage company,
which is partly owned by the bank. One of the mortgage companies in our own
group, indeed, is 20 per cent owned by another chartered bank.
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In combination, these developments have made banking in Canada much
safer for depositors, easier for management, and more profitable for share-
holders. Banks have spread out into many fields of financial business, competing
there with institutions which previously had the field to themselves. The total
size of the banks has multiplied many times, but their number has decreased.
In our view, there are far better opportunities today than ever before in our
history for new banks to establish themselves and to prosper.

If I may make just one reference to near-banks, I regard the expansion
of the so-called near-banks is no real threat to the banking system. The near-
banks should be regulated, to be sure, as a matter of public policy, but not for
the purpose of protecting the chartered banks from competition. There are
those who welcome competition rather than fear it or complain about it or
try to restrict it. More competition from outside their present ranks, and an
inflow of new blood into the banking system may indeed be in the best
interests of the established banks themselves.

Mr. Chairman and Honourable Senators, these are the reasons why the
petitioners in the present application respectfully request the Parliament of
Canada to allow a broadly based group of Canadians with adequate capital,
who are prepared to meet competition from any quarter, to organize a new
bank in Canada, the Bank of Western Canada.

The CHAIRMAN: Gentlemen, the meeting is now adjourned.

Senator LEONARD: Mr. Chairman, are we adjourning to the call of the
Chair?

The CHAIRMAN: Yes.

Senator LEONARD: And these witnesses will be available for examination?

The CHAIRMAN: Yes.

Senator RoEBUCK: Why do we not return after lunch, before three o’clock?

The CHAIRMAN: It is impossible.

Senator BrLois: Are we likely to have a meeting later this afternoon?
Quite a number of us have meetings already arranged for later this afternoon.

The CHAIRMAN: I would doubt it from looking at the Order Paper, but
I will think about it. If the meeting adjourns to the call of the Chair I will
see what I can do.

Senator LAMBERT: I have one suggestion to make in connection with plans
for the future, if the Chair has not already made up its mind as to what
the program is going to be. In view of the evidence we have had here this
morning, I think it is very vital that, at a convenient time in the near future,
the central Bank of Canada should be represented here by Mr. Rasminsky,
to throw some light on the material submitted to us this morning by Mr.
Elderkin. I think his evidence will be very much worthwhile.

The CHAIRMAN: We will adjourn, to resume at the call of the Chair.

The committee adjourned.
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ORDER OF REFERENCE

Extract from the Minutes of the Proceedings of the Senate, Thursday,
March 12th, 1964:

“Pursuant to the Order of the Day, the Senate resumed the debate on the
motion of the Honourable Senator Leonard, seconded by the Honourable Sen-
ator Inman, for second reading of the Bill S-6, intituled: “An Act to incorporate
Bank of Western Canada”.

After debate, and—

The question being put on the motion, it was—

Resolved in the affirmative, on division.

The Bill was then read the second time, on division.

The Honourable Senator Leonard moved, seconded by the Honourable
Senator Inman, that the Bill be referred to the Standing Committee on Bank-
ing and Commerce.

The question being put on the motion, it was—

Resolved in the affirmative.”

J. F. MacNEILL,
Clerk of the Senate.
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MINUTES OF PROCEEDINGS
WEDNESDAY, May 6th, 1964.

Pursuant to adjournment and notice the Standing Committee on Banking
and Commerce met this day at 9.45 a.m.

Present: The Honourable Senators Hayden (Chairman), Aseltine, Baird,
Beaubien (Bedford), Beaubien (Provencher), Blois, Bouffard, Brooks, Burchill,
Connolly (Ottawa West), Cook, Crerar, Croll, Dessureault, Fergusson, Flynn,
Gershaw, Hugessen, Irvine, Isnor, Kinley, Lang, Leonard, McCutcheon, Mc-
Lean, Molson, Pearson, Pouliot, Power, Smith (Kamloops), Taylor (Norfolk),
Thorvaldson, Vaillancourt, White and Woodrow. (35)

In attendance: Mr. E. Russell Hopkins, Law Clerk and Parliamentary
Counsel.

Consideration of Bill S-6, intituled: “An Act to incorporate Bank of West-
ern Canada”, was resumed.

The following witnesses were heard:

Mr. J. Ross Tolmie, Parliamentary Agent.

Mr. Sinclair M. Stevens.

Mr. James E. Coyne.

On Motion of the Honourable Senator McCutcheon it was RESOLVED
to print the list of Shareholders and the financial statement of the British
International Finance Company as an Appendix to this day’s proceedings.

On motion of the Honourable Senator Leonard it was agreed to retain
Bill S-6 on the agenda of the Committee.

On Motion of the Honourable Senator Power it was RESOLVED that the
President of the Canadian Bankers’ Association be notified of the Committee’s
consideration of this Bill.

At 12.05 p.m. the Committee adjourned to the call of the Chairman.

Attest.
F. A. Jackson,

Clerk of the Committee.
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THE SENATE
THE STANDING COMMITTEE ON BANKING AND COMMERCE
EVIDENCE

OTrTAwWA, Wednesday, May 6, 1964.

The Standing Committee on Banking and Commerce, to which was referred
Bill S-6, to incorporate the Bank of Western Canada, met this day at 9.45 a.m.
to give further consideration to the bill.

Senator Salter A. Hayden (Chairman) in the Chair.

The CHAIRMAN: We are continuing the hearing which started some time ago
in relation to Bill S-6.

Senator McCuTcHEON: Mr. Chairman, before we proceed with the hearing,
when I received my notice of this committee meeting and having talked it over
with other honourable senators I found there was no indication as to what was
to come before us. I endeavoured to ascertain by reference to the proceedings
themselves and I found that there was a meeting of this committee called for
9.30 this morning to consider Bills S-12 and S-15. It was only late yesterday
afternoon I learned that this matter of Bill S-6 was on the agenda. Is it possible
for steps to be taken in future so that at least our notices will tell us what is
coming before us?

The CHAIRMAN: Up until this year in the notices convening the committee
it was stated what bills would be heard by the committee. And I understand it
occurred during this year too. Why the practice has changed, I don’t know.
However, with your authority behind me I will see about having this corrected,
and that the bills we are to consider will be stated in the notice.

Senator LEONARD: Mr. Chairman, am I right that at the meeting last week
I raised this question of proceeding with this Bank of Western Canada bill
today?

The CHAIRMAN: It was at the end of the meeting that this question was
raised.

Senator McCuTcHEON: I was not present at the meeting and those proceed-
ings were not reported.

The CHAIRMAN: I will see to it that there is an identification in the notice
of the bills to be considered.

When we adjourned last time after considering this bill we had heard
statements by Mr. Stevens and Mr. Coyne. We deferred any questioning, and
these two gentlemen are here today to submit to whatever questioning the
committee wishes to subject them to. After that we will decide what our future
course of action is going to be.

There is one question I should like to raise with the sponsor of this bill
before hearing the witnesses. I notice on reading the bill that you propose
incorporation—this is at the end of section 1—under the name of Bank of West-
ern Canada, which is thereafter referred to as ‘“the Bank”. It is only in the
schedule that you make reference to the French name. I was wondering whether
you had given thought to, or whether the Law Clerk had been consulted with
respect to, the omission of the French name in section 1.
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Senator LEONARD: I speak subject to correction, but I think we are f(?llow-
ing the traditional pattern in which the name of any bank is set out in tl}e
schedule rather than in the act itself. Mr. J. R. Tolmie, counsel for_the petl-
tioners, is here, and before introducing Mr. James E. Coyne and Mr. Sinclair M.
Stevens perhaps Mr. Tolmie might speak to that.

The CHAIRMAN: The reason I raise that point is that section 1 is a sub-
stantive section giving the name of the bank.

Senator LEONARD: The question is whether it should be amended to include
the name in French, as we are doing in so many bills now?

The CHAIRMAN: That is right.

Senator LEONARD: In addition to your remarks, Mr. Chairman, perhaps I
might say that when we adjourned to the call of the Chair we had not at that
time received the report of the Royal Commission on Banking and Finance. I
make the suggestion that it might be helpful to the committee if Mr. Coyne
and Mr. Stevens added briefly to the statements they submitted to the last
meeting, having in mind that the report of the Royal Commission is now
available. We can then go ahead with the questioning.

The CHAIRMAN: I have some thoughts on that, but I have not consulted
the members of the committee. May I state what they are? I am not in a posi-
tion to indulge in any serious questioning arising out of what the Royal Com-
mission said. There has not been time in which to study the report and thus be
able to ask intelligent questions with respect to it. My own suggestion would
be that we should have the examination of these witnesses now on the state-
ments they have made. If it broadens out into something further than that,
then that is fine. If the questioning does not broaden out sufficiently and the
witnesses want to make a statement afterwards then they may do so. But, I
doubt whether the members of the committee are ready to address themselves
in any particular way to the report of the Royal Commission on Banking and
Finance.

Senator LEONARD: I am not suggesting that we get into any detailed dis-
cussion of the report of the Royal Commission, but I think in fairness to these
applicants they should have the opportunity now of saying, in so far as their
application is concerned and in so far as this particular bill is concerned,
whether there is anything in the report that causes them to make any changes
or additions to their statements.

Senator CroLL: Mr. Chairman, it seems to me that Senator Leonard can
very well lead us into that line of questioning. He can read parts of the
report and ask the witnesses whether they agree or disagree. We can get it on
the record in that way.

The CHAIRMAN: All I was suggesting was that these witnesses are in the
same position as any witness. They can be asked any question which the
committee wishes to put to them, and if, when the questioning is finished, they
feel it has not been broad enough to deal with their views of this report they
can make a statement. Mr. Stevens read his statement first so I take it he
already commands the number one position.

Senator LEONARD: I think Mr. Coyne spoke first, and I suggest Mr. Tolmie
should state how he would like to proceed.
The CHAIRMAN: Mr. Stevens spoke first the last time, and I was giving him

the priority he had earned. You can settle among yourselves the order in which
you wish to speak.

Mr. J. R. Tolmie, Q.C.. Counsel for Petitioners: Honourable senators, with
your permission we would like to carry on from the point where we left off
gt the last committee meeting on March 18. As you recall, the meeting ad-
journed at that time subject to the call of the Chair for the purpose of awaiting
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the report of the Royal Commission on Banking and Finance. That report has
now been published, and with your permission I would ask that Mr. Coyne
carry on from the point where he left off, taking into account the report of
the Royal Commission as you requested. Then we will have Mr. Stevens carry
on with respect to the points he was dealing with last time. Without breaking
the continuity I would ask Mr. Coyne to go first.

The CHAIRMAN: Just a minute, please. We have just discussed that, and
I am not sure we adjourned the last time specifically to await the report of the
Royal Commission. We adjourned because we ran out of time, otherwise we
would have had the examination of the witnesses following the presentation of
their evidence. The record shows that we ran out of time, but I am in the
hands of the committee. If the committee wants to hear supplementary state-
ments, then that is fine; if it wants to examine on the evidence that has been
given, then that is fine.

Senator CrRoOLL: Mr. Chairman, I think if they have any further statements
to make we ought to hear them now.

The CHAIRMAN: Yes, very well. I must say it was not a question of not
hearing them before. Mr. Coyne?

Mr. James E. Coyne: I should like first, sir, to make an arithmetical correc-
tion in the statement I gave to the committee on the last occasion, as it appears
at the bottom of page 40 of the record of proceedings. I spoke of certain
earnings of the banks having increased by a certain amount over a ten-year
period; that should have been a 20-year period. That is the last line on page
40 of the record.

Mr. Chairman and honourable senators, there has been a new develop-
ment since we were last before you. As honourable senators will recall, state-
ments were made in the Senate to the effect that our bill should not be
finally dealt with in this committee until after the report of the Royal Com-
mission on Banking and Finance had been received.

Senator McCuTcHEON: And until we had had an opportunity of considering
it.

Mr. CoynE: Yes, and until honourable senators had had an opportunity of
considering it. Of course, the applicants were glad to have an opportunity of
considering it too.

The fact that the report has now been published means, I think, that the
statements we gave you nearly three months ago are incomplete, and I very
much welcome this opportunity to add briefly to what was said on that occasion,
and particularly to bring it up to date by referring to what I consider those
parts of the report of the Royal Commission which—

The CHAIRMAN: Three months ago?

Mr. CoyNE: Two months ago. It was on March 18.

Mr. ToLmie: We have copies of this to distribute, Mr. Chairman.

The CHAIRMAN: Very well.

Mr. CoyNE: Honourable senators.are aware that the report in its entirety
is a very bulky document. It runs to 27 chapters and 566 pages, but the parts
making recommendations regarding chartered banks, or possible changes
in the Bank Act, are contained in just two chapters, namely, chapters 18 and
19, and also in the final summary of the general report in chapter 27. The
first sentence of chapter 19 indicates the keynote of the commission’s approach.
At page 377 they say this:

We have described the spirit of competitive freedom which we
believe should underlie the Bank Act and the changes necessary to
give it effect.
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At page 367 the report speaks of: :
—the long run objective of developing a larger group of well-established
banking institutions.

I suggest, sir, that the philosophy of the report is clearly favourable to more
competition in the banking field in the public interest.

As regards the requirements for new chartered banks, the report deals
with two points. First, there is the amount of capital required. The report ap-
proves the present provisions in the Bank Act, and says at page 385:

We conclude, therefore, that the legislation regulating financial
institutions . . . should set a relatively low statutory minimum for
starting up a banking institution so as not to discourage the entry of
smaller specialized companies, but at the same time it should give the
Inspector General (of Banks) power—subject to appeal to the Treasury
Board—to set such higher requirements as may be necessary to ensure
the soundness of enterprises with more ambitious plans, and in par-
ticular to absorb the likely expenses of establishment and early opera-

tions. This, we understood is the actual position under the Bank Act at
the moment.

The report then specifically approves the present requirement in the
Bank Act, in these words, taken from page 385:
The present Bank. Act requirement that a new bank have paid up
capital of at least $500,000 as a minimum legal requirement seems
appropriate.

In this connection it may be noted that funds already received and com-
mitted for subscription to the proposed Bank of Western Canada amount to
over 25 times as much as the required sum stipulated in the Bank Act and
approved by the Royal Commission.

As to the other conditions on incorporation, the report says at page 385:
Other qualifications for a charter...should be kept to a minimum
although we feel the Act should require that applicants be of sound
reputation and proven business experience.

Honourable senators will recall the Government policy on this matter
was expressed by the Minister of Finance in the House of Commons on
February 28 last when he said, as reported in unrevised Hansard at page 347:

I have indicated publicly that the government is not opposed to further
competition in the banking field providing that any new bank is ade-
quately financed and is supported by financially responsible people.

We trust that anyone who reads over the list of 100 applicants for the
charter of the Bank of Western Canada and of the important financial institu-
tions and private investors who are backing this project with their investable
funds, will be reassured that the applicants are of sound reputation and
proven business experience and that this bank is adequately financed and
is supported by financially responsible people.

The Minister of Finance added one more proviso, namely, ‘“that provision
be made for retaining control in Canada.”

The Royal Commission expresses the opinion at page 374:

We think a high degree of Canadian ownership of financial institutions
is in itself healthy and desirable, and that the balance of advantage
is against foreign control of Canadian banks.

The report does not suggest that non-residents of Canada be entirely
prevented from owning stock in Canadian banks, but recommends at pages
374-5, that a non-resident bank should not be able to own stock in a Canadian
bank without specific application to and approval by the Treasury Board at
Ottawa.
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Section 5 of Bill S-6 which is before you makes special provision to
ensure that non-residents cannot obtain more than 10 per cent of the stock
in the Bank. These provisions can be replaced by whatever general provisions
Parliament chooses to enact at the time of the revision of the Bank Act, or
it can continue to operate, if Parliament so decides.

Other provisions of the Royal Commission’s report deal with how charter
banks, other banking institutions and non-banking financial institutions, should
operate, what changes should be made in their powers, and how they should
be regulated by public authorities.

We consider that none of these recommendations poses any serious problem
for the Bank of Western Canada and certainly not to any greater degree
than for other chartered banks. Some of the proposals are regarded as favour-
able to the banks and this will apply in the case of new banks and old banks
alike, such as the recommendation that the chartered banks should be allowed
to enter into the field of conventional mortgage loans and should be free of any
ceiling on interest rates except on personal loans up to $5,000.

On the other hand there are some proposals also at page 375 to encourage
more competition in the banking field by giving full banking powers to those
trust companies, mortgage companies and sales finance companies which take
short term deposits.

Such proposals, if adopted, will not create any more competition for a
new bank than for the existing banks, and the supporters of the Bank of
Western Canada are quite prepared to meet that competition if necessary.

The proposals that agreements among banks on interest rates, service
charges and so on should be prohibited unless approved by the Minister of
Finance, are dealt with at page 370 of the report and that the special exchange
charges on out of town cheques be prohibited, dealt with at page 394, would
not work to the disadvantage of a new bank.

The same is true of proposals made by the Royal Commission to meet the
argument, given at page 366:—

If the present banks were in fact to increase significantly their share
of financial business by expansion or by acquisition of existing companies,
the financial system might become unduly concentrated and less com-
petitive. ..

The report of the commission comes to the conclusion at page 371 that there
is “need to ensure that competition is not reduced by existing institutions
acquiring control over their competitors and reducing unnecessarily the number
of independent companies serving the public.” For this purpose, the report
recommends, at page 371 that both chartered banks, and those savings banks,
trust companies and other institutions which are given full banking powers
under the commission’s proposals, should not be allowed to hold stock in each
other without Treasury Board approval.

The Bank of Western Canada will have much less difficulty than other
banks in adjusting to this recommendation of the Royal Commission if it is
implemented.

The Bank of Western Canada itself will not own stock in other institutions
when it is incorporated, and its own stockholders will include at most two
trust companies or other institutions of the kind in question, holding less
than 5 per cent of its stock.

Moreover, the commission recommends certain exemptions, especially
for smaller institutions where the combined assets of those concerned do not
exceed “say $10 million or such higher figure as may be appropriate”. That
recommendation is given at page 371. The commission suggests also that
“Treasury Board approval might be almost automatically forthcoming” in some
cases of “the participation of banking institutions in new joint ventures with
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other businesses or with other members of the financial _com.munlty e provided
that the institution concerned has less than a controlling mteres!:. ' :

The exact circumstances in which the Treasury Board might give its
approval to some degree of stock ownership by, say, trust companleg, in a
bank are not spelled out in the report. Today all banks number trust companies
among their shareholders and probably all trust companies have bank shares
among their investments. 18

At any rate, whether the recommendations of the Royal Commission are
implemented in their entirety, or in part, or not at .all, the Bank of Western
Canada can without difficulty abide by the provisions of the Bank Act as
they may be from time to time. S

Quite apart from the report of the Royal Commlssmlfl,.whatever changes,
great or small, are made in the Bank Act in the 1965 revision or at any othgr
time, the supporters of the Bank of Western .Canada.are confident of their
ability to comply with the regulations and adjust their met.hods at least as
readily as the other banks, and probably, because pf smaller size, newness, and
greater flexibility, to deal a good deal more readily. Thank you.

Mr. ToLmIg: Mr. Chairman, might I ask Mr. Stevens to continue Wi@h
the evidence he was giving at the last meeting. I have some copies of his
statement, if you wish to distribute them.

Senator CRERAR: Are we proceeding to consider this application irrespective
of the recommendations of the report of the commission?

The CHAIRMAN: Earlier this morning, at the request of counsel for this
proposed new bank, we agreed to hear further presentations by them, enlarging
on their previous statements which they read at our last meeting, and deal-
ing in the main with consideration of points in the report of the Royal Com-
mission on Banking and Finance. What we decided to do was that when these
statements were complete the witnesses would be subject to any examination
the senators wished to make. What course of action we take after that is a
matter for the committee to determine; but I would say we would have to sit
down and resolve where are we going then.

Senator CRERAR: What I want to suggest is this, Mr. Chairman. Per-
sonally, I am in favour of this application; I am in favour of granting the
application now, considering it, and on its merits letting the legislation' go
through. The suggestion has been made that all these applications for bank
charters should await a revision of the Bank Act, which now will not take place
until 1965. If we are not to put the cart before the horse, I think the com-
mittee should consider the question and decide whether or not we are going
to proceed now or wait until after the revision of the Bank Act.

The CHAIRMAN: Sentor, I think right at the moment you are getting
the cart ahead of the horse, because these witnesses have not given their
presentation yet.

Senator CRERAR: No, I am not putting the cart before the horse, with
due respect to you, Mr. Chairman, and I have a great deal of respect for you.
I think the other matter is important. If the decision of the committee is that
no charters will be reported in this committee until after a revision of the
Bank Act, then this is simply an exercise in futility. If, on the other hand, we are
going to consider these applications on their merits now and proceed with
the legislation, irrespective of the revision of the Bank Act, then that is
another matter. I am in favour of going ahead, but I do not want to spend
two or three hours here listening to arguments from Mr. Coyne and these
other gentlemen that this charter should be granted, and then find at the
end we shall reach a decision that we will not consider any applications until
after the revision of the Bank Act.
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The CHAIRMAN: The committee has not made any decision on that point
yet.

Senator CRERAR: I know, Mr. Chairman; but I submit to you, with all def-
erence, is that not a point we should decide first?

The CHAIRMAN: In effect, you are suggesting that this committee dis-
pense with further hearings, dismiss the witnesses, and go into a session to
determine what policy is going to follow. Is that your suggestion?

Senator CRERAR: No. My suggestion is this, that supposing we hear the
arguments, effective arguments for securing their charter, we should first
of all go ahead on the assumption that at the end of the hearing we will
not reach a decision and throw the whole matter aside for another year.

The CHAIRMAN: I do not think that would be the right way of proceed-
ing. These witnesses have presented a bill to the Senate. It has got to the stage
of committee, and they are entitled to a hearing, and afterwards it is up to
us to make a decision.

Senator CRERAR: There is no question but that they are entitled to be
heard; but it is an exercise in futility if we hear them, when we have already
not decided the question of whether or not we grant the application.

The CHAIRMAN: I don’t know that we have.

Senator LEONARD: Perhaps Senator Crerar might feel that he was better
able to consider the larger question that he raises as and when we have had
the evidence and we have heard some of the debate among the senators, and
then proceed.

Senator CRERAR: I repeat that we are putting the cart before the horse.
There is no sense spending hours hearing the applications and taking up the
time of these gentlemen if, at the end, we are going to reach a decision that we
will not grant these charters.

Senator LEONARD: I hope not.

Sinclair M. McKight Stevens: Mr. Chairman and honourable senators, I wish
to thank you again for giving Mr. Coyne and myself this opportunity to re-
appear before you, so that we may endeavour to answer any questions that
may be put to us with respect to our application for an Act of Parliament to
incorporate the Bank of Western Canada.

As we indicated in our earlier appearance before you, our position is clear.
The incorporation and organization of banks is dealt with in section 8 to 18
inclusive of the Bank Act. In applying for an act to incorporate our proposed
bank, we have followed the procedure laid down in the act, and to the best
of our knowledge there is no requirement which should have been met at this
date which has not been met. In fact, the minimum amount of capital set out
in the Bank Act which should be subscribed upon incorporation is $1 million,
upon which $500,000 has been paid. In our case, almost $13 million has been
raised and is now held in trust, to be used in subscribing for capital stock in
the proposed bank should a charter be granted.

In this connection we have been asked as to why we have raised such
funds in trust, and it may be helpful if I clarify our thinking. First, at the
time of the Mercantile Bank of Canada incorporation hearing before this com-
_mittee, one point that disturbed presidents of existing Canadian chartered
banks who appeared before this committee, was the feeling that the proposed
capital of the Mercantile Bank of Canada, some $1,500,000 was inadequate. For
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example, Mr. Muir, then President of the Royal Bank of Canada, is quoted in
the Globe and Mail of February 5, 1953 as saying:
.. .it would disturb the Canadian banking system if another were to
come in with the proposition of starting branch banking with $1 million
capital.

I understand he went on to say:
You could not start a bank in Canada today with ten times a million
dollars capital.

Again, Mr. H. L. Enman, then President of the Bank of Nova Scotia stated:

It seemed wrong that a charter should be given “under horse and buggy
rules” so that a bank with a capital of $1 million was allowed to buy
into a system with resources of $10 billion.

Mr. Enman also questioned the wisdom of giving a charter to a bank the
capital of which was held in a foreign country, and he was supported in this
view by others appearing before this committee.

With this background, it was natural for us to feel that we must not only
be willing to indicate our intention to raise substantial capital for the proposed
bank, but also we should demonstrate that the money was available and that
it could be raised in Canada from Canadians.

We were supported in this view by the Honourable Walter L. Gordon,
Minister of Finance, who stated in the House of Commons on February 28,
1964, in reply to a question, that the Government was not opposed to further
competition in the banking field, providing that any new bank is adequately
financed and is supported by financially responsible people, and that provision
is made for retaining control in Canada.

In that connection, I understand Mr. Gordon reiterated that statement
recently in a speech in Vancouver.

There is precedent for the raising of funds on a trusteed basis prior to the
incorporation of an institution such as a bank. In Ontario, it has become cus-
tomary to raise funds prior to the incorporation of loan or trust cmpanies under
the provisions of The Loan and Trust Corporations Act (Ontario). It is under-
stood that those administering loan and trust corporations in the province of
Ontario are unwilling to incorporate a new loan or trust company until funds
have been raised, deposited with a trustee and the names of the proposed share-
holders revealed.

Before such funds are raised, pre-incorporation offering circulars are filed
under The Securities Act (Ontario) and it is generally felt that officials
administering that act have indicated an unwillingness to accept a pre-incorpora-
tion offering circular if the certificates to be issued thereunder are non-
transferable. They contend that a non-transferable certificate would result in
individuals being locked-in to a trusteed arrangement for an indeterminate
time while the charter application is pending.

In the past five years several loan and trust companies have been in-
corporated where pre-incorporation offerings were made and funds raised to be
held in trust pending the chartering and licensing of the proposed institution.
Such an arrangement existed or is pending, for example, with respect to The
Metropolitan Trust Company, York Trust and Savings Corporation, District
Trust Company, Kent Trust and Savings Corporation, Lincoln Trust and Savings
Corporation and Hamilton Trust and Savings Corporation.

We proceeded therefore to have funds raised on a trusteed basis, to be
held pending the granting of a charter for the incorporation of the Bank of
Western Canada. We are pleased to tell you today that there are now some
6,000 Canadian residents holding trustee subscription certificates having a face
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value of $6,450,000. A schedule is available showing the distribution of these
6,000 certificates as to province and size of holding.

Gentlemen, I have the schedules with me, but I do not know how many
copies we have. I would like to mention, though, the distribution is broken
down as follows:

Province 'of Manitfoba . .. L. . ideiss ot onaie s s 2,060 holders
Province of Saskatchewan ............c.c0euen. 564 holders
BraviRea ol ATDErta Ll U R el st 1,261 holders
Provance of British Columbia . ... .5 0 s dadas 1,981 holders
VAT T B0 4 o (o TSR S et S 233 holders

That makes a total of 6,099 holders of these certificates. The distribution
as to size of holding is heavily of the one to 100 share size. Again, as I say,
these schedules are available if you would like to look at them in more detail.

Senator McCuTcHEON: Mr. Chairman, might I just ask a question at this
point for clarification?

The CHAIRMAN: Yes.

Senator McCUTCHEON: You refer to certificates having a face value of
$6,450,000. I take it those are certificates concerning which each $15 represents
potentially one share in that bank?

Mr. STEVENS: That is correct.

Senator McCUTCHEON: So it represents some 400,000-odd shares?

Mr. STEVENS: Yes.

Senator BROOKS: Are these certificates changing hands at the present
time?

Mr. STEVENS: Yes, they are transferable, and, as I mentioned in the earlier
section, the transferability was almost insisted upon by the people administering
the Securities Act in Ontario, in that they said they did not want a situation
involving non-transferability, where people could not get their money out.

Senator McCuTcHEON: You did not have to go under the Ontario Securities
Act if this is a western bank and you are looking for western shareholders.

Mr. STEVENS: I am not sure of the legal ramifications of that.

The CHAIRMAN: You went under the Ontario Securities Act with 233
holders in Ontario, and all the rest are from the four western provinces.

Mr. STeVENS: We are getting into a legal question.

Senator McCuTcHEON: There is no one better qualified than you to tackle
such a question either.

Mr. STEVENS: Thank you. Apparently, the four western provinces wait
until the Ontario Securities Commission clears issues. When they have been
cleared in Ontario they are subsequently cleared through the four western
provinces.

The CHAaIRMAN: That is the practice if you are going to clear in Ontario,
but if you do not—and you do not have to, because you are not seeking it
from Ontario—then you have to make your way with the other commissions.

Mr. STeEVENS: With ourselves being resident in Ontario, and talking to the
solicitors, we thought it advisable.

Senator McCuUTCcHEON: What are these certificates trading at?

Mr. SteveEns: I think it is in the $16-range.

Senator Bourrarp: Was the offer made all over Canada?

Mr. SteEvENS: No, it was cleared in the province of Ontario and the four
western provinces.

Senator BourrarD: Why not in Quebec and the Maritimes?
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Mr. StevENs: Largely because of Senator McCutcheon’s point—it was
essentially sold in the west because the total number of shareholders is 6,099,
and of that number only 233 are not resident in the western provinces.

Senator MoLsoN: Could we have an idea of what the face value of this
distribution of certificates is?

The CHAIRMAN: Do you mean, among the provinces?

Senator MoLson: Yes.

The CHAIRMAN: Yes.

Mr. STEVENS: This is shown here in units of $15. The number of units in
Manitoba would be 158,580.

The CHAIRMAN: And multiply that by 15 to get dollars?

Mr. SteveNnSs: That is correct. In Saskatchewan, 28,050; in Alberta, 74,790;
in British Columbia, 94,865; and in Ontario, 73,715.

The main holding in Ontario was the Empire Life holding, which I re-
ferred to at our earlier meeting. The Empire Life group has taken a block of
stock, and that is the main holding that is shown as coming out of Ontario.

Another point I would stress in connection with the subscription certifi-
cates is that in the event a charter is not granted, the funds, together with
such interest as is available less the cost of distribution, will be returned to
the subscribers without any qualification. The prospectus that has been filed
makes this very clear in several places. The trustee is the Canada Permanent
Trust, who are acting mainly through their Winnipeg office in handling this.

If I may proceed, then: It is interesting to note that should our bank be
incorporated and these 6,000 holders become shareholders in the Bank of
Western Canada, we will be able to commence business with more shareholders
than either of the Banque Canadienne Nationale or the Provincial Bank of
Canada have now, and almost 50 per cent of the shareholders in the Bank
of Nova Scotia.

In addition, and as outlined to you in our previous statement, The Welling-
ton Financial Corporation, Limited sold trustee subscription certificates for an
aggregate amount of $3,750,000. These certificates are held by over 2,000
holders.

Partly in answer to your question, Mr. Senator, these holders are resident
in every province of Canada, from Newfoundland through to British Columbia.

Canadian Finance and Investments Ltd., a Winnipeg investment company
having over 2,600 shoreholders, has reserved $2,250,000 of its capital funds
for investment in the proposed bank. York Trust and Savings Corporation has
indicated its intention to subscribe for $495,000-worth of bank stock, and this
will result in York Trust’s some one thousand shareholders having an indirect
interest in the bank.

In total, should the bank be incorporated, over 10,000 Canadians will hold
directly or indirectly, shares in the proposed bank. We feel this is a dramatic
example of Canadians being willing to invest in Canadian institutions if given
such an opportunity and negates trite comments that Canadians are unwilling
to invest at home or in new ventures.

As Mr. Coyne has mentioned in his remarks, the report of the Royal Com-
mission on Banking and Finance favours a more open and competitive banking
system and nowhere gives any indication that further banks should not be
chartered under the existing provisions of the Bank Act. Indeed, they have
made many references to possible undue concentration in the banking and
financial system and have made recommendations as to how this undue con-
centration may be prevented. In making such recommendations, however, they
are careful to point out that smaller concerns should be an exception in any
legislation or ruling designed to disassociate banking concerns.
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While some of the companies in our group are finance companies or at
least have the word “finance” in their names, it is important to note that
none of the present companies in our group which will invest directly or
indirectly in the proposed bank, with the exception of York Trust and Savings
Corporation, would be considered banking institutions as that term is defined
in chapter 19 of the report. As pointed out above, York Trust will have a
small interest in the bank, and if any general legislation or ruling should
be passed which would require the divesting of York Trust’s interest in
the proposed bank, we, of course, would readily so divest York Trust’s interest
or any other interest which one or more of our companies may hold which
was felt to be in contravention of such future legislation or rulings.

Our one hundred petitioners are anxious to proceed with the proposed
incorporation. We feel we have met any statutory requirements to date, and
the report of the Royal Commission oen Banking and Finance indicates no
objection to our application being proceeded with, and in fact, time and time
again, indicates the desirability of having more competition in the Canadian
banking field. We therefore sincerely hope that you will decide favourably
with respect to our application.

Gentlemen, I should like to let you know that Mr. Leslie Bodie of Edmon-
ton, who is one of the provisional directors, is with us today and while I don’t
think he intends to make any statement I just wish to inform you that he is
here.

Senator McLeAN: Mr. Chairman—

The CHAIRMAN: Just a moment, senator, please. Gentlemen, we have
reached the stage where the committee is free to proceed with its examination
of these witnesses. Senator McLean, you were first.

Senator McLEAN: I would like to ask the witness whether this proposed
bank starts out with any reserves besides capital stock.

Mr. STEVENS: The par value for the stock is $10 per share. We propose
that they should be sold on a $15 basis and the extra $5 would go into reserve.

Senator McLEAN: I notice there was a Western Bank of Canada before
which was taken over by the Merchants Bank, which in turn was apparently
taken over by another stronger bank. I suppose you have no knowldege of
any losses in these transactions. I think in fact the Merchants Bank was
taken over by the Standard Bank of Canada and that in turn was taken over by
the Canadian Bank of Commerce.

Mr. SteEvEnNs: I am sorry, Mr. Senator, while I have read the general
history of banking, I don’t know about that specific situation.

Senator McLEAN: I know of a case which has come before us before where
the question of names was involved. When a bank takes over another bank
it does not generally acquire the name of that bank. That was the case of
a bank in New Brunswick. They didn’t take over the Bank of New Brunswick,
it was the New Brunswick Bank.

The CHAIRMAN: Senator McLean, I don’t really think there is any question
about that. I do not understand that, if this bill is otherwise acceptable, there
is any contest about the name.

Senator McLEAN: Past history shows that banks taking over weaker
banks are opposed to any other bank taking over the name. I don’t think,
for example, you could start a Bank of Hochelaga today.

The CHAIRMAN: That is something we shall have to consider when consid-
ering the bill section by section. We have not had any objections to the name

filed with us.
20531—2
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Senator McCUTCHEON: Mr. Stevens, dealing first with your supplementary
statement, you referred to the “companies in our group”. What are those
companies that are going to be shareholders in the bank?

Mr. STEVENS: The companies in our group—there are three, The Wel-
lington Financial Corporation, Limited, Canadian Finance & Investments Ltd.,
and York Trust and Savings Corporation which I have referred to in the
statement here.

Senator McCUTCHEON: Is there anything said there that only the York
Trust and Savings Corporation would be considered a banking institution as
defined in the Porter Commission Report? Is there anything in the charters of
the other two to prevent their becoming banking institutions if they choose
to? Are they in a position to take banking deposits if they choose to?

Mr. STEVENS: I cannot answer you directly with regard to Canadian
Finance & Investments Ltd. With respect to The Wellington Financial Corpora-
tion, Limited they would be in a position to take short term deposits if they
wished. I think I can say generally that any institution in Canada with some
possible exceptions can take short term deposits. There is no restriction on
it, including an industrial company.

Senator McCuTcHEON: You might find a situation arising where these
three companies in your group all became banking institutions within the
meaning of that term as defined in the Porter Report.

Mr. STEVEN: It could happen, yes.

Senator McCuTcHEON: If the plan proceeds as outlined, how many shares
of the proposed bank will the York Trust company hold?

Mr. STEVENS: York will be subscribing for $495,000 worth, and that
divided by 15 would give the number of shares.

Senator McCuTcHEON: My division makes it 33,000.

Mr. STEVENS: Yes.

Senator McCuTcHEON: And Canadian Finance?

Mr. STEVENS: Two million two hundred and fifty thousand dollars.

Senator McCuTcHEON: I make that 150,000 shares. And Wellington?

Mr. STEVENS: I think that would be $3,750,000.

Senator McCuUTCHEON: I make that 250,000, and that adds up to a total
of 433,000 shares, or 43 per cent of the capital of the new bank held by those
three companies.

Senator BEAUBIEN (Bedford): Would those three companies have voting
rights?

Mr. STEVENS: Yes.

Senator McCuTcHEON: Would that be right?

Mr. STEVENS: Yes.

Senator McCuTcHEON: I would like to turn to those companies for a
moment. You told us when you were here some weeks ago something of
British International Finance (Canada) Limited, and at that time I think
you said at page 37 of the evidence that British International Finance (Canada)
Limited held approximately 60 per cent of the equity of Wellington. Is that
correct? Is Wellington a subsidiary of British International Finance?

Mr. STEVENS: Correct.

Senator McCuUTCHEON: It is a subsidiary?

Mr. STEVENS: Yes.

Senator McCuTcHEON: There is a prospectus here which would indicate
that it has to be a subsidiary.
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Mr. STEVENS: Yes.

Senator McCuUTCHEON: And if that financing is carried through, am I
correct in understanding that British International, if I may shorten the term,
will then hold 48 per cent of the equity of Wellington?

Mr. STEVENS: No, I think the eventual holding that British International
Finance will have immediately after the incorporation and capitalization
of the Bank of Western Canada will be 36.6 per cent of Wellington.

Senator McCUTCHEON: 36.6 per cent of Wellington?

Mr. STEVENS: Yes.

Senator McCuTcHEON: I may have to come back to that, because I think
it was stated in one of these that it was 48 per cent, but at least it won’t be
less than 36.67

Mr. STeEVENS: That’s right.

Senator McCuUTCHEON: And you said 40 per cent of York Trust—now in
the prospectus it says 45 per cent, which is correct—British International is
quoted here as 40 per cent.

Mr. STEVENS: Yes.

Senator McCuTcHEON: You said approximately.

Mr. STEVENS: Yes, I think the exact figure is 43.4 per cent.

Senator McCuTcHEON: And Canadian Finance?

Mr. STEVENS: Yes.

Senator McCuTcHEON: What interest does British International have in that?

Mr. STEVENS: Again, immediately following the capitalization of the pro-
posed bank British International would have 21.2 per cent of the equity of that
company.

Senator McCUTCHEON: 21.2 per cent?

Mr. STEVENS: There are two classes of voting stock. There is cne class that
has 20 votes per share, and the other has one vote per share. As a result of
British International’s higher preponderance of common over class A shares
the voting power is 28.9 per cent, and it is 21.2 per cent of the actual equity.

Senator McCuTcHEON: I have before me a prospectus of Canadian Finance
and Investments Ltd. which was issued this year. I do not think there is
actually a date on it. Paragraph 29 of the statutory information reads:

There are no persons who, by reason of any agreement in writing, are
in a position to or are entitled to elect or cause to be elected a majority
of the directors of the Company. British International Finance (Canada)
Limited, Stevens Securities Limited and James E. Coyne, by reason of
beneficial ownership of securities of the Company, could, if voting
together, elect or cause to be elected a majority of the directors of the
Company.

That, I take it, is a correct statement.

Mr. STEVENS: Yes.

Senator McCuTcHEON: Could British International Finance (Canada) and
Stevens Securities Limited -voting together elect a majority of the directors?

Mr. STEVENS: Again, in fairness to your question, the time that British
International and Stevens Securities could do that, if they could do it at all,
would be immediately following the complete capitalization of C.F.I. as con-
templated in the prospectus, because that is when British International takes
down further shares.

Senator McCutcHEON: That is right, but at that time British International
and Stevens could elect a majority, and you would not need Mr. Coyne’s help?

20531—23
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Mr. STEVENS: I know it is very close, but whether it is actually over 51
per cent or not I do not know. I think it is in the high forties.

Senator McCuTcHEON: Let us say it is a high 40 per cent. Stevens Securities
Limited is a holding company controlled by you?

Mr. STevENS: It is a family holding company.

Senator McCuTcHEON: Controlled by you?

Mr. STEVENS: No, it would be controlled by my family.

Senator McCuTcHEON: But you would have some influence, I take it?

Mr. STeVENS: I hope so.

Senator McCuTcHEON: All right. We have a picture of where British In-
ternational Finance (Canada) Limited stands with respect to these companies.
I want you to come to British International Finance (Canada) Limited. I am
looking at the pro-forma balance sheet, and the actual consolidated balance
sheet as at March 31, 1963. There is no difference in the shareholdings as be-
tween those two dates. It shows that there are 268,013 Class A shares issued
and 64,236 common shares, the value attributed to the common shares being
$194,564. What is the difference between those two classes of shares?

Mr. STEVENS: Solely voting, and the Class A are participating. They get
an initial 20 cents per share dividend, and then when the common get an
equal dividend they are equally participating. I say ‘“solely voting” in the
sense that the common have ten votes per share and the Class A one vote per
share.

Senator McCuUTCHEON: So the company is controlled by the holders of
64,236 common shares?

Mr. STEVENS: That is right.

Senator BEAUBIEN (Bedford): Who owns those?

Mr. STEVENS: Those shares, directly or indirectly—I mean by that not in
my own personal name, but indirectly they are controlled by me, and certainly
myself and one or two other directors of British International would have the
bulk of them.

Senator McCUTCHEON: Is it not a fact that directly or indirectly through
your family holding company or otherwise you and Mr. W. E. N. Bell control
British International Finance (Canada) Limited?

Mr. STEVENS: I would say that that is true. I would like to emphasize
the indirect nature of that, though. For example, I would have a 49 per cent
interest in one company in which there would be, say, three other shareholders.
I do not think in fairness I can say I control that company, but on the other
hand if you group that company with the other companies your statement
would be right.

Senator McCUTCHEON: Forty-nine per cent is usually regarded as working
control unless another person holds 51 per cent. I have had quite a bit of
experience in this type of business.

Senator BEAUBIEN (Bedford): How many shares do you hold of the 64,000~
odd in British International Finance?

Mr. STevENS: I would say it is in the high 20,000 to 30,000 range. I would
say 28,000 to 30,000.

Senator McCuTcHEON: I just want to ask you one further question. You and
Mr. Bell, and, let us say, this mythical third person you mentioned, might be
interested—

Mr. ToLmIiE: Why mythical?

; Senator McCuUTcHEON: He has not named him. If you want to raise the
point I will say Mr. Stevens told me in my office that he and Mr. Bell control
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this company, and no other person was named. I will withdraw the word
“mythical”.

Mr. STEVENS: To save any misunderstanding there—I am trying to be
correct in my statement—I will say that the next largest holder would be
William J. Mollard. He appears in the prospectus. I am trying to be correct
as to whether myself plus Bell plus Mollard control—those three certainly
control.

Senator McCuTcHEON: Then I think the answer to my question follows
from that, that you and Mr. Mollard and Mr. Bell are in a position to sell the
control of British International Finance (Canada) Limited to any person you
choose.

Mr. STEVENS: Yes.

Senator McCUTCHEON: Your answer is ‘“‘yes”?

Mr. STEVENS: Yes.

Senator McCUTCHEON: In selling that control you would thereby transfer
effective control of Wellington, effective control of York, and possibly effective
control of C.F.I.

Mr. STEVENS: I think if you use the word “effective” it is generally true, yes.

Senator McCUTCHEON: And in doing that you would dispose of the effec-
tive control of 433,000 shares of the new bank? :

Mr. STEVENS: Yes, if you follow your line of reasoning.

Senator McCuUTCHEON: Yes, we are following it, and the answer is
Yes or No.

Mr. STEVENS: Yes.
Senator McCuTcHEON: Would you consider that 43.3 per cent of the

shares of a bank held by one group would constitute effective control of
the bank?

Mr. STEVENS: Yes.

Senator McCuUTCHEON: So that despite the provisions in your charter
that prohibit foreign holdings you could convey effective control of the new
bank to any foreign group you wanted to very readily?

Mr. STEVENS: Except that we will not, and we will give any agreement
or assurance to that effect that is required. Any company holdings that we
have set up have been deliberately set up by us to be able to show that there
is control in firm hands. We will give any assurance that is required that
that control will not go out of the country.

Senator McCuTcHEON: I suggest that you could only give that assurance
with regard to yourself, and that having sold, as some people do sell, this
assurance cannot pass on down the line. .

Senator LEONARD: It could be put in the statute, if necessary. If there is
any question then put it in the statute.

Senator McCuTcHEON: What would be put in the statute?

Senator LEONARD: Carry your line of ownership right on down through
to make sure the same provisions that are in the bill would apply to these
holdings.

Senator BEAUBIEN (Bedford): You cannot put in the statute a stop on
the selling of shares of British International Investments.

Senator LEONARD: You could provide effectively that the control shall not
directly or indirectly go outside of Canada, if that is what is worrying you.

Senator BEAUBIEN (Bedford): It would not be the shares of the bank
that would be going out. It would be the shares of British International
Finance that would be going out.
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Senator LEONARD: Yes, and that would have the effect of changing the
effective control of the bank.

The CHAIRMAN: Have you finished, Senator McCutcheon?

Senator McCUTCHEON: Mr. Stevens has indicated, I think, his willingness
to give certain assurances, but as the matter stands now he and Mr. Mollard
and Mr. Bell could convey effective control of the new bank to any group
they wanted to anywhere. Then, it follows that if the new bank is incor-
porated and the subcriptions that Canadian Finance and Investments Ltd.
and the other companies in the group have indicated they are going to make
are taken up, then effective control of the new bank will be in the hands
of yourself and Mr. Bell and Mr. Mollard?

Mr. STEVENS: That is correct.

Senator McCuTcHEON: I have nothing further at the moment, Mr. Chair-
man.

The CHAIRMAN: Are there any further questions?

Senator BOUFFARD: Mr. Stevens, even if there is a provision in the bill
to stop the selling of that stock to anybody you wish, is it not true that
effective control will be in the hands of companies which are either inter-
national finance companies or—

Senator McCuTcHEON: I think Mr. Stevens has said “Yes” to that, Senator.

Mr. STEVENS: May I clarify it? I hope I have made the point clear that
the distinction or the definition that I am referring to in the report of the
Royal Commission is simply that they arbitrarily suggest that banking and
finance be defined in accordance with the liabilities of a company, and if
a company determines to go into short term money obligations they say
arbitrarily that we must consider it a banking institution. I say with respect
to that line of thinking that likewise arbitrarily you could say about our
companies, because there are no restrictions with respect to going into short
term money obligations, certainly so far as Wellington is concerned, that we
might be considered a banking institution in that we, corporate wise, could
issue short term obligations but so could any other corporation. It is all
hypothetical. At present we have no short term obligations and we are not
a banking institution as that is defined in the Royal Commission Report.

Senator BouFFARD: You would be so considered?

Mr. STEVENS: In the same sense that virtually any company in existence
in Canada could be considered as a bank institution.

Senator THORVALDSON: On page 5 of this statement, Mr. Stevens says that
the Wellington Financial Corporation Limited sold trustee subscription certif-
icates for an aggregate amount of $3,750,000. Does that mean that the Welling-
ton Financial Corporation is not a beneficial owner or an owner?

Mr. STEVENS: At the present time technically they are not the owner. The
funds are in trust and if a charter is granted, Wellington in effect subscribes
for stock in the bank and then, as they have got the stock, those funds are
moved from the trustee to Wellington; but it is a condition of the trust arrange-
ment that the funds will not be given to Wellington, nor shares issued by
Wellington, until Wellington can show that it has 250,000 shares in the bank.

The CHAIRMAN: There is a question arising out of that, and I should like
to interject it. I understand that the offering was made of trustee subscription
certificates by Wellington and there were certain provisions that if the bank
charter was not granted the money would be returned, under certain conditions.
If the bank charter was granted and Wellington subscribed for the shares, as
Mr. Stevens said, and the shares were given to Wellington, do I also under-
stand that it was printed in the prospectus that they would get the original
shares of Wellington and not bank shares?
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Mr. STEVENS: That is correct.

Senator THORVALDSON: There is a statement here following that, that these
certificates are held by over 2,000 holders. What is meant by that?

Mr. STEVENS: In other words, just as the bank trustee certificates have
been distributed to some 6,000 people, there are 2,000 people who hold the
Wellington trustee certificates and they in turn will become shareholders of
Wellington if the bank charter goes through.

Senator McCuTcHEON: Wellington has an issue of notes. They are all se-
cured by approved collateral, not less than 120 per cent...

I take it that these bank shares will certainly be subject to the floating
charge and might be subject to the specific charge, if you chose to use that
last collateral.

Mr. STEVENS: No, the trust deed has been amended and they may not be
used—or at least there is no provision for them being used as a specific charge.
The floating charge, if the shares become an asset of Wellington, would be
covered by the floating charge you are referring to; but the trust indenture does
not prohibit the shares to be pledged.

Senator McCUTCHEON: It does not prohibit?

Mr. STEVENS: It does not allow.

Senator McCuTcHEON: They are specifically exempted from this specific
charge?

Mr. STEVENS: It is the reverse. There is no provision to allow them to be
pledged. In other words, the pledgeable securities do not include stocks such
as bank stocks.

Senator THORVALDSON: You say here that Canadian Finance and Invest-
ments Limited, a Winnipeg investment company having over 2,600 sharehold-
ers, has reserved. Would you give roughly the geographical distribution of
those 2,600 shareholders? Are they Manitoba people, western Canadian or
where are those shareholders? Where do they reside mainly?

Mr. STEVENS: The transfer agent of that company was unable, because of
time, to give the actual distribution. I do have the shareholders list with me,
which I will be pleased to show you. My rough guess would be that 80 per
cent or 90 per cent are in the four western provinces. It is virtually an all-
western Canadian finance institution. I can show you the list, but that is the
general distribution.

Senator THORVALDSON: I just wanted that general indication.

Senator McCUTCHEON: A great deal has been made of the fact that this is
a bank of western Canada for the benefit of the people of western Canada, so
that people residing in western Canada can become shareholders. We have
established that effective control is in the hands of yourself, Mr. Bell and Mr.
Mollard. You and Mr. Bell and Mr. Mollard all live in Toronto?

Mr. STEVENS: Yes.

Senator McCUTCHEON: You are just masquerading as westerners?

Mr. STEVENS: I do not think that is fair, Mr. Senator. I do not think that
we have ever pretended that we were westerners and certainly would have no
reason to do so. As I mentioned in an earlier statement, the west seemed to be
a very logical place to start a bank, as opposed to starting on Bay Street in
Toronto.

Senator Brooks: It has been suggested—I do not know whether by the
promoters of this bank or not—that they are going to fill a certain vacancy in
the needs for banking in this country that other banks are not now supplying.
Is that a fact? Would you interpret it in that way?
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3 hink the quickest answer and certainly the easiest answer
to giI\\z/Ier 'ysoflEz;El\fci‘e IRtoyal Com(rlnission report. They dealt .beautifu'lly with this
question and I think very ably pointed out time and time again _that there
should be, and they hoped that there will be, much more competition, to use
their phrase “in the Canadian banking scene”. They spent t.wo and a half years
studying the question and I think their final recommendations and 'conclus§ons
on the Canadian banking scene speak far more loudly than any feeling I might
have.

Senator BrRoOKS: What need do they suggest in their report? I must say
I have not read it.

Mr. STEVENS: Their feeling is not so much on the question of need as the
fact that there is no reason not to open up and h_ave a more free flowing be_nf}k-
ing system in Canada. Again, I say, to use their words ‘“‘a more competitive
system”.

The CHAIRMAN: Wasn’t that why they suggested that finance companies
and trust companies taking deposits should be put on the same level as banks,
so that competition for deposits might be more competitive?

Mr. STEVENS: At least two paragraphs refer to the incorporation of new
banks or alternatively, as the chairman has said, the possibility of licensing
institutions which they define as banking institutions.

Senator BURCHILL: I understood Mr. Stevens to say that these three loan
companies in Toronto—York, Wellington, and Canadian Finance—under the
recommendations of the Royal Commission, if adopted, might become banks.
Is that correct?

Senator McCuTcHEON: Banking institutions.

Senator BURCHILL: As I understand the recommendation, if an institution
accepts a cash deposit, it must make application to become a bank. Is that right?

Mr. STeVENS: That is right.

Senator BURCHILL: Then these institutions you speak of, will they accept
deposits?

Mr. STEVEN: No. I am pleased you asked this, because I would like to
clarify this point. My original statement was that the only institution in our
group which does accept deposits and takes short term liabilities, in the sense
referred to in the Royal Commission report, and which would require us to
register or licence as a bank institution, is the York Trust and Savings Corpora-
tion. Other institutions do not meet that definition under the Porter Report,
and there would be no need to register as a bank institution.

In answer to Senator McCutcheon, I said theoretically that virtually any
company can take a short term obligation and if they did so and wish to carry
on in that business, and if the Porter Report were implemented, it would
mean they would have to register as a banking institution.

Senator BURCHILL: In the case of York Trust, it would have to make a
decision.

Mr. STEVENS: Or become licensed as a banking institution, that is right.

Senator BOUFFARD: What about the other institutions that are carrying
on as banks?

Mr. CoynE: That is on the question of the Porter Commission, which I was
dealing with a few minutes ago, senator, and perhaps I should deal with that
now. The Porter Commission report says that those institutions which in fact
carry on like banks should come under the Bank Act; but there are thousands
of corporations throughout Canada which theoretically have the power to take
deposits. There are thousands of shareholders in corporations, owning shares in
the Royal Bank, and the Bank of Nova Scotia, and so on, which could theoreti-
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cally, and in accordance with the very hypothetical speculative suggestions men-
tioned by Senator McCutcheon, become deposit-taking institutions, but they
actually have no intention whatever of going into the short term deposit
business. There is certainly no intention whatsoever on the part of Canadian
Finance and Investments Company in Winnipeg, nor as far as I know, of the
Wellington Corporation in Toronto, to go into the short term deposit business.

The CHAIRMAN: You must realize, Mr. Coyne, that we cannot discuss this
as a matter of intention. We accept it as a fact that you are making an
application here to make money, or you would not be here. When we are asked
to grant a charter, there are certain factual situations we must deal with, and
we cannot accept as fact intentions which may only be speculative.

Mr. CoynNE: Of course, the Inspector General of banks retains control over
this. The Porter Commission report suggests that he in fact should have
power to inquire into any stock holdings in any of the chartered banks, and
all past mergers, indeed, in the public interest. For my part, I would not have
any fear that in the case of the Bank of Western Canada there would be any
greater danger to the public interest than with other banks as they exist today,
in fact.

Senator McCuTcHEON: I was merely trying to get facts, not an argu-
ment.

Senator THORVALDSON: Three names have been mentioned frequently this
morning, but the name of Mr. Mollard has come up frequently. Who is he,
where does he live, and what is his background?

Mr. StevENSs: Mr. William J. Mollard is one of the 11 directors of British
International Finance (Canada) Limited; he lives in Toronto, is the son of
William A. Mollard, an architect in Toronto, and is engaged in the construction
business as a builder of industrial buildings.

There is another point I would like to mention in connection with the
point raised by Senator McCutcheon. This is an inter-company question. As I
mentioned in my statement earlier, if there should ever be any legislation
or ruling requiring a divesting in any of our companies, we will divest. For
example, if for some reason Wellington Corporation has to sell their pro-
posed holdings in the bank, we will do so.

Senator BEAUBIEN (Bedford): In view of the fact that the British Inter-
national Finance Company will have strong voting power, would it be in
order to ask Mr. Stevens to give us a list of shareholders and a financial
statement as of April 30, 1964? That company will virtually control the bank,
as far as I can see and, if so, we should have more information on it.

Mr. STEVENS: Is there any significance in the date of April 30? I could give
you one of March 31, 1964.

Senator BEAUBIEN (Bedford): That would be satisfactory.

Mr. STEVENS: I can give you a list of shareholders today, and a statement
as of March 31, 1964. I can give the list of shareholders both with respect
to common shares and class “A”.

Senator McCuTcHEON: Perhaps it could be incorporated in the record.

The CHAIRMAN: Yes, as an appendix. The statement you are talking about
is a financial statement?

Mr. STEVENS: Yes.

The CHAIRMAN: And it would show authorized and issued shares?

See appendix “A” to today’s proceedings.

Senator BouFFARD: For the purpose of clarity, I should like to ask a ques-
tion. This is a western bank. Eventually, it may be that you will want to do
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business in Quebec and the Maritimes. Why, therefore, have you not made the
same offer to Quebec and the Maritimes as you have to Ontario and the west?
It is a Canadian bank, as is any other bank.

Mr. STevENS: There was no precise reason why it was not offered, other
than the fact that we felt it would be beneficial to the future of the bank to
have the bulk of the shareholders in the west, and this has certainly taken
place, either directly or indirectly, in the sense of buying sha}res of the C.F.I.
so that 60 per cent of the bank is held in the four western provinces. Our reason
for this is that if the bank proposes to do business initially in those provinces,
we find as in York Trust, that having shareholders is beneficial in the general
conduct of your operation and likewise having shareholders for the bank where
it proposes to do business, will be beneficial in getting under way and into
business. There was no reason other than that for not offering right across
Canada, other than the fact that the demand for the certificates was very
much more than we anticipated. I suppose the demand from the west was
possibly twice what was actually sold. People were cut back who wanted to
buy them, so to spread it across Canada would have made the problem even
worse.

Senator BouFFARD: Just the same, you wanted to do business in the west
and in Ontario.

Mr. STEVENS: Well, as I mentioned, there were some technical reasons
that the legal fraternity felt that we should clear in the west, because, some
stock, including my own personally, and stock of petitioners in Ontario,
could not be sold in Ontario unless there was a clearance there. At least
the legal fraternity felt it would be unwise to do it without a securities com-
mission clearance.

Senator Brooks: Could it be that you would not consider competition
necessary in Quebec and the Maritime provinces?

Mr. STEVENS: Perhaps you are right.

The CHAIRMAN: Do you mean, senator, that the areas needed to provide
competition were in the west and Ontario?

Senator McCuTcHEON: Could you tell us, Mr. Stevens, what executive
position you anticipate holding in the new bank, and what executive position
Mr. Coyne will be holding, and whether it will be full time or part time?

Mr. STEVENS: First of all, with respect to myself, I would hope to be a
director of the bank. I would not be a whole time official of the bank, although
I may hold some office, such as vice-president, or something of that nature,
but I do not intend to be a whole time operating person. It would be our
intention to hire—and we have received inquiries from many possible em-
ployees—full time bankers to run the bank.

Senator McCuTcHEON: What about Mr. Coyne and his position?

Mr. STEVENS: Perhaps I should ask Mr. Coyne to speak for himself.

Mr. CoyNE: I do not know. Perhaps it would come better from Mr. Stevens.

The CHAIRMAN: Or the board of directors. :

Mr. CoynNE: Very much so, Mr. Chairman. The board of directors are the
people who have to make that decision. :

Senator McCuTcHEON: I always thought people who hold 43 per cent of
the stock generally control the board of directors.

Mr. CoYNE: A number of people suggested to me that they wished me to
become associated with the bank as president, part-time if not full-time. I said
if that was the desire I would do so. I think far too strong a case has been
built up under a large number of “ifs” about this bank being controlled in
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Toronto or by Mr. Stevens. I do not agree it is. I do agree it has been a very
good thing in developing the project of the bank to have a strong financial
institution and capable and reliable people like Mr. Stevens and his associates
to put in a lot of money to back the bank. But it is not always true that
a person who in one way or another, under certain circumstances can control
30 per cent does in fact control the bank. There is still the other 70 per cent
to be heard from. I will have a holding myself, and a great many people,
I am happy to say, have told me that they will follow such lead as I will
give in that connection, and I will be very surprised indeed if any unfriendly
parties by any means could acquire a sufficient interest in this bank to over-
come the type of management I intend to see established in this bank, or
exercise control over it.

Senator McCuUTCHEON: The figures are 43/57 and not 30/70.

Mr. Chairman, I do not want to get into an argument here. I take it from
Mr. Coyne’s answer that he does not propose to be a full-time officer of the
bank, though he would be prepared to be an officer of the bank.

Mr. CoynE: Yes. I have said I would give it whatever time it required,
but not full-time. Of course, in the early stages it would mean a great deal
of time.

Senator MoLsoN: I would like to ask Mr. Stevens what the shareholders’
equity in British International Finance is—the capital surplus, reserves, and
SO on.

Mr. STeveENSs: I will see if I have the statement. The March 31, 1964 state-
ment I was referring to shows the company having $2,026,000 of capital and
retained earnings of $106,000. What is not reflected is approximately $1 million
more of net value in the form of unrealized market appreciation. In other
words, the net worth of the company is, approximately, something over $3
million.

Senator McCutcHEON: What is the book value of the controlling shares,
of the 64,000 shares?

Mr. STEVENS: $194,564.

The CHAIRMAN: We were given that figure $194,564.

Mr. STeEVENS: I might mention there, Senator Molson, the combined net
worth of the British International group, to which I have referred—at the
present time is something over $10 million, and our gross assets are about
$35 million. Of course, if the bank goes through, both those figures are in-
creased by roughly $10 million.

Senator MorsoN: I am very impressed by your testimony here, and par-
ticularly by your frankness. You have approximately half the equity in the
British International Finance.

Senator McCutrcHEON: Half the voting shares. The equity is distributed
among a much larger number of shares.

Senator MoLson: Well, that is true. In any case, it is a relatively small
investment, if I may put it that way. I was wondering, does it worry you at
all that this, in effect, carries with it, control of this new bank?

Senator BEAUBIEN (Bedford): ‘“Worry” him?

Senator MoLson: It sounds very much as though an investment of perhaps
$100,000 or $50,000 is, in effect, going to give you voting control of 43 per cent,
I think it is, or of that order. I am just wondering whether that does not strike
you as a rather heavy responsibility, or whether it concerns you at all?

Mr. SteveNns: I think what we have tended to do is to concentrate on two
or three elements. We are taking one picture at one time and another picture
at another. Certainly, my net holdings are probably ten times the figures you
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are referring to, because I hold individual holdings in all these other com-
panies, in addition to the holding Senator McCutcheon has been referring to.

Senator Morson: I am worrying about ‘“control”. This is the one thing,
really, in the whole presentation that occurred to me, and it seems to me it
is a very heavy responsibility.

Mr. STEVENS: It is a responsibility, and it is one that I do not know that
I could say worries me. I think it is a responsibility we can carry well, and
that it will not create any problems.

The CHAIRMAN: It is a fortunate man who can say that in business, Mr.
Stevens—that there will not be any problems.

Have you any more questions, Senator Molson?

Senator MoLsoN: No.

The CHAIRMAN: Could I ask you a question, Mr. Stevens? Could you tell
me how many individual shareholders there would be of this bank, as
opposed to corporate shareholders? Let us assume the bank’s charter were
issued today.

Mr. STevENS: There would be 6,000.

The CHAIRMAN: Six thousand?

Mr. STEVENS: Six thousand individual holders.

Senator McCuTtcHEON: Those are the persons who have subscribed for
the trustee certificates?

The CHAIRMAN: No. Let me develop my point. You have told us that
Wellington will be subscribing for $3,750,000-worth of stock?

Mr. STEVENS: Yes.

The CHAIRMAN: That would produce 250,000 shares of the bank?

Mr. STEVENS: Yes.

The CHAIRMAN: As I understand it, they will be held by Wellington?

Mr. STEVENS: Yes.

The CHAIRMAN: And the money used to subscribe for them is money
which has been subscribed by the public in the purchase of trustee subscription
certificates of Wellington?

Mr. STEVENS: Yes.

The CHAIRMAN: Wellington is not providing the money itself but has
secured it by subscription, but Wellington will be the shareholder to the extent
of 250,000 shares?

Mr. STEVENS: Yes.

The CHAIRMAN: And whoever controls Wellington is going to be the one
who determines the voting of those shares?

Mr. STEVENS: Yes.

The CHAIRMAN: Canadian Finance is subscribing for $2,250,000, and it
is getting 150,000 shares?

Mr. STEVENS: Yes.

The CHAIRMAN: I take it Canadian Finance has got that money as a result
of the sale of subscription certificates of Canadian Finance?

Mr. STEVENS: No, that money is as a result of shares issued. There is no
trustee arrangement with regard to that.

The CHAIRMAN: It is that pre-incorporation issue?

Mr. STEVENS: No, it is the non-restricted capital issue. The prospectus that
Senator McCutcheon has there is with respect to shares in connection with
Canadian Finance and Investments?
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Senator McCuTcHEON: You sold shares in Canadian Finance and Invest-
ments, and you said if the bank is incorporated you propose to subscribe
for so many shares?

Mr. STEVENS: Yes.

The CHAIRMAN: In selling shares in Canadian Finance the purpose that
was represented was that this money would be used, if a bank charter were
granted, to subscribe for shares of the bank?

Senator McCuTcHEON: Or, if not, then for general corporate purposes, I
think is the way the prospectus reads.

Mr. STEVENS: Yes.

The CHAIRMAN: For the purposes of the record, you gave us some figures
on holders in various provinces, and you gave a total of 6,099, and the reporter,
Mr. Griffith, who is a better mathematician than I am, came up with a figure of
6,039. When I add it up that is what I get.

Mr. STEVENS: I think we have added apples and oranges, each.

The CHAIRMAN: And bananas too.

Mr. STEVENS: The individual holders in the bank number 6,099. That is in
accordance with this schedule I have referred to, and it gives you the provincial
breakdown.

The CHAIRMAN: The provincial breakdown, as I recorded it and as the
reporter recorded it, totals 6,099.

Mr. STEVENS: If I may clarify this, the total amount of trustees subscriptions
that have been sold—I am referring to the subscriptions which will eventually
end up as shares in the bank—represent 430,000 of those bank shares. And they
are held by 6,099 shareholders. Those shareholders would include the institu-
tions that we have referred to such as Great-West Life, Empire Life and
Sovereign and people like that. But assuming that there would not be more
than 99 of those, I am saying there are 6,000 individual holders, and in addition
to that there are 2,000 holders of Wellington trustee certificates. That is in
addition to the 6,000. In addition to those again there are 2,600 C.F.I. share-
holders.

Senator BEAUBIEN (Bedford): They won’t have any vote in the bank?

Mr. STEVENS: I am trying to clarify the point. While I say there are 6,000
individual holders, directly or indirectly there would be 10,000 who would have
some interest in the bank.

Senator THORVALDSON: Have Canadian Finance & Investments any other
assets other than these investments sold in connection with the bank?

Mr. STEVENS: Yes, it has mortgages which are all in Metropolitan Winnipeg.
It has been carrying on a mortgage business there, managed by Crabb and
Company in the area, Rex Nesbitts’ company.

Senator THORVALDSON: You referred to the Great-West Life Assurance
Company and some of the other large companies, would they come in directly
holding certificates or because they are holding shares in Canadian Finance
& Investments?

Mr. STEVENS: They come in directly. They will be bank shareholders. I
think in our earlier statement we actually gave a whole list of names of those
who were supposed to buy shares in the bank.

Senator McCuTcHEON: They are not the persons who subscribed for the
230,000 trustee certificates which were not offered in the prospectus?

Mr. STEVENS: Well, they were covered by a prospectus.

Senator McCuTcHEON: But not offered to the general public?
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Mr. STEVENS: Yes.

Senator McCuTcHEON: Their combined holding is 230,000 shares?

Mr. STEVENS: The combined holding of institutions and petitioners in that
regard would be 230,000.

The CHAIRMAN: Any other questions of Mr. Stevens?

Mr. CoyNE: I wonder if I could say something in respect to the point
raised by Senator Molson. This is something I gave a lot of thought to in the
planning of this project. Senator Molson asked whether a high degree of stock
ownership would be closely held. Well, opinions differ on this, but I think it
is 30 per cent. I would like to say there was an alternative to which we gave
some thought and that would be to have the stock in the proposed bank, or
in the bank itself after incorporation, sold entirely to the general public in
relatively small amounts, if that were possible. It was a very big question
whether you could raise enough capital that way. We had to work this step
by step as the project developed, but there was also the danger that if all the
stock in a new institution were widely scattered, some other large and power-
ful group could come along and sweep up that stock in the market and it
probably would not be a very hard thing to do. Somebody who wished to
take control of such an institution might well pay a profit of 50 per cent to
small shareholders and buy them out. I thought that was a greater danger, and
a more unknown danger than anything else. I thought that there was real
value to our bank, to our community and to the interests of Canada in making
sure that a sufficient volume of stock was closely held in strong hands of
people experienced in the financial world, who had made a success of their
own businesses, and who were strongly pro-Canadian.

There is also the question of foreign control which will come up every-
where and in all fields. It is still possible today for large foreign interests, if
they were determined enough, to acquire control of one of the existing
Canadian banks by purchasing stock on the market. I think this is a danger
which the Government and the Royal Commission pointed to, and I personally
hope something will be done about it by general legislation. But in my opinion,
for what it is worth, we in this project took the best possible line to ensure
control would not get into the hands of other large financial institutions or
into the hands of foreigners.

The CHAIRMAN: Senator McCutcheon, you wanted to raise a question?

Senator McCuTcHEON: Mr. Coyne has raised the question of 30 per cent.
Is he quarrelling with Mr. Stevens’ figure of 43.3 per cent?

Mr. CoynNE: I didn’t quite follow that. The situation could arise where a
minority interest could control a company. I want to say that any company
of which I am president will never be controlled by a minority interest in the
way Senator McCutcheon has in mind.

Senator LEONARD: The question put by Senator Molson was on the question
of heavy responsibility. I would like to put it to Mr. Coyne. What do you
say as to the heavy responsibility on you yourself and on Mr. Stevens and
those associated with you in embarking on this?

Mr. Coyne: I agree there is a heavy responsibility upon us, sir. I think
there will be a heavy responsibility put on anyone coming to Parliament and
asking for the incorporation of a bank or even a mortgage company or trust
company. I hope we have in Canada people who are willing to accept heavy
responsibility. I don’t know how else one could get new and large enterprises
started and carried on. I hope there will be people in Canada willing to put
their money into new enterprises, and to some extent they will be influenced in
those decisions by the kind of people who invite them to do so, and whether
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those people are prepared to carry a heavy responsibility or not. I have been
overwhelmed personally by the response, much greater than we ever thought
was possible, from the general public—particularly in western Canada—people
who want to see this bank established, and who want to do business with this
bank and who want to be shareholders in this bank, even knowing that James
Coyne and Sinclair Stevens are to be prominently identified with it. People have
been good enough to tell us that that is why they have put their money into it
and wish to be associated with it. It is indeed a heavy responsibility, but I am
prepared to shoulder it.

Senator BEAUBIEN (Bedford): A question to Mr. Stevens. On the board of
British International Finance, are there any other directors who would have
shares in the proposed bank other than the shares controlled by British
International, that is to say in their own right? Would there be any of them who
would have shares in the bank?

Mr. STEVENS: I would say on that that I think all of them do. I had better
look over the list and make sure. All of them would, yes.

Senator BEAUBIEN (Bedford): There is a prospectus showing the directors
of British International?

Mr. STEVENS: Yes. I think Senator McCutcheon has one. Actually the
directors—if you would like me to read them out—

Senator Beaubien (Bedford): What I want to know is with regard to the
directors personally. The directors of British International Finance, how many
shares would they control personally?

Mr. STEVENS: We put restrictions on them in order to get distribution, and
generally speaking people have not bought more than 200 or 250 or so certificates
for shares in the bank.

Senator BEAUBIEN (Bedford): If it is not a large amount, it would not
matter. There is no large amount to be controlled by the directors of your bank?

Mr. STEVENS: No, It is mainly what you would call nominal holdings to
indicates their interest and enthusiasm. On this point I have offered to show
you the two shareholders’ lists with regard to British International, the class A
and the common. When I take a quick look at the common shareholdings it
makes me think that perhaps I had better explain some of the names that appear
on the list, because obviously they will not mean too much to you.

The first name is Bansco and Company, which I should mention is a nominee
name for the Bank of Nova Scotia.

W. E. N. Bell is the next name, with 5,000 common shares. He is a life
insurance C.L.U. man with the Manufacturers Life.

Maxwell Bruce is with us today, and he has a substantial holding. I do not
think it is fair to put some of these in the public record.

Senator McCutcHEON: This list is going in the public record.

Mr. STEVENS: With the actual share numbers?

Senator McCUTCHEON: Yes.

Mr. STEVENS: Mr. Maxwell Bruce has 750 shares. Then we come to a
group of names all with the surname Charlebois. These are my in-laws, my
wife’s people. They in the aggregate have probably 5,000 or 6,000 of the com-
mon shares which is a fair holding in the voting strength. They, incidentally,
are all in Penetang, Ontario, which is not Quebec.

Senator BourraARD: Eventually it will be in Quebec.

Senator LEONARD: Do you get along all right with your in-laws?

Mr. STEVENS: Yes, and they assure me they have been in Canada since
1680, so I take it they are Canadians. Then there is Gill Construction Limited
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which is a company with three main shareholders who are Mr. Mollard to
whom I have referred, my partner in law, Richard Hassard, and myself. Then
there is Inverness Investments Limited—

Senator BEAUBIEN (Bedford): How many shares do they hold?

Mr. STEVENS: 2,200 shares. Inverness Investments is shown with 9,000-old
shares. That is a three way split. I think it is exactly one-third each way;
one-third to myself; one-third to Philip MacDonald, who is an executive vice-
president and a director of British International. Unfortuna'tely he has not
appeared before you, but I think it would have begn a good 1de_a so that you
could have met him. He is one of the liveliest executives we have in our organi-
zation. Part of his holding is through Inverness Investments..The other third is
held by Jeffrey K. Smith, a lawyer of the firm of Day, Wilson, Kelly. He is
secretary of British International. .

Jamelynn Holdings Limited is again in the law firm of Day, Wilson, Kellly
—that is their address. I am not sure of the holders of that company, but it
has 7,500 shares. The reason I say I am not sure of the holdings is that it was
associated with Bill Bell, and I am not just sure of the registration.

Maurice Jennings has 750 shares. He is an executive of British Interna-
tional and is also in the Export Finance Corporation which is a joint corpora-
tion that has been brought about by the chartered banks of Canada. It is
owned—I am not sure percentage-wise by how much—by each of the chartered
banks in Canada.

Macron Holdings Limited is a company which again is a 49 per cent situa-
tion with regard to my holding, the other main holders being William Mollard
and Andrew Wofford who is with the BA Oil Company and who is resident
in Edmonton. He is a petitioner.

Senator BEAUBIEN (Bedford): What do they hold?

Mr. STEVENS: Macron holds 9,300-odd shares. Mollard is shown again with
750 shares. My wife has 5,250. Perhaps that is where the control is.

The CHAIRMAN: You can be sure it is.

Mr. STEVENS: My father has 800 shares and I am shown with 900. Stevens
Securities, which is essentially a family company with my father and mother’s
estate and the family like that, has 11,000-odd.

I think I should explain that my own feeling is that when you run over
this list you will see that while technically I am probably right in the state-
ment I gave to Senator McCutcheon concerning my holding and Bill Bell’s
and Mollard’s, it is much more diversified when you see the actual ownership
of some of the smaller companies which are B.LF. shareholders. I think it is
interesting to note that basically all the big shareholders of B.LF. are the
executives of B.LF., and the fairest thing to say about it is that it is controlled
by the executives and directors of B.LF.

Senator BAIRD: I can appreciate the fact of your wanting to control the
company. It is probably like many other companies, the directors of which
would not want to see their stock on the market to be picked up by anybody.
It is in that way that I presume you have the idea of control?

Mr. STEVENS: That is right. As I said at the beginning we are willing to
make any agreement that would be required, or any other arrangement, to
ensure that these shares will not get into foreign hands. We are quite willing
to do that because it is absolutely not our intention to sell to a foreign interest
or group.

The CHAIRMAN: Thank you, Mr. Stevens. We have been sort of moving Mr.
Coyne in and out of Mr. Stevens’ evidence, Are there any questions the com-
mittee would like to ask Mr. Coyne based on his original statement at the
first hearing as well on the statements he gave today?
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Senator HORNER: Mr. Chairman, I would like to say that I think this pro-
posed bank should be called the Bank of Toronto. The Bank of Western Can-
ada is an entirely wrong name.

Senator McCUTCHEON: That name is pre-empted.

The CHAIRMAN: We have not got'to the stage of dealing with the name
and, secondly, this proposed bank could not be called the Bank of Toronto be-
cause that name is occupied already.

Mr. CoyNE: May I say that we cleared the name with the Inspector General
of Banks. He looked up the past records. The bank which Senator McLean re-
ferred to did not have the same name. That was the Western Bank of Canada
and not the Bank of Western Canada, and it disappeared a long time ago. He
thought there was no conflict there.

Before Confederation, curiously enough, there was a Bank of Western
Canada whose sole office was in Niagara Falls, Ontario, which was known as
western Canada in those days. It disappeared before Confederation, and both
the Inspector General and the Bank of Canada told us they thought the name
was all right.

Some question did arise as to the French translation of the name. One of
the banks which operate chiefly in the Province of Quebec asked that it be
changed slightly, and we did that to their satisfaction. So far as we know
both the English name and the French name have been cleared, and are satis-
factory.

The CHAIRMAN: There are no questions, Mr. Coyne. Thank you.

We have now arrived at the stage where we have to consider what we are
going to do next.

Senator LEONARD: Mr. Chairman, may I make a suggestion?

The CHAIRMAN: Yes.

Senator LEoNARD: I think we have had very full evidence and, as Senator
Molson said, very frank evidence from those who are mainly instrumental in
bringing this application before Parliament. It is now something over two
months since I moved second reading, and I believed it was only right that
the bill be held in committee until the report of the Royal Commission on
Banking and Finance was received and given consideration. That report is
now published, and we have had time to consider it—

The CHAIRMAN: I do not agree with you. I have not had time to consider it.
Senator McCuUTCHEON: I certainly have not.

Senator LEONARD: Let me put it this way. I have had time to consider it.
I think we have had time, at any rate, to put it in its proper perspective in re-
lation to this application. As our first order of business today we dealt with the
bill to incorporate New Scotland Savings and Mortgage Company, and we re-
ported that bill without amendment, except for the change of name. Actually,
that company is more likely to be affected by the recommendations of the
Porter Royal Commission than is the proposed Bank of Western Canada.

The Commission’s report covers the whole field of Canadian banking and
finance. It deals with loan companies, trust companies, investment dealers,
finance companies, life insurance companies as well as banks. When we came to
consider the New Scotland Savings and Mortgage Company, or the Evangeline
Savings and Mortgage Company as it is now to be called, we had Mr. Mac-
Gregor before us, and he explained the bill was quite in order.

Now, the Loan Companies Act sets up the provisions relating to the ad-
ministration of a loan company, it sets up the conditions under which the loan
company may be incorporated, it sets up the requirements. Our duty and respon-
sibility is, when such an application comes before us, to see whether this
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application is in accordance with 1what Parliament has laid down as the
iti incorporation of loan companies.

cond’ll“c}l;n:afg; ;Cllllfn; is tfue of a trust company under the Trust Companies Act

and all trust companies now incorporatf:d and that will be incorporated are

under the possibility of the recommendations of the Porter Commission affecting

their business and affecting it considerably. e

I do not think that we could, for example, hold up an application for a
loan company, a trust company or an insurance company, any more than we
did this morning with the application of the New Scotland Savings and Mortgage
Company, merely because of the fact that the Porter Commission report is
out now. i ; f Y,

In so far as the Bank Act is concerned, it also prescribes the conditions
under which a bank may operate and may be incorporated, and prescribes
in the schedule for an act of incorporation. That is the law of the land now,
that is what Parliament has said we are to look at, if we are to pass upon
an application for an incorporation of a loan company, a trust company
or a bank. ! ; y

It seems to me that the position we are in here as legislators is that.

We must deal with these applications, whether for a loan company, a trust
company, an insurance company or a bank, on the basis of the law as it is now.
It is not relevant for us to consider whether or not the Porter Commission
report may be implemented in whole, in part, or not at all.

We have these applicants, coming before us and say they want to proceed
with this application on the basis of the law as it is now, but should Parliament
decide that there are any provisions of the Porter report recommendations
which are to be brought into the law, in whole or in part, these applicants will
abide by those changes in the law in the same way as other banks will have
to abide by them.

In so far as the Porter Commission report itself is concerned, no one has
pointed cut anything in the report that is adverse to the incorporation of this
bank. In fact, the stress of the Porter Commission report is on the desirability
of competition in the banking business in Canada. To that extent it may be
said that the Porter Commission report indirectly favours such an application
as this.

As I have said, I think that there has been time to consider. It feel
that I can say that in so far as my undertaking is concerned, it should be
ended. At the same time, if there are others, and I gather there are, who have
not had an opportunity of doing so, that having heard the evidence, I quite
recognize that it should not be pressed upon them, so that they will not have
further time to consider both the report and the evidence that they have before
them—with all due respect to these applicants, it seems to me that, after two
months, having in mind these other applications, we should adjourn the hearing
today for one week, but within that week we should be ready to deal with
this application. '

The CHAIRMAN: We had our first hearing on March 18.

Senator LEONARD: I know, as far as this committee is concerned, but the
matter was debated in the Senate.

Senator KINLEY: Has there been any bid indication that the other charter
banks in Canada want to oppose this bill?

The CHAIRMAN: It has not been mentioned.

Senator BAIRD: One of them is here now.

Senator KINLEY: I think that if they feel that they are being invaded,
they should come in and say so.

The CHAIRMAN: Some senator has mentioned that there are directors of
banks here. Certainly there are. I am a directoxj of a bank and I have tried
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to go down the centre road in these hearings. If at any moment in this com-
mittee there is a feeling that I am departing from the centre of the road, I
should be told immediately and you will have a new chairman.

Senator Bairp: There must be four or five of them here.

The CHAIRMAN: We do not belong as second class citizens.

Senator BAIRD: You may be blessed that way.

Senator CAMERON: I am intending that when the second reading of the
Laurentide Bank application is completed I would propose to refer it to this
committee so there would be the same procedure in the next application.

Senator BLois: I wonder if you would take into consideration a statement
supposed to be made the other day by the Minister of Finance Mr. Gordon,
it is reported in the Montreal Gazette this morning and I should like to be
allowed to read it. It says:

New Bank Charters in Fall—Gordon
Finance Minister Gordon has indicated that three proposed banks
must wait until fall for their federal charters. He said in an interview
the government hopes to amend the Bank Act in the fall after studying
the recently-released report of the Royal Commission on Banking.
Charter applications have been made for the Bank of Western
Canada, the Bank of British Columbia and Laurentide Bank.

On the strength of that, if they are going to hold this bill up in the other
place, would it not be wise for this committee, instead of holding this bill
here, until we have had more opportunity of studying this report?

The CHAIRMAN: There are two questions there, Senator Blois. One is
holding the bill up until the Government announces policy. The second is
holding this bill in committee until we are fully satisfied with all the evidence
available. I do not think there can be any doubt but that we should not deal
with the bill finally until we are satisfied that we have heard all the relevant
evidence. Certainly, as far as I am concerned, I have not had an opportunity
of reading the report of the Royal Commission on Banking and Finance and
I would like to read it. Mr. Coyne makes some reference to the philosophy of
the report in relation to competition and of course we have an area of dis-
agreement as to whether the report is pro or against that situation. In any
event, I want to study it for myself. That is only talking personally and not
as chairman. Whatever the committee wishes to do—whether we are going
to seek further evidence or not, or study further the banking situation in
western Canada to see if this bank is to operate in western Canada and how
many branches or if there is any great virtue in having the head office in
Winnipeg instead of in Bay Street, when there is almost instantaneous com-
munication now between places for decisions.

The real purpose of that, talking personally, is the need for another bank
and the fact that it can make money. As I said to Mr. Coyne earlier, I would
not expect them to be here if they did not feel that the bank could make
money, because they are sensible businessmen. We assume that. They do not
have to adduce evidence as to whether they can make money. The question
is the need. I would like to hear all available evidence on that.

Senator BAIRD: Has the need anything to do with our granting the applica-
tion, if they comply with all the rules and regulations, what authority have
we to turn it down?

The CHAIRMAN: If need has not something to do with it, we get into
the position of being a rubber stamp—and I am ready very quickly to accept
that classification.
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Senator LEONARD: With all due respect, I am director of a mortgage
corporation but if a mortgage corporation application comes along, I catr.ltnot
properly oppose it because I would prefer not tp have another competitor.
There is nothing in the Loan Companies Estabh_shment. Ac't that says you
must establish a need for another charter. There is nothing in the Bank Act
that says that. There is nothing that enshrines the present number of charter
banks as eight or 10 or 11 or 12.

With all due respect, I suggest that if we embark on.the question of need
for the incorporation of this institution—and after all, important and .all as
banks are, so are life insurance companies—with all due respect I think it
is quite irrelevant.

The CHAIRMAN: What I have said is my own personal view and notwith-
standing what might be a subtle inference in what you have said by referring
to yourself as in a mortgage corporation, I have not been influenced in pre-
senting my viewpoint by the fact that I might be a director of a bank.

Senator LeEonarD: There was no inference in my remarks.

The CHAIRMAN: It hit me that way.

Senator BAIRD: A guilty conscience?

The CHAIRMAN: Who is there who cannot say mea culpa?

Senator LEONARD: There is no inference in my remarks.

The CHAIRMAN: Well, it struck me that way.

Senator THORVALDSON: Mr. Chairman, a moment ago you made some
remarks as to what should be the procedure of the committee, and you
wondered whether the committee should go out and seek people to make
presentations to it, such as, for instance, the chartered banks. I want to give
my view that if the chartered banks want to be heard, whether in opposition
or not, they should come here themselves and ask to be heard. However, I
understand they have not, nor has anybody else, so far as I know.

The CHAIRMAN: From your experience on this committee and other com-
mittees in the past, senator, you know that when a bill comes to us that is
of concern to various classes of business, etc., we do not usually notify them,
and we have not done so here. Many are so eager that they ask to be heard.

Senator THORVALDSON: That is really my point.

The CHAIRMAN: We have had no requests to be heard. What I put to this
committee originally was that, having heard evidence, I thought the com-
mittee should consider what steps it should take, if any, what further evidence
it needs, if any, before considering the bill section by section.

Senator CRERAR: Mr. Chairman, we have before us this application, and
we have had pretty full explanations from the witnesses. If we have any
more representations to be made to the committee, then I think we should
wait for them; but if we have not, then I think we should proceed to deal
with this application.

Now, so far as I am concerned, the Porter Commission and its recom-
mendations have no bearing on this present application at all. We know
that the revision of the Bank Act is postponed for another year to give an
opportunity to fully digest the Porter Commission’s recommendations. We
also know that whatever changes may be made in the Bank Act as a result
of the commission’s work will apply equally to all banks. We do not know,
but it may be quite possible that the revision of the Bank Act may be post-
poned a further year. That is a possibility. It may be that all the recom-
mendations of the Porter Commission will be accepted, but they will have
to apply to all banks. It may be that none of the recommendations of the
Porter Commission will be accepted.
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In the present case, we have petitioners who have come here, and I
think they dempnstrated their good faith and their capacity. They have
secured $10 million in stock subscriptions, which I venture to say is a larger
subscription for a new bank starting than that of any existing banks when
they started decades ago. Therefore, we should consider this application in
the light of the provisions of the Bank Act as they exist now, not what they
will be a year from now or perhaps two years from now when the revision
of the Bank Act may take place. If this charter is granted now, whatever
changes are made when the revision of the Bank Act finally comes along
a year or two years from now will, of course, apply to this bank as to any
other bank; and therefore there is no logical reason why this petition should
not be dealt with now, why this application and bill should not be considered,
amended or rejected, and find its way through Parliament.

Mr. Chairman, I make no bones about my position in respect to these
charters. If a group of people come along and petition to be incorporated as
a bank, even with the capital provisions at present in the Bank Act—which
I think are altogether too low, and will be remedied at the time of the
revision—we should not refuse them. Here a bank comes along with $10
million subscribed capital and, I understand, several millions of dollars in
reserve. By that very act they have demonstrated their capacity and good
faith. Simply to refuse this application now because of some extraneous
reasons altogether, I think would be a complete abnegation of the responsibility
of the Senate. Therefore, I am in favour of proceeding with this bill,
examining it, hearing further witnesses or further evidence, if any person
wishes to present it to the committee; but we should not delay it unduly
by waiting for someone to come here and talk to us about it; and we
certainly should not delay it because of anything in the Porter Commission,
or anything else. The bill should be considered now and dealt with on its
merits. That is my position on this committee, Mr. Chairman.

The CHAIRMAN: Thank you, senator.

Senator McCuTcHEON: Mr. Chairman, I am sorry I cannot agree with
Senator Crerar; I usually do agree with him. The very fact that Mr. Coyne
spent a considerable amount of time this morning giving his view as to what
the philosophy and recommendations of the Porter Commission were, in-
dicates that in the minds of the applicants it has some relevance. I feel
that it has relevance, and that as far as I personally am concerned, I need
more time to consider the report and reach my own conclusions on it.

Of course, there is the other fact, that I do not think the evidence given
this morning was relevant either. Most of the members of the committee have
not seen the financial statement Mr. Stevens has filed and that will be appended
to the report of these proceedings. He has been very frank; but we would like
to see the entire shoreholders’ list ourselves. I also think some of the members
of the committee, who may not have had access to the piece of paper which led
to my questioning this morning, might like to look at the evidence before any
further steps are taken. My view is that we should not proceed further at this
time.

Senator LEONARD: I agree with what Senator Crerar has said; but having in
mind what I said about my own undertaking, no matter how I might feel about
it now being ended, if others feel differently, I do not want to press it. For that
reason, and for the reason Senator McCutcheon has mentioned, that some
people may want to consider the evidence given this morning, in the report of
the proceedings, I would suggest that we adjourn consideration of this bill,
keeping it on the agenda of the committee for the next meeting which normally
would be a week today, when we might then resume.
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The CHAIRMAN: There may be a meeting sooner than that, so you had better
not put the word “next” in there.

Senator LEoNARD: I will put the word “next” in there because it should be
retained on the agenda, and then if there is a meeting of the committee tomo.r-
row perhaps we could simply say that we will keep it on the agenda but_ will
adjourn the matter. If it is agreeable to the committee, I suggest we ad]ourp
consideration of this bill, keeping it on the agenda for the next meeting of this
committee.

Senator CRErRAR: I would support Senator Leonard’s suggestion. By that
time— )

Senator McCuTcHEON: I suggest this be adjourned at your call, Mr. Chair-
man.

The CHAIRMAN: Just a minute, we have several things here.

Senator CRERAR: I would support—have I the floor?

The CHAIRMAN: Yes, you have seconded the motion.

Senator CRERAR: I would support Senator Leonard’s suggestion. By that
time we should have the report of today’s proceedings. We would then have
had an opportunity to examine it and obtain whatever information we require.

Senator Wooprow: Don’t you think we should notify the chartered banks
and other institutions that might be interested that we would be glad to have
them come before us?

The CHAIRMAN: We will send them a notice.

Senator POwER: Do I understand you to have said the chartered banks
have not been asked to attend?

The CHAIRMAN: Not as yet.

Senator POWER: I move that the chairman of the chartered banks, or some-
one representing the chartered banks, whoever that might be, be invited to give
evidence.

Senator LEONARD: The logical person is the president of the Canadian
Bankers’ Association, if they wish to do so.

Senator PowER: Let us invite them so that they will not be able to say they
were not notified.

Senator LEoNARD: If they do not wish to appear—

Senator PoweR: That is their business.

Senator LEONARD: —that is quite all right.

The CHAIRMAN: That has been noted and that will be done.

We have a motion to adjourn. In view of what I know about the possibility
of another meeting of this committee very soon, if I might suggest it, possibly
the motion should be that this bill be retained on the agenda of the Standing
Committee on Banking and Commerce for the next regular sitting of the
committee.

Senator LEONARD: That is perfectly all right with me. I know what you
have in mind, and I would certainly give it priority over the Bank of Western
Canada bill.

Motion agreed to.

The committee adjourned.
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APPENDIX “A"

List of Class “A” Shareholders
of
BRITISH INTERNATIONAL FINANCE (CANADA) LIMITED
Prepared by
YORK TRUST AND SAVINGS CORPN.

BRITISH INTERNATIONAL FINANCE (CANADA) LIMITED
CLASS “A” STOCK

Certified a correct list of Shareholders of
BRITISH INTERNATIONAL FINANCE (CANADA) LIMITED
as at the close of business, July 24, 1963.

Issued and outstanding shares: 268.013

TRANSFER OFFICER

Tdronto, Ontario
July 29th, 1963

Abel, Mrs. Lillian D., 200 Allan, George A, 100
g 81 Phair Ave., 65 Castlefield Ave.,
4 Wallaceburg, Ontario. Toronto 12, Ontario.
i Adams, Mrs. Ada R., 100 Amos, J. Willim, 100
% 93 Sterling St., 41 Skov Cres.,
4 Hamilton, Ontario. Guelph, Ontario.
Adams, Albert J. Ralph A. Adams 100 Anderson, D. Howard, 100
And Mrs. Constance R. Dalziel c/o Canada Life Assurance Co.,
Trustees Estate of Albert A. Adams. 2200 Young St.,
93 Sterling St., Toronto 7, Ontario.
Hamilton, Ontario. Anderson, Miss Elizabeth, 100
Adamson, Raymond S., 100 Apt. 225, 2755 Yonge St.,
3 Churchill Dr., Glencairn Apartments,
Galt, Ontario. Toronto 12, Ontario.
Addison, Miss Ialene, 100 Anderson, John, 100
57 Marion St. North, R.R. No. T,
Hamilton, Ontario. London, Ontario.
: ) Agnew, Gilbert 100 Androwowski, John K., 30
Q 16 Hillier Cresc., 150 Victoria Rd. N.,
Brantford, Ontario. Guelph, Ontario.
Aitken, William H., 150 Antill, James F., 100

c¢/o Empire Life Insurance Co. Ltd.,
243 King St. E.,

Kingston, Ontario.

Alexander, Clifford A., 300 Armstrong, Mrs. Constance, 100

110 Mount Pleasant St., R.R. No. 3,
Brantford, Ontario. Streetsville, Ontario.

Box 211,
Kingston, Ontario.
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Arrowsmith, Mr. L. Dennis In Trust

133 Woodington Ave.,
Toronto 6, Ontario.

Atkinson, Gordon,
RR. 1,
Barrie, Ontario.

Avison, Mrs. Joan,
2 Admiral Rd.,
Brantford, Ontario.

Babcock, James L.,
44 Hillcrest Dr.,
Galt, Ontario.

Bailes, Miss Ella Jean,
372 Huron St.,
Toronto, Ontario.

Bailey, Mrs. Eleanor B.,
970 Eglinton Ave. E,,
Apt. 109,

Toronto, Ontario.

Bailey, F. Glen,
22 Colin Ave,,
Toronto, Ontario.

Baker, Albert A.,
Room 1700,

4 King St. W,
Toronto 1, Ontario.

Baker, Mrs. Elsie L.,
44 Jackes Ave.,
Toronto 7, Ontario.

Bakker, Mrs. James,
R.R. No. 4,
London, Ontario.

Balkwill, Murray A.,
271 Dawlish Ave.,
Toronto 12, Ontario.

Ballantyne, Herbert M. And
Mrs. Frederina Ballantyne
AJ.T.W.R.S. And not as
Tenants in common,

454 Ridout St. S.,

London, Ontario.

Barney, Herbert E.,
89 Earlscourt Cres.,
Woodstock, Ontario.

Barnt, Mrs. M. Dorothy,
29 Edgevalley Dr.,
Islington, Ontario.

Barrett, Frank,
23 Prospect St.,
Port Dover, Ontario.

Bateman, Lawrence G.,
18 Brule Gardens,
Toronto 3, Ontario.

Bateman, William E.,
98 Guestville Ave.,
Toronto 9, Ontario.

STANDING

10

500

25

50

30

150

200

50

500

150

200

100

100

200

100

100

300
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Beamish, W. Frederick,
Bothwell, Ontario.

Bearden, Mrs. Irene,
410 Bay St.,
Orillia, Ontario.

Beatty Oil Limited,
Box 220 Bothwell, Ont.

Beaudoin, Remi G.,
74 Chestermere Blvd.,
Scarborough, Ontario.

Beckett, Reid E. A.,
R. R. 5,
St. Thomas, Ontario.

Bee, John W. and Mrs.
Mabel M. Bee,

584 Adelaide St.
Woodstock, Ontario.

Bennett, Alfred E.,
251 Chaplin Crescent,
Toronto 7, Ontario.

Bennett, A. Kendall,
Box 97,
Aurora, Ontario.

Bentham, Dr. William H.,
24 Bendale Ave.,
Scarborough, Ontario.

Bethune, William A.,
202 Cecil St.,
Sarnia, Ont.

Birchard, Dr. James R.,
216 McDonald Ave.,
Belleville, Ontario.

Bish, Robert P.,
96 Greenbrook Dr.,
Kitchener, Ontario.

Blake, F. Gordon,
88 Bernard Ave.,
Toronto 5, Ontario.
Blois, Walter G.,
36 Hartfield Rd.,
Islington, Ontario.
Bond, Mrs. Mabel,
358 Cartier Ave.,
Sudbury, Ontario.

Boone, Geoffrey L. Jr.,
Box 2215,
London, Ontario.

Booty Harry G.,
51 First Ave.,
Galt, Ontario.

Borins, Samuel D.,

1765 Victoria Park, Suite A.,
Scarborough, Ontario.
Borins, Samuel D.,

578 St. Clements Ave.,
Toronto 12, Ontario.

100

50

100

90

300

300

300

50

150

100

100

100

100

150

100

100

200

1,000

500
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Born, Dr. Gunter,
121 St. Joseph Dr.,
Apt. 11,

Hamilton, Ontario.

Borrowman, Mr. Ronald J.,
R R. 2,
Wyoming, Ontario.

Bos, Hendrik,

c¢/o McLeod Young Weir & Co,,

Ltd.,
50 King St. W,
Toronto, Ontario.

Bodkin, Kenneth N.,
201 Farrand Street,
Port Arthur, Ontario.

Bowles, Neil L.,
Box 249,
Acton, Ontario.

Boyce, J. L. Ralph,
2 Braid Place,
Guelph, Ontario.

Bradshaw, Robert W.,
33 Abinger Cresc.,
Islington, Ontario.

Brazzell, Garry T.,
503 Electric Railway Chambers,
Winnipeg 2, Manitoba.

Bridgman, John R.,
15 Orchard Crest Rd.,
Toronto 9, Ontario.

Briggs, Mr. Gordon,
13645 Linnhurst,
Detroit 5, Mich., U.S.A.

Bringham, Royden,
717 Pape Ave.,
Toronto, Ontario.

Broadbent, Albert,
4 Duplex Cresc.,
Toronto, Ontario.

Broadfoot, Dr. T. William L.,
237 Kent St. W.,
Lindsay, Ontario.

Brooksbank, Mr. Charles,
R Rk,
Wallaceburg, Ontario.

Brotherton, Ian D.,
537 Donlands Ave.,
Toronto, Ontario.

Brown, Ernest V.,

c/o Galt Paper Box Ltd.,
49 King St. W.,

Galt, Ontario.

Brown, Mrs. Helen C.,
11 Elm Ave.,

Apt. 322,

Toronto 5, Ontario.

200

100

100

100

200

500

315

100

100

100

200

100

50

15

100

200

Brown, Kenneth C.,
262 St. George St.,
Toronto, Ontario.

Brown, Mrs. Margaret Laura,
Apt. 4,

217 The Donway West.,
Don Mills, Ont.

Brown, Victor M.,
440 Manor Rd. S.,
Toronto 7, Ontario.

Bruce, Maxwell,

Brunt, William R., Jr.,
14 Emrick Ave.,
Fort Erie, Ontario.

Buchanan, John Y.,

c/o Industrial Acceptance
Corporation Limited,
1143 Bay St.,

Toronto 5, Ontario.

Buck, George A.,
115 Dowling Ave.,
Apt. 303,

Toronto 3, Ontario.

Burgess, Mrs. Dorothy M.,
14 Fitzgerald St.,
Toronto, Ontario.

Burgess, Miss Evelyn,
659 Huron St.,
Toronto 5, Ontario.

Burnett, Miss Agnes,
105 Arnold St.,
Richmond Hill,
Ontario.

Bush, Frank S.,
100 Lyon Ave.,
Guelph, Ontario.

Bush, Mrs. Nancy E.,
4 Hemford Cresc.,
Don Mills, Ontario.

Bush, Miss Sadie E.,
450 Walmer Rd.,
Apt. 705,

Toronto 10, Ontario.

Butt, Mrs. Lilian G.,
591 Glen Park Ave,,
Toronto, Ontario.

Byerlay, Mrs. Dorothy M.,
Box 142,
Alliston, Ontario.

Cadman, Mrs. Marjorie,
Box 1428,
Clarkson, Ontario.

Cahill, Dr. Claude F.,
286 Hunter St. W.,
Peterborough, Ontario.
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1,000

100

257

750
200

100

30

100

50

100

500

50

500

20

100

50

100
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Callander, Mrs. Isobel, 200
Box 33,
Petrolia, Ontario.

Campbell, Donald A., 50
28 Upper Canada Drive,

Apt. 112,

Willowdale, Ontario.

Campbell, Robert H., 1
20 Broadview Ave.,
Galt, Ontario.

The Canada Trust Company Re R-15 1,000
P.O. Box 100,
Guelph, Ontario.
The Canada Trust Company
Re N72-30 100

P.O. Box 2545 Terminal “A”,
Main Branch,
London, Ontario.

Caradonna, Jack, 100
294 Eglinton Ave. W.,
Toronto 12, Ontario.

Carlson, Mr. John V., 100
427 Geneva St.,
St. Catharines, Ontario.

Carlton, Mrs. Margaret, 100
3461 Lakeshore Highway,
Burlington, Ontario.

Carr, Mrs. Eva, 125
178 Bartlett Ave.,
Toronto, Ontario.

Carr, Dr. Meyer, 1,000
452 Main St., E.,
Hamilton, Ontario.

Carscallen, Norman, 100
331 John St.,
Sudbury, Ontario.

Cartan, Mrs. Gretta, 100
15 Mallory Cresc.,

Apt. 308,

Toronto 17, Ontario.

Catania, Michael L., 100
47 Whitmore Ave., z
Toronto 10, Ontario.

Challis, Fred, 50
10 Redbud Dr.,
Chatham, Ontario.

Charest, Mrs. Esther D., 150
7 Purling Place,
Willowdale, Ontario.

Charest, Mr. Jean, 150
7 Purling Place,
Willowdale, Ontario.

Charlebois, Miss Eloise, 810
63 Robert St. W.,
Penetanguishene, Ontario.

Charlebois, Miss Mary A.,
1460 Bayview Ave.,
Toronto 17, Ontario.

Charlebois, Mary Baere (Mrs),

63 Robert St. W,
Penetanguishene, Ontario.

Charlebois, Peter A.,
63 Robert St., W.,
Penetanguishene, Ontario.

Charlebois, Phil A.,
63 Robert St. W.,
Penetanguishene, Ontario.

Chiappetta, Joseph A.,
Suite 406,

12 Richmond St. E.,
Toronto, Ontario.

Chisholm, Mrs. Georgina,
1306 Lake Shore Rd. E.,
Oakville, Ontario.

Chong, Mr. Ying,
137 Colborne St.,
Oakville, Ontario.
Christie, David A. C.,
Box 222,

Newmarket, Ontario.

Ciaramella, Vincenzo,
385 Markham St.,
Toronto 4, Ontario.

Clair, Mrs. Catherine R.,
1023 Royal York Road.,
Toronto 18, Ontario.

Clapp, Mr. Lloyd,
Eberts, Ontario.

Clarke, Roderick W.,
300 Hatt St.,
Dundas, Ontario.

Clarke, Russell E.,
97 Wimbleton Rd.,
Islington, Ontario.

Class, Carl A.,
Fornt St.,
Strathroy, Ontario.

Clavir, William,

c/o Midcontinent Truck
Terminal Ltd.,

1608 The Queensway

Toronto 18, Ontario.

Clemes, Dr. Ian L.,
37 Lynwood Dr.,
Guelph, Ontario.

Clifford, Tom,
305 Pape Ave.,
Toronto 8, Ontario.

Clifton, Mrs. Ethel,
218 Kempenfeldt Dr.,
Barrie, Ontario.

1,200

630

540

970

1,050

300

100

200

200

100

100

100

50

100

50

100

100
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Cobean, Edward J. Sr.,
Chesley, Ontario.

Cobean, Harry James,
Chesley, Ontario.

Cobean, Harry R.,
Chesley, Ontario.

Coburn, John L.,

Canada Permanent Mortgage Co.,
Main & James Sts.,

Hamilton, Ontario.

Cockshutt, Mrs. Ena M.,
227 Dufferin Ave.,
Brantford, Ontario.

Cohen, Maurice,

c/o Canadian Imperial Bank,
of Commerce,

Yonge & Wellington,

49 Yonge St.,

Toronto 1, Ontario.

Collard, Frank A.,

c¢/o Howell Forwarding & Co. Ltd.,
31 Scott St.,

Toronto 1, Ontario.

Colman, Jeremy M.,
97 Post Rd.,

Don Mills, Ontario.
Conway, Mrs. Flora P.,
335 Pine St.,
Collingwood, Ontario.
Cook, Dr. Walter F.,
437 Sandra Blvd.,
Sudbury, Ontario.
Coomber, William,

9 Cathcart St.,
Willowdale, Ontario.

Cooper, Alexander J.,
c/o Jamaica Tourist Board,
King Edward Hotel,
Toronto, Ontario.
Cooper, Frank E. Jr.,
889 Kitchener St.,
Niagara Falls, Ontario.
Corakis, Nick,

68 London St.,

Toronto 4, Ontario.
Cornell, Henry E. C,,
26 Lytton Blvd.,
Toronto 12, Ontario.
Cosford, Mrs. Ivy,

18 Blythdale Rd.,
Toronto 12, Ontario.
Cosway, Donald J.,

6 Spruce Hill Rd.,
Toronto 13, Ontario.
Coulter, Mrs. Kathleen H.,
95 Forest Ave.,

St. Thomas, Ontario.

100

100

200

100

100

1,000

200

1,650

100

300

100

25

100

500

100

150

100

Courtis, Glenn,
RR. £ 2,
Wallaceburg, Ontario.

Coutts, John Alexander,

5 Owen St.,
Barrie, Ontario.

Cowan, Mrs. Alice E.,
31 Roehampton Ave.,
Toronto 12, Ontario.

Craig, Samuel J.,
34 Wembley Drive,
Sudbury, Ontario.

Crampton, Ribton G.,

c¢/o Toronto Dominion Bank,

16 Durham Street S.,
Sudbury, Ontario.

Dr. Crockford, Morley J.,
24 Bowood Ave.,
Toronto 12, Ontario.

Grouch, Stanley A.,
11 Treleaven Drive,
Brampton, Ontario.

Crown Trust Company,
302 Bay Street,
Toronto, Ontario.

Cudmore, Mrs. Eethel A.,
148 Lothiam Ave.,
Toronto 18, Ontario.

Cummings James H.,
132 Bendamere Ave.,
Hamilton, Ontario.

Cuthbertson, Mrs. Elsie,
981 Lillian Street,
Willowdale, Ontario.

Dafoe, Mrs. Alice G.,
Box 40,
Napanee, Ontario.

Dario, Charles,

46 Chestnut Hills Pky.,
Islington, Ontario.

Davidson, Mildred G.,
295 Quebec Ave.,
Toronto 9, Ontario.

Davis, Mrs. A,,

22 Lawrence Cres.,
Toronto, Ontario.
Davis, William A.,
22 Lawrence Cres.,
Toronto, Ontario.

Dawe, Harvey C.,
84 Wellington Street,
Lindsay, Ontario.

Dawes, Frederick, W. H,,

15 Macmillan Cres.,
Chatham, Ontario.

85

100

200

a75

100

200

100

50

700

100

200

1,575

100

200

100

105

195

100

100



86

Dawson, Frederick,
1685 Kipling Ave., N.
Apt. 407,

Rexdale, Ontario.

Day, Frank,
1943 Miller Cres.,
Sudbury, Ontario.

Day, Mrs. Mabel A.,
499 Prince Edward Dr.,
Toronto 18, Ontario.

Day, Miss Margaret A.,
5 Mallory Gardens, Apt. 505,
Toronto 7, Ont.

Dayman, Gerald,
280 Kathleen Ave.,
Sarnia, Ont.

Dean, Mrs. Flora,
Box 836,
Petrolia, Ont.

Dean, Mrs. Rhoda,
262 Kenilworth North,
Hamilton, Ont.

De Lorme, Arthur F.,
1039 James St. W.,
Wallaceburg, Ont.

Delzotto, Mrs. Celseste,
14 Spencely Court,
Weston, Ont.

Demers, Miss Annette,
664 Albert St.,
Wallaceburg, Ont.

Destefano, Mr. Angelo,
280 Willow St.,
Sudbury, Ont.

Dettman, Eldon C.,
Regent St. no. 18,
Lindsay, Ont.

Dickie, Jack W.,
5 Fleet St.,
Brantford, Ont.

Dickson, George,

STANDING COMMITTEE

100

100

100

100

50

200

200

100

200

50

200

100

50

500

Executive Vice President Canada

Packers & Co. Ltd.,
2200 St. Clair Ave., W.,
Toronto 9, Ont.

Dingsdale, Hugh F.,
25 Eccleston Dr.,
Toronto, Ont.

Doerr, Harold,
11 Armour Dr.,
Welland, Ont.

Doherty, James A.,
49 Glenwood Ave.,
Toronto 9, Ont.

615

25

100

Doman, Mrs. Sara J.,
Box 554,
Petrolia, Ont.

Dorner, Frank H. C.
97 Salisbury Ave.,
Galt, Ont.

Dougals, Mrs. Mildred E.
Box 509
Napanee, Ont.

Douglas, Miss Nellie L.
591 Water Street
Peterborough, Ont.

Downie, Andrew R.
c/o Carling Breweries
1047 Yonge St.,
Toronto 5, Ont.

Doyle, William R.
265 Front St.,
Belleville, Ont.

Duggan, Mrs. Jessie S.
RR. No.l2,
Caledon East, Ont.

Duncan, Mrs. Emily F.
Box 747
Petrolia, Ont.

100

200

100

200

25

100

400

425

Duncan, Miss Florence Evelyn Marion 567

Mount Forest, Ont.

Duncon, George H.
R.R. No. 1,
Conn, Ont.

Duncon, Gordon J.
109 Durham St. S.
Sudbury, Ont.

Duncan, John Ford
969 London Rd.,
Sarnia, Ont.

Duncan, Mrs. Margaret Jane
Mount Forest, Ont.

Duncanson, K. John
199 Berry Rd,,
Toronto 18, Ont.

Dunn, J. Newton
1 Aylesbury Road,
Toronto, Ont.

Dunsdon, Leslie
18 Hamilton Ave.,
Brantford, Ont.

Durbin, Nathan
273 Yonge St.,
Toronto 1, Ont.

Durnan, William A.

34 Omaha Ave., Algonquin Island

Toronto 2, Ont.

600

100

100

600

100

200

500

100

200



BANKING AND COMMERCE

Dyer, Mrs. Kathleen
c/o Dyers Furniture
30 Main St.,
Newmarket, Ont.

Dyer, William

c/o Dyers Furniture
30 Main St.,
Newmarket, Ont.

Dyke, Mr. Charles
175 Easson St.,
Stratford, Ont.

Edwards, Mrs. Laura May
RiR. No. ‘2
Grand Valley, Ont.

Elliott, Harold H.
27 Jackson Ave.,
Toronto 18, Ont.

Elliott, Miss Phyllis

240 Northcliffe Blvd., Apt. 207
Toronto 10, Ont.

Evans, John E.

234 Queensdale Ave.,
Toronto 6, Ont.

Evans, Mrs. Rose L.
234 Queensdale Ave.,
Toronto 6, Ont.

W. Edgar Evans
100 Winston Cres.
Guelph, Ont.

Eyre, Warren
36 Yonge Street
Toronto 1, Ont.

Fagan, Eugene M.
P.O. Box 95
Port Credit, Ont.

Fairbairn, John
420 Grand Ave., East
Chatham, Ont.

Fairweather, Donald H. B.
47 Winston Grove Blvd.,
Toronto 18, Ont.

Fallis, Harold
18 Southwood Drive
Toronto, Ont.

Farncomb, Mrs. Anne E.
182 Elexandra Blvd.,
Toronto 12, Ont.

Feggans, Scott

605 Rogers Rd.,
Toronto, Ont.
Fenwick, Willington
142 Cornwall Heights
Brampton, Ont.
Findlay, Mr. Claude A.
1921 Delaware Ave.,

Niagara Falls, Ont.

150

150

200

300

501

200

500

300

10

100

100

100

100

100

100

200

100

100

Findlay, Earl

c/o Sarco Canada Ltd.
611 Gerrard St. E.,
Toronto 8, Ont.

Finucan, J. T.
61 Wigar Road,
Toronto 18, Ont.

Flavelle, J. David

c/o Nat. Trust Co. Ltd.
21 King St. East,
Toronto 1, Ont.

Fletcher, Dr. Marwood D.
141 Kittredge St. E.,
Strathroy, Ont.

Foley, Frank H.
282 George St.,
Belleville, Ont.

Forster, Alan C.
49 Lexfield Ave.,
Downsview, Ont.

Jorstmann, Mrs. Jean
91 Sherman Ave., S., Apt. No. 1,
Hamilton, Ont.

Foster, Francis
c/o Creamery,
Dresden, Ont.

Foster, Mrs. Muriel
71 Westhampton Dr.,
Kingsview Village,
Weston, Ont.

Foster, Victor

71 Westhampton Dr.,
Kingsview Village, Ont.
Fraser, Alexander F'.

Box 246,
Marmora, Ont.

Alex F. Fraser, Exec. for the Estate

of Miss Anna W. Fraser

P.O. Box 246,
Marmora, Ont.

Fraser, Dr. James E.
Port Elgin, Ont.

Fraser, William K.
62 Rykert Cres.,
Toronto 17, Ont.

Freele, Mr. Bill O.
c/o Cuddy Hardware,
Front St., Box 95,
Strathroy, Ont.

Fry, Kenneth
12-14 St. Catharine St.,
St. Thomas, Ont.

Fuller, Ralph T.
No. 3 Douglas Drive,
Toronto 5, Ont.

87

50

200

200

200
100
100
100 ;

100

100

100

200

100

200

100

1000



88 STANDING COMMITTEE

Fuller, Mrs. Reta
3 Douglas Drive,
Toronto 5, Ont.

Furness, Miss Jane
110 Cheltenham Ave.,
Toronto, Ont.

Gallagher, Thomas
27 Fairmar Ave.,
Toronto 18, Ont.

Galonski, Mr. Anton M.
750 Rosedale Ave.,
Sarnia, Ont.

Galonski, Mrs. Ruth
750 Rosedale Ave.,
Sarnia, Ont.

Garfield, Harold William
125 Ferris Road,
Toronto 16, (Ont.)

Garlick, Fred
22 Prospect Street,
Guelph, Ont.

Garlick, Ross
c/o Walker’s Cloverdale Mall,
Etobicoke, Ont.

Garnett, Miss Elizabeth C.
220 Eglinton Ave. East., Apt. 702,
Toronto 12, Ont.

Garrett, James W.
H.R. 1
Stouffville, Ont.

Garton, Mrs. Phyllis M.
315 Willard Ave.,
Toronto 9, Ont.

Gaskon, Henry G.
1 Duplex Cresc.,
Toronto, Ont.

Gaviller, Dr. Eldwin
767 Second Ave. W.,
Owen Sound, Ont.

Gavin, Ralph
30 Grove Street East
Barrie, Ont.

Geddes, Homer D.
312—10th Street
Hanover, Ont.

George, John D. In Trust
350 North Chistina Street
Sarnia, Ont.

Gerhard, Mrs. Mary
182 Eagle St.,
Delhi, Ont.

Gerring, William J.
257 Erskine Ave.,
Toronto 12, Ont.

1000

50

100

50

100

50

300

100

100

400

200

100

25

200

100

100

50

100

Glad, John G.
283 0Old Orchard Grove
Toronto 12, Ont.

Glenny, John Russell
150 Islington Ave., N,,
Islington, Ont.

Goldman, Kurt
Meaford, Ont.

Goodfellow, Vernon C.
55 King Forest Drive
Hamilton, Ont.

Gora, Mrs. Mary
21 Crestwood Place
Guelph, Ont.

Gora, Mrs. Mary in Trust
21Crestwood Place
Guelph, Ont.

Gordon, Jack A.
Cannington, Ont.

Gosskie, Joseph E.
259 Dunwoody Drive
Oakville, Ont.

Graham, Harold S.
Box 269
Port Stanley, Ont.

Grant, Jack
12 Collingwood Street
Kingston, Ont.

Grant, Mrs Marjorie
52 Wellington St.,
Aylmer, Ont.

Grant, Peter Mach.
25 Rumbsey Road,
Toronto 17, Ont.

Gray, Charles
R.R. 2,
Port Lambton, Ont.

Gray, Mrs. Sarah F.
396 Markham Street
Toronto 4, Ont.

Greenfield, Mrs. Ferne
40 Fulton Street
Brantford, Ont.

Greenfield, Harry F.
40 Fulton Street
Brantford, Ont.

Gregory, Mr. Courtney G.
1 Shaver Court
Islington, Ont.

Greene, Harry A.
127 Brooklawn Ave.,
Scarborough, Ont.

Griffiths, Oriel
141 George Street
Belleville, Ont.

50
1,500

100

100
750
250

100

150
500
200
200

25

50
200
100

65
100
100

300



BANKING AND COMMERCE

Grigg, J. V.
Orangeville, Ont.

Grindley, Frank H.
231 Glenwood Crescent
Oshawa, Ont.

Hagey, Mrs. Ardell
112 Dufferin Ave.,
Brantford, Ont.

Hagey, H. Louis
148 Dalhousie St.,
Brantford, Ont.

Hain, John
130 Stath Ave.,
Toronto 18, Ont.

Hall, George
15 Decarie Circle
Islington, Ont.

Hall, Dr. Graham W.
450 Central Ave.,
London, Ont.

Hall, James
R.R. No. 1
Galt, Ont.

Hall, Mrs. Pearl
P.O. Box 209
Strathroy, Ont.

Hamilton, Mrs. Gladys B.
1201 Richmond St., Apt. 509
London, Ont.

Hamilton, Frank
Glen Huron, Ont.

Hamilton, Russel J.
1201 Richmond St., Apt. 509
London, Ont.

Hamilton, William C.
39 Winlock Park
Willowdale, Ont.

Hammond, Miss Elizabeth E.

Apt. 734, Kensington Towers
21 Dale Ave.,
Toronto 5, Ont.

Hammond, Mrs. Emily L.
19 Blossie St.,
Brantford, Ont.

Harding, Frank C.
Woolworth Co. Ltd.
180 Yonge St.,
Toronto 1, Ont.

Harker, James R.
253 Queensway Dr.,
Simcoe, Ont.

Harshaw, Archibald
79 Rosemount Crescent
Westmount, P.Q.

300

300

300

200

200

30

100

100

100

50

50

50

100

100

30

200

200

500

Hartleib, Harry D.
572 Cheapside St.,
London, Ont.

Harvie, Dalton B.
93 John Street
Thornhill, Ont.

Harvie, John D.
102 Dunvegan Rd.,
Toronto 7, Ont.

Haskett, Charles Pacey
382 Ridout St. N.,
London, Ont.

Hassard, Mrs. Mary Anne

c/o Stevens Hassard & Elliott

1245 Bloor St. W.,
Toronto 4, Ont.

Hassard, Richard J.
199 Parkside Dr.,
Toronto 3, Ont.

Hawkins, Roland S.
660 Glengrove Ave. W.,
Toronto 19, Ont.

Hayhoe, J. Boyce
Pine Grove, Ont.

Hazlett, Mrs. Sarah D.
3 Machockie Road
Toronto 6, Ont.

Helwig, Professor Carl E.
89 Woodlawn Ave. West
Toronto 7, Ont.

Henderson, James M.
483 Blythwood Rd.,
Toronto 12, Ont.

Hennessey, Mrs. Violet
35 Fulton Ave.,
Toronto 6, Ont.

Hennings, Thomas
53 Park Ave.,
Brantford, Ont.

Henwood, Leslie G.
80 Carrick Ave., Apt. 5
Hamilton, Ont.

Heron, James F.
145 St. George St., Apt. 1211
Toronto, Ont.

Hersh, Cyril
201 Hillhurst Blvd.,
Toronto 12, Ont.

Hickling, Mrs. Jean
Box 189
Delhi, Ont.

Hillier, Mrs. Janet
R.R. No. 1
Sarnia, Ont.

89

100

300

100

100

150

522

190

150

200

200

20

100

50

200

100

200

50

100



90 STANDING COMMITTEE

Hislop, Donald B. 50
1691 Lakeshore Rd.,
Sarnia, Ont.

Hobson, George and Hobson, Mrs.
Eleanor

as joint tenants and not as tenants
in common

1645 Cadillac

Detroit 4, Mich.

Hodgson, Mrs. Vera 100
161 East Ave.,
Brantford, Ont.

Haldenby, Eric W. 100
Mathers & Haldenby

10st. Mary Street

Toronto 5, Ont.

100

Hollend, Martin 50
Box 461

Lakefield, Ont.

Holmes, Mrs. Agnes C. 1575

538 Broadway Ave.,
Toronto 18, Ont.

Holmes, Bernard A. 15
1390 Islington Ave. North
Rexdale, Ont.

Honegger, H. E. 50
55 Stuart Ave.,
Willowdale, Ont.

Hooper, Miss Jeane L. 50
c/o Canada Trust Co.,

Huron Erie Bldg.,

Dundas St.,

London, Ont.

Hughes, Miss Eleanor 100
50 Nina Ave.,

Toronto 10, Ont.

Hunter, Mr. E. Norval 200
The K.V.P. Co. Ltd., Ste. 320

48 Yonge St.,

Toronto, Ont.

Hutcheson, Frank W. 500
Huntsville, Ont.

Hyatt, Mrs. Marjorie J. 25.

P.O. Box 554

Petrolia, Ont.

Hyde, Frank A., 100
233 Creek St.,

Wallaceburge, Ont.

Hymus, Ernest S., 100
32 St. Cuthberts Road,

Toronto 17, Ont.

Infuso, Lloyd 235
50 Braywin Drive

Weston, Ont.

Irving, Henry 25
9 West Cove

Galt, Ont.

Jamison, Mrs. Norah K. 50
Apt. 3, 16 Yonge Blvd.,
Toronto, 12, Ont.

Jarjour, Wilfrid 200

2842 Bloor St. W.,
Toronto 18, Ont.

Jenkins, George C. 100
Eden, Ont.
P. Ray, St. John 100

100 Stratford Cres.,
Toronto 12, Ont.

Johns, Mrs. Kathleen 100
77 Inniswood Dr.,
Scarborough, Ont.

Johnson, A. Hamilton 400
4 Denison St.,
Stratford, Ont.

Johnson, Edgar U. 200
318 Glen Road
Toronto 5, Ont.

Johnson, Mrs. Jane 100
30 Gwendolyn Ave.,
Toronto, Ont.

Johnson, John B. 100
c/o Bernard Cairns Ltd.

134 Richmond West

Toronto, Ont.

Johnston, Edward 100
c/o Cuddy Hardware
Strathroy, Ont.

Johnson, Dr. J. Gordon 200
29 Marmora St.,
Trenton, Ont.

Jones, Mrs. Gladys M. 100
103 Eldomar Ave.,
Brampton, Ont.

Kaplan, Mrs. Estherelke 60
580 Christie Street
Toronto, Ont.

Keeler, Mrs. Grace L. 100
R.R. No. 1
Carrying Place, Ont.

Kelly, Howard
35 Wellington Street
Kingston, Ont.

Kennedy, Alexander M. 50
Room 1200, Nat. Trust Bldg.,

7 King St. E.

Toronto 1, Ont.

Kenyon, Thomas
72 Durant St. Toronto, Ont.

Kerr, Miss Mavis 100
R.R. No. 2
Dresden, Ont.

1,000

1,882



b

e
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Louis Kesten 100 Lane Basil L. 100
48 De Quincy Blvd., c/o Easy Washing Machine Co.,
Downsview, Ont. Shell & Maranda Sts.,
Kightley, James A. 500 . keronte 10, Ont.
126 York St., Large, W. J. 100
London, Ont. 412 Mt. Pleasant Road
Kightley, Paul F. 06 -7 OvOme iy ont
c/o Kighley Auto Electric Ltd., Larson, Eric V. 25
126 York St., 74 Airdrie Road
London, Ont. Toronto 17, Ont.
Kitchen, George H. 100 Lashley, Homer, 50
150 Wibleton Rd., 156 Thames St., N.
Islington, Ont. Ingersoll, Ont.
Kukovica, Andrew 100 Laughlin, Mrs. Gladys E. 100
66 Station Rd., Apt. 7 193 Golfdale Rd.,
Toronto, Ont. : Toronto 12, Ont.
Kukovica, Mrs. Maria 100 Layzell, William H. 150
202 Grove St., Apt. 502, 3541 Yonge St.,
Guelph, Ont. Toronto 12, Ont.
Kukovica, Mr. Teja 100 Lazarus, Mrs. E. Irene 25
66 Station Rr., Apt No. 7 16 Martin Cresc.,
Toronto 14, Ont. Toronto 7, Ont.
Kunitomo, Tak 100 Lea, Geoffrey 100
8 Dante Road 35 Northumberland St.,
Toronto 15, Ont. Toronto 4, Ont.
Kyle, Dr. Paul R. 200 Leahy, Dr. Phillip J., 50
283 David St., Teeswater, Ont.
Sudbury, Ont.
b 4 Lee, Mr. J. Douglas 200
Laarz, Elmer J. 50 309 King St. W.,
Box 294 Kingston, Ont.
Ingersoll, Ont. 7 o " i 4
; ee, Mrs. Norma M.
;all%dk;\l‘% ("; Wallace 200 33 Knighton Dr.,
eyt ' i to 1 4
London, Ont. gl B
Laidley, Clifford M. e 5 e 500
58 Kent St. W., - .l‘ingwg" R
Lindsay, Ont. ARiom, (Ouk
A Lennox, Mr. George B. 100
s i 100 1060 Oxford st
London Ont.., London, Ont.
Lamb, Max 900 Lennox, John H. 100
202 Rosedale Heights Drive 161 Front St.,
Toronto 5, Ont. Belleville, Ont.
Lamont, J. Leslie 100 Leprich, Carl 100
P.O. Box 249 172 Richard Clark Dr.,
Kincardine, Ont. Downsview, Ont.
Landau, Mrs. Nettie 200 Levy, Benjamin 500
515 Chaplin Crescent; Apt. 711 1400 Weston Rd.,
Toronto 12, Ont. Toronto 15, Ont.
Lang, C. Whintney 100 Lichter, Symon 100
200 Divadale Drive 59 Baycrest Ave.,
Toronto 17, Ont. Toronto 19, Ont.
Lang, John 150 Lister, Cyril A. 50

50 King St. W., Ste 910
Toronto, Ont.
20531—4

11 Parkman Place,
Westmount 6, P.Q.
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Lloyd, Hugh M.
66 Queenston St.,
Winnipeg 9, Man.

Lloyd, Mrs. Mary L.
17 Lascelles Blvd., Apt. 208
Toronto 7, Ont.

Lobsinger, William J.
Jackson St.,
Walkerton, Ont.

Lockwood, Dr. Charles A.
Glencoe, Ont.

Lorenson, Mrs. Ruth M.
Box 177
Marmora, Ont.

Loucks, Mrs. Dorothy J.
Chesley, Ont.

Loucks, Joseph A.
1379 Londonderry Blvd.,
Port Credit, Ont.

Lucchetta, Frank
69 Burr Ave., North York
Toronto, Ont.

Ludlow, Mrs. Rita
119 Parkview Ave.,
Willowdale, Ont.

Lundy, Robert
22 Colwood Rd.,
Islington, Ont.

Lyon, John D.
179 College St.,
Kingston, Ont.

MacDonald, Donald S.
16 Summerhill Gdns.,
Toronto, Ont.

MacDonald, Dr. Earle M.
197 Charles Street
Belleville, Ont.

MacDonald, J. Willard
2479 “A” Bloor St. W.
Toronto 1, Ont.

MacDonald, Philip B.
68 Delhi Ave.,
Toronto, Ont.

MacFarlane, Mrs. Lilyan
26 Woodland A Cres.,
Belleville, Ont.

MacFarlane, Mr. Phyllis E.
17 Lichen Place,
Don Mills, Ont.

MacKendrick, Mrs. Annie E.
1306 Lake Shore E.,
Oakville, Ont.

MacLaren, William J.
Wynnwood Road

Greenwick, Connecticut U.S.A.

100

100

100

100

100

50

600

200

100

50

100

100

200

200

100

100

200

200

STANDING COMMITTEE

MacNab, John M.
24 Classic Ave.,
Toronto 5, Ont.

MacVicar, Wilfred G.,
Strathroy, Ont.

Malcolm, Carl J.
14 Breadner Drive
Weston, Ont.

Malloy, Fred C.

c/o Bank of Nova Scotia
Savings Acc. No. 4067
Oshawa, Ont.

Mandell, Mrs. Frances
52 Timberlade Drive,
Downsview, Ont.

Marchand, Mr. Eugene J.
R.R. No. 1, St. Clair Shores
Belle River, Ont.

Marcus, Harold
R.R. No. 4,
Bothwell, Ont.

Mark, Howard S.
257 Dawlish Ave.,
Toronto 12, Ont.

Markshall, Arthur S.
Box 317,
Fonthill, Ont.

Martin, William A.
55 Gardenvale Rd.,
Toronto 18, Ont.

Mascioli, Mr. Guy
150 Kingsmount Blvd.,
Sudbury, Ont.

Maslink, Mr, William
11 Front St. S,
Thorold, Ont.

Matta, Mr. Virgil E.
918 Parent Ave.,
Windsor, Ont.

Mervin, Alexander S.
1759 Byng Ave.,
Niagara Falls, Ont.
Metcalfe, Mrs. Lillian M.,
Oil Springs, Ont.
Metivier, Ralph

248 The Kingsway North,
Islington, Ont.

Middleton, William H.
Unionville, Ont.

Milfod, Benjamin
347 Royal York Road,
Toronto 18, Ont.

Milks, William J.
322 Brooke Ave.,
Toronto, Ont.

200

200

100

200

60

100

200

200

50

105

100

50

100

100

25

300

500

50

25



Miller, Ronald C.
Box 509, 173 John St.,
Napanee, Ont.

Mills, Derek W.,
5 Maryvale Cres.,
Thornhill, Ont.

Milne, Donald A.
Kincardine, Ont.
Miskimmin, David
16 Glen Ames Ave.,
Toronto 13, Ont.

Mitchell, Mrs. Dorothy
194 Dufferin Ave.,
Brantford, Ont.

Mitchell, John S.,
286 Coleman Street
Belleville, Ont.

Moffatt, J. Hiram
Watford, Ont.

Mollard, Mrs. Dorothy J.
11 Kings Lynn Rd.,
Toronto 18, Ont.

Mollard, William A.
28 Bennington Heights Dr.,
Toronto, Ont.

Mollard, William J.
11 Kings Lynn Rd.,
Toronto 18, Ont.

Monette, Miss Jean
876 Broadview Ave.,
Toronto, Ont.

Montgomery, J. Hector
1053 Cannon Street East
Hamilton, Ont.

Mooney, Michael J.
224 Sloane Ave.,
Toronto 16, Ont.

Moore, Ralph R.,
Norwich, Ont.

Morris, Mrs. Sheila M.
126 Dinnick Cres.,
Toronto 12, Ont.

Morrison, Dr. Roy
2 Paisley Ave., So.,
Hamilton, Ont.

Morrison, Mrs. Vera V.
Apt. 506, 6060 Avenue Rd.,
Toronto, Ont.

Moyle, Joseph R..
87 St. George St.,
Brantford, Ont.

Muller, Charles,

24 Westmount Road,

Guelph, Ont.
20531—4}

BANKING AND COMMERCE

100 Muller, Donald,
545 Eramosa Road,
Guelph, Ont.

50 Munn, Harold,
3 Beckwith St., West
Perth, Ont.

100 Munro, Mrs. Vivian A.
68 Howland Ave.,
900 Toronto 4, Ont.

Murdoch, William J.

Canada Permanent Mortgage Co.,
95 47 James St., S,

Hamilton, Ont.

Murphy, Mr. Henry A.
100 656 University St. W.
Windsor, Ont.

McCarthy, Lorne E.
100 R.R. No. 6
Brampton, Ont.

1,320 McClure, Mr. Ivie S.
R.R. No. 6
Brantford, Ont.

1,575 McConaghy, Frank P.
20 Bedford Park Ave.,
Richmond Hill, Ont.

3,633 McConaghy, Mrs. Lavada M.
20 Bedford Park Ave.,
Richmond Hill, Ont.

150 McConkey, Oswald M.
R.R. No. 2,
Elora, Ont.

McConnell, Elmer K.
R.R. No. 1,
Delhi, Ont.

McCormack, Mrs. Margaret I.
149 Inglewood Dr.,
Toronto, Ont.

McCready, Mrs. Elizabeth Jane
28 Bennington Heights Dr.,
Toronto, Ont.

400 McCrimmon, John S. G.
26 Anglesey Boulevard
Islington, Ont.

100 McCullough, Dr. David W.
96 Larch St., Suite 206
Sudbury, Ont.

100 McCullough, Dr. John F.
260 Cedar St.,
Sudbury, Ont.

25 McDermid, Dr. Elsie M. (Miss)
508 William Street
London, Ont.

10 McDowell, Chester C
R.R. No. 3
Milton, Ont.

500

315

200

93

15

100

125

50

100

25

200

50

50

250

100

900

787

100

100

100

50

250



94

McEwan, Thomas A.
21 Dormie Lane,
Guelph, Ont.

McFadden, Harold W.
1 Lake Cres.,
Toronto 14, Ont.

McGillivray, Dr. Douglas A.
71 Dundas St.,
Wallaceburg, Ont.

McGuigan, Miss Veronica
87 Withrow Ave.,
Toronto 6, Ont.

McIlmoyd, Clarence
20 Bunty Lane,
Willowdale, Ont.

Mclnnis, John H.
588 Hurontario Street,
Col}ingwood, Ont.

McIntyre, Ronald
489 Rouge Hill Drive
West Hill, Ont.

McKee, James A.
640 Roselawn Ave.,
Toronto 12, Ont.

McKee, Mr. Raymond
314 QGriffith Street
London, Ont.

McKee, William J.
Apt. 504, 915 Midland Ave.,
Scarborough, Ont.

McKenzie, Kenneth H.
21 Wellington St., W.
Barrie, Ont.

McKergow, F. Chester,
227 Ledbury Ave.,
Toronto 12, Ont.

McMillan, Miss Jessie,
521 The Kingsway
Islington, Ont.

McMurtry, Mrs. Joan M.,
1053 Cannon St. E.,
Hamilton, Ont.

McNeil, Stanley R.,
64 Pine St.,
Woodbridge, Ont.

Needham, John E.,
41 Donaree Dr.,
Don Mills, Ont.

Nelles, Malcolm S.,
156 Main St. E.,
Grimsby, Ont.

Niblett, George S.,
8 Valleyanna Drive,
Toronto 12, Ont.

200

50

50

163

100

100

50

880

100

100

100

100

100

100

25

100

300

1,000

STANDING COMMITTEE

Nikiforuk, Mrs. Hellena,
802 Colborne St.,
Brantford, Ont.

Nikiforuk, John,
802 Colborne St.,
Brantford, Ont.

Nishimura, Mr. Kazumi,
136 Beatrice Street,
Toronto 3, Ont.

O’Brecht, Miss Sharon,
28 George Street, Apt. 1,
Toronto 14, Ont.

Oelbaum, Mrs. Ethel,
46 Old Forest Hill Rd.,
Toronto 7, Ont.

Okuno, Mr. Matthew S.,
136 Beatrice St.,
Toronto 3, Ont.

Okuno, Mrs. Polly,
136 Beatrice St.,
Toronto 3, Ont.

Olds, Mr. Percy,
532 Michigan Ave.,
Sarnia, Ont.

O’Neill, Clarence Francis,
14 Burton Rd.,

Forest Hill Village,
Toronto 10, Ont.

Orr, Mr. E. Royden,
35 Eaglewood Blvd.,
Port Credit, Ont.

Ovens, Samuel,
72 Alexis Blvd.,
Downsview, Ont.

Parker, Harvey W.,
Listowel, Ont.

Pascoe, Mrs, Sandra M.,
95 Parkside Drive,
Brantford, Ont.

Paterson, Mrs. Daphne H.,
Box 300,
Trenton, Ont.

Patterson, Dr. Donald M.,
286 King St. W.,
Chatham, Ont.

Patterson, Mr. John B.;
78 Cardiff Road,
Toronto 12, Ont.

Patterson, Launcelot O.,
R.R. No. 3
Wallaceburg, Ont.

Payne, Arthur J.,
405 South Vidal St.,
Sarnia, Ont.

100

100

150

50

50

200

50

50

6,500

50

100

200

200

150

200

100

200

100

-
=

e




BANKING AND COMMERCE

Payne, Mrs. Mary Emma,
824 London Road,
Sarnia, Ont.

Pearson, Chester R.,
19 Eleventh Street,
Toronto 14, Ont.

Pearson, Harvey C.,
395 Old Orchard Grove,
Toronto 12, Ont.

Pember, Dr. Frank R.,
Box 340,
Colborne, Ont.

Pember, Mrs. Marion E.,
Box 340,
Colborne, Ont.

Pentland, W. Lawrence
P.O. Box 83
Sarnia, Ont.

Perille, Veronica
8 Emery Circle,
Weston, Ont.

Pepall, Robert L.
217 Lonsdale Road
Toronto 7, Ont.

Phillips, R. Darrell
31 Larkin Ave.,
Toronto 3, Ont.

Phillips, Mr. Leonard E.
55 Hendrick St., Apt. 205
Toronto 4, Ont.

Phillips, Mrs. Lillian
55 Hendrick St., Apt 205
Toronto 4, Ont.

Phillips, Mr. William T.
American Optical Co. Ltd.
Box 175

Peterborough, Ont.

Pitt, Stanley
1093 Valley Way
Niagara Falls, Ont.

Plant, Mrs. Thelma Dorothea

3 ‘Brian CIliff Dr.,
Don Mills, Ont.

Plowman, Mr. Herbert G.
84 Prince George Dr.,
Toronto 18, Ont.

Pollitt, Stanley
1408 Londenderry Blvd.,
Port Credit, Ont.

Pollock, Dr. Allan D.
117-10th Street West
Owen Sound, Ont.

Pollock, Norton Grant
Box 433
Parkhill, Ont.

100

100

100

100

50

100

50

100

300

100

100

100

100

100

100

200

500

50

Poupore, Robert D.

c/o National Trust Company
Limited

Trust Department

21 King St. E,,

Toronto, Ont.

Powers, Mr. Rowan E.
Sarco Canada Ltd.,
611 Gerrard St. E.,
Toronto 8, Ont.

Pringle, Mrs. Ethel M.
1023 Royal York Road
Toronto 18, Ont.

Proter, Dr. John F.
4 Strathearn Blvd.
Toronto 10, Ont.

Puskas, Miss Elizabeth J.
1262 Simcoe St., S.
Oshawa, Ont.

Pynn, John L.
7 Brian Ave.,
Scarborough, Ont.

Quant, Mr. Leslie W.
80 Wharncliffe Rd., S.,
London, Ont.

Quickert, Arthur E.
435 Bridge St. E.
Belleville, Ont.

Quinlan, Thomas P. Jr.
541 James St.,
Wallaceburg, Ont.

Rae, G. L. Boyd
17 Ivylea Cres.,
Toronto 18, Ont.

Raffaghello, Mrs. Margaret
30 Winnipeg Road
Weston, Ont.

Rathbun, J. Grant

c/o Rathbun Bus Service Ltd.,

148 Victoria Ave.,
Toronto, Ont.

Rawlinson, Mrs. Shirley M.

37 Old Colony Road
Willowdale, Ont.

Reid, Mr. W. T. Craig
20 Chipper Court
Georgetown, Ont.

Read, Mr. Kenneth
Bobcaygeon, Ont.

Reid, Miss Evelyn C.
' Chureh ; St
Brantford, Ont.

Reid, Mrs. Hendrina M.

23 Lescelles Blvd., Apt. 808,

Toronto 7, Ont.

95

200

100

300

700

50

50

100

100

50

100

200

100

100

100

200

100

50



96 STANDING COMMITTEE

Reiter, Mr. Rudy H.
159 Beechwood Cres.,
Newmarket, Ont.

Reynolds, Mr. George B.
96 Lankin Blvd.,
Toronto, Ont.

Reynolds, Mr. Russell
160 Humbervale Blvd.,
Toronto 18, Ont.

Richards, C. Harold
37 Killdeer Crescent,
Toronto 17, Ont.

Rivers, Stanley F.
137 Hillhurst Blvd.,
Toronto 12, Ont.

Robertson, Mr. Donald L.
c/o Bank of Montreal,
Grand Bend, Ont.

Robinette, Thomas W.
306 Inglewood Dr.,
Toronto, Ont.

Robinson, Bertrand
c/o Room 1715, 44 Victoria St.,
Toronto 1, Ont.

Robinson, Dr. Sanmuel S.
301 Brock Street,
Kingston, Ont.

Robinson, Mrs. Vera
Apt. 501, 80 Scott St.,
Brampton, Ont.

Robson, Mrs. Barbara
50 Esgore Dr.,
Toronto 12, Ont.

Robson, Mr. Morris W.
1234 Dupont St.,
Toronto 4, Ont.

Roesener, Mr. Werner F.
67 Jasper Drive,
Aurora, Ont.

Rogers, L. Joslyn
110 Garfield Ave.,
Toronto 7, Ont.

Rose, Arnold
90 Erie Ave.,
Brantford, Ont.

Ross, Mr. Alvin H.
50 Oxbow Road,
Willowdale, Ont.

Ross, Donald H.
107 Citation Drive,
Willowdale, Ont.

Ross, John St. C.
1651 Dominion St.,
Sherbrooke, Que.

15

100

200

100

50

200

225

200

500

100

200

100

50

300

10

125

1,000

100

Roth, Mrs. Beryl C. 100
84 Wigmore Drive,
Toronto 16, Ont.

Rowat, Ross 50
c/o Co-Operators Insurance
Association,
150—9th St. W,
Owen Sound, Ont.

Rowe, Austin 50
c¢/o Rowe Dairies,

489 St. Patrick W.,

Fergus, Ont.

Rowe, Ronald T. 30
41 Pepler Ave.,
Toronto 6, Ont.

Rudlen, Miss Florence M. 100
7 Rose Ave.,

Toronto 12, Ont.

Rumble, Mr. Allan 50

89 Arnold St.,
Richmond Hill, Ont. A

Ruble, Mrs. Eugenia G. 200
Executrix Estate of George Rumble,
c/o National Trust Co. Ltd.
Trust Dept.,
21 King St. East,
Toronto 1, Ont.

Rumble, Mrs. E. Grace 100
96 St. Leonard’s Ave.,
Toronto 12, Ont.

Rupert, Alexander 100
Tweed, Ont.

Russell, Mrs. Ada G. 50
c/o L. W. Doncaster,

R.R. No. 2,

Streetsville, Ont.

Samuel, David g 200
Suite 801, 62 Richmond St. W.,
Toronto, Ont.

Sanderson, C. Herbert 100
47 Centre St. E.,
Richmond Hill, Ont.

Scarfone, Dr. Joseph D. 200
1310 Ouellette Ave.,
Windsor, Ont.

Schacter, Harry W. 500
56 Thorncliffe Park Drive,
Toronto 17, Ont.

Schafer, Matthew 550
2176 Cathcart Blvd.,
Sarnia, Ont.

Schatz, Edwin 100
9 Kingsway Dr.,
Hamilton, Ont.

e g o O O AR SO A SRS | T DRSS e SR (b




Schnarr, Mrs. Faith E.
30 Springbrook Gardens,
Toronto 18, Ont.

Scott, W. Bruce
148 Donegal Drive,
Leaside, Ont.

Scott, Frank
Lucan, Ont.

Scott, Dr. John A. L.
45 Mont St.
Guelph, Ont.

Scully, James Kevin
28 Aberdeen Ave.,
Hamilton, Ont.

Sgarlata, Mrs. Jean Helen
14 Twyford Rd.,
Islington, Ont.

Shaffer, Mr. Eldon A.
40 Hilleroft Dr.,
Kingston, Ont.

Sharp, Miss Elizabeth W.
2 Glen Elm Ave., Apt. 24,
Toronto 7, Ont.

Sheahan, Mrs. Alyce
98 Silverbirch Ave.,
Toronto 13, Ont.

Shiozaki, David Fumiaki
3 Averill Crescent,
Willowdale, Ont.

Showell, Miss Elizabeth
298—2nd Avenue East,
Owen Sound, Ont.

Shultis, Perceil A.
61 Dalhousie St.,
Brantford, Ont.

Siegel, Dr. E. J.
345 Bloor St. West,
Toronto 5, Ont.

Simmons, Mr. Archie H.
Wilton, Ont.

Simmons, Francis J.
15 Holborn St.,
Brantford, Ont.

Simonett, John
Sharbot Lake, Ont.

Robert E. Simpson
17 Queen St. E. Suite 340
Toronto 1, Ont.

Skinner, Grant
264 Margaret Ave.,
Wallaceburg, Ont.

Skinner, Thomas C.
1 Evans Ave.,
Toronto 9, Ont.

BANKING AND COMMERCE

100

500

100

200

50

100

150

100

25

100

100

60

100

100

500

200

100

25

97

Smale, John

c/o Victoria & Gray Trust Com-
pany

Lindsay, Ont.

Small, Mr. Howard

c/o Guelph Paper Box Co.

69 Huron St.,

Guelph, Ont.

Smith, Albert J.
c/o G. R. McBride
372 Bay Street,
Toronto 1, Ont.

Smith, Chauncey
Box 84,
Tillsonburg, Ont.

Smith, E. Donald
386 Talbot St.,
St. Thomas, Ont.

Smith, Mrs. Dorothy M.
14 Glenaden Ave., West
Toronto 18, Ont.

Smith, Miss Edith F.
512 St. George St.,
London, Ont.

Ross, A. Smith
50 Arthur St. N.
Guelph, Ont.

Smith, Mrs. Ruth D.
c/o Chester H. Smith
386 Talbot St.,

St. Thomas, Ont.

Smither, Mrs. Gladys
75 Thorncrest Road
Islington, Ont.

100

300
Ltd.,

200

175

650

100

50

100

500

100

Snelgrove, Ralph T. 600
23 Theresa St.,

Barrie, Ont.

Sparling, Dr. Ivan R.
R. R. No. 6
Brampton, Ont.

Sparrow, D. Harold
18 Lowrey St. S.,
Galt, Ont.

Springett, Gordon D.
526 Bellamy Rd.,
Scarborough, Ont.

Sprowl, Percy A.

King St.,

Burford, Ont.

Stafford, John H.

c/o Stafford Foods Ltd.,

37 Hanna Ave.,
Toronto 3, Ont.

Stanbury, Edwin T.
1 Waterfield Drive
Scarborough, Ont.

100

100

300

200

1,000

25



98 STANDING COMMITTEE

Standfield, Mrs. Mary
323 Belsize Drive
Toronto 17, Ont.

Staples, Dr. Thomas E.
307—Tenth Street
Hanover, Ont.

Steel, Alexander S.

c¢/o The Borden Company Ltd.

1275 Lawrence Ave., E.
Don Mills, Ont.

Sterling, Mrs. Leta F.
199 St. Vincent St.
Sarnia, Ont.

Sterne, Mrs. Hilda D.
Apt. No. 7, 88 Charlotte St.,
Brantford, Ont.

Stevens, Charles
273 Manor R., East
Toronto 7, Ont.

Stevens, Mrs. Noreen M.
1460 Bayview Ave., Apt. 701,
Toronto 7, Ont.

Stevens, Sinclair M.
1460 Bayview Ave., Apt. 701
Toronto 7, Ont.

John W. Stevenson
P.O. Box 848
Sarnia, Ont.

Stevenson, Dr. C. Keith
Box 187
Milton, Ont.

Stewart, James A.
11 Minnie St.,
Wallaceburg, Ont.

Stewart, Miss Alberta
249 St. Clair Ave., West
Toronto 7, Ont.

Stinson, Dr. William J.
V.C. Box 442
Perth, Ont.

Stock, Mrs. Helene M.
District Traffic Office
Bell Telephone Co.,
London, Ont.

Stockman, Helmut O.
R.R. No. 4
Embro, Ont.

Stoneman, Bruce A.
Sombra, Ont.

Strain, Mrs. Helen M.
376 St. Clements Ave.,
Toronto 12, Ont.

William, K. M. Straw
25 St. Andrews, P.O. Box 481
Paris, Ont.

315

200

100

50

100

50

150

576

100

100

100

100

200

150

50

100

100

50

Stuckey, Norman
64 Bywood Drive
Islington, Ont.

Studhome, Allan E. Executor Estate
of Alice Studhome

c/o The London Life Insurance
Company :

170 University Ave.,

Toronto, Ont.

Mrs. Sullivan Hannah
Elgin Street
Arnprior, Ont.

Mrs. Sullivan Hannah in trust for
Jane Sullivan

Elgin Street

Arnprior, Ont.

Mrs. Sullivan Hannah in trust for
Judith Sullivan

Elgin Street

Arnprior, Ont.

Summerhayes, Mrs. Eva R.
St. George Road,
Brantford, Ont.

Sunnen, August
23 Grand Ave., Chatham, Ont.

Sutherland Leroy J.
854 1st. Ave. West
Owen Sound, Ont.

Sutter, Mr. Henry
346 Stewart Dr.,
Sudbury, Ont.

C. Howard Swayze
351 Bessborough Drive
Toronto 17, Ont.

Tate, Ernest C.
Box 22
Guelph, Ont.

Taylor, Mrs. Adell
Box 325,
Madoc, Ont.

Taylor, Mrs. Bessie H.
48 Grenoble Dr. Apr. 502,
Don Mills, Ont.

Taylor, Hohn M.
R.R. No. 1
Collingwood, Ont.

Taylor, Robert B.
27 Bradgate Rd.,
Don Mills, Ont.

Taylor, Roy
Box 325,
Madoc, Ont.

Thomlinson, Mrs. Isobel
St. Stevens Court Apt. 306F,
The Kingsway,

Islington, Ont.

50

200

100

100

100

50

75

100

100

200

100

500

150

50

500

125




BANKING AND COMMERCE

Thompson, Bruce E.
37, McCrae Blvd,,
Guelph, Ont.

Thompson, Mrs. Margaret I.,
199 Lakewood Dr.,
Oakville, Ont.

Thompson, Mr. T. Clive
Box 64,
Brighton, Ont.

Thompson, Victor W.
291 Main St. West

Grimsby, Ont.
Thorne, Mrs. Gladys
Box 22

Bobcaygeon, Ont.

Thornton, Philip S.
7 Drouin Ave.,
Dollard Des Ormeaux, P.Q.

Thurston, Melville
Bobcaygeon, Ont.

Tinning, John W.
71 Jonge Blvd.
Toronto 12, Ont.

Toole, Grant W.

c¢/o Toole & Runions
123 Woolwich St.
Guelph, Ont.

Tremaine, Mrs. Audrey
Janetville, Ont.

Tronbar & Co.,

c¢/o Canadian Imperial Bank of
Commerce,

King & Victoria Sts.

Toronto 1

Trott, William L.
15 Riverhead Drive
Rexdale, Ont.

Mrs. Tse, Poon Fook
129 Dundas St. W.
Toronto, Ont.

Dr. Tse, Vat T.
129 Dundas St. West
Toronto 2B, Ont.

Tutt, J. McIntosh
15 Springfield Dr.,
Brantford, Ont.

Tytler, James
46, Margaret St.,
Hamilton, Ont.

Dr. Unger, Hella
189 Cameron Ave.,
Willowdale, Ont.

Valentini, Edward

25 Manor Hampton Dr.,
Weston Post Office
Weston, Ont.

500

300

100

100

200

200

50

100

500

15

1,500

100

100

333

50

100

100

300

Valentini, Emilio
165 Cartwright Ave.,
Toronto 19, Ont.

Vande Velde, Rene
R.R. No. 6
Wallaceburg, Ont.

Van Den Akker, Mrs. Mary
458 Clare Ave., South
Welland, Ont.

Van Koughnet, Miss Minerva A.

876 Broadview Ave.,
Toronto 6, Ont.

Veldhuis
28 A Mont St.
Guelph, Ont.

Vincent, Stanley S.
2 Union St., East
Waterloo, Ont.

Vogan, Robert C.
206 Percival Ave.,
Montreal West, Que.

Wagern, Dr. G. Anton
P.P. Box 159, Station “H”
Montreal, Que.

Wald, Harry
712 Eagle Drive
Burlington, Ont.

Walker, Gordon S.
c¢/o Forst High School,
Forest, Ont.

Wambold, Mrs. Edna M.
629 Hurontario St.,
Collingwood, Ont.

Warburton, Harold C.
131 Erindale Avenue,
Hamilton, Ont.

Ware, Mrs. Elizabeth M.

Warner, Mrs. J. Cecelia J.,
27 Delwood Drive,
Scarborough, Ont.

Warnica, Dr. John K.
599 Second Ave., E.,
Owen Sound, Ont.

Waterous, Charles L.
36 William St.,
Brantford, Ont.

Watt, William F.

Cornell, Mrs. Georgie Executrix
Estate

26 Lytton Blvd.

Toronto 12, Ont.

Watts, Mrs. Ann D.
83 Elm Ave., Apt. 114,
Toronto 5, Ont.

99

2,000

200

25

150

15

200

25

100

200

200

100

50

200

200

225

60

400

75



100 STANDING COMMITTEE

Watts, Mr. Kenneth,
83 Elm Ave., Apt. 114,
Toronto 5, Ont.

Webb, Miss Esther A.
701 Eglinton Ave. W.
Toronto 10, Ont.

Webb, Mr. Norman E.

¢/o Abco Box Carton Co. Ltd.,
460 York St.,

Guelph, Ont.

Weese, Frank A.
41 Nelson Street,
Wallaceburg, Ont.

Welch, Dr. Robert H.
284 St. Clair Ave., West
Toronto 7, Ont. “Personal”

Welsman, George G.
189 Bridle Path
Don Mills, Ont.

Wesley, James C.
Port Lambton, Ont.

West, Mr. Aubrey
1 Sprucedale Place,
Toronto 16, Ont.

Whitehead, Harry Y.
Caledonia, Ont.

Whittaker, John A.
24 Ridgewood Drive,
Welland, Ont.

Wice, Mrs. Helen Jean
282 Kempenfeldt,
Barrie, Ont.

Wigle, Mrs. Jean
266 Briscoe St.,
London, Ont.

Wildman, Mr. William N.
Box 292,
Woodbridge, Ont.

Wilkinson, Leonard A.,
1542 Bayview Ave.,
Toronto, Ont.

Williams, Miss D. Esther
¢/o Toronto Dominion Bank
1492 Yonge St.,

Toronto 7, Ont.

Williams, Norman E.
58 McNairn Ave.,
Toronto 12, Ont.

Wilson, Angus M.
42 Albert St.
Stratford, Ont.

75

180

200

100

200

200

150

50

300

25

300

50

100

100

500

100

300

Wilson, Dr. Angus M.
11 Denison Ave.,
Stratford, Ont.

Wilson, Mr. Arthur J.
Box 256,
Delhi, Ont.

Wilson, Mr. Richard B.
c/o Bank of Nova Scotia,
602 W. Hastings St.
Vancouver, B. C.

Wilson, Dr. Robert I.
3 Drew Avenue,
Galt, Ont.

Windeler, Cyril H.

c¢/o Naranda Mines Limited
1700 Bank of Nova Scotia Bldg.
Toronto, Ont.

Wofford, Andrew M.
5704 - 94 “A” Ave.,
Edmonton, Alta.

Wong, George
62, Elm Street,
Toronto 2, Ont.

Wood, Mrs. Nancy Marion
22 Wythenshaw Wood,
Scarborough, Ont.

Woodland, Dr. Lawrence A.
194, Lord Seaton Drive,
Willowdale, Ont.

Woodland, Mr. F. A. Leslie,
4, Hillhurst Blvd.,
Toronto 12, Ont.

Wynd, Mr. G. Douglas,
5 Hartfield Court,
Toronto 18, Ont.

Yeigh, E. H,,
3, Douglas Crescent,
Toronto 5, Ont.

Youdan, Mr. John P.,
86, Brock St.,
Kingston, Ont.

Young, Mr. George,
Lucan, Ont.

Young, Mrs. Isobel,
5 Sylvan Crescent,
Lindsay, Ont.

Young, Miss Madeline,
55 Queen Street,
Belleville, Ont.

200

200

100

25

200

708

50

195

100

100

25

300

50

200

100

150




BANKING AND COMMERCE

Ames, A. E. & Co,, 200
320, Bay Street,
Toronto, Ont.

Bansco & Co.,
44, King Street West,
Toronto, Ont.

Beatty Oil Limited, 300
Box 220,
Bothwell, Ont.

Binkley Investments Limited, 500
103 St. John St. S,,
Hamilton, Ont.

Brools & Co., 100
c/o Bank of Montreal, Prudential
Bldg.,
6 King St. W.,
Toronto, Ont.

Cardiff Construction Co. Limited
50 King St. W., Apt. 907,
Toronto 1, Ont.

J. H. Crang & Co., 50
40 Adelaide St. W.,
Toronto, Ont.

F. H. Deacon & Company Limited
181 Bay Street,

Toronto, Ont.

Deacon Findley Coyne Ltd.,

Decarie Investments Limited,
12 Richmond St., E., Ste. 406,
Toronto 1, Ont.

Dominion Securities Company, 50
50 King St. W.,
Toronto 1, Ont.

Demtor Company

The Toronto Dominion Bank Bldg.,
King and Yonge Sts.,

Toronto, Ont.

Equitable Brokers Limited,
60 Yonge St.,
Toronto, Ont.

Gateway Theatres & Entertainment
Co. Lid., 500
attn. Mr. Frank L. Giaschi, c/o
Capito Theatre,
Huntsville, Ont.

Gill Construction Limited,
Ste. 907, 50 King St. W.,
Toronto, Ont.

Grand National Investments Ltd., 500
c¢/o Dunn & Dunn,

67, Yonge Street,

Toronto, Ont.

Hamilton Capital Holdings Limited, 250
c/o General Engineering Company,

100 Adelaide St. W.,

Toronto 1, Ont.

19,200

2,446

55,930

1,100

1,200

2,250

2,226

Houston & Co.,
335 Bay St.,
Toronto, Ont.

Jackson McFadyen Securities Ltd.,
11 Adelaide St. West,
Toronto 1, Ont.

Jamelynn Holdings Limited,
250 University Ave., Ste 600,
Toronto, Ont.

Kamm, Gerland & Co. Ltd,,
38 King St. W.,
Toronto, Ont.

Legibus Investments Ltd.,
32, James St. South, Room 506,
Hamilton, Ont.

Lombard & Co.,

c¢/o Canadian Imperial Bank of
Commerce,

Box 4040, Place d’Armes,

265, St. James Street, West,

Montreal 1, Que.

Macron Holdings Limited,
50 King St. W., Ste 907,
Toronto, Ont.

Manleys Limited,
142, Lichiel St.,
Sarnia, Ont.

Mildon Hall Investments,
12 Richmond Street East, Suite 406,
Toronto, Ont.

Milner, Spence & Co. Limited,
112 King Street West,
Toronto, Ont.

McLeod, Young Weir & Company
Ltd.,

50 King St. W.,

Toronto 1, Ont.

New Alliance Investors Limited,
12 Richmond St. East, Ste. 406,
Toronto, Ont.

Norman Marcus Products Ltd.,
596 King St., W.,
Toronto 2B, Ont.

Old Canada Investment Company
Ltd.,

221 King St.,

Attn: Mr. A. E. O’Neill,

Oshawa, Ont.

Orlilont Limited,

c¢/o Mr. T. G. Beament,
Fahralloy Canada Limited,
Orillia, Ont.

Richardson & Sons, James,
173 Portage Ave.,
Winnipeg 2, Man.

101

900

550

5,000

322

200

200

6,144

100

500

50

500

200

200

1,000

20



102 STANDING COMMITTEE

Robertson Malone & Co. Ltd., 100
20 Wellington St. W.,
Toronto, Ont.

Ross Knowles & Co. Ltd.,
105 Adelaide St. West,
Toronto, Ont.

Roytor & Co., #1 a/c/, 100
¢/o The Royal Bank of Canada,

2 King St. E,,

Toronto, Ont.

Saugeen Enterprises Limited, 400
14 Emrick Ave.,

Fort Erie, Ont.

Stevens Securities Limited,
48 Yonge Street,

Toronto, Ont.

Torbay Company, 400
55 King St. W.,

Toronto, Ont.

Turnbull and Cutcliffe Limited, 100
c/o Jago, Box 533,

Port Dover, Ont.

Vidette Investments Limited,

Attn: A. E. O’Neill,

221 King St. E,,

Oshawa, Ont.

Waite, Reid & Co. Litd., 25

200 Bay St.,

Toronto, Ont.

Waterloo Trust and Savings
Company

29415

Kitchener, Ont.

Wills Bickle & Co. Limited, 100
44 King St. W.,

Toronto, Ont.

Wood, Gundy & Company Ltd., 100
36 King St. West,

Toronto, Ont.

B.ILF. COMMON SHAREHOLDERS

14,225

5,283

2,000

Bansco & Co., 2,500
44 King St. W.,

Toronto, Ont.

Bell, W. E. N, 5,000

130 Inglewood Dr.,
Toronto 7, Ont.

Blois, Walter G., 75
36 Hartfield Rd.,
Islington, Ont.

Brotherton, Ian D., 1
537 Donlands Ave.,
Toronto, Ont.

Bruce, Maxwell, 750
68 Binscarth Rd.,
Toronto 5, Ont.

Buck, George A., 3

115 Dowling Ave., Apt. 303,
Toronto 3, Ont.

Charlebois, Miss Eloise,
63 Robert St. W.,
Penetanguishene, Ont.

Charlebois, Miss Mary Ann,
1460 Bayview Ave., Apt. 104,
Toronto 17, Ont.

Charlebois, Mary Beare (Mrs.),
63 Robert St.,
Penetanguishene, Ont.

Charlebois, Peter A.,
63 Robert St. W.,
Penetanguishene, Ont.

Charlebois, Phil A.,
63 Robert St. W.,
Penetanguishene, Ont.

Colman, Jeremy M.,
97 Post Rd.,
Don Mills, Ont.

Elliott, Harold H.,
27 Jackson Ave.,
Toronto 18, Ont.

Findley, John R.,

c/o F. H. Deacon & Co.,
181 Bay St.,

Toronto, Ont.

Gill Construction Limited,
Ste. 907,

50 King St. W.,

Toronto, Ont.

Gothard, James C.,
813 O’Connor Dr.,
Toronto, Ont.

Hall, George,
15 Decarie Circle,
Islington, Ont.

Hassard, Richard J.,
Toronto 3, Ont.

Hawkins, William S.,
46 Lothian Ave.,
Toronto, Ont.

Inverness Investments Limited,
48 Yonge Street,
Toronto, Ont.,

Jamelynn Holdings Limited,
250 University Ave., Ste 600,
Toronto, Ont.

Jennings, Maurice R.,
100 Bidwell Ave.,
Downsview, Ont.

Jewitt, Donald Arthur,

c/o F. H. Deacon & Co. Ltd.,
181 Bay St.,

Toronto 1, Ont.

Macron Holdings Limited,
48 Yonge St.,
Toronto 1, Ont.

720

2,250

1,200

301

1,807

150

2,226

525

453

9,375

7,500

750

9,375
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Mollard, William J.,
11 Kings Lynn Rd.,
Toronto 18, Ont.

Robinette, Thomas W.,
306 Inglewood Dr.,
Toronto, Ont.

Smith, Jeffrey K.,
160 Balmoral Ave.,
Toronto 7, Ont.

Stevens, Mrs. Noreen M.,
1460 Bayview Ave., Apt. 701
Toronto 7, Ont.

Stevens, Robert,
1460 Bayview Ave., Apt. 405,
Toronto 7, Ont.

750

39

5,250

825

Stevens, Sinclair M.,

1460 Bayview Ave., Apt. 701,
Toronto 7, Ont.

Stevens Securities Limited,
48 Yonge Street,

Toronto 1, Ont.

Taylor, Robert B.,

27 Bradgate Rd.,

Don Mills, Ont.

Tronbar & Co.,

c/o Canadian Imp. Bank of
Commerce,

King & Victoria Sts.,

Toronto 1, Ont.

Wofford, Andrew M.,

5704 - 94 “A” Ave.,
Edmonton, Alta.

103

904

11,191

300
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ORDER OF REFERENCE
Extract from the Minutes of the Proceedings of the Senate, Thursday,
March 12th, 1964:

“Pursuant to the Order of the Day, the Senate resumed the debate on the
motion of the Honourable Senator Leonard, seconded by the Honourable Sen-
ator Inman, for second reading of the Bill S-6, intituled: “An Act to incorporate
Bank of Western Canada”.

After debate, and—

The question being put on the motion, it was—
Resolved in the affirmative, on division.

The Bill was then read the second time, on division.

The Honourable Senator Leonard moved, seconded by the Honourable
Senator Inman, that the Bill be referred to the Standing Committee on Bank-
ing and Commerce.

The question being put on the motion, it was—
Resolved in the affirmative.”

J. F. MacNEILL,
Clerk of the Senate.
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MINUTES OF PROCEEDINGS

WEDNESDAY, May 20, 1964.

Pursuant to adjournment and notice the Standing Committee on Banking
and Commerce met this day at 10.10 a.m.

Present: The Honourable Senators: Hayden (Chairman), Aseltine, Bouffard,
Brooks, Cook, Croll, Davies, Farris, Fergusson, Flynn, Gelinas, Gershaw, Gouin,
Hugessen, Isnor, Lang, Leonard, McCutcheon, McLean, Molson, Pearson, Power,
Reid, Taylor (Norfolk), Thorvaldson, White, Willis and Woodrow. (28)

In attendance: Mr. E. Russell Hopkins, Law Clerk and Parliamentary
Counsel.

Bill S-6, intituled: “An Act to incorporate Bank of Western Canada”, was
discussed.

The following witness was heard:
Mr. Sinclair M. Stevens.

On Motion of the Honourable Senator Leonard that the Committee consider
clauses 1 to 7, both inclusive, the Committee divided as follows:

YEAS 7 NAYS 5
The Motion carried.—All clauses carried.

On Motion of the Honourable Senator Aseltine it was RESOLVED to defer
the Preamble and the reporting of the Bill to a later meeting of the Committee.

At 10.45 a.m. the Committee adjourned to the call of the Chairman.

Attest:

F. A. Jackson,
Clerk of the Committee.
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THE SENATE
STANDING COMMITTEE ON BANKING AND COMMERCE

EVIDENCE

OrTrawa, Wednesday, May 20, 1964.

The Standing Committee on Banking and Commerce, to which was referred
Bill S-6, to incorporate the Bank of Western Canada, met this day at 10.10
a.m. to give further consideration to the bill.

Senator Salter A. Hayden (Chairman) in the Chair.

The CHAIRMAN: To check the date of the last meeting I sent for the
Hansard copy because there is nothing like the written record. My memory
was incorrect. The date of the last meeting was on May 6. The notification
would be in the hands of the Canadian Bankers’ Association by the following
Monday or Tuesday, which would be the 11th or 12th, so they have had
about a week.

Senator LEONARD: Can I come back to the position I was in before. I
thought we should proceed section by section, but before doing so I wondered
if we might ask the indulgence of the committee to consider the suggestion by
Senator Croll to link these bills together. While I cannot divest myself of the
responsibility of being sponsor of the bill concerning the Bank of Western
Canada, I think that Senator Croll’s suggestion is a good one.

If, as and when this bill passes through the Senate it will go over to the
House of Commons, as Senator Croll mentioned. There it will be a private
bill, and will be on the list of private bills and debated only during the hour
or so reserved for such bills. I think the most enthusiastic supporter of the
bill would not expect it to receive royal assent by July 1 this year. The reason
I mention that date is that all bank charters end on July 1 this year subject
to continuation for one further year. The Government has given notice that
it intends to extend them.

Assuming July 1, 1964, is the earliest possible date that the Bill in relation
to the Bank of Western Canada could be passed, I recall to you that before
it can commence business it must have a certificate from the Treasury Board,
and that board has one year in which to issue a certificate, up to July 1, 1965,
which is the date for the termination of the charter for all banks. In the
meantime the Government has said they will present a revision of the Bank
Act this fall. This would apply to this bank or to any other bank whether it
has a certificate or not. It is rather unthinkable to me that the Treasury
Board, a department of the Government, would grant a certificate to commence
business except under the same terms as proposed by the Bank Act which
will also be a Government bill.

So the question of if and when the Bank of Western Canada commences
operations is ultimately a decision to be made by the Government and ulti-
mately by Parliament under the Bank Act. In the meantime it seems to me
there is the matter of the Porter Commission, which I think I can dispose of
in just a few minutes. I don’t know whether the revision of the Bank Act
will contain mention of any of the recommendations in the Porter Commission.
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Whatever they are, they will apply to this Bank of Western Canada as well
as to all other chartered banks. The sponsors of this bill have said they
appreciate this. They are prepared to accept everything or anything, as the
case may be, that the Porter Commission gets into the Bank Act.

The only question that arises is whether a new bank, if it is classified
as a banking institution, could hold a charter of a chartered bank. There
is also the question that the York Trust and Savings Corporation holds 5
per cent of the capital, that it can divest itself of those holdings if that is a
provision contained in the Bank Act following on the Porter Commission.
Otherwise the Porter Commission emphasizes the desirability of competition
in banking business. There is nothing in it which would adversely affect the
incorporation of this bank. Therefore we can assume that the Porter Commis-
sion Report has some public support, and there is a public reaction which is
probably favourable towards competition among banks.

If we hold this bill up in the Senate, for as long as we do so we are
assuming that responsibility which ultimately must fall on members of the
House of Commons, and on the Government as to its dealing with these banks.
We are denying, at least to some extent, the opportunity to members of
the House of Commons to debate this bill. In the debates we have had and
the evidence before this committee we have brought out some very important
and significant factors.

It may well be that those will be taken into consideration in the revision
of the Bank Act, but if the Bank Act deals with the question of concentration
of ownership of shares, or with the question of who may be the owners of
shares, then those provisions will apply to all banks. They will apply to
the Bank of Western Canada just as effectively as to other banks.

Therefore, it seems to me that as members of the Senate we ought to
deal with this bill on the basis of the law as it now is—on the basis of the
Bank Act as enacted by Parliament. If the bill complies with that act then
it should be passed subject to any amendments that may be necessary so
that it may be debated in the House of Commons. The bank will not function
until a governmental decision has been made. In the meantime the revised
Bank Act will be before Parliament, and it will govern this particular charter.
This is why I think we might just as well go ahead now with the considera-
tion, section by section, of this bill.

If T am correct in my understanding it will be two weeks tomorrow since
the letter was sent to the Canadian Bankers’ Association, and my inference
from the fact that we have not heard from them is that they do not want
to appear before the committee with respect to any of these applications for
bank charters. In any event, it would seem to me that we are in order in
dealing with the bill section by section.

Senator Woobrow: Mr. Chairman, was there not an announcement by
the Government, or by a member of the cabinet, that very shortly there would
be some action with respect to the report of the Royal Commission on Bank-
ing and Finance?

The CHAIRMAN: Yes, there was. It was said that Government policy based
on the royal commission’s report touching on banking would be dealt with in
the fall, assuming that sittings of the House of Commons resume in the fall,

Senator LEONARD: May I add that if public reaction is favourable to the
incorporation of another bank then it seems to me that this application, rather
than being held up here, should go before the House of Commons. Any com-
plaint about delaying the bill should not be laid at the door of the Senate. It
does not seem to me to be our responsibility to delay the bill. I do not say
that there has been any delay, but that is why I am suggesting we should
proceed with it.
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Senator ISNOR: Mr. Chairman, I think Senator Leonard has made a very
fair and reasonable proposal. I would like to say that I am in accord with his
thinking; that we should go ahead with this bill. The other bills will take their
turn in due time.

The CHAIRMAN: Are there any other comments?

Senator McLEAN: Mr. Chairman, I do not think there is any emergency
that requires the incorporation of a new bank at this time. This is not a case of
one bank; there are several banks seeking incorporation. We have the very
comprehensive report of the royal commission. I have been trying to read it,
and I find that I can read only 20 pages a night because it is a report that has
to be read very slowly. It cannot be read like a novel. In the fall the Govern-
ment will be in a position to place before Parliament certain changes in the
Bank Act. I do not think there is any great emergency at the present time in
respect to the incorporation of new banks.

Senator Cook: What will happen, Mr. Chairman, if the Bankers’ Associa-
tion wish to appear before the committee, or if the committee asks them to
assist it? If they have something to say then it will be too late after the passage
of this bill.

The CHAIRMAN: If we conclude today, yes.

Senator LEONARD: Could we deal with that question when we come to the
reporting of the bill? Could we deal with the bill section by section to see if
there are any amendments or comments? Perhaps Senator Cook could raise
his point when we come to the question of reporting the bill.

Senator Cook: I am quite happy with that.

The CHAIRMAN: Let me see if I understand this. Is it proposed that we
examine the bill section by section this morning and stop at the stage of approv-
ing the preamble as a preliminary to reporting the bill, and that then we
adjourn?

Senator LEONARD: I have not agreed to that, but I think the question Senator
Cook raised might be better discussed as and when we have dealt with the
bill section by section. As I say, we may never reach the point of considering
the preamble or of reporting it. There may be some amendments suggested.

Senator POwWER: Perhaps I caused some of this difficulty by suggesting that
we hear from the Canadian Bankers’ Association. However, if they do not desire
to come here then I am quite willing, and, indeed, I would be very glad, to
withdraw the motion I made at that time. They have been notified. If they do
not wish to come then I would prefer to withdraw my motion at once.

The CHAIRMAN: What is the wish of the committee?

Senator Reip: Is there any reason why they have not appeared before
the committee? -

The CHAIRMAN: I cannot answer that question.

Senator FARRiS: They do not want to come.

The CHAIRMAN: I would not want to assume that.

Senator HUGESSEN: Mr. Chairman, there is one thing I would like to say.
I have no objection to considering the bill section by section today provided
we do not pass the preamble and carry it. We are faced with a situation where
we have one bill already before us, and we may have another. It may be that
we will want to deal with all of them in one particular way.

Senator ASELTINE: We may have two more.

Senator HUGESSEN: Yes. Even if we consider this bill section by section
today I want to be able to reserve my right to deal with this and the other
bills together.
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Senator ASELTINE: I cannot see why there is all the rush.

Senator POWER: We have been considering during the last year numerous
bills changing the names of different insurance companies. Would it have been
wise for us to say that we should have waited until all the applications were
in. This application should stand on its own feet. If it complies with the pro-
visions of the Bank Act and we are satisfied that competition in banking is
a good thing, why should we not pass this bill? I do not think there is any
reason for putting all these together.

The CHAIRMAN: We have a difference of viewpoint here. In which way
are we going to resolve it? One view is that we consider the bill section by
section, and at the end face the issue of whether we report the bill today or
adjourn our consideration of it. The other viewpoint is that we consider the
bill section by section on the understanding that we do not approve the pre-
amble and we do not have a motion to report the bill today—that we have it
stand, I take it, for further consideration of principle in relation to other
banking bills that may come before us.

Senator POWER: Let us get on with the bill. When we get to the pre-
amble—

The CHAIRMAN: I am just saying that we have had two points of view
expressed. It is up to the committee as to which way we proceed.

Senator REID: Let us have a show of hands.

Senator LEONARD: My motion is that we proceed to consider the bill section
by section, and withhold consideration of the preamble and the reporting of
the bill until we arrive at that stage.

The CHAIRMAN: Until when?

Senator LEONARD: Until we arrive at the stage of considering the preamble
and reporting the bill. In the meantime we will deal with sections 1, 2 and 7,
and then stop at the question: “Does the preamble carry?”

The CHAIRMAN: Those who wish to proceed with the consideration of the
bill section by section, stopping when we reach the stage of considering the
preamble, please signify by raising your hands. Those to the contrary? The
vote is in favour of proceeding section by section up to the point of dealing
with the preamble.

Section 1 of the bill lists the incorporators. Shall section 1 carry? I will
wait until copies of the bill are distributed.

Senator THORVALDSON: What is the purpose of all the names given here as
applicants for the incorporation?

The CHAIRMAN: We have here now Mr. Coyne and Mr. Stevens.

Senator THORVALDSON: What is the purpose of the large number of names
given as petitioners? It is unusual in bills of this type.

MR. SINCLAIR M. STEVENS: Honourable senators, when we were carrying
out the original organizing with respect to applying to Parliament for this bank,
we found a great number of people showed interest in the various localities,
especially west of Toronto. As a result of that, we felt we would like to give
some of those most active people the right to appear as actual petitioners, as
opposed to being just shareholders in our application. Therefore, we have 100
people shown in the bill as petitioners. Of that number, 85 are from the four
western provinces; I believe 31 are from Manitoba and the balance of the 85 are
in the other three western provinces.

Senator RED: Were those names solicited?

Mr. StEVENS: No. They were not solicited. It was done in the sense that
we talked to people in an area. This radiated out from speaking to two or three
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people who would suggest that others would be interested. There are 85 from
the four western provinces and the other 15 are from Ontario and are mainly
people connected with my own group, as I outlined before you at the last
hearing.

The CHAIRMAN: I have raised a question with Senator Leonard in connec-
tion with section 1, that is, that they appear in the schedule to be given a French
name as well as an English name. I told him that I thought the French name
should appear also in the substance of section 1. Have you considered that,
Senator Leonard?

Senator LEONARD: I am sorry, I know your point, and I have no objection
to it.

Mr. CoyNE: Honourable senators, I believe this is the practice followed
under the provisions of the Bank Act.

Rather than have the bill incorporate a bank actually naming as other
bills do the English name and the French name in the body of the bill, the bill
is either in English or in French and the alternative name in the other language
is placed in a schedule. It appears here in Section 6 of this bill on page 5 of
the brochure.

We were following what we understood to be the practice under the Bank
Act.

The CHAIRMAN: This is not my bill and therefore I only raised the question
at issue.

Senator LEONARD: Some changes have been taking place in recent years
with respect to the names of corporations. I might ask Mr. Stevens whether
there would be any objection to the name being given in French, if the com-
mittee desired to amend the bill in that way?

Mr. CoyNE: None whatsoever.

The CHAIRMAN: Is it the wish of the committee? I think it is up to the
incorporators of the bill, if they have a motion.

Senator LEONARD: May I ask our legislative counsel, Mr. Hopkins on that?

Mr. HopPkINS: Honourable senators, I would think that the procedure in
this bill accomplishes the object provided for in the Bank Act and gives an
alternative name in French. This is a special procedure applicable to banks and
I personally see no need for repeating it. In fact, such repetition would make the
schedule, giving an additional name, seem superfluous.

Senator THORVALDSON: I agree with that point of view and I do not think
we should interfere with the way this is being done, if counsel so approves.

The CHAIRMAN: I am not suggesting any interference. I am merely point-
ing out that in the operative section they have only the English name as the
name in which the bank is being incorporated. The other name is an additional
one in the schedule, which the bank is authorized to use in carrying on
business.

Mr. HopkiNs: This is provided in Section 6 of the act and has statutory
authority and it gives complete statutory authority to the alternative name.

The CHAIRMAN: Shall Section 1 carry?

Hon. SENATORs: Carried.

The CHAIRMAN: Shall Section 2 carry?

Hon. SENATORS: Carried.

The CHAIRMAN: Shall Section 3, dealing with the capital stock, carry?

Hon. SENATORS: Carried.

The CHAIRMAN: Shall Section 4 carry?

Hon. SENATORS: Carried.
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The CHAIRMAN: The next is Section 5. This is the section which embraces
certain restrictions on transfer of shares to non-residents?

That takes us right through all the subsections of Section 5. Should
Section 5 carry?

Hon. SENATORS: Carried.

The CHAIRMAN: Shall Section 6 carry?

Hon. SENATORs: Carried.

The CHAIRMAN: Shall Section 7 carry?

Hon. SENATORS: Carried.

The CHAIRMAN: Now we come to the preamble, the question being ‘“‘shall
the preamble carry”? This is where we pause for a moment for the views of
the committee.

Senator ASELTINE: I agree with Senator Hugessen’s idea, that this be left
in abeyance and report the bill now.

The CHAIRMAN: Do you so move?
Senator ASELTINE: I move.

The CHAIRMAN: The motion we have is that we defer the approval of
the preamble at this time. I take it Senator Hugessen seconds that motion.

Senator LEONARD: Honourable senators, while I think the time is ripe for
the completion of the consideration of this bill by the Senate, nevertheless
I do not want to press it against any substantial body of opinion that wants
still further time before finally disposing of this bill. If the motion is that
this preamble and the reporting of the bill stand for consideration at the
next regular meeting of the committee, I have no objection.

The CHAIRMAN: I did not understand those additional words being in
Senator Aseltine’s motion.

Senator LEONARD: I said that if the motion is such. I understood it was.
Senator ASELTINE: That was not my motion.

The CHAIRMAN: Senator Aseltine’s motion was that we defer considera-
tion at this time to the approval of the preamble and to report the bill.

Senator Rep: What we do now will be a precedent in the House of
Commons.

Senator HUGESSEN: That is exactly the point I had in mind. I will tell
the committee what I really had in mind in seconding Senator Aseltine’s
motion. We have two other bank bills in different stages. The second bill,
the Laurentian bill, is before us now.

The CHAIRMAN: Next Wednesday.

Senator HUGESSEN: Then there is the Bank of British Columbia. To my
mind, that raises a very important constitutional issue, as to whether a
provincial government should be allowed to control the operations of a feder-
ally incorporated bank. That indeed will be discussed on the second reading
of the British Columbia bill. I can quite see that, when that discussion comes
up, this committee may very well desire to insert in all of these bills a
provision to the effect that neither a provincial government nor even a federal
government should be shareholders. That is why I wanted to reserve my rights
to consider the preamble of this bill, in case we should decide to take a stand
on this question of whether or not a provincial government should throw the
operation to the federal government. :

Senator POwER: Would it not be much simpler for the committee to com-
plete the bill dealing with the Bank of British Columbia? I really do not see
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that the Bank of British Columbia is in any different position, from the
standpoint of the Senate. There is no question of the constitutionality of this
particular bill.

Senator HUGESSEN: I do not think Senator Power quite appreciates what
I have in mind. If we want to take that stand, as we may well, then I think
probably we would want to insert a restrictive provision in all of these bank
bills, including this one.

Senator POWER: Might I suggest we deal now with this bill?

Senator HUGESSEN: I would not want to do that until we have had a dis-
cussion on the second reading of the British Columbia bill.

The CHAIRMAN: No, we could not at this stage. We are not going to lay
down a principle in committee which could defeat a bill at second reading; the
committee could not do that. Are you ready for the question on the motion?

Senator LEONARD: Mr. Chairman, I do not think that this should be an
unlimited deferment. There is no reason why it should not be deferred until
our next regular meeting of the Banking and Commerce Committee, and then
reconsider, in the light of Senator Hugessen’s remarks, the debate on the
Bank of British Columbia. I think an unlimited deferment would be unfair.
And Senator Aseltine will not accept an amendment to deal with it at the
next meeting, and then come up again for consideration.

The CHAIRMAN: The only effect of putting a time limit to the next regular
meeting would be that if we were not going to proceed with it, then you would
have a series of votes from meeting to meeting.

Senator LEONARD: That is how I think it should be.

The CHAIRMAN: It is on the agenda, and the committee can call it at any
time.

Senator HUGESSEN: I have no desire to hold up the consideration of the bill
indefinitely. I am suggesting that we hold up the consideration of the reporting
of the bill until we have had a chance to discuss the principle involved in
the British Columbia bill. Whether that is before or after the regular meeting
of this committee, I do not think makes very much difference.

Senator ASELTINE: That is not an indefinite period.

Senator LEONARD: If the senator is correct, the bill will be on the regular
agenda of our next meeting, I think.

The CHAIRMAN: The bill is still before us and stands on our agenda.

Senator CroLL: Mr. Chairman, we are not getting anywhere. You say we
are now considering Bill S-6, and we have the Laurentide bill at the same time,
and nothing comes of it but deferment. Senator Hugessen suggests that we
wait until such time as the British Columbia bill has received second reading
in the house so that we shall have had a full discussion on the principle, and
that after that time we then give consideration to this bill. That makes sense.
Senator Leonard should agree to that and let it stand until then, and the air
will be cleared on a particular point.

Senator LEONARD: I can understand the validity with respect to the argu-
ment. The bank of British Columbia bill may take a long, long time on second
reading, and I do not think this bill should be held up. If the Chairman is
correct on Senator Aseltine’s motion, we defer for further action, the bill
stays on the agenda, and we can call it whenever we are ready to call it. -

Senator CrorLL: That is sensible.

Senator LEONARD: That is my understanding.

The CHAIRMAN: Well, that is my interpretation of Senator Aseltine’s
motion. Is that what you intended, senator?
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Senator ASELTINE: Yes.

Senator POwER: This is not a postponement forever.

Senator HUGESSEN: Oh, no.

Senator PowEeR: This will remain on the agenda?

The CHAIRMAN: Yes.

Senator Farris: I should like to be assured that there could be no
prejudice, and I do not think there could be, of the discussion on its merits
of the British Columbia bill.

The CHAIRMAN: No. I took the position that we were not going to discuss
anything that would affect a bill standing at second reading; and there is
nothing in the discussion which went on here today which could indicate any-
thing in the view of the committee either for or against the bill which is
standing at second reading. Are you ready for the question?

Senator IsNnor: Before that, Mr. Chairman, I understand we can take it
for granted that it is on the agenda?

The CHAIRMAN: Yes, it is on the agenda; the bill is before us.

Senator IsNOr: At the next meeting, if we so decide, we can adjourn
further?

The CHAIRMAN: If we so decide, you can ask to have the bill brought
forward, yes.

Senator WHITE: What happens if Senator Leonard says at the next meet-
ing he wants the bill brought forward? Is that all there is to it, or is there
a vote?

The CHAIRMAN: There is a vote.

Senator IsNOR: That is what I wanted to know.

The CHAIRMAN: You have heard the question. Are you ready? Those in
favour? Contrary, if any? Carried.

The meeting is adjourned.

Whereupon the meeting adjourned.
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ORDER OF REFERENCE

Extract from the Minutes of the Proceedings of the Senate, Thursday,
March 12th, 1964:

“Pursuant to the Order of the Day, the Senate resumed the debate on the
motion of the Honourable Senator Leonard, seconded by the Honourable Sen-
ator Inman, for second reading of the Bill S-6, intituled: “An Act to incorporate
Bank of Western Canada”.

After debate, and—
The question being put on the motion, it was—
Resolved in the affirmative, on division.

The Bill was then read the second time, on division.

The Honourable Senator Leonard moved, seconded by the Honourable
Senator Inman, that the Bill be referred to the Standing Committee on Bank-
ing and Commerce.

The question being put on the motion, it was—
Resolved in the affirmative.”
J. F. MACNEILL,
Clerk of the Senate.
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MINUTES OF PROCEEDINGS
WEDNESDAY, July 22, 1964

Pursuant to adjournment and notice the Standing Committee on Banking
met this day at 8.00 p.m.

Present: The Honourable Senators: Hayden (Chairman), Beaubien (Pro-
vencher), Bouffard, Burchill, Cook, Crerar, Croll, Dessureault, Farris, Fergus-
son, Flynn, Gelinas, Gershaw, Hugessen, Isnor, Kinley, Lambert, Lang, Leonard,
Macdonald (Brantford), McCutcheon, McLean, Molson, O’Leary (Carleton),
Paterson, Pouliot, Power, Reid, Roebuck, Smith (Kamloops), Taylor (Norfolk),
and Walker.—(32)

In attendance: Mr. E. Russell Hopkins, Law Clerk and Parliamentary
Counsel.

The Committee resumed consideration of Bill S-6, “An Act to incorporate
Bank of Western Canada”.

The Honourable Senator McCutcheon moved that the Committee do now
adjourn.

The question being put on the said Motion, it was RESOLVED in the
negative.

The Honourable Senator Leonard moved that the Preamble to the said
Bill be now approved.

The question being put on the said Motion, it was RESOLVED in the
affirmative.

A Motion was duly put that the Title be now approved.

The question being put on the said Motion, it was RESOLVED in the
affirmative.

A Motion was duly put that the said Bill be now reported without
amendment.

The question being put on the said Motion, it was RESOLVED in the
affirmative. :

At 8.25 p.m. the Committee concluded its deliberations on the said Bill.
Attest.

F. A. Jackson,
Clerk of the Committee.
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REPORT OF THE COMMITTEE
WEDNESDAY, July 22, 1964

The Standing Committee on Banking and Commerce to whom was referred
the Bill S-6, intituled: “An Act to incorporate Bank of Western Canada”, have
in obedlence to the order of reference of March 12th, 1964, examined the said
Bill and now report the same without any amendment.

All which is respectfully submitted.

SALTER A. HAYDEN,
Chairman.

120

ok




THE SENATE
THE STANDING COMMITTEE ON BANKING AND COMMERCE

EVIDENCE
OrTAWA, Wednesday, July 22, 1964.

The Standing Committee on Banking and Commerce, to which was re-
ferred Bill S-6, to incorporate the Bank of Western Canada, met this day at
8 p.m. to give further consideration to the bill.

Senator Salter A. Hayden (Chairman) in the Chair.

The CHAIRMAN: I call the meeting to order. We have two bills to consider
this evening in continuation of hearings started some time ago. The first is
Bill S-6, an act to incorporate the Bank of Western Canada. As you will recall,
all the sections of this bill have been approved. When we came to the stage
of approving the preamble there was a motion in this committee that we should
not approve the preamble until we had heard the evidence in connection with
other bank bills.

This bill has been on the agenda for every meeting of the Standing Com-
mittee on Banking and Commerce since that time, except for meetings called
specifically to deal with certain bills. It still stands tonight and there is nothing
as chairman that I can do.

Senator LEONARD: I am ready to proceed with the preamble of the bill if
the committee is in agreement with that.

The CHAIRMAN: Will you make a motion that the preamble be approved?

Senator LEONARD: Before making that motion, may I make a few brief
preliminary remarks. The chairman has quite accurately stated the position.
This bill has been standing, all the sections having been approved, pending
the hearing of the evidence in connection with the two other applications, the
application for the Laurentide Bank and the application for the Bank of British
Columbia.

In view of the fact that some considerable time has been taken in con-
nection with this bill, I might explain in fairness to the Senate and to members
of the committee that although the bill did receive first reading as far back
as February, I agreed on behalf of the petitioners, after discussion with Senator
McCutcheon, that there would be a period of delay in connection with this
bill pending the consideration or receipt and consideration of the Porter Com-
mission report. That accounted for a delay of some time. When that commission
report came down, it was considered to be quite apparent that it contained
nothing adverse to this application for incorporation. On the contrary, the tenor
of the report was directed towards a more competitive banking system.

The committee dealt with the bill section by section, and passed all the
sections with the exception of the preamble which was not considered then,
at the suggestion of a number of senators. I remember particularly Senator
Hugessen expressing the view that he wanted to hear the evidence in connec-
tion with the other two applications before the preamble was passed. He felt
that before any one bill passed we should have the evidence in connection
with the other two.

Therefore the bill has stood until first the Laurentide evidence was heard
and then the evidence in conection with the Bank of British Columbia. Now
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I think the time is ripe for the consideration of the motion for carrying the
preamble to the bill in connection with the Bank of Western Canada.

I should like to add some observations in connection with this application.
At the hearing of the evidence there was some discussion as to the concentra-
tion of control of the Bank of Western Canada in the hands of comparatively
few persons. I would like to say something else in connection with that.
Before dealing with what has happened since the hearing of the evidence, I
might say that this was the first application in 52 years for a charter for a bank
to be Canadian-owned. It was rather a courageous step on the part of the
sponsors of this bank to undertake. There was considerable doubt in the minds
of various people as to whether it could be done. Such people had particularly
in mind what was expressed in a remark made by the late Mr. Muir, that
it would take something like $10 million to start a Canadian-owned bank.
Consequently, it was not only desirable but necessary, I think, that they them-
selves should have been quite prepared to back any application with their own
money, as far as they could go. That has turned out to be the case, and
when they did ask the public they felt they should be sure that the money
would be available for capital if a charter were granted. In the result there
has been a substantial public subscription to trust certificates for the pur-
pose of investing the money so that if and when a charter is granted there is
an amount of $12 million or $13 million available.

Senator McCutcheon, in examining the witnesses, Mr. Coyne and Mr.
Stevens, said that while there may be some doubt as to exactly what percen-
tage of control might be vested in the group which sponsored this bank
there was nevertheless a substantial shareholding. It was in my mind, and
in the minds of the petitioners, that having raised this money it might be de-
sirable to have some dilution of that control.

Since the evidence of Mr. Stevens and Mr. Coyne was given, they have
advised me that Stevens Securities Limited has sold 10 per cent of the outstand-
ing common shares of Canadian Finance and Investments. That was one of
the companies deemed to be under their control, and that held a substantial
portion of the proposed share capital of the bank. They sold it to Empire Life
Insurance Company, and Stevens Securities Limited and British International
Finance (Canada) Limited, which were at the base of this—

Senator McCUTCHEON: —this pyramid standing on its point.

Senator LEoNARD: Well, they believe they no longer have control of that
particular company. They want to put on record their intention to appoint
a majority of the shareholders from Western Canada should the bank be in-
corporated, and to confirm that the majority of the shareholders will not be
directly or indirectly nominees of the British International group.

Furthermore, it is their intention in due course, and subject to favourable
economic conditions, to issue further treasury shares of the proposed bank,
or to make a secondary distribution of stock, so that the effective voting power
of the British International group in the proposed bank will be lessened by at
least 10 per cent to something less than 20 per cent of the total capital stock.

Then, finally it would be their expectation that after the bank is in
operation there would be a further dilution of the shareholding of this group.

I convey that information to you as indicating their intention to move
in the direction of a dilution of control. At the same time I emphasize that
to get this bank started, to get it organized and properly operating, they
thought it did require the energy, money and the courage of a small group of
people. If anything further in that direction were either desirable or required
it seems to me it should be a matter of general application to all banks. That
is to say, if there should be any limitation on the amount of share capital in a
bank that any one individual or any group of individuals, or any interlocking
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group, may have then is something that should apply to all banks, and should
be properly a part of an amendment to the Bank Act.

That brings me to the point that the Bank Act will, of course, be revised.
The revision will probably be brought down this fall. Assuming that this
application will carry in the Senate it will then go to the House of Commons
where it will be a private bill taking its place on the Order Paper in the time
allotted for private members’ bills. In the normal course one would not expect
that bills such as that could get through in less than one or two months. After
the bill passes the House of Commons, the bank, before it can commence
business, must receive a certificate from the Treasury Board which is, of course,
a committee of ministers of the Cabinet. The Treasury Board has one year from
the time at which the bill is passed within which to issue a certificate. In other
words, under the law it may be October or November of 1965 before the bank
can commence operation, unless the Government itself decides otherwise.

It is the Government that will bring in whatever amendments there are
to be made to the Bank Act, and they will apply to this bank just as much
as they will apply to any other bank. This bank charter if granted will itself
expire on July 1, 1965.

So, all in all, it seems to me that even if everything is perfectly satisfactory
with respect to this bill, the desirable thing is that it go to the House of Com-
mons and that it be debated there, so that if in the revision of the Bank Act
there is anything that should be made applicable to this bank in particular
then the Government will have the benefit of the debate in the House of
Commons.

I can only add that so far as the sponsors of the bank are concerned they
are quite prepared to accept any amendments that may be made to the Bank
Act as a result of the report of the Royal Commission on Banking and Finance,
or otherwise, and will adapt themselves accordingly.

I will conclude by saying, Mr. Chairman, that it is 52 years since a Canadian-
owned bank obtained a charter and commenced operation. I think the time has
come when we Canadians should demonstrate our faith in our own country,
and our confidence in the ability of Canadian citizens of this generation to
organize and operate a Canadian bank. We have a strong and efficient banking
system now—a system of which, like most Canadians, I am very proud. I see
no reason why the Bank of Western Canada should not prove to be a worthy
addition to that system. I move that the preamble be now carried.

Senator HUGESSEN: Mr. Chairman, Senator Leonard mentioned my name in
the course of his remarks as having been responsible for the fact that we
deferred final consideration of this bill until we heard evidence on the other
two applications. I think that that has been a good thing, because now we have
the whole picture before us in connection with these three applications.

It also seems to me in this particular instance to have been a good thing
because now we are informed by the sponsor that there has been a substantial
dilution of what was rather objected to when we first met to discuss this bill
—the possibility of too much concentration of share ownership in one group.
A final decision on this matter has been held up for some time, and I think that
now we should come to a conclusion about it. Speaking for myself, I am very
much impressed with the evidence given on this and the other applications.
There is obviously a very strong feeling in parts of the country that the head
offices of our chartered banks should not be confined to the cities of Montreal
and Toronto.

Senator McCuTcHEON: And Halifax, of course.

Senator HuGesSSEN: Yes, Halifax too. There is also, I think, rather a strong
feeling in the country that the business of banking should not be a monopoly;
that there should be more possibility of competition.
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Senator MoLsoN: There is not a monopoly now, senator.

Senator HuGesSEN: Under those circumstances I must say I have no objec-
tion to the passage of this particular bill, and I am glad to support the motion
moved by Senator Leonard.

The CHAIRMAN: Are you ready for the question?

Senator McCuTcHEON: No.

Senator BEAUBIEN (Bedford): I wish to ask a question of the sponsor.
British International Finance (Canada) Limited seems to control 43 per cent
of the bank. Exactly what has happened since, to get it down under 20 per
cent. That was the figure, was it not?

The CHAIRMAN: Yes, 20 per cent.

Senator LEONARD: The information is that they no longer control Canadian
finance investments at the start of the bank. As the result of the sale of 10 per cent
of the shares of that company to Empire Life, they propose to take over a
further treasury issue of deferred shares which would be at least 10 per cent
of the shares of the bank. Between those two, 25 per cent is the amount, it would
go down below 20.

Senator PATERSON: Might I ask Senator Leonard whether it would not
be better to use the term ‘“‘contract for” rather than “employ”?

Senator LEONARD: If I used those other words, I was wrong. What they have
sold are trust certificates or they have sold certificates in trust, getting the
money out of the investment in the bank.

Senator McCuTcHEON: I was going to suggest earlier that we do not con-
sider any of these bills tonight, because as you yourself, Mr. Chairman, said,
honourable senators would want to read the evidence that we had today, they
would want to read the transcript and, as I say, I understood the sense of the
committee some weeks ago was that until we had all the evidence on hearing
the applications we would consider none of them. Now I take it that there has
been a change in the situation and we are now considering this application.

The CHAIRMAN: There has not been a change, senator. This particular
bill has stood on the Order Paper, by order of this committee, until such time
as the sponsor was prepared to move the adoption of the preamble. He has
moved that tonight.

Senator McCuTcHEON: All I say is that I am not satisfied that the sale of
10 per cent of the shares by the company—1I have not got my notes or my papers
with me—the sale of 10 per cent of the shares of a company which is obviously
not a top company or, as I described this group, not the bottom company to the
Empire Life, represents a substantial change in the control, which I object to.

I suggest, Mr. Chairman, that if the basis on which this application has
been made to us is now being substantially changed, as Senator Leonard sug-
gests, then we should call the witnesses back and let us find out where control
really lies, who really controls this company, because the company which it is
alleged 10 per cent of the shares will be sold to Empire Life, is not the top
controlling company in this group. As far as saying that the Treasury Board
will have an opportunity of looking over this, the Treasury Board is not con-
cerned with the things that we are concerned with in this committee. Treasury
Board is only concerned with “How much money have you got paid in and how
much money have you paid to the Minister of Finance?” There is no sug-
gestion that there be any Government legislation to delineate Canadian control
of any bank. There is some suggestion that the Minister of Finance said there
may be legislation to delineate what foreigners may own. And I say that if
there has been any substantial change in the proposals of the petitioners for this
bill, then they should come before us, we should hear the evidence and they
should tell us what they are.
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Senator FARRIS: My understanding was that the previous adjournment was
for one reason at least, that these three bank bills could be considered
together. As far as the Bank of British Columbia is concerned, it is definitely not
ready to make that decision tonight. We received evidence all day today, and
we had a lot of speeches in the guise of questions, which was very much
to the detriment of those who were supporting the bill, because our questions
were not antagonistic to the bill. But every question practically that was asked
was a speech in the guise of a question, opposing the measure.

Senator McCuUTCHEON: I made no speeches, I just asked questions.

Senator FARRIS: My honourable friend contends he made no speeches. That
is what I say. He made them in the guise of questions. I think that they were
intended to be speeches in opposition to the measure. If that is not so, I very
much misunderstood the tenor of his questions. What I say is that that is how the
start was made, that the record of what has taken place should be typed and
copies prepared and I would like to see consideration of the Bank of British
Columbia bill adjourned until there has been ample time to study those
speeches in the guise of questions, and the evidence that was given. If that
is agreed, it confirms my opinion that the last adjournment was so that these
three bills could be considered. Am I not right in that?

Some Hon. SENATORS: No, no, no.

The CHAIRMAN: May I state again that when we considered the Bank of
Western Canada bill we passed each and every section of it. Then we came
to the preamble and there was a motion—as a matter of fact, Senator Aseltine
moved it and Senator Hugessen seconded it—that the preamble be not dealt
with at this time.

Senator FARRIS: Why not? My understanding is that the reason it was
adjourned was to bring all three measures to consideration together.

The CHAIRMAN: Whatever the reason was, I am discussing the terms on
which the approval of the preamble stood. The direction of the committee was
that at subsequent meetings of the Banking and Commerce Committee this
bill would appear on the list of bills to be considered, on the basis that there
was nothing further at the present time that the committee would do. In order
to reactivate this bill its sponsor had to make a motion. He has made the mo-
tion tonight, and it is up to the committee to deal with it.

Senator FARRIS: Why did he not make it earlier?

The CHAIRMAN: I do not know.

Senator FARRIS: I think we said he did not make it because we adjourned
until all these bank bills would be considered.

The CHAIRMAN: I think that if you look at the definition of conditions
at the time, you will see that it stood to be brought on at any time the sponsor
wanted to make a motion to consider the preamble.

Senator Farris: That to me is incomprehensible, because that shows no
reason on earth why that was done.

Senator McCuTcHEON: Senator, I think it is very clear that the preamble
was not voted on because the sponsor of the bill knew the bill would have
been voted down.

Senator LEONARD: That is not correct.

Senator FARris: No.

The CHAIRMAN: These are gratuitous comments. Let us get down to the
motion on the matter.

Senator FARRIS: These three bank bills have more or less been labeled
as “western bills”. The head office of one of these banks is to be in Winnipeg.
I said more or less in a joking way that we in British Columbia do not regard
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Winnipeg as “west”. It is away back east. But that is quitg imrr}aterial: I was
in favour of the Bank of Western Canada, but after the .d1s_cuss1on which has
gone on since, I am not so sure that I would support the bill §f t'he real \.;ves.tem
bill were killed. That is an intimation of what might prevzful if the principles
on which my friend Senator Crerar, who has peen advocating apparent oppo-
sition to the British Columbia bill, are to prevail.

Senator PowER: Do you want it to come first?

Senator FARriS: I want them all to come together.

The CHAIRMAN: Order, please, senators. Let us keep this in order. The
Hansard reporters can only report one conversation at a time, and while Sena-
tor Farris has the floor I think we should accord him the courtesy.

Senator FARRIS: What I am saying is simply this, that it is impossible to
completely consider the evidence that has been given pro and con today on
the Bank of British Columbia bill. That cannot be considered until there is
an adjournment long enough in order to study proceedings given here today.
That being so, I understand that my friend Senator McCutchean is also in

favour of an adjournment.

Senator McCuTcHEON: Right.

Senator FARRIS: Whoever you are representing—

Senator McCuTcHEON: I am representing no one. I just want this thing
adjourned until a week from today. Now I think the time is ripe for the con-
sideration of the motion for carrying the preamble to the bill in connection
with the Bank of Western Canada.

The CHAIRMAN: There is a motion for this committee to approve the
preamble. Those not in favour, vote against it.

Senator McCuTcHEON: I will move an amendment, Mr. Chairman, that we
adjourn until 9.30 a.m., Wednesday, July 29.

Senator FARrIS: To adjourn all three?

Senator McCuTcHEON: I move that this committee adjourn now until
Wednesday, July 29—seconded by Senator Farris.

The CHAIRMAN: For what?

Senator McCuTcHEON: For everything.

The CHAIRMAN: No. We shall be sitting tomorrow morning.

Senator McCuTcHEON: Well, we adjourn on the bank bill, then.

The CHAIRMAN: Your motion is a motion to adjourn, and a motion to
adjourn is always in order. Your motion is to adjourn consideration of this bill?

Senator McCuTcHEON: My motion is to adjourn consideration of this bill,
and the other two bills, the numbers of which I do not know, until 9.30 am.,
on July 29.

Senator REm: Have you any reason for setting that date?

Senator McCuTcHEON: Whether we are sitting or not.

Senator REb: What reason have you for giving that precise date?

Senator McCUTCHEON: I am afraid this house and the House of Commons
will still be sitting.

Senator LAMBERT: Is this a motion for adjournment?

The CHAIRMAN: No, it is a motion to adjourn consideration of the three
bank bills. I am asking the Law Clerk whether we can accept a motion to
adjourn following a motion to approve the preamble.

Senator CroLL: Before his advice is given—and I think he will say no—
may I say that that is not the point. The meeting was called for the purpose
of considering two bills.
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The CHAIRMAN: That is right.

Senator CROLL: Now, Senator Cameron is here, but he has not been feeling
too well and has asked me to look after the Laurentide bill. Some of the people
are here today who are not likely to be here next week, and they came with
that understanding, not to deal with one bill but with both bills tonight. The
other understanding was that when the evidence was ready, perhaps by
Wednesday, we would give consideration to the third bill. I do not think
we should do anything at all that would upset that understanding. If we did,
it would be highly unfair to either one or the other of these bills.

The CHAIRMAN: While we are waiting for the Law Clerk to have a look at
this matter, it occurred to me that you could resolve the question and have a
vote on one motion. If the motion that we are dealing with is that we do now
approve the preamble, those opposed to approving it will of course vote against
it. Then we would have to settle on adjournment later; but if the majority vote
to approve, that settles it.

Senator CroLL: What does it settle?

The CHAIRMAN: The approval of the preamble of the bill.

Senator CrRoLL: It settles the approval of the Bank of Western Canada.

The CHAIRMAN: No; then there is the next question—shall I report the bill
without amendment?

Senator CroLL: Assuming that is approved, yes; but then there is no
motion to adjourn.

The CHAIRMAN: That is right. That is why I am suggesting that possibly
if Senator Leonard’s motion was that we do now approve the preamble—

Senator LEONARD: I so amend my motion, Mr. Chairman.

The CHAIRMAN: Then do you withdraw your motion to adjourn, Senator
McCutcheon?

Senator McCuTcHEON: No, I do not.

The CHAIRMAN: We have a motion that we do now approve the preamble,
and subject to what the Law Clerk may say, I think that is in order, and it does
not interfere with the motion to adjourn which may come subsequently? Are
you ready for the question?

Senator CrorLL: Mr. Chairman, I must object when you say that it does
not interfere with the motion to adjourn which may come subsequently.

The CHAIRMAN: It can come at any time.

Senator CroLL: It has come now; but you are ruling it out of order, surely?

The CHAIRMAN: I am ruling that if Senator Leonard’s motion is that we do
now approve the preamble, we must deal with that before any other motion.

Senator CroLL: I have no objection; I want to deal with it. However, I do
not want to be faced with a motion to adjourn on the next bill.

Senator LAMBERT: Oppose it then.

Senator CrRoLL: No, that is not the point. The understanding was that both
bills would be dealt with tonight, and the Chairman agrees.

The CHAIRMAN: Order, please. Senator Croll, we must not mix up the
two bills. We are dealing with this bill. When we are through with it, we move
on to the next one.

Senator ReIp: That is right.

The CHAIRMAN: There is only one bill before us at this moment. Now,
Senator Cameron, we only have the one bill, the Bank of Western Canada.

Senator CAMERON: Mr. Chairman, I most strongly protest the idea of an
adjournment. We came to deal with the two bills, and people have come, not
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once, but several times to have this matter discussed. I think it is most unfair
and unreasonable to ask for an adjournment now.

Senator MacpoNALD (Brantford): Mr. Chairman, I do not want to interfer_e,
but on a question of procedure there is a motion before the committee that this
committee do now adjourn.

The CHAIRMAN: No. There is a motion before the committee that we do

now approve the preamble.

Senator MAcpoNALD (Brantford): The original motion is that the preamble
be now approved, and there is discussion on that motion before the committee;
but someone has interrupted and moved the adjournment of the committee.

The CHAIRMAN: No. He has moved an adjournment of the consideration of
a second bill which is not yet before us, which is on the agenda for consideration.

Senator CroLL: No, he did not move that.

Senator McCuTcHEON: No—of all the bills.

The CHAIRMAN: We are only considering the first bill at the moment.
Therefore, I am not accepting the motion to adjourn.

Senator McCuTcHEON: Then I do move that the debate be now adjourned.

Senator CroLL: That motion is always in order. I think, Mr. Chairman,
you must accept it.

Senator ROEBUCK: A motion to adjourn is always in order.

Senator MAcpoNALD (Brantford): I am against the motion to adjourn; but
as a matter of procedure, I think we must follow—

The CHAIRMAN: Either you vote on the motion that the preamble be now
approved, or if there is a motion that the committee do now adjourn, you vote
on that motion whether the committee now adjourns without reference to
any bills.

Senator CrorLL: That is right.

The CHAIRMAN: Which do you move?

Senator McCuTcHEON: I move that the committee do now adjourn.

The CHAIRMAN: Are you ready for the question?

Some Hon. SENATORS: Question.

The CHAIRMAN: Those in favour that the committee do now adjourn please
raise your arm. Opposed? The motion is lost.

Now we have a motion before us that the committee do now approve the
preamble. Are you ready for the question? Those in favour of that motion to
approve the preamble, please signify. Contrary, if any? Motion is carried.

Now shall we approve the title?

Senator CROLL: Approved.

Senator McCuTcHEON: No, no.

The CHAIRMAN: On division?

Senator McCuTcHEON: No.

The CHAIRMAN: Those in favour of approving the title, please signify?

Contrary, if any? The motion is carried. Shall I report the bill without amend-
ment?

Some SENATORS: Carried.
Senator McCuTcHEON: No.
The CHAIRMAN: Those in favour? Contrary, if any? The motion is carried.

The committee concluded its consideration of Bill S-6, to incorporate the
Bank of Western Canada.
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ORDER OF REFERENCE

Extract from the Minutes of the Proceedings of the Senate, Wednesday,
May 13th, 1964.

“Pursuant to the Order of the Day, the Senate resumed the debate on the
motion of the Honourable Senator Cameron, seconded by the Honourable
Senator Stambaugh, for second reading of the Bill S-13, intituled: “An Act
to incorporate Laurentide Bank of Canada”.

After debate, and—

The question being put on the motion, it was—
Resolved in the affirmative, on division.

The Bill was then read the second time, on division.

The Honourable Senator Cameron moved, seconded by the Honourable
Senator Stambaugh, that the Bill be referred to the Standing Committee on

Banking and Commerce.
The question being put on the motion, it was—

Resolved in the affirmative.”
J. F. MacNEILL,
Clerk of the Senate.
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MINUTES OF PROCEEDINGS

WEDNESDAY, May 27, 1964.

Pursuant to adjournment and notice the Standing Committee on Banking
and Commerce met this day at 9.30 a.m.

Present: The Honourable Senators: Hayden (Chairman), Aseltine, Beau-
bien (Bedford), Blois, Bouffard, Brooks, Burchill, Choquette, Cook, Crerar,
Croll, Fergusson, Flynn, Gershaw, Gouin, Hugessen, Irvine, Kinley, Lambert,
Lang, Leonard, Macdonald (Brantford), McCutcheon, McLean, Molson, Power,
Reid, Smith (Kamloops), Taylor (Norfolk), Thorvaldson, Walker, White,
Willis and Woodrow. (34)

In attendance: Mr. E. Russell Hopkins, Law Clerk and Parliamentary
Counsel.

On Motion of the Honourable Senator McCutcheon it was RESOLVED
to report recommending that authority be granted for the printing of 800
copies in English and 300 copies in French of the proceedings of the Com-
mittee on Bill S-13.

Bill S-13, intituled: “An Act to incorporate Laurentide Bank of Canada”,
was read and considered.

The following witnesses were heard: Mr. Alastair Macdonald, Q.C.,
Parliamentary Agent; Mr. Peter Paul Saunders, petitioner; Mr. Paul Britton
Paine, Counsel.

At 11.10 a.m. the Committee adjourned further consideration of the said
Bill.

Attest.

F. A. Jackson,
Clerk of the Committee.
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THE SENATE
THE STANDING COMMITTEE ON BANKING AND COMMERCE
EVIDENCE
OrTAwWA, May 27, 1964.

The Standing Committee on Banking and Commerce, to which was referred
Bill S-13, to incorporate Laurentide Bank of Canada, met this day at 9.30 a.m.
Senator Salter A. Hayden (Chairman) in the Chair.
The committee agreed that a verbatim report be made of the com-
mittee’s proceedings on the bill.
The committee agreed to report recommending authority be granted
for the printing of 800 copies in English and 300 copies in French of the
committee’s proceedings on the bill.

The CHAIRMAN: Senator Cameron, you are the sponsor of the bill.

Senator KiNLEY: Mr. Chairman, I was away last time. What happened to
the Bank of Western Canada bill?

The CHAIRMAN: We considered the sections, and when we came to the
preamble there was a motion to defer consideration of it at that time, and that
motion carried. So it stands on the agenda, but it will not be proceeded with
again until a motion is made that we consider the preamble.

Senator KiNLEY: Was the substance passed?

The CHAIRMAN: The various sections were passed.

Senator KiINLEY: But not the preamble?

The CHAIRMAN: No, so it stands.

Senator KiNLEY: All right.

Senator CAMERON: Mr. Chairman and honourable senators, I do not propose
to take any of your time this morning because the principals are here who can
speak for this bill, but I would merely like to present those who are making
the application.

First, I introduced to you Mr. Alastair Macdonald, Q.C., of Ottawa, Ontario,
Parliamentary Agent and Counsel for the petitioners; Mr. Paul Britton Paine,
Q.C., of Vancouver, B.C., who is one of the petitioners and also a counsel for the
petitioners; Mr. Peter Paul Saunders, executive of Vancouver, B.C., who is one
of the petitioners. In addition, in attendance are: Mr. Andrew Elliott Saxton,
executive, of Vancouver, B.C., a petitioner; Mr. William Crossley Mainwaring,
executive, of Vancouver, a petitioner; Mr. Lionel Leroux, notary, of Montreal,
Quebec, a petitioner; and Mr. Bernard de Lorimier Bourgeois, Q.C., of Mont-
real, also a petitioner.

I will now ask Mr. Macdonald to address you.

The CHAIRMAN: Yes, Mr. Macdonald?

Mr. MACDONALD: Mr. Chairman, could we have leave to call Mr. Peter Paul
Saunders, who has a presentation.

The CHAIRMAN: Yes.

Mr. MacpoNALD: And could we have leave to distribute some material?

The CHAIRMAN: Yes. In the meantime I should advise the committee that
our Law Clerk reports that in his opinion this bill is in proper legal form.

7
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Mr. Peter Paul Saunders. Executive, Vancouver, British Columbia: Mr. Chairman
and Honourable Senators:

Thank you for the opportunity to appear before you today on behalf of
the petitioners for the incorporation of the Laurentide Bank of Canada.

This submission, which appears rather bulky, is in fact quite brief; a
substantial portion of its bulk is made up of some of the charts we prepared
when examining the feasibility of our proposed new enterprise. I will touch
briefly upon them in my remarks and hope they may prove useful to the
Committee in your consideration of this bill.

Before proceeding with other matters relevant to our position, I should
like to take a minute or two to review with you the personal and business
experience of our petitioners, including those who, regrettably, are unable to
attend today.

Mr. Andrew Elliott Saxton is Executive Vice President of Laurentide
Financial Corporation Ltd., a director of that company and a director of all of
its subsidiaries, both Canadian and foreign. Mr. Saxton has had extensive
experience in the field of credit on a very broad scale. Mr. Saxton is married,
has four young children and lives in West Vancouver, British Columbia.

Mr. William Crossley Mainwaring, O.B.E., is currently President of the
Peace River Power Development Company Limited. Recently, as you are no
doubt aware, the assets of this corporation were expropriated by the Govern-
ment of the Province of British Columbia. From 1932 until the appointment to
his present position. Mr. Mainwaring held various executive positions with the
B.C. Electric Company, except for the period from 1940 to 1946 when he was
loaned to the Bank of Canada to carry on some special assignments as a
member of the National War Finance Committee. He holds a number of
directorships and has been active in a variety of community projects, especially
in his home city of Vancouver.

Mr. Paul Britton Paine, Q.C., is senior partner of the firm of Paine,
Edmonds, Mercer, Smith and Williams of Vancouver. He is Secretary of Lauren-
tide Financial Corporation Ltd., a Bencher of the Law Society of British
Columbia and a director of several companies. Mr. Paine has had extensive
experience in matters of public financing including the negotiations involved
in the raising of substantial capital funds and the development of debt and
money market instruments.

Mr. Edgar Saba, who unfortunately could not be with us today, is President
and General Manager of Saba Bros. Limited, a chain of departmental stores
founded by his father many years ago and operating in British Columbia.
Mr. Saba has grown up in the merchandising business and has a broad knowl-
edge of the problems encountered in that industry; he has been an active
member of a variety of cultural and community organizations in his native
city of Vancouver.

Mr. Howard T. Mitchell is President of Mitchell Press Limited, a printing
and publishing firm located in the city of Vancouver. He is a director of a
number of other companies including one of the largest in the forest industry
in the Province of British Columbia. Mr. Mitchell is currently President of the
Canadian Chamber of Commerce, in which capacity he is today addressing the
Chamber of Commerce in Charlottetown, Prince Edward Island and therefore is
unable to be with us today. Through his varied activities, Mr. Mitchell is
knowledgeable of many matters having to do with the problems of business
and industry, both large and small. He is an active and public spirited Canad1an
and makes his home in the city of Vancouver.

Mr. Bernard De Lorimier Bourgeois, @.C., LL.L. is senior partner of the
firm of Bourgeois, Doheny, Day and Macken21e of the city of Montreal. He has
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been an active and prominent member of the Bar and is currently Vice-
President for Quebec of the Canadian Bar Association. He was born in the city
of Montreal where he makes his home and is a director of a number of cor-
porations and has had experience in a great variety of business matters.

Mr. Lionel Leroux is a member of the firm Leroux, Faribault and Leroux,
Notaries of the city of Montreal. He is a director of a number of corporations
in the fields of finance, real estate and insurance and his business experience
in these and other fields is extensive. He lives in Outremont and conducts his
business in the city of Montreal.

As for myself, I am President of Laurentide Financial Corporation Ltd.,
a position which I have held for approximately fourteen years. My business
activities have been manly in the field of finance and credit, a field which is
closely allied to the business of banking and I have had some experience in
building a branch organization which is portrayed in appended Charts 1, 2 and
3. It is contemplated that if the charter is granted that I will become the
Chairman of the Board of Directors of the Laurentide Bank of Canada. It is
also intended that all the petitioners will become directors of the bank. We are
all Canadian citizens and as you may have noted, six of us live in Vancouver
in the Province of British Columbia and two in Montreal in the Province of
Quebec.

It is intended that the Bank should be truly national in character. How-
ever, it is obvious that it will take time to accomplish this and because of this
the first branches will be opened in and around the two cities where the
provisional directors reside. As it becomes appropriate, more directors will be
appointed so that representation on the Board will broaden and cover a wide
range of our country on a geographic and economic basis.

When Senator Cameron introduced our bill for second reading in the
Senate, he mentioned that the bank was intended to be a subsidiary of Lauren-
tide Financial Corporation Ltd. It has been our intention that the new bank
should be in some fashion allied with the latter company, for the operations of
the two institutions can be in many ways complementary one to the other as
has been evidenced by similar alliances established by some of the existing
chartered banks. Initially, it appeared appropriate that this alliance should
take the form of a parent-subsidiary relationship, with subsequent public
participation in the Bank being invited when its circumstances had somewhat
matured. However, it is apparent that if the bank should be a subsidiary of
Laurentide Financial Corporation, the restrictions upon non-resident participa-
tion in its share capital—as set forth in section 5 of the Bill before you—would
have little meaning; transfer of control of the parent company to a non-resident
would effectively place the bank under foreign control. I shall refer further
to the question of control of Laurentide Financial Corporation later.

This matter has been thoroughly canvassed by the Directors of Laurentide
Financial Corporation. In the result, the proposed invitation for public partici-
pation in the bank has been accelerated, and accordingly, it is now intended
that the bank will be financed by a portion of the capital to be issued being
offered to the shareholders of Laurentide Financial Corporation Ltd. in the
form of rights. These shareholders numbered approximately 5,700 as at Decem-
ber 31, 1963, and no significant change has occurred in this number since that
date—see Chart 4 respecting their geographic distribution. The balance of the
shares will be sold to a group of underwriters for the purpose of public dis-
tribution in Canada. The underwriters will attempt to obtain the widest possible
distribution of the shares of the bank.

This plan of financing, by way of rights granted to the Laurentide Financial
Corporation shareholders and wide public distribution through the under-
writers, is intended to ensure that the shares of the bank will be available to
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a broad segment of Canadian investors, that no person or group should have
control of the bank and that Section 5 of the bill will effectively achieve its
intended purpose.

I might mention that our confidence that the proposed financing will be
favourably received by the Canadian public is reinforced by the very wide-
spread demand for direct participation through purchase of the bank’s shares
which has been made known to us through the many letters, telephone calls
and other communications we have received.

Because of the public financing which is now contemplated, it appears
desirable that the authorized capital should be increased from the one million
shares set forth in the bill. Accordingly, we respectfully request that the
appropriate amendments may be made to increase the capitalization to three
million shares of the par value of $10 each.

You will appreciate that the exact number of shares which will be issued,
and their issue price, cannot be stated at this time. However, if our application
as amended is approved, the number of shares to be initially issued will
probably exceed one million, and it is the intention of the provisional directors
that they will be issued at a price which will result in a paid-in surplus on
the books of the bank at least equal to the amount of the capital account.

I have mentioned that we consider it desirable for the proposed bank to
ally itself with Laurentide Financial Corporation Ltd., with which company
a number of us appearing before you today are associated in one way or another.
It may be of interest to the members of the Committee to know that the
Directors of Laurentide Financial Corporation formed the intention, approxi-
mately eight years ago, to assist in the formation and development of a new
Canadian chartered bank. This was prompted by their view, which continues
today, that such an institution could be of benefit to and be assisted by that
company to the advantage of each. Active preparation towards this end com-
menced some four years ago when Laurentide Financial Corporation Ltd.,
together with local interests, formed the Commonwealth Industrial Bank Ltd.
in the Bahama Islands. At about the same time, the company began to locate
its offices in Canada in premises which could be suitable for the operation of
bank branches. There are now more than 70 such locations distributed amongst
the Provinces of Quebec, Ontario, Manitoba, Saskatchewan, Alberta and British
Columbia. Some of these might be made available to the proposed bank, in
order to assist the development of its branch system. Certain employees of
Laurentide Financial Corporation who have considerable banking experience
and who were employed in anticipation of the incorporation of the bank will
be available for employment by it, and this staff should assist in its rapid
organization and early readiness for the commencement of business. Other
areas of co-operation may be developed between Laurentide Financial Cor-
poration and the new bank. Any such arrangements would be made up on
an equitable basis, and, of course, in conformity with the Bank Act, so that
the cost of the contributed facilities would be properly allocated between the
two institutions. Such arrangements would have to be worked out keeping in
mind the extent of the activities covered, and would be subject to change from
time to time as variations occur in them.

I might add that any arrangement envisaged in these remarks would be
subject to scrutiny by the Inspector General of Banks who would satisfy
himself concerning their fairness, a situation with which we would be entirely
satisfied.

I have stated that I would refer further to the question of the control
of Laurentide Financial Corporation Ltd. :

At the present time, this control is vested in Power Corporation of Canada,
Ltd. which holds a substantial number of the Corporation’s shares and, as it
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advised Senator Hayden and the Committee by letter dated May 15, 1964, its
shareholdings either in whole or in part represent an investment which is
at any time subject to disposition. By reason of a voting trust arrangement
in its favour, the sale of its interests by Power Corporation could result in
control passing to another corporation or group, and a consequent dislocation
of the tentative plans I have mentioned earlier. This would be material in two
principal areas.

Firstly, were such a sale to be accompanied by a successful offer to acquire
the common shares of Laurentide Financial Corporation, the present large
number of such shareholders might be reduced to only one. In this event, the
contemplated offer of rights to the Laurentide Financial Corporation share-
holders to purchase shares in the bank would, in the view of the petitioners,
require curtailment so that any such new owner of the shares could not obtain
the right to acquire greater than 109 of the bank’s shares.

Secondly, if any such transfer of control should occur, the new owner
might not be prepared to enter into the possible reciprocal arrangements con-
cerning business co-operation which I discussed before. This might delay
the growth of the enterprise; it would not prevent its successful establishment.

Some views have been expressed concerning the need, or lack of it, with
regard to additional chartered banks for our country. Our application is not
based on any criticism of the existing chartered banks, but rather on conclusions
at which we have arrived from extensive study that apportunities do exist for
new banks in Canada.

A correlation of the growth in national income and the assets of all the
Canadian chartered banks shows a remarkably similar pattern. In the nine
year period ending December 31, 1963, the national income increased by 72%
as did the assets of the chartered banks. This is graphically portrayed on
Chart 5. During this period the composition of the assets of the Canadian banks
as a group changed, as shown on Chart 6, to the extent that approximately two
thirds of the growth took place in the “Loans’ category. Well over half of this
growth was financed by growth in savings deposits, and about one quarter by
growth in demand deposits, as shown on Chart 7. The change in the number
of deposit accounts per branch and their makeup are shown on Chart 8.

As a matter of interest, the number of bank branches increased in this
period by 1,359, Chart 9, at a slightly faster rate since 1955 than the increase in
population as shown by Chart 10, while average total loans and deposits per
branch increased as shown by Charts 11 and 12. At the end of December 1962,
48.8% of total lending in Canada was carried out by the eight chartered banks,
while 51.29% of loans were granted by some 4,600 other organizations, includ-
ing life insurance companies, credit unions, finance companies and trust com-
panies. This is illustrated by Chart 13.

In spite of this impressive growth pattern, growth in bank assets in Canada
during the years 1960-1963 was slower than the comparable figures for France,
the U.K. or the U.S.A. as shown on Charts 14 and 15, a situation which may be
significant when it is realized that in these countries a far greater number of
banks compete for the available business than is the case in Canada.

We believe that under our free enterprise system, opportunity rather than
need dictates the number of competitors in any given field. Our system does not
limit the number of new participants in any industry and its strength, in fact,
lies in the competitive spirit which it engenders so that new ideas and greater
service to the public are rewarded. Our studies have convinced us that
there is indeed room for new banks and particularly so for one such as the
Laurentide Bank which will establish its head office in Vancouver. We strongly
feel that its establishment of a bank head office in this city will encourage the
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development of business enterprises, the fostering of trade with.other coun-
tries, especially the Pacific region of the United States and the erent, and the
development of new industry in the Province of British Columbia. We feel that
our proposal will help in the achieving of these goals.

In the period December 31, 1954, to December 31, 1963, anadian chartered
bank loans have grown from 4.24 billion dollars to 9.48 billion dollars. (?hart
16 portrays this growth and breaks down the loans into tl}ree categories—
namely, general loans, special loans and other loans. You will note from the
chart that out of the growth of 5.24 billions of dollars, the greatest increase
has been achieved in the field of general loans. The category of general loans
which has shown the greatest growth can then be broken down into four
components: business loans, personal loans, loans to farmers and loans to
non-business institutions. Relative growth of the various categories just men-
tioned can be assessed by examining Chart 17 and it becomes obvious that
the main growth has taken place in the first two categories, namely, business
loans and personal loans.

In examining the situation relating to these two types of loans, I would
first like to deal for a moment with the category of personal loans. This is a
segment of the credit industry in Canada which has experienced a strong
demand on the part of the Canadian public. Such loans are made primarily
to younger people for purposes of advancement and acquisition and represent
a field in which several of us have had experience. Credit of this type has
contributed materially to the advancement of our standard of living and to the
development of a domestic market for Canadian production. The Canadian
chartered banks have only recently entered this field and our studies show that
in spite of a remarkable growth in the field of personal loans by our banks,
there exists a continuously growing demand for this service and again we hope
that the proposed Laurentide Bank of Canada will help in meeting this demand.

Personal loans are divided into two categories, namely, secured loans
against marketable securities and unsecured. Chart 18 shows the relative
growth which has taken place in these two classifications. You will note that
the main part of the growth has been in the unsecured segment and this is the
field which has been termed the consumer credit industry. Chart 19 shows
the overall growth in the consumer credit picture and breaks down the various
participants which make up the total. The heavy line towards the middle of
the page demonstrates the growth of the chartered banks in the field of consumer
credit as it relates to the other participants. Chart 20 demonstrates the impor-
tance of consumer credit in the total loan portfolio of the Canadian chartered
banks. This growth in the percentage of total loans represented by consumer
credit as far as the portfolio of the chartered banks is concerned, is shown on
Chart 21 which provides seasonal detail for the material previously referred to
in Chart 18.

The situation concerning competition in the field of personal loans is quite
different from the one which exists with regard to business loans. Chart 22
illustrates this and the conclusion can be drawn that the field of business loans,
which is indeed a very important and vital factor in the growth and development
of business organizations in the nation, is served to the extent of 86.99% by
only eight chartered banks.

We are aware of the fact that there may be changes to the Bank Act
during the next year and before the time our application was submitted, we had
considered holding it up until the proposed changes were known. However,
the conclusions from the studies which we have made, not only in our cwn
country but also in the United States, the United Kingdom, France and other
countries, have convinced us that need and opportunity do, in fact, exist and
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that they will not decline but rather increase with the passage of time. Should
the Bank Act change, it will, of course, apply to all competitors in the field,
including the eight chartered banks whose charters will expire on July 1st
of this year and who presumably will obtain temporary charters for the
following twelve months. Is it not consistent with the intended temporary
renewal of the charters of the existing eight banks to consider the granting
of new charters at this time on a similar basis?

On Wednesday, March 18, 1964, Mr. Chairman, during the hearing of
this Committee, you recommended that in order to report favourably upon a
Bill for the incorporation of an additional chartered bank, the Committee must
be satisfied with regard to the make-up and personnel of the proposed institution
and with the economic situation existing in the country. We have attempted to
provide the Committee with information along the lines indicated by you, Mr.
Chairman, and we are, of course, available to furnish the Committee with any
information which you feel would be of assistance.

THE CHAIRMAN: Honourable senators, before you commence questioning
Mr. Saunders, I should make part of the record, and read to you, the letter
which is referred to on page 7 in this brief.

This is a letter of May 15, 1964, from Power Corporation of Canada, Lim-
ited. It was addressed to me with a request that I convey the message to the
committee. Thereupon I had copies made and distributed to the members of the
committee, so you are familiar with it. I think it should be part of the record.
It reads:

POWER CORPORATION OF CANADA, LIMITED

One Place Ville Marie
Montreal 2

May 15, 1964.

The Honourable Senator Salter Hayden,
Chairman,

Senate Banking and Commerce Committee,
Parliament Buildings,

Ottawa, Ont.

Dear Senator Hayden:

Laurentide Financial Corporation Ltd., has caused an application
to be submitted for the incorporation of a new bank under the name
of Laurentide Bank of Canada.

Power Corporation of Canada, Limited is the beneficial owner of
less than 36% of the voting shares of Laurentide. This holding rep-
resents less than 9% of the equity, (i.e., those shares entitled to partici-
pate in its surplus) although Power Corporation is a party to a voting
trust arrangement which does control the votes pertaining to a majority
of such shares. The Board of Directors of Laurentide comprises ten
members, of which only two are also Directors of Power Corporation.

The opinion of the Board of Laurentide in the administration of its
affairs does not necessarily coincide with that of the Directors of Power
Corporation, who must give consideration to its many investments in
institutions other than Laurentide. The application has been made
on the the initiative of the management of Laurentide, representing its
shareholders, which number in the thousands, following a decision of
a majority of its Directors. Power Corporation has not sponsored, and
does not support the application in any way.
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In considering this application Parliament should not assume that
Power Corporation may not in the future vary its investment in Lauren-
tide, although if the investment were disposed of in whole or in part
we would seek to give Canadians first preference.

Would you please convey this message to the other members of your

Committee.
Yours very truly,

(Signed)

Peter N. Thomson
Chairman and President

Honourable senators, have you any questions to ask Mr. Saunders now?

SENATOR HUGESSEN: I must say that this brief which has been submitted by
Mr. Saunders shows a very different picture from that which we were given
upon the second reading of the bill. From my point of view, I think it is a much
more favourable picture, because it appears to indicate now that this has
started on the basis of broad and diversified ownership of its shares. I wanted
to ask Mr. Saunders this question: He says that the objection now is that part
of the capital is to be offered in the form of rates, and that the rest of the
financing is to be done by underwriters; is that so?

Mr. SAUNDERS : That is correct, sir.

Senator HUGESSEN: Could you tell us, Mr. Saunders, what is your present
capital structure in Laurentide Finance Corporation and what proportion of its
issued shares are held by Power Corporation of Canada?

Mr. SAUNDERS: I think, senator, the letter which the Chairman has just
read out indicates the approximate equity ownership of Power Corporation.

Senator HUGESSEN: It does, Mr. Saunders; but I would like a little more
detail about that. Is your capital in Laurentide Finance in one class of shares,
or two, or what?

Mr. SAUNDERS: There are several classes, sir. A company like Laurentide
Finance Company operates on a formula, and the formula has to do with ratio
equity to debt, and there are various levels of equity and also quite a few
levels of debt. But to answer your question, sir, at the bottom of the pile we
have subordinated common shares which number three million, both authorized
and issued.

Senator McCuTcHEON: Owned by whom?

Mr. SAUNDERS: They are principally owned by Power Corporation; about a
little more than half are owned by them; and a little less than 50 per cent are
owned by Derston Investment Corporation Limited. This is a company which is
owned by Mr. Andrew Saxton and myself.

Senator McCUTCHEON: The sole voting shares?
Mr. SAUNDERS: No. Both the subordinated and common.

Senator LEONARD: Three million subordinated common shares with one
vote per share?

Mr. SAUNDERS: Yes, one vote per share. The next class are the common
shares, and there are approximately a million and three-quarters of common
shares outstanding. Chart 4 shows the distribution by shareholders, and there
are approximately 5,700 shareholders. The largest shareholder, again, is Power
Corporation of Canada, and it owns approximately 138,000 of these shares.
Derston Investment Corporation, which I mentioned earlier, owns approximately
100,000 shares. Then there are various sizes of ownership ranging down from
there.
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The CHAIRMAN: Are there any companies of the style or character of
Derston that own these common shares?

Mr. SAUNDERS: Not to any extent, sir. No, I have no. knowledge of any.
The shareholdings could be small.

The CHAIRMAN: In which you or any other directors of Laurentide have
an interest?

Mr. SAUNDERS: Only nominal.

Senator BEAUBIEN (Bedford): Nothing of any significance?

Mr. SAUNDERS: Nothing of any significance.

Senator HUGESSEN: Any other class of common shares?

Mr. SAUNDERS: No. These are the only going shares, and these are the only
common shares. There is a second class of preferred shares.

Senator HUGESSEN: I am only dealing with the shares to which rights would
be given.

Mr. SAUNDERS: The secondary preferred are convertible into the common,
and it is conceivable that they will have converted. We did not set out the
holdings of the secondary preferred, but they are distributed on quite a
wide scale.

Senator HUGESSEN: How many issued shares of preferred?

Mr. SAUNDERS: I will have to trust to my memory—119,000, and they are
convertible into common on the basis of two common shares for each secondary
preferred share.

Senator HUGESSEN: Would it be your intention to offer the shares to your
subordinating common shares and to your common shares on an equal basis?

Mr. SAUNDERS: Well, on an equitable basis but not necessarily an equal
basis.
Senator HUGESSEN: What do you mean by an equitable basis?

Mr. SAUNDERS: I mean, the subordinated common have a par value of one
dollar. The common shares have an actual market value at the present time
in the neighbourhood of $14, so the ratio would have to be worked out between
them, because the subordinated common have conversion rights into the
common on the basis of seven to one, with some payment. They also represent
the control of the company and we feel that we would sit down with our under-
writers at the time when this distribution is made and work out a formula
whereby the subordinated common would be offered rights on a certain basis,
and the common on another basis.

The CHAIRMAN: And if your shareholders were not happy with that you
might have some difficulty?

Mr. SAUNDERS: Oh, yes, that is always a possibility. It is very difficult to
keep everybody happy, but we try to work it out on a basis which seems fair
to everybody.

Senator HUGESSEN: I think it would be of interest to the committee, Mr.
Saunders, if you could present us, perhaps in due course, with a table or
formula showing, first of all, approximately the number of common shares, the
number of shares at the bank you propose to offer to your existing shareholders
by way of rights, and on the assumption that those are all taken up, what
proportion of the shares of the bank would then be offered to and owned by
Power Corporation of Canada and the other holding corporation you mentioned.

Mr. SAUNDERS: We can work that out, sir. We have not determined at this
point what percentages of the proposed capitalization of the bank would be
offered to the shareholders.
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Senator McCUTCHEON: These are new concepts you are putting forward to

us this morning?

Mr. SAUNDERS: Not exactly. It is a little new to the extent that we felt to
begin with the bank should be a subsidiary of the finance company. However,
we always did have in mind to bring the public in. Then it appeared that the
controls as far as Canadian ownership would not be workable if the parent
company’s position changed, so rather than Laurentide Financial buying the
interest, we thought that the shareholders of Laurentide Financial would be
given the opportunity to come in.

Senator HUGESSEN: I think that is a much happier picture.

Mr. SAunpErs: Thank you.

Senator McCuTcHEON: What investment does Laurentide intend to make
in the new bank, if any?

Mr. SAUNDERS: It is not contemplated at this time, sir.

Senator McCuTtcHEON: Laurentide as such will hold no shares in the new
bank?

Mr. SAUNDERS: No.

Senator Bourrarp: Could you give us a detailed résumé?

Mr. SAUNDERS: Let me say that there is an agreement between Power
Corporation of Canada Limited and Derston Investment Corporation Limited,
whereby the two corporations will pool their stock, and Power Corporation of
Canada Limited has the right to determine how they are to be voted. There are a
number of other things covered in that agreement, and this is the basic part as
far as the voting is concerned.

Senator BOUFFARD: Do you think it would be possible to get a copy of the
voting trust agreement?

Mr. SAuNDERS: Yes, that would be quite all right. I do not have it with
me; we can get it.

Senator BourrarD: What is the control of the voting trust agreement?
What is the percentage you carry in the voting trust agreement? What per-
centage of shares do you have to vote?

Mr. Saunpers: This percentage is subject to change. There are at the
moment about 13 million common shares outstanding and exactly three million
subordinated common shares. The subordinated common shares have one vote
per share, and the common shares have one vote per share. So at the present
moment three million out of 4% million are the subordinated common. Just
about the entire subordinated common would be covered by this voting trust;
I would say, about 98 per cent. There is no restriction, other than the limits
on authorization, on the number of common shares that could be issued. Let
us assume that the Laurentide Finance Corporation group require additional
capital. There might be five million of common outstanding. At this point the
subordinated common would represent three-eighths, but today they represent
two-thirds.

The CHAIRMAN: That change could only take place with the approval of
those who presently control?

Mr. SAUNDERS: There is some room in the authorized?

The CHAIRMAN: I do not mean that. I mean, if you have a voting trust
agreement under which the parties have voting control and it is proposed to
issue additional voting shares which would upset that control, the people who
enjoy the control would certainly have a good, hard look at it. :

Mr. SAUNDERS: Yes.
The CHAIRMAN: And you would have to carry them along with you?

«




=

R

BANKING AND COMMERCE 17

Mr. SAUNDERS: There are provisions in the articles relating to the sub-
ordinated common that provide, on a certain basis, that the subordinated
common can convert into the common. The agreement you have referred to
sets out, for instance, the position which would result if, let us say, one of the
parties decided to convert into the common and the other one would like
to continue with the voting trust.

Senator McCUTCHEON: You will let us have a copy of the agreement?

Mr. SAUNDERS: Yes.

Senator McCuTcHEON: That is the best way.

Senator CRERAR: Laurentide started, Mr. Saunders, about 1950, is that
right?

Mr. SAUNDERS: Yes.

Senator CRERAR: What was your original capital?

Mr. SAUNDERs: $1,500.

Senator CRERAR: What is it now?

Mr. SAUNDERS: The paid-in capital of the company is approximately $35
million.

Senator CRERAR: When did Power Corporation come in?

Mr. SAUNDERS: In 1956.

Senator CRERAR: Did they initiate, or did you initiate?

Mr. SAUNDERS: Their entrance into it?

Senator CRERAR: Yes.

Mr. SAUNDERS: It is hard to say where it started. I would say it was a
mutually agreeable arrangement. We met them first through their efforts, but we
were quite interested in associating ourselves with somebody who had greater
knowledge of the financial markets than we did, and we were very pleased
to enter into that association.

Senator CRERAR: When they entered, did they really get control of
Laurentide?

Mr. SAUNDERS: Yes, when they came into the picture they acquired 99
per cent of the voting stock, and the capital was re-organized last year whereby
their actual control was considerably reduced. As I mentioned, Derston Invest-
ment Corporation, which is owned by Mr. Saxton and me, together with
Power Corporation, invested a large amount of money, over $3 million, to add
more capital to the company, and at the same time the voting control was
reduced. It was foreseen that the time would come when this control position
would completely disappear, and machinery was set up which would enable
that to happen.

We have never had any interference from Power Corporation in matters of
management, and as their letter says only two of our ten directors are also
directors of Power Corporation. However, in this matter of the bank application
they have had a rather sensitive position, because Mr. Thomson, who wrote
this letter, is a director of one of the chartered banks. Several of the directors
of Power Corporation are directors of chartered banks, including the president
of one of the chartered banks; and this is a situation which has created a little
bit of embarrassment, I suppose; and this particular gentleman who is president
of one of the chartered banks has gone on record as not favouring further bank
charters. So there has been a little bit of, you might say, tightrope walking
on the part of directors of Power Corporation who are also directors of
Laurentide.
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Senator CRERAR: Could I put it this way: is it a reasonable assumption
that the Power Corporation interests were a bit doubtful about the wisdom
of Laurentide applying for a bank charter?

Mr. SAUNDERS: We were certainly not advised of that at the time we made
our studies for this application. They now express some doubt, but we do not
share those doubts.

Senator McCuUTcHEON:  Mr. Thomson, the president of Power Corporation,
is a director of yours. Did he vote in favour of your making this application?
He says in his letter that the majority of your directors approved this applica-
tion.

Mr. SAUNDERS: Yes.

Senator McCuTtcHEON: What is his position?

Mr. Paine: Might I answer the question, Senator McCutcheon? I do not
think Mr. Thomson was present at the directors’ meeting when the final deci-
sion was taken. The matter was first referred to a committee, and he was not
present at the subsequent meeting. Among the directors present—a substantial
number of the ten—there was no dissent.

The CHAIRMAN: I think the answer is in the letter, where it is stated that,
“Power Corporation has not sponsored, and does not support the application
in any way”’.

Senator McCutcHEON: He indicated the majority of directors, and I won-
dered if there had been a division, or whether some were absent.

Mr. SAUNDERS: That is the case.

Senator CRERAR: The letter which the Chairman read from the Power
Corporation, would you construe that as a sort of intimation to the committee
that it should not rely in any way on the permanency of Power Corporation
being associated with Laurentide?

Mr. SaunpERS: I would say, senator, that is a possibility. I have no way
of interpreting it. The letter was written with our knowledge, but against our
advice because we felt that the application for the charter which we are
making is not materially affected by Power Corporation’s position.

Senator CRERAR: Were you aware that Power Corporation was going to
send this letter?

The CHAIRMAN: Yes, he said that he was.

Mr. SAUNDERS: Yes, we were advised it was going to be mailed. Our own
advice was that it is of no particular significance as far as our application is
concerned, and that it may confuse rather than clarify the situation.

Senator CroLL: I think it would be useful to the committee to have the
last three annual statements of Laurentide, the Derston Corporation, who are
concerned, and any others about whom we may not have heard that are in
any way involved, so we could have the opportunity to examine them.

Mr. SAUNDERS: We would be happy to make the Laurentide available,
they are public; and, Power Corporation, if you would care to look at them,
they are public. Derston is a private company. We will be happy to supply
information that would be of use.

Senator CrROLL: I am not pressing for the private one, just the public ones.

Senator McCUTCHEON: Mr. Saunders, you have undertaken to provide
certain information that Senator Hugessen asked for. Have you reached any
conclusion as to what proportion of the initial capital of the bank will be
offered by way of rights and what proportion will be underwritten?

Mr. SAUNDERS: We have no conclusion, senator, but we have natuirally
some ideas.
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Senator McCuTcHEON: How firm are those ideas? Could you give them to
us?

Mr. SAUNDERS: Let us say for the sake of simplicity that we are thinking
about half and half. Whether it will be 40 per cent and 60 per cent, or 35-65,
or 55-45 we cannot determine that at the moment because things could change
in the meantime. For instance, today Laurentide has about 5,700 common
shareholders. At the time the charter is granted and we set out to raise the
capital and the number increases to, say, 8,000, we may make a little larger
percentage available.

These are some of the considerations, but let us say for the sake of sim-
plicity that we are thinking in terms of approximately half and half being
offered to the shareholders, and this has no significance as far as any control-
ling position is concerned, because it is on an equity basis which is more or
less how the offer would be made. Nobody holds a substantial percentage.

Senator McCutcHEON: That is the point I am coming to I think the com-
mittee will be interested in having some more definite information as to the
manner in which you propose to finance the bank, the number of shares you
propose to issue initially. You say you are going to have a surplus equal to the
capital which would mean you are going to issue $50 shares presumably. We
would like to know, assuming all the rights are taken up, how many would be
owned by Derston and how many would be owned by Power Corporation.

Mr. SAUNDERS: We can give that on the assumption of a percentage.

Senator McCuTcHEON: On the basis of the situation existing today.

The CHAIRMAN: Let us assume you had your charter today, and you were
going to raise the money. What would your plan be? You would be in the hands
of the underwriters to some extent as to how much they could support on a
public offer. Then on the question of rights or restriction, are you proposing,
if it is not going to be an equal distribution of rights in relation to shareholdings,
on what basis will you make the distribution?

Mr. SAUNDERS: I am not sure I understand this. I was under the impression
that one has about a year after a charter is approuved to raise the capital, and
then you have to submit the information to the Treasury Board for their ap-
proval.

The CHAIRMAN: That is right. Of course you don’t have to give us this in-
formation.

Mr. SAUNDERS: We would be happy to do this but we cannot. We have to
deal with the facts as they exist when we go out to raise the money.

The CHAIRMAN: Supposing you have a charter, what would your plan be?

Mr. SAUNDERS: We would have to discuss it with the underwriters.

The CHAIRMAN: If you get your charter and didn’t get the certificate for a
year, the situation might be difficult. We are interested in where the control of
the bank may end up.

Mr. SAUNDERS: We can make the assumption that if we had the charter
today it certainly would be done.

Senator McCuTcHEON: As of today’s conditions and the outstanding capital
shareholdings situation.

Senator THORVALDSON: I would like to go back to the letter you have from
Power Corporation. To me that is very confusing. I can see where certain
matters in that regard, if not cleared up, might become a cause of controversy
in this committee, and I don’t think that should happen. In the first place I
don’t see what status they have to write a letter of this kind even if they have
a large share interest in this company. In the second place I am confused by
what they mean when they say they do not support this application. I would
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have gathered from that that they oppose the application, and if they do so
perhaps we should know that.

I wonder if it is possible to find out Power Corporation’s connection in this
matter, whether they have the status before this committee of a shareholder,
majority or otherwise, and I want to know if they are merely straddling the
fence because of their four bank directors or whether they are in opposition to
this application.

The CHAIRMAN: Are you ready to make a comment on this?

Mr. SAUNDERS: Perhaps Mr. Paine could answer that.

Paul Brition Paine, Esq.. Q.C., Vancouver, B.C., Counsel: I discussed this letter
with Mr. Thomson on Tuesday last. The letter was written on the 15th of this
month. I asked specifically what was intended to be meant by the phrase “The
Power Corporation does not support the application.” In other words, did he
intend to say, as one may do in talking about, for example, a political figure,
“I do not support Mr. So-and-so”—because the implication is that you oppose
him. He said that was not the intention at all. The intention was to make it
clear that Power Corporation was preserving a completely neutral position in
that it neither sponsored nor opposed the application. The situation that has
arisen is one of delicacy. Senator Blois mentioned this on second reading. Power
Corporation has a number of bankers on its board. It is clear their association
with us now may cause them some embarrassment, and they want to set the
record straight.

The CHAIRMAN: Is it a fair conclusion from what you have said that Power
Corporation as the controlling shareholder is neutral in respect of this applica-
tion?

Senator THORVALDSON: I think that answers my question.

Senator HUGESSEN: Arising out of my previous questions, I want to go
back to my previous discussion on rates. I understood you to say that the
three million subordinated common shares owned by the big groups are of a
par value of a dollar, and on the other hand the other common shares which
are held very extensively have a market value of $14.

Mr. SAUNDERS: That is market value.

Senator HUGESSEN: Does that mean in determining what rights respectively
you will give to those two classes of shareholders, you are taking the difference
between the $1 and the $14?

Mr. SAUNDERS: I don’t think that would be a fair assumption.

Senator HUGESSEN: Would you offer the shares equally?

Mr. SAUNDERS: I think I tried to differentiate between equally and equit-
ably. The subordinated common shares are not listed. If they were, it is
conceivable they would have a trading market value several times the par
value. The common shares are listed and they have fluctuated, reaching a high
of $29 and a low of $1.25, our original listing price away back 14 years ago.
At the present time their market value as traded, for example, on the Toronto
Stock Exchange is approximately $14.

Senator HUGESSEN: I am not interested in the market value. I am interested
in the different rights you are proposing to give to these two different classes
of shares. That affects the matter in regard to who will have the right to apply
for what proportion is to be made.

Mr. SaunDpEeRS: Well, I understand your question, but we have not attempted
to work that out in advance because we felt that we have to deal with market
conditions as they are at the time the rights are being offered.
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Senator HUGESSEN: I do not see, Mr. Saunders, what this special market
value has to do with rights. If the two classes of common shares have the same
rights as shares of ordinary banks—I suppose it is a legal question as to
whether you can differentiate between the two; as to whether you are giving
rights to the two classes of shareholders. It is very important.

Mr. SAUNDERS: Could I ask Mr. Paine to answer that question?

Senator HUGESSEN: Yes.

Mr. PaINE: The provisions relating to the subordinated common now
provide that if Laurentide gives a rights offering to its common shareholders
the rights given to a common shareholder for one share would be extended to
a subordinated common shareholder for seven shares. It is on this basis that
you can assume that the number of rights given to the subordinated would be
a seventh of those given to each of the common. This would not necessarily

_apply in the case of the bank, because the bank is separate and is not bound
by that. It could decide that it would give a right to each common, and a right
to each 14 subordinated common. But I think we will lay out a proposed plan
as suggested, based on today’s assumptions.

Senator BEAUBIEN (Bedford): Mr. Chairman, from the evidence it appears
that Power Corporation controls Laurentide Financial Corporation completely,
and without any argument.

The CHAIRMAN: Yes.

Senator BEAUBIEN (Bedford): If we are going to discuss how the rights
are going to be issued should we not ask Power Corporation?

The CHAIRMAN: That is a question I put to Mr. Saunders a while ago. I
said that the person who has voting control in the long run has to be satisfied
with what is being done, otherwise he will get a different board that will do
what he wishes to have done. The question I was concerned about was when
we were to be told who the first directors were going to be. I would assume
that if there is going to be a public offering, and control is going to be in
the hands of the public, we will not be sure as to how that board will be
made up.

Mr. SAUNDERS: We can only deal with assumptions because we have no
bank charter today.

The CHAIRMAN: No, but you do not need a bank charter to decide on a
plan to follow, do you?

Mr. SAUNDERS: No, but—
The CHAIRMAN: Do you only start planning when you have a charter?

Mr. SAUNDERS: I did not mean to imply that, but there are certain things
that you have to deal with as they exist at the time.

The CHAIRMAN: Your plan, if I can suggest it, might be influenced by
conditions at the time when you have to make a decision on this matter, but,
surely, you have a plan beforehand.

Mr. SAUNDERS: There are various stages of planning. We have been plan-
ning this for close to eight years. We have spent a lot of time in planning it.
So far as the board of directors is concerned, well, we have the petitioners
who have agreed to become directors, and the bank is not tied to Laurentide
Financial Corporation. Therefore, the petitioners are applying for the charter.
They propose to make some arrangements with Laurentide so far as the
availability of some personnel and the possibility of transferring some loca-
tions are concerned, and also, perhaps, certain services.

Senator McLEAN: Is not the Mr. Peter Thomson of the Power Corporation
the head of Nesbitt Thomson and Company?
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Mr. SAUNDERS: No, sir.

Senator McLEAN: But he is interested in Nesbitt Thomson and Company?

Mr. SAuNDERS: No. His father was the Mr. Thomson of the firm of Nesbitt
Thomson and Company. Mr. Peter Thomson has been a director of Nesbitt
Thomson and Company, but he is no longer.

Senator Brors: May I ask Mr. Saunders if he can tell us who has control
of Power Corporation in Canada?

Mr. SAUNDERS: I have no specific knowledge of that at this particular
moment. However, I have heard it said, and I presume it to be correct, that
Mr. Thomson has the working control.

Senator Brois: I am under the impression that Power Corporation is
controlled by another corporation, and that that corporation is in turn con-
trolled by somebody else. What I am leading up to is that eventually the
control of Laurentide and this bank may pass to some other person. I want
that cleared up.

Mr. SAUNDERS: I do not think that could happen because our plan is that
the shares of the banks are to be distributed in two ways; one, in the form
of rights to the shareholders of Laurentide and, two, to the public. Nobody can
stop any member of the public from buying shares. This is the situation which
exists in respect of the chartered banks, and many other Canadian corpora-
tions.

Perhaps the question of rights has caused some confusion, and I think
I see the point, which I did not see before. We have never intended that the
majority of the shares of the bank be offered in the form of rights to the
Laurentide shareholders. I would say that the reason we have not answered
specifically is that we have not dealt with the specific problem to this
date. It is quite conceivable that the subordinated common, for instance,
could disappear completely, because there is a formula as to how that might
happen. We intend to offer the majority of the shares to the public. There-
fore, it is only in that minority, which might be a large minority, which is
going to be offered to the Laurentide shareholders that any purchase by
Power Corporation in the form of rights could take place.

Now, Power Corporation, or any corporation for that matter which has
shares in Laurentide, would be offered rights on that portion. That being
a minority portion in the first instance their opportunity to buy rights would
be a fraction of that portion. We will work out a plan, as has been suggested,
but I am quite sure that your question is based on the possibility of Power
Corporation’s controlling a certain block of stock in the bank which they
would be offered in the form of rights, and that that would represent a
certain type of control.

Senator BLors: There is an agreement between Power Corporation and
Laurentide which we have not seen.

The CHAIRMAN: Following your question, Senator Blois, is it that easy,
Mr. Saunders, to propose a plan under which you will make the major portion
of the offer of rights to the public to an extent that might divest the present
controlling shareholder of his control? Is it that easy?

Mr. SAuNDERS: I do not think it is a question of divesting the present
controlling shareholder of his control, because the present controlling share-
holder controls Laurentide Financial Corporation and Laurentide Financial
Corporation makes no direct investment in the bank.

We feel that the application for this charter, which contemplates the
sharing of facilities between Laurentide Financial Corporation and the
Laurentide bank, has a lot of merit for both organizations. It is not necessary
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to have financial overlap of ownership in order to accomplish that. The
directors of Laurentide Financial Corporation recognize the situation that they
have no say whatsoever in so far as the bank is concerned. They have under-
stood this situation, that it is only the Laurentide shareholder who is going
to get the opportunity of buying these shares.

The CHAIRMAN: Then, you are speaking to us as one of the petitioners
for the incorporation of Laurentide Bank, and you are also speaking as
chairman of the board of Laurentide Financial Corporation?

Mr. SAUNDERS: That is correct.

Senator LeoNARD: Will not Laurentide Financial Corporation have to
approve of the relative relationship of the rights to their respective share-
holders? You assume that an offer can be made by the bank itself without
regard to the wishes of the directors of Laurentide Financial Corporation
as to the portion of those rights?

Mr. SAUNDERS: Yes, we do.

Senator LEoNARD: But if the subordinated common shares have the right
to convert—is it one subordinated common share for seven?

Mr. Saunpers: No, the other way around, sir.

The CHAIRMAN: I was wondering, Mr. Saunders, how we could assume
that Laurentide Financial Corporation is going to give all the cooperation you
are talking about if they are not going to have any financial interest in the
bank.

Mr. SAUNDERS: We can assume that because it makes good sense, business-
wise. As we have stated, if they decide not to do it then that would not
eliminate the possibility of the bank being successful.

The CHAIRMAN: Are there any other questions?

Senator CRERAR: What is the net worth of Laurentide today?

Mr. SAUNDERS: Laurentide Finance is worth about $35 million.

Senator CRERAR: Laurentide propose to take certain shares in the bank?

Mr. SAUNDERS: No, sir.

Senator CRERAR: You are offering rights to the shareholders of Laurentide
today?

Mr. SAUNDERS: That is correct.

Senator CRERAR: Assuming you get 20 or 25 per cent of the proposed
capital of the bank, your plan is to offer the remaining shares to the public,
am I correct?

Mr. SaunDpeERs: That is correct.

Senator CRERAR: We will presently have before us I expect an application

for a charter from British Columbia. Is there enough financial resources in
British Columbia to start off both these banks?

Mr. SAUNDERS: That, of course, is a matter of opinion but I believe there
is. There is a great deal of activity going on in British Columbia. There is a
number of new industries being built and two very large Hydro Electric
schemes. There is a great deal of activity. Our studies have concerned them-
selves mainly with banking in Canada rather than on a strictly regional
basis.

The CHAIRMAN: You are not putting it forward on the basis of being a
regional bank for British Columbia?

Mr. SAUNDERS: No, sir.
The CHAIRMAN: Then that answers the question.
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Senator CRERAR: I would agree that there is a great deal of activity in
British Columbia and that probably it will have a great future; but my con-
cern is as to whether there are sufficient financial resources in capital available
in British Columbia to finance your bank and the other one.

Mr. SAUNDERS: We intend to sell our shares all across Canada and we
have not made any study of the capital resources of British Columbia. We
know they are fairly extensive but we could not comment on that. For in-
stance, on Chart 4 we show as an example where the shareholders of Lau-
rentide are situated, and that portion which is going to be offered in the form
of rights will be offered to this group.

Senator CRERAR: That would indicate that more of the shares of Lau-
rentide are outside British Columbia than inside it?

Mr. SAUNDERS: Yes.

Senator CRERAR: You have shareholders in other countries?
Mr. SAUNDERS: We have some, yes.

Senator CRERAR: What percentage?

Mr. SAUNDERS: Something under 10 per cent.

Senator CRERAR: I beg your pardon.

Mr. SAUNDERS: About 9 per cent.

Senator CRERAR: About 9?

Mr. SAUNDERS: Yes.

Senator CRERAR: Do you propose to offer those shareholders privileged
equity in the bank also?

Mr. SAUNDERS: Where it is permitted. We do not propose to offer them in
the United States because they have certain restrictions against rights there.

Senator CRERAR: You would have to get by their Securities Commission
to do that.

Mr. SAUNDERS: Yes.

Senator CRERAR: But your expectation or your intention is that the control
will remain solidly in Canada?

Mr. SAUNDERS: Yes. We have provided in our charter conversion that 90
per cent of the shares are to be held by Canadians, and we propose to take a
statement from the shareholders to that effect.

Senator CRERAR: What is the amount of capital you are planning to have
when your program is through selling shares?

Mr. SAUNDERS: The minimum amount of paid-in capital and surplus which
we contemplate is $20 million, but it is quite possible and quite likely that we
will actually raise a larger amount than that.

Senator CRERAR: Those shares are sold for a certain amount per share; and
a certain percentage of that is capital and a certain amount is reserve?
Mr. SAUNDERS: That is right.

Senator CRERAR: How do you divide that?

Mr. SAUNDERs: Well, $10 is going to capital as a part of stock. Supposing
we sold the shares at $22, then $12 would go to the reserve and $10 to capital.

Senator CRERAR: That would be $10 to capital and $13 to reserve?

Mr. SAUNDERS: If we sold for $23 that would be the case.

Senator CRERAR: When would you expect to be able to pay dividends?
The CHAIRMAN: Senator Molson.

Senator CRERAR: It is a pertinent question.

Senator KINLEY: I do not think he could answer.

iiree ¥



BANKING AND COMMERCE 25

The CHAIRMAN: You want dividends before the charter is granted?

Senator CRERAR: No, Mr. Chairman. These gentlemen come along with a
very interesting proposal and I have not seen at all that they have made
projections as to when they might be able to pay dividends.

Mr. SAUNDERS: We have made projections, sir, and it is our feeling that
the bank will lose money for—

Senator CRERAR: For a year?

Mr. SAUNDERS: For the first year and probably through the second year.
It should begin to pick up in the third year and, depending on the amount of
expansion, how much it will pick up, because naturally as you are building
branches across the country and write off the expenses of the branches, it
takes some time until you get it back from each branch.

Senator CRERAR: Your plans are based on the expectation that the economy
will be growing in Canada at the rate of 5 or 6 per cent a year?

Mr. SAUNDERS: That is about right.

Senator CRERAR: Supposing it does not, what happens?

The CHAIRMAN: A lot of things happen.

Mr. SAUNDERS: I am afraid a lot of things would happen. We have covered
the period of ten years in most of our studies on these charts, and it would
indicate to us that we can look forward to quite a steady growth. I think that
the matter of dividends will have to be dealt with by the board of the bank
but I would feel quite certain that it will not be for the first few years.

Senator CRERAR: I think perhaps that is the last question I have to ask.

Senator MorLson: This bill, as now presented to us today, is in rather a
different form from what we understood earlier. I am personally very favour-
ably impressed by the changes. In common with most of the members of the
committee, I am completely confused as to the possibilities of ownership, as
the result of the rights issue proposed. I wonder if it would not help to clarify
this point in our minds a little if Mr. Saunders could tell us what he contem-
plates now might be the maximum or minimum percentage ownership of the
bank which would accrue to the holders of the subordinated common shares?

The CHAIRMAN: He did undertake earlier to make a submission in that
regard.

Mr. SAUNDERS: I think I can answer that in general terms, Senator Molson.
There are three million subordinated common shares. Through the formula
which has been established for their possible conversion, seven of those shares
together with a certain cash payment become one common. On that basis,
roughly 210,000 common shares would be created through the exercise of
that conversion privilege.

Senator MoLson: No.
Mr. SAUNDERS: I am sorry, 450,000. My mathematics are not very good.

The CHAIRMAN: This is an off day in bank business.

Mr. SAUNDERS: Can I say 400,000 shares in round figures? If we take the
1,700,000 which are outstanding today, and this does not include the conversion
privilege of the second preferred, added to that 400,000, that would make it
2 million odd.

At that point they might represent in total 20 per cent of the common
shares. Now, that 20 per cent would be owned approximately at the rate of half
and half by Power Corporation and Derston, and the voting trust agreement
which we have referred to disappears when conversion takes place. So at this
point you have about 100,000 shares owned by Power Corporation, representing
roughly 5 per cent of the total number of shares, plus their holding of ap-
proximately 128,000 in the common, which would make 238,000 shares.
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Senator LEONARD: Where do you get your 100,000? Is it not 200,000?

Mr. SAUNDERS: Oh, yes, 200,000—plus 138,000, which makes 338,000, out
of a possible two million 'one. Derston’s position would be somewhat less, but
approximately the same.

The CHAIRMAN: Any other questions?

Senator KINLEY: Are we to assume that you are fulfilling all the statutory
obligations you are supposed to in your application?

Mr. SAUNDERS: I suppose So, Sir.

Senator KiNnLEY: Well, you should say yes or no. I remember there was
an application in the Commons, and it was refused because they could not or
would not fulfill the statutory obligations. Now, are you complying with all
ihe statutory obligations that you know of?

Mr. SAUNDERS: Yes, sir.

Senator KiNLEY: With regard to this Power Corporation, who controls it?

Mr. SAuNDERS: Well, I have no definite knowledge, but Mr. Thomson would
require to control Power Corporation.

Senator KINLEY: That is the point. Mr. Thomson, you think, controls that
corporation?

Mr. SAunDERS: Right, sir.

Senator KINLEY: He writes a letter in which your partner implies that he
is a director of another bank and he does not want to get mixed up in this ap-
plication, it that it?

Mr. SAuNDERS: That is what it would appear, sir.

Senator KINLEY: Power Corporation has how many directors who are
directors of the bank?

Mr. SAUNDERS: Several, sir, but I don’t know the exact number.
Senator KINLEY: How many of which you spoke this morning?
The CHAIRMAN: You spoke about four.

Senator KINLEY: You have four directors in your financial arrangements
who are directors of other banks?

Mr. SAUNDERS: I am not sure that I understand the question, sir.

Senator KiNLEY: The point is that you come here and you have been
telling us that there are several companies, subsidiary companies or controlling
companies interested in your application. The only thing I am asking you is,
how many in that theatre are directors or chartered banks at the present time?

Mr. SaunpeRs: I can’t say that, sir; but as we have been discussing here,
investment companies like Power Corporation have a diversity of interests,
and this may or may not be one of them. In their letter they imply that it
may not be a permanent investment at all. However, at the present time they
do own a substantial block of Laurentide Finance which is not synonymous
with Laurentide Bank. Laurentide Bank will offer some of its shares, a minority
of them, to the shareholders of Laurentide Financial Corporation, and through
the exercising of those rights, Power Corporation could acquire perhaps 15
per cent, or maybe thereabouts of the bank. Now, in order to do that they
would have to exercise all their rights. There is nothing to prevent them, or
any other corporation, from buying shares on the market.

The CrHAIRMAN: No; and there is nothing to prevent shareholders who re-
ceive rights from selling them.

Mr. SAaunDpERs: From selling them; that is correct, sir. So we do not feel

that the question of Power Corporation’s ownership affects the bank to any
significant extent.
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Senator KINLEY: Mr. Chairman, may I ask the witness this question: In
your stock arrangements that you have been telling us about here, can you
do that by a 50 per cent vote?

Mr. SAUNDERS: Well it depends on the subject which is being voted on.
Mr. Paine here is the counsel, and perhaps he will give you a better answer.
But most matters as far as ordinary resolutions at shareholders meetings are
concerned are covered by 50 per cent.

The CHAIRMAN: A majority vote.

Mr. SAUNDERS: A majority of the meeting; which does not necessarily mean
50 per cent of the total shares, which could be a much smaller per cent.

Senator KINLEY: How about when you increase your stock in the company,
is that done by 50 per cent?

The CHAIRMAN: There is no proposal to do that here.

Senator KiNLEY: I know. What I am getting at is if they are going to do
something afterwards, it is of some interest.

Mr. PaiNge: To answer your question, senator, if we wanted to increase
the stock, the authorized capital at the bank after its formation, we would
have to come back to Parliament.

Senator KiNLEY: I did not get that.

Mr. PaiNE: After the charter is granted, if we wanted to increase the
authorized capital we would have to come back to Parliament.

Senator KiNLEY: You could not do it with a 75 per cent control?

The CHAIRMAN: You could not do it with any vote. This is a private com-
pany.

Senator CrRERAR: I have one question, Mr. Chairman. How many share-
holders has Laurentide in Canada apart from Power Corporation?

Mr. SAUNDERS: Common shareholders, 5,780, I believe, and maybe 30 or 40
subordinating common shareholders. Of this number, 540 approximately are
foreign and the balance are Canadians. So in round figures, 5,300 shareholders
are Canadian.

Senator CRERAR: What are the average shareholdings under 5,300?

The CHAIRMAN: This is the second question.

Mr. SAUNDERS: Three hundred shares.

Senator CRERAR: About 300 shares?

Mr. SAUNDERS: Yes.

Senator KINLEY: Does that average include the big fellows?

Mr. SAUNDERS: Yes.

Senator LeEoNARD: Mal I ask Mr. Saunders: If the Porter Commission
recommendations were implemented, would any shareholder have to divest
itself of your shares; that is, that under the recommendation of the Porter
Commission, what we call near banks would be classified as banking institutions,
and they could not hold shares in your bank. What is the relationship of your
application with respect to those recommendations, if they were implemented?

Mr. SAUNDERS: There seems to be no relationship. Of course, we cannot tell
if another institution might acquire on the market an amount beyond 10 per
cent; but the way the plan is laid out that is an unlikely situation because
we would attempt to have a wide distribution. But no corporate shareholders
would end up with what we would consider a situation which would be contrary
to the recommendations of the Porter Commission.

Senator LEONARD: What have you to say with regard to short-term obliga-
tions under 100 days?
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Mr. SAUNDERs: We issue them a prospectus, sir, and I think the Porter
Commission deals with offerings that are not issued pursuant to the prospectus.

The CHAIRMAN: Are there any other questions? I take it, Mr. Saunders,
you have made a note of the information you are going to send forward to us?

Mr. SAUNDERS: We have, sir.

The CHAIRMAN: Now, Mr. Alastair Macdonald?

Mr. MAcDONALD: That is the presentation, Mr. Chairman.

The CHAIRMAN: There is some material still to come forward to us, and
I take it we still have to make up our minds after we have received that as to
whether we wish to hear from Mr. Elderkin, the Inspector-General of Banks,
as we did in the case of the Bank of Western Canada. My suggestion is that
this stand until the next regular sitting of the committee. Is that agreeable?

Hon. SENATORS: Agreed.

The committee adjourned.

¢
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ORDER OF REFERENCE
Extract from the Minutes of the Proceedings of the Senate, Wednesday,
May 13th, 1964.

“Pursuant to the Order of the Day, the Senate resumed the debate on the
motion of the Honourable Senator Cameron, seconded by the Honourable
Senator Stambaugh, for second reading of the Bill S-13, intituled: “An Act to
incorporate Laurentide Bank of Canada”.

After debate, and—

The question being put on the motion, it was—
Resolved in the affirmative, on division.

The Bill was then read the second time, on division.

The Honourable Senator Cameron moved, seconded by the Honourable
Senator Stambaugh, that the Bill be referred to the Standing Committee on
Banking and Commerce.

The question being put on the motion, it was—
Resolved in the affirmative.”

J. F. MacNEILL,
Clerk of the Senate.
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MINUTES OF PROCEEDINGS

WEDNESDAY, June 10, 1964.

Pursuant to adjournment and notice the Standing Committee on Banking
and Commerce met this day at 12.20 p.m.

Present: The Honourable Senators: Hayden (Chairman), Beaubien (Bed-
ford), Blois, Bouffard, Bourget (Speaker), Burchill, Crerar, Dessureault, Fer-
gusson, Flynn, Gershaw, Hugessen, Irvine, Isnor, Lang, Leonard, McCutcheon,
MecLean, Paterson, Pouliot, Smith (Kamloops), Taylor (Norfolk), Thorvaldson,
Vaillancourt, Walker, White and Willis.—(27).

In attendance: Mr. E. Russell Hopkins, Law Clerk and Parliamentary
Counsel.

Bill S-13, intituled: “An Act to incorporate Laurentide Bank of Canada”,
was again considered.

The following witness was heard:
Mr. Peter Paul Saunders, petitioner.

The Clerk of the Committee was directed to notify Mr. Saunders three
days in advance of the next Committee meeting on Bill S-13.

On Motion duly put it was agreed to retain Bill S-13 on the agenda of the
Committee.

At 12.35 p.m. the Committee adjourned to the call of the Chairman.
Attest:

F. A. Jackson,
Clerk of the Committee.
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THE SENATE
STANDING COMMITTEE ON BANKING AND COMMERCE
EVIDENCE

OTrTAWA, Wednesday, June 10, 1964.

The Standing Committee on Banking and Commerce, to which was referred
Bill S-13, to incorporate Laurentide Bank of Canada, met this day at 12.20
p.m. to give further consideration to the bill.

Senator SALTER A. HAYDEN (Chairman) in the Chair.

The CHAIRMAN: Gentlemen, was have a continuation of the hearing on
Bill S-13, to incorporate the Laurentide Bank of Canada. Additional material
requested at the last hearing has now been filed, and I think it is to be
distributed among the members of the committee. There is a supplemental
brief and Mr. Peter Paul Saunders is here. It is not very long and I thought
we should hear him since he is here. I have of course warned him that we
will require time to examine the exhibits filed. It is agreed that we should
hear him now?

Hon. SENATORS: Agreed.

Mr. Peter Paul Saunders, Executive, Vancouver, British Columbia: Mr. Chair-
man and honourable senators, at the meeting of this committee held on
May 27 last, certain questions arose relating to the proposed capitalization of
the Laurentide Bank of Canada. It was requested that a plan be presented
setting forth the capitalization proposed by the petitioners upon the assump-
tion that the charter had been approved on that date.

We respectfully submit this information, based upon that assumption.

I. (2) The petitioners of the Laurentide Bank of Canada are the persons
outlined in the presentation made on May 27, 1964; we respectfully remind
the committee they are acting on their own behalf and are not nominees for
any other persons or corporations.

(b) Accordingly, the proportion of the shares of the Laurentide Bank
of Canada to be offered in the form of rights to shareholders of Laurentide
Financial Corporation Ltd. is a matter for determination by petitioners in
their absolute discretion.

II. Were the Laurentide Bank of Canada today in possession of its
charter and therefore in the position to offer its shares for subscription, it
would do so upon the following basis:

(a) The total number of bank shares offered would be 1,500,000, each
having the par value of $10.00 as set forth in the proposed bill. The offering
price would not be less than $20 per share but the exact price would be
determined after consultation with the underwriters.
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(b) Of the 1,500,000 bank shares to be issued, 706,883 or 47.13 per cent
would be offered in the form or rights to the shareholders of Laurentide
Financial Corporation Ltd. This figure would permit the Laurentide Financial
Corporation Ltd. shareholder to purchase one bank share for each three
common shares held by him and one bank share for each 21 subordinated
common shares held by him.

(c) The remainder of the bank share issue, comprising 793,117 shares
or 52.87 per cent, would be offered to the public throughout Canada by
the underwriters.

(d) Consequent upon the financing outlined above, the following con-
centration of shareholdings would result if we assume in each case that those
entitled to rights by reason of shareholdings in Laurentide Financial Corpora-
tion Ltd. would exercise such rights in full—

There is a table set out here, do you require that I read it?
The CHAIRMAN: We shall take it as read.

(The table is as follows:)

Number of Percentage of
Bank Shares  Bank Shares
Existing public shareholders of Laurentide

Financial Corporation Litd. .............. 480,061 32.01

New public shareholders by underwriters
ERSTRRION &0 it T s 793,117 52.87
Total General Public . i i ahiiee e 1,273,178 84.88
Power Corporation of Canada Limited ... 117,945 7.86
Derston Investment Corporation Ltd. .... 108,877 7.26
1,500,000 100.00

Mr. SAUNDERS: For this purpose, all personal shareholdings of Mr. Peter
Paul Saunders and Mr. Andrew Elliott Saxton in Laurentide Financial Corpora-
tion Ltd. have been added to such shares held by their investment company,
Derston Investment Corporation Ltd.

(e) The bank share distribution is portrayed graphically upon the chart
annexed to this supplementary submission.

We have this chart here if honourable senators would care to see it.

(f) It will be noted that, upon the assumptions before expressed, the largest
individual shareholding to be acquired by reason of the rights offering would be
that of Power Corporation of Canada Ltd. at 7.86 per cent and the second largest
would be that of Derston Investment Corporation at 7.26 per cent. Neither of
these corporations acting individually would be in a position of control.

The balance of approximately 85 per cent would be owned by the public,
partly through the rights offered to Laurentide shareholders, and partly through
the draft which the underwriters would offer to the public.

Senator LEONARD: What happens to the shares that are not taken up by the
shareholders on the issue of rights?

Mr. SAUNDERS: If they were not taken up by the shareholders then pre-
sumably the rights issue would be underwritten by the group of underwriters.
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Senator HUGESSEN: Those would be added to the shares offered to the
public?
Mr. SAUNDERS: Yes.

III. Power Corporation of Canada Limited and Derston Investment Cor-
poration Ltd. have entered into a voting trust agreement with regard to some
of their shareholdings in Laurentide Financial Corporation Ltd. This agreement
has been made available to the committee for examination, and you will have
noted that it does not apply to any shareholdings other than those specifically
set forth. The agreement does not extend to the proposed investment in the
Laurentide Bank of Canada. The sole directors of Derston Investment Corpora-
tion Ltd. are Messrs. Saunders and Saxton, who are among the petitioners; they
are prepared unconditionally to undertake that Derston Investment Corporation
Ltd. will not enter into any voting trust or similar arrangement with respect to
its investment in the bank.

IV. As requested by the committee, we have appended copies of the annual
reports of Laurentide Financial Corporation Ltd. for the immediately preceding
three years. Also as requested, we are submitting separately copies of the voting
trust agreement between Power Corporation of Canada, Limited and Derston
Investment Corporation Ltd., in addition to copies of the annual reports of the
Power Corporation for the last three years.

The CHAIRMAN: Are there any questions senators would like to ask Mr.
Saunders at this time? We now have before us all the material we asked for.
I do not know what the members of the committee feel, but I certainly feel I
would like an opportunity to examine this information. Is there any other evi-
dence you would like to offer at this time, Mr. Saunders?

Mr. SAUNDERS: No, sir, you have all the answers to your questions.

The CHAIRMAN: Then, my suggestion is that we adjourn so that we will
have an opportunity of considering this material. If in the meantime we decide
there are other questions we wish to ask we can notify Mr. Saunders so he may
attend here. Is that satisfactory?

Mr. SAUNDERS: Yes.

The CHAIRMAN: We have to have an opportunity of reading this material.
I saw it for the first time yesterday and, as I told you, I expected to be busy in
the evening and I was not going to burn the midnight oil.

Mr. SAUNDERS: I understand that. We had hoped that by sending it down
last week we would have had a chance of answering questions today.

The CHAIRMAN: We did not have a meeting until last night. Is it the
pleasure of the committee that we adjourn? the bill remains on our agenda, and
we will notify you, Mr. Saunders. How much notice will you require?

Mr. SAUNDERS: It takes about a day to come here from Vancouver.

The CHAIRMAN: If you are notified three or four days before the meeting
of the committee, will that be satisfactory?

Mr. SAUNDERS: Yes.

The CHAIRMAN: Bill S-13 will remain on the agenda.
Then, is it the wish of the committee that we adjourn?

Hon. SENATORS: Agreed.
The Committee adjourned further consideration of Bill S-13.
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ORDER OF REFERENCE

Extract from the Minutes of the Proceedings of the Senate, Wednesday,
May 13, 1964.

‘“Pursuant to the Order of the Day, the Senate resumed the debate on the
motion of the Honourable Senator Cameron, seconded by the Honourable
Senator Stambaugh, for second reading of the Bill S-13, intituled: “An Act to
incorporate Laurentide Bank of Canada”.

After debate, and—

The question being put on the motion, it was—
Resolved in the affirmative, on division.

The Bill was then read the second time, on division.

The Honourable Senator Cameron moved, seconded by the Honourable
Senator Stambaugh, that the Bill be referred to the Standing Committee on
Banking and Commerce.

The question being put on the motion, it was—
Resolved in the affirmative.”

J. F. MacNEILL,
Clerk of the Senate.
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WEDNESDAY, July 22, 1964.

Pursuant to adjournment and notice the Standing Committee on Banking
and Commerce met this day at 8.30 p.m.

Present: The Honourable Senators: Hayden (Chairman), Beaubien (Pro-
vencher), Bouffard, Burchill, Cook, Crerar, Croll, Dessureault, Farris, Fer-
gusson, Flynn, Gelinas, Gershaw Hugessen, Isnor, Kinley, Lambert, Lang,
Leonard, Macdonald (Brantford), McCutcheon, McLean, Molson, O'Leary (Car-
leton), Paterson, Pouliot, Power, Reid, Roebuck, Smith (Kamloops), Taylor
(Norfolk) and Walker. (32)

In attendance: Mr. E. Russell Hopkins, Law Clerk and Parliamentary
Counsel.

The Committee resumed consideration of Bill S-13, “An Act to incorporate
Laurentide Bank of Canada”, clause by clause.

On Motion duly put to report the Bill as amended, the Honourable Senator
Farris moved that the Motion be amended to defer consideration of the said
Bill until Bill S-20, “An Act to incorporate Bank of British Columbia”, be con-
sidered.

The question being put on the amendment, is was RESOLVED in the
negative.

On Motion duly put it was RESOLVED to report the said Bill with the
following amendments:

1. Page 1, line 20: Strike out ‘“ten” and substitute therefor “thirty”.
2. Page 3, line 22: Strike out “1” and substitute therefor “3”.

The Committee concluded its deliberations on the said Bill.

At 9.10 p.m. the Committee adjourned until Wednesday next, July 29,
1964 at 9.30 a.m.

Attest.

F. A. Jackson,
Clerk of the Committee.
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REPORT OF THE COMMITTEE
WEDNESDAY, July 22, 1964.

The Standing Committee on Banking and Commerce to whom was referred
the Bill S-13, intituled: “An Act to incorporate Laurentide Bank of Canada”,
have in obedience to the order of reference of May 13, 1964, examined the
said Bill and now report the same with the following amendments:

1. Page 1, line 20: Strike out “ten” and substitute therefore “thirty”.
2. Page 3, line 22: Strike out “1” and substitute therefor ‘3”.
All which is respecfully submitted.

SALTER A. HAYDEN,
Chairman.
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THE SENATE
THE STANDING COMMITTEE ON BANKING AND COMMERCE
EVIDENCE

OrTAwWA, Wednesday, July 22, 1964.

The Standing Committee on Banking and Commerce, to which was referred
Bill S-13, to incorporate Laurentide Bank of Canada, met this day at 8.30
p.m. to give further consideration to the bill.

Senator Salter A. Hayden (Chairman) in the Chair.

The CHAIRMAN: Honourable senators, we now have before us for further
consideration Bill S-13, to incorporate Laurentide Bank of Canada. Shall we
deal with it section by section?

Senator CrROLL: I so move.

The CHAIRMAN: Shall section 1 carry?

Hon. SENATORS: Carried.

The CHAIRMAN: Shall section 2 carry?

Hon. SENATORS: Carried.

The CHAIRMAN: Shall section 3 carry?

Senator CAMERON: I would like to make an amendment there, Mr. Chair-
man, that the capitalization in sections 3 and 6 be increased from $10 million
to $30 million—to change the words in sections 3 and 6.

The CHAIRMAN: We are dealing with section 3 of the bill. The amend-
ment proposed is that the capital stock of the bank shall be $30 million.
Carried?

Hon. SENATORS: Carried.

The CHAIRMAN: Section 47

Hon. SENATORS: Carried.

The CHAIRMAN: Section 5?

Hon. SENATORS: Carried.

The CHAIRMAN: Section 6, there is a proposed change there, to change the
$10 million to $30 million. Shall section 6 carry?

Hon. SENATORS: Carried.

The CHAIRMAN: Shall section 7 carry?

Hon. SENATORS: Carried.

Senator CroLL: I move the preamble.

The CHAIRMAN: Shall the preamble carry?

Hon. SENATORS: Carried.

The CHAIRMAN: Shall the title carry?

Hon. SENATORS: Carried.

The CHAIRMAN: Shall I report the bill with the amendments?

Senator FARRIS: My position is this, that so far as this bill is concerned
I am not objecting to it unless it is suggested that it is to be an alternative
to the Bank of British Columbia bill.
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The CHAIRMAN: I have not heard any suggestion of that kind.

Senator FArris: I think it was pretty nearly suggested by Senator Me-
Cutcheon this afternoon. I asked him whether he took that position or not,
and he said that he would not be cross-examined.

All I have to say is that if there is or will be any suggestion that as a
result of the passing of this bill the second bank is not needed, then I say
this should go over until we have an opportunity to discuss both bills together.
That cannot take place until we have a transcript of all the evidence which
has been heard today and time to study it.

The CHAIRMAN: Senator, there is nothing before this committee which
suggests the bill to incorporate the Bank of British Columbia is now ruled out
and is not to be considered because we have agreed to report the Laurentide
bill. There is no such thing that I know of in the record of proceedings.

Senator FARrIS: There is not any suggestion in that wording, but I think
there is the implication that if you get one of these bills passed that ought to
satisfy the demand from British Columbia and the other bill should not be
passed.

The CHAIRMAN: You asked the question of Senator McCutcheon this after-
noon. He did not answer it, which position he had a right to take; but one
swallow does not make a summer.

Senator FARriS: The fact he did not answer, after the question that he put
before, left the thing up in the air.

I say it is not fair that we should, at a time when we have two bills in
connection with a bank for British Columbia, deal with one of them without
final consideration of the other. Therefore, I move as an amendment, that the
final decision on this bill be postponed to the date suggested by Senator
McCutcheon for the hearing of the other bill.

The CHAIRMAN: There is a motion I report the bill without amendment.
The motion you want to make you would accomplish by voting against this
motion to report the bill.

Senator FARRIS: I want to do more than that. I do not want to oppose it,
but I want the adjournment of it until such time as we have had an oppor-
tunity of considering both bills. That is very different, Mr. Chairman.

Senator CroLL: We have already dealt with the matter of adjournment,
Mr. Chairman.

The CHAIRMAN: In those circumstances, in order that I might put your
motion first you have to move the adjournment at this stage.

Senator FARRIS: I move the adjournment, not of the committee but of the
consideration of the motion approving the title of the bill until a date fixed for
the final hearing of the B.C. bill.

The CHAIRMAN: In other words, you are moving—

Senator POWER: —that this bill be not now reported, but be reported two
weeks hence.

The CHAIRMAN: Are you ready for the amendment?

Those in favour of the amendment—which is that we do not now report

this bill but that it be considered for report next Wednesday, when another
banking bill is before us—please signify?

Senator CRERAR: I do not think we are clear as to the motion, Mr. Chair-
man.

3
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The CHAIRMAN: We have a motion to report the bill now. Senator Farris
wants to defer the voting on the reporting of this bill until we have considered
the bill for the Bank of British Columbia, and that the reporting of this bill be
deferred until that time. I am putting it as an amendment. If you are in favour
of deferring the making of the report until such time as the bill for the Bank
of British Columbia is considered, you will raise your hand.

Those in favour?
Those opposed?
The amendment is lost.

The motion now is to report the bill with the amendments that have been
made at this time. Those in favour, signify? Contrary, if any? Carried.

The committee adjourned.
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ORDER OF REFERENCE

Extract from the Minutes of the Proceedings of the Senate, Wednesday,
May 6th, 1964:

“Pursuant to the Order of the Day, the Senate resumed the debate on the
motion of the Honourable Senator Cook, seconded by the Honourable Senator
Lang, for second reading of Bill S-17, intituled: “An Act respecting the Ter-
ritorial Sea and Fishing Zones of Canada”.

After debate, and—

The question being put on the motion, it was—
Resolved in the affirmative, on division.

The Bill was then read the second time, on division.

The Honourable Senator Cook moved, seconded by the Honourable Senator
Lang, that the Bill be referred to the Standing Committee on Banking and
Commerce.

The question then being put on the motion of the Honourable Senator
Cook, seconded by the Honourable Senator Lang, that the Bill be referred
to the Standing Committee on Banking and Commerce, it was—

Resolved in the affirmative, on division.”

J. F. MacNEILL,
Clerk of the Senate.
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MINUTES OF PROCEEDINGS

THURSDAY, May Tth, 1964

Pursuant to adjournment and notice the Standing Committee on Banking
and Commerce met this day at 9.30 a.m.

Present: The Honourable Senators Hayden (Chairman), Aseltine, Baird,
Beaubien (Bedford), Beaubien (Provencher), Blois, Bouffard, Brooks, Burchill,
Choquette, Connolly (Ottawa West), Cook, Crerar, Croll, Davies, Fergusson,
Flynn, Gelinas, Hugessen, Isnor, Kinley, Lambert, Lang, Leonard, McCutcheon,
McLean, Molson, Pearson, Pouliot, Power, Smith (Kamloops), Taylor (Norfolk),
Thorvaldson, Vaillancourt, White, Willis and Woodrow. (37)

In attendance: Mr. E. Russell Hopkins, Law Clerk and Parliamentary
Counsel.

On Motion of the Honourable Senator McCutcheon it was RESOLVED to
report recommending that authority be granted for the printing of 800 copies
in English and 300 copies in French of the proceedings of the Committee on
Bill S-17.

Bill S-17, intituled: “An Act respecting Territorial Sea and Fishing Zones
of Canada”, was considered.

The following witnesses were heard: The Hon. Paul Martin, Minister of
External Affairs; The Hon. H. Robichaud, Minister of Fisheries; Mr. C. Gordon
O’Brien, Manager, Fisheries Council of Canada; Mr. J. D. Affleck, Assistant
Deputy Minister of Justice; Mr. A. E. Gottlieb, Deputy Head, Legal Division,
Department of External Affairs.

On Motion of the Honourable Senator Aseltine it was RESOLVED to print
the brief of the Fisheries Council of Canada as APPENDIX “A” to this day’s
proceedings of the Committee.

At 11.45 a.m. the Committee adjourned to the call of the Chairman.
Attest.

F. A. Jackson,
Clerk of the Committee.






THE SENATE
STANDING COMMITTEE ON BANKING AND COMMERCE
EVIDENCE

OrTAWA, Thursday, May 7, 1964.

The Standing Committee on Banking and Commerce, to which was
referred Bill S-17, respecting the Territorial Sea and Fishing Zones of Canada.

Senator Salter A. Hayden (Chairman), in the Chair.

The CHAIRMAN: I call the meeting to order.
The committee agreed that a verbatim report be made of the com-
mittee’s proceedings on the bill.
The committee agreed to report, recommending that authority be
granted for the printing of 800 copies in English and 300 copies in French
of the committee’s proceedings on the bill.

The CHAIRMAN: Senators, we have before us this morning Bill S-17,
respecting the Territorial Sea and Fishing Zones of Canada. We have a number
of witnesses here this morning dealing with Bill S-17, including the honourable
Paul Martin, Secretary of State for External Affairs, and the honourable Mr.
Robichaud, Minister of Fisheries. I suggest that we might hear from the
Honourable Mr. Martin first, if it is the wish of the committee. Possibly he
will make a statement, and then if you wish to ask any questions he will hear
them. Is that agreeable?

Hon. SENATORS: Agreed.

The Honourable Paul Martin, Secretary of State for External Affairs: Mr.
Chairman and honourable senators, I have had the advantage of reading the
debate in the house on this subject, and may I say that I thought it was of a
very high order. This is a very difficult subject, and it is one that involves
continuing negotiations that I am having, along with the Minister of Fisheries,
with a number of countries. Anything that is said by me in particular as the
negotiator for Canada is naturally going to be carefully observed by the
countries with whom we are carrying on negotiations. On that account, I want
to be precise with regard to anything that I say in chief, or anything that I
say by way of response. I am sure that you will all appreciate that while
negotiations are under way it is extremely difficult to engage in the fullest
kind of disclosure, and that I know no one would expect me to do. But subject
to that, I shall be very glad to put this matter as I see it, and to answer any
questions as to the course of the negotiations and why more definitive things
are not undertaken in the bill.

A year ago, on June 4, the Prime Minister made a statement in the other
house on the law of the sea. This was an important announcement, and it
followed a period of negotiation under this government, under the previous
government and the government before it. I may say that we are all the
happy beneficiaries of the very important work that was carried on by the
former government, as well as its predecessor, at two international conferences.

7
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I would like to emphasize that as far as I am concerned, and as far as the
department over which I preside is concerned, this is essentially a problem of
a technical character; it is one deeply involving the national interest, and as far
as we are concerned, it has no political connotation at all.

The Prime Minister informed the house that the Government had decided
to establish a 12-mile exclusive fishery zone along the whole of Canada’s
coastline, as of mid-May 1964 and to begin the establishment of the straight
baseline system at the same time as the basis from which Canada’s territorial
sea and exclusive fishery zone would be measured. It may not be possible to
have this declared by mid-May, 1964, because I think that, as Senator Brooks
mentioned, it is desirable that the fullest examination be made of this problem,
and there is no real time-limit in the sense it must be announced on a
particular day. However, I think it is important that the 12-mile fishing zone
limit be established at the earliest possible moment.

You have before you a bill concerning the territorial sea and the fishing
zones of Canada. This legislation will carry out the policy of the Government,
as announced by the Prime Minister and as mentioned by him to the President
of the United States last May.

Now I should like to review the background, as we see it, in order to ensure
that you appreciate the full situation at the moment and the action that the
Government contemplates.

For Canadians, the Law of the Sea has been a matter of major importance
for many years. The pages of our history, both in the last century and the
present one, contain long accounts of negotiations concerning Canadian waters.
In recent years the problem has become acute, as foreign fishing has steadily
increased off our east and west coasts. There has been a growing strain on our
national resources, and a danger of our stocks being depleted. On the fisheries
side, my colleague the Minister of Fisheries will be able to give you more
authoritative information than I can be expected to do, and he is here for that
purpose.

Tt became evident to the Canadian Government 10 years ago that the
traditional three-mile limit for territorial waters was no longer adequate to
meet all our Canadian needs, and we began to try to find a way in which our
own interests in our coastal waters could adequately be protected. In developing
this policy, successive Canadian Governments have been motivated not only
by the need to preserve the living resources of our seas but by the interests
of our national security. Our coastline is unique; it is perhaps the longest of
any country in the world. It is unique in another respect, because ours is the
only country bounded by three oceans. Year after year we have seen an increas-
ing concentration of foreign ships off our shores.

It was against this background that in 1956, at the Eleventh Session of
the General Assembly of the United Nations, the Canadian delegation proposed
to that body that new solutions must be found for the protection of the
interests of coasted states. Our delegation suggested that a 12-mile fishing
zone should be established, in which the coastal state would have the same
rights over fishing as it has in its territorial sea. This was the first time that
the proposal for an exclusive 12-mile fishing zone was advanced by any
country in an international forum. It was not the first time it had been
advanced in bilateral negotiations, but it was the first time before an in-
ternational body.

The phrase “12-mile exclusive fishing zone” is now a familiar term to
international lawyers, but it is oftentimes a term that is misunderstood. It
means that in a 12-mile band of water adjacent to its coastline a couniry
is entitled to exclusive jurisdiction over fishing. The concept does not allow
a coastal state to have a 12-mile fishing belt beyond the three-mile territorial
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limit; that would mean a 15-mile exclusive fisheries jurisdiction. In the case
of a country like Canada, with a three-mile territorial sea over which the
nation exercises full sovereignty, an exclusive 12-mile fisheries jurisdiction
would be composed of a nine-mile fishing belt extending beyond the three-mile
territorial sea. The outer limits of the fishing belt would thus be 12 miles from
the baselines along the coast.

Since the Canadian proposal was first introduced in 1956, Canadian efforts
to protect our coastal waters fall within three broad stages. The first, from
1956 to 1960, marked a continuation of attempts to achieve a world-wide
treaty obligation bringing into effect a new rule of international law which
it was hoped would be established. Canada sought such a solution at the two
U.N. conferences on the Law of the Sea. At the first conference in 1958 the
Canadian delegation, supported by many of the new states, put forward the
proposal earlier advanced in the U.N. for an exclusive 12-mile fishing zone.
At that time we lacked the support of many of the leading maritime states,
such as the United States, the United Kingdom and the western European
countries. By the end of the first conference these states were prepared to
envisage certain limited modifications in the traditional rules of international
law, but they were not willing to support the Canadian proposal. Had they
done so, we could have achieved international agreement on a three-mile
limit and a 12-mile fishing zone. I strongly support what Senator Brooks has
said about the contribution made by my predecessors in this office, and the
work of Mr. Drew at these two conferences, and of those associated with me
in my own department and in the department presided over by my colleague.

Canada, in close co-operation with Norway, then undertook extensive
preparations for the second U.N. conference in 1960. We continue to remain,
and I want to say now I am, very grateful to the Government of Norway
for the support it gave to our efforts at that time and for the initiative which
it has taken and which has inspired the legislation that is embodied in this
bill.

~ The purpose of the 1960 conference was to seek agreement in that one
area where the first conference failed—the breadth of the territorial sea and
fishing limits. This time the United States and the western European countries
agreed to support the Canadian formula for a six-mile territorial sea and exclu-
sive 12-mile fishing zone provided that states which had fished in the fishing
zone for five years would be allowed to fish there for a period of 10 years.
This 10-year interval was called the “phasing-out period,” and we proposed
it in order to win the support of those nations which had fished in our waters
for many years. This joint United States-Canada proposal failed. It failed by
a single vote, as you know, to win the required two-thirds majority. A number
of the leading Maritime states then announced they would continue to adhere
to the three-mile limit and would consider any unilateral changes as contrary
to international law.

In the second phase, the then Canadian Government undertook soundings
in various parts of the world to see whether something could be salvaged from
the support won for an exclusive 12-mile fishing zone at the two U.N. con-
ferences. Canada helped to conduct a survey to see whether support could be
had for a multilateral convention allowing the parties to erect a fishing limit of
12 miles. These discussions were carried out for some time, but proved incon-
clusive.

When we took over the responsibilities of Government we had this back-
ground before us, and the position in April of 1963 was that in spite of the past
efforts of ourselves and others these efforts had not succeeded in getting an
agreement with other states on a multilateral basis. Notwithstanding Cana-
dian actions at the two U. N. conferences, there was no formal change or im-
provement in our rights to our coastal fisheries. In the meantime, the climate of
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opinion was changing, and several important fishing countries had decided that,
in view of the inadequacy of the three-mile limit for fishing purposes and the
increasing number of countries departing from it, it cou}d no longer be said
that there was any clear rule of international law in this sphgre. :

Iceland, Norway and others unilaterally proclaimed a 12-mile ﬁs}nng zone,
adding their number to the many countries which had at some point during
the present century extended their territorial limits or claimed ﬁshmg'rlghts
beyond their traditional limits for their territorial sea. At the same time, a
number of the leading Maritime countries, especially those interested in distant-
water fishing, strongly maintained their traditional positions. I think the pro-
poser of the resolution in your house was right in saying that all of these meas-
ures throughout the course of history for the most part have been brought
about as a result of unilateral action.

The Government decided in April that we could no longer pin our hopes
on the possibility of a new rule of international law being created by general
agreement, nor could we expect sufficient support for a limited multllatergl
agreement with likeminded countries. The Government considered that, in
these circumstances, appropriate action would have to be taken and taken soon
to alleviate our difficulties. That is what we have done. We decided that remedial
action was necessary for the protection of our inshore fisheries, as my colleague
will show, and the people that depend on them, for the development of the
living resources of our seas and for the security of Canada. We concluded that
our decision would be solidly based on international custom as reflected in the
present practice of coastal states.

The third and final stage of our efforts began when the present Prime
Minister announced in our house that we would establish a 12-mile fishing
limit and seek to establish straight baselines in 1964.

At that time the Prime Minister emphasized—and I attach some im-
portance to this—that we would try to reach satisfactory arrangements with
the countries that would be affected by our decision. These are all friendly
countries to Canada. These are countries which have fished off our shores for
years. They include our closest friends and we have had with them a long
tradition of co-operation on fishing as we have on other matters. It must
always be remembered that the delineation by a state of its coastal waters
is bound to have an international aspect and perhaps an international
implication.

In the period between the announcement made by the Prime Minister
in June and the present, we have accordingly carried out a series of negotia-
tions with a number of countries, beginning with the United States. My col-
league and I have participated particularly in these negotiations with the
United States. We have had three separate rounds of discussions with them.
We have also had exploratory talks with the following countries: Norway,
Denmark, France, Portugal, Spain, Italy, Britain and Japan. These countries
have sent officials to Ottawa to discuss the matter with us. I will refer to
those talks later.

Where do we stand now—mid-May, 1964? The Government, in fulfilment
of its declared policy, has introduced legislation which we hope will shortly
come into force. There are, as you know, five aspects to the bill before you.

First, when the bill is proclaimed and comes into force, we will have a
fishing zone. The bill provides:

—the fishing zones of Canada comprise those areas of the sea contiguous
to the territorial sea of Canada and having, as their inner limits, the
outer limits of the territorial sea and, as their outer limits, lines
measured seaward and equidistant from such inner limits so that each
point of the outer limit line of a fishing zone is distant nine nautical
miles from the nearest point of the inner limit line.
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This legal language is complicated, but the effect is simple. It means that
Canada will have established a 12-mile exclusive fisheries jurisdiction along
the whole of our coastline. It is only an exclusive fisheries jurisdiction that
we are seeking to establish, because we are maintaining our traditional three-
mile territorial sea limit.

Second, the legislation, in accordance with the Prime Minister’s state-
ment of June 4, gives to the Governor in Council authority to issue lists of
geographical co-ordinates of points from which the baselines of the territorial
sea will be drawn. This means that the limits of Canada’s territorial sea will
be three miles from the straight baselines. The baselines will not come into
force immediately as a result of the act. When the act takes effect, the
Governor in Council will be able, under section 5, I think, by means of an
order in council, to proclaim the straight baselines. Both the territorial sea
and the fishing zone will then be measured from these lines.

We would all be happier if the situation were such that we could finalize
this whole matter in the one bill at this time, but it is just not possible to do
so. Our negotiations are under way and in the case of most countries we
have reached only the first stage. The suggestion that we could have waited
until the negotiations were completed does not take into account the nature
of these negotiations and the nature of the problem itself, and would in my
judgment, after most careful consideration, mean a postponement for a long
time, an indefinite period, of what we regard as essential in the interests of
the fishing community—the establishment of a 12-mile fishery zone limit.

At the first Law of the Sea Conference in 1958 a special rule was agreed
upon, based on the Anglo-Norwegian Fisheries Case which was decided in
the International Court of Justice. That decision, which was very germane
to the action we have taken, allows a country to measure the territorial limit
not from the sinuosities, the normal, but from the straight baselines where
a coastline is highly indented or where there is a fringe of islands along its
immediate vicinity. This has important implications for Canada, as ours is
a jagged coastline with island fringes and lends itself to the application of
this Norwegian case.

Our officers—and I assure you that this was the result of a technical
examination by the officers of the departments concerned—after careful
examination recommended to the Government, and the Government concluded
that, taking into account legal, economic, historic, and other factors, the straight
baseline system is applicable to most of our coastline. Consequently, the Gov-
ernor in Council, pursuant to legislation contained in this bill, will publish lists
of points for drawing straight baselines along our coasts based on the rules of
international law and taking into account our historic and other interests in
special bodies of water.

As you know, Canadian Governments over the years have laid claims to
certain bodies of water. It is very difficult for me to discuss this at the present
time because of the negotiations that are under way.

Third, you will note that under the act we continue to adhere to the three-
mile territorial sea, and not to the six-mile territorial sea as at one point we
did in the conference in Geneva. The reason we do that is because it is the
rule that does the least damage to the principle of the freedom of the high
seas and to international navigation.

The Government considers that the three-mile limit drawn from straight
baselines, together with the new fishing zone, will meet Canada’s requirements.

Fourth, the proposed legislation contained in the second part of the bill
includes certain changes of a consequential character in the Aeronautics Act,
the Canada Shipping Act, the Customs Act, the Criminal Code, the Fisheries
and Coastal Fisheries Protection Acts. The alterations in these acts are limited
to modifying their sphere of application so as to take into the account the new
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legislation concerning the straight baselines, the territorial sea and, where
appropriate, the fishing zone. The Customs Act, the Criminal Code, the Canada
Shipping and Aeronautics Act are altered so as to bring them into line with
the provisions of the first part of the bill concerning the territorial sea and
internal Canadian waters. The Fisheries and Coastal Fisheries Acts are modified

so as to provide for their application to Canadian fisheries waters comprising

the territorial sea, internal waters and fishing zones of Canada.

Fifth, the final provision of the bill entitled “Coming into Force”, provides
that the act or any provision thereof will come into force on a day or days to
be fixed by proclamation of the Governor in Council.

This last provision is important in understanding the timetable for imple-
mentation of the act and the effects of the legislation. I should like to provide
members with as clear a picture as possible of the legal effects of the bill, as
I see it. These should be considered in two phases.

In the first phase, the situation in law—immediately upon the act coming
into force—will be as follows: The fishing zone will be created, and it will
come into existence on proclamation of the act. However, a certain amount of
time is necessary for the promulgation of the new baselines from which the
territorial sea and fishery zones will be drawn.

When you are examining this question with the technical officers of the
Department of Fisheries, and perhaps other departments, I am sure you will
see why this delay is inevitable.

As I explained, the authority in the Governor in Council to publish points
for drawing straight baselines is granted immediately on the coming into force
of this act. But our coastline is extraordinarily long and intricate. In addition,
the interests of those countries, which I mentioned earlier, are affected, as they
have been fishing in waters which will be enclosed by the new baselines or in
the new fishing zone. The complexity of the task of drawing these baselines
and of seeking to adjust the interests of friendly nations is such that the
negotiations have not yet concluded; and I am not in a position to say when
they will be concluded. Therefore a period of time will elapse before Canadian
laws will be implemented in the zone.

I am hopeful that our discussions will be completed within a few months,
and that the Governor in Council will then be in a position to proclaim the
list of points for drawing the straight baselines which we have in mind. It
is unlikely that the Governor in Council will publish points covering our entire
coastline in his first list. It is possible that, depending on how far the negotiations
have advanced, he will publish several lists and that, in the first, baselines will
come into force only for those areas where we have completed our discussions.
In any event, the first phase will consist of a short period, after entry into force
of the act, which will permit completion of our negotiations before proclaiming
straight baselines and enforcing the fishing zone.

When the straight baselines are proclaimed, in whole or in part, and when
Canadian laws come into operation in the fishing zone, the second phase begins.

The legal effects will be as follows. First, those countries which have not
fished in those areas or have just begun to fish will not be able to come in. At
least, they will not be able to come in according to Canadian law. They must
cease their operations at once both in the fishing zone and in the internal waters
enclosed by the baselines after their proclamation.

Second, special arrangements will come into force for those countries which
have treaty rights off parts of our shores—the United States and France—in
order to allow them to continue to fish in those areas where they have- fished
before, and subject to agreed arrangements and regulations for the protection
of the fisheries concerned. I am not in a position at the present time to give
further details about this.

[P
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Third, we are in the process of discussing arrangements with countries
with no treaty rights which have fished off our shores for many years—
Portugal, Spain, Norway, Denmark and Italy—to allow them time to adjust
their operations so that they do not suffer undue economic losses.

I should like to conclude by discussing briefly our negotiations with the
United States. The Prime Minister said, when he announced this policy, that
he had had discussions with President Kennedy at Hyannis Port and that he
had informed the President that the Canadian Government would shortly be
taking decisions to establish a 12-mile fishing zone. The President reserved the
longstanding American position in support of the 3-mile limit and he also
called our attention to the historic and treaty fishing rights of the United States.
Our Prime Minister assured him that these rights would be taken into account.
In our negotiations with the United States this has been the Canadian position
throughout. Discussions have taken place with the United States with a view
of determining the nature and the extent of these rights and in determining
the extent to which they might be affected by the action we take.

I am confident that the United States and Canada will be able to work
out a solution in this field, as we have done in other difficult problems. In view
of our tradition of the closest co-operation, we remain optimistic that we will
reach a satisfactory common accord with the United States. However, we have
not yet been able to settle all outstanding problems. On most matters there
are no differences between us; in certain other areas, our points of view have
yet to coincide.

We have made clear that we are prepared to be fair and just towards our
neighbour. In our efforts to reach an accord with the United States we will
continue to be guided by our tradition of friendship. We are convinced that
our case is a fair one, solidly founded on legal, economic and historic
considerations and those of a security nature. The configuration of our coastline,
the needs of the people of Canada and the interests of our security, require
us to draw baselines so as to enclose Canadian internal waters. We have
informed the United States that in view of their treaty rights, and in order
to be as fair as possible to the interests of their fishermen, we are prepared
to allow them to continue to fish in those areas where they have operated
until now, subject to agreed regulations for the protection of the fisheries
concerned.

I hope that with the adoption of this legislation our negotiations will be
furthered. I noticed what Senator Thorvaldson had to say in this connection
in the speech he delivered the other day in your house. I believe this bill will
assist us greatly in our negotiations.

It is my expectation that by the end of the year straight baselines will be
proclaimed for most of our coastline and the fishing zone will be implemented.
The differences which we must overcome do not affect the great portion of
our coastal limits where there will be no difficulty in achieving agreement on
what we propose to do. I am hopeful that in the foreseeable future, all
difficulties will have been removed and that our longstanding desire to protect
our coastal waters will be considerably furthered.

The CHAIRMAN: Are you ready for questions?

Senator FLyNN: Mr. Chairman, may I say first that I am sure we are all
indebted to the minister for his statement, which is most helpful in understand-
ing the purpose of the bill. My questions are to help one who is not too familar
with the problem. Therefore, I would like to know what is the present status of
the problem. First, with regard to baselines. I see in the bill that some
baselines exist presently. What have been the rules in establishing these
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baselines? Do we take into consideration the judgment of the International
Court, in the Norwegian case that you have mentioned?

Hon. Mr. MarTIN: The Norwegian case, certainly in our judgment, is
applicable to our situation, and in our judgment authorizes us to establish the
straight baseline system in Canada. That is our authority in law.

Senator FLYNN: I wonder whether the present baseline has been established
in accordance with the rules contained in this judgment?

Hon. Mr. MARTIN: I do not think so, but I do not know.

Hon. Hédard Robichaud, Minister of Fisheries: The existing baselines are based
on the sinuosity of our coast; so the one you have in mind would be based
on headland to headland points, which would be determined by order in
council.

Senator FLYNN: So that the three-mile limit is based on baselines
following the coast?

. Hon. Mr. RoBicHAUD: That is on the sinuosity principle.

Senator FLYNN: But the intention is to establish a three-mile limit based
on straight baselines.

Hon. Mr. MARrTIN: To establish a territorial sea based upon the stralght
baseline system.

Senator FLYNN: And the Government is of the opinion that the case which
has been mentioned is sufficient authority to establish new baselines?

Hon. Mr. MArTIN: That is right. We would go further. We would say that
if there was no case and if there was no decision standing in the way, the
promulgation of a new international principle could be affected in this unilateral
way.

Senator FLynnN: Would it have been possible to establish now, without
waiting for the bill, these new baselines?

Hon. Mr. MARrTIN: Not without waiting for the bill.

Senator FLYNN: I mean, the bill does not give more authority to the Gov-
ernment than it has presently with respect to establishing baselines?

Hon. Mr. MarTiN: This is an enabling bill which gives the Governor in
Council power to establish the straight baseline system.

Senator FLynn: But the present baselines have been established on what
authority—those which follow the coasts?

Senator KiNLEY: On agreement with the United States.
Hon. Mr. MARTIN: Not necessarily. On executive authority.

Senator FLynn: I think the Government could have established new
straight baselines under the same authority it had to establish the present
baselines.

Hon. Mr. MARTIN: We are doing something that is going to have an inter-
national application in a new kind of international society. We are seeking to
do this in the way that will give as great an opportunity for being as fair as
possible to one’s neighbours and to nations that have an interest in our waters.
For that reason we believe there should be clear legislative authority for the
action that the Government proposes to take.

Another reason is, as I pointed out in my statement, that we have a number
of acts that are affected by this—the Aeronautics Act, and so on—that have
to be modified, and the only way in which they can be modified is by Act
of Parliament.
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Senator FLYNN: Would you say that the situations of the baselines which
will be proclaimed will be affected by the negotiations which are under way
or which may take place hereafter?

Hon. Mr. MARTIN: It is possible. With regard to a good part of our coastline
I do not think there is a problem.

Senator McCuTtcHEON: That is the unimportant part of the coastline.

Hon. Mr. MARTIN: No, I think some of it is very important—Newfoundland,
for instance.

I would rather put it this way, senator, that it would be more helpful in
our negotiations to be able to take into account the discussions that we will be
subsequently having with these other countries, and in some instances to let
them know what we have in mind, rather than take a pre-determined position
now. In any event, the decisions of the Governor in Council with regard to the
baselines that will be established, will always be a matter which can be re-
viewed by the legislative authority in Canada.

Senator Brooks: Of course, the difficulty now is that other countries have
treaties, and you cannot establish baselines on that account. That is the main
reason, is it not?

Hon. Mr. MARTIN: Well, with regard to the United States and France,
their fishing claims are based on treaty rights; but not with regard to the
others. i

Senator Brooks: What particular fishing areas are concerned? Could you
give us that list?

Hon. Mr. MARTIN: I do not think I can. Perhaps my colleague has that.

Hon. Mr. RoBicHAUD: The main areas which are affected by treaties are the
coast of Newfoundland and the Gulf of St. Lawrence. These are definitely
affected by existing treaties which we have agreed to recognize.

Senator Brooks: Is it not true that practically all the important fishing
areas are concerned? These areas, as the minister said, could be determined
possibly at the present time, but they are not really particularly good fishing
areas. The real fishing areas of Canada are those with which we are having
difficulty and in which the fishermen are mostly interested.

Hon. Mr. RoBICHAUD: Yes, except that the fishing areas already covered
by treaties are only France and the United States; while some of the others
are covered by historic rights only, and others by—

Hon. Mr. MARTIN: Usage.

Senator Brooks: I understood from the minister the intention was to
negotiate on the historic rights as well as the treaty rights?

Hon. Mr. RoBIicHAUD: Yes.

Senator Brooks: I also notice that the U.S.S.R. have not been mentioned.
Have they any rights at all in the places you have mentioned?

Hon. Mr. MarTIN: We do not think they have rights.

Senator Brooks: Do they think that they have?

Hon. Mr. MARTIN: I am not aware that they have made any claims to us.

The CHAIRMAN: Senator Flynn were you through?

Senator Brooks: I am sorry, I thought you had finished.

Hon. Mr. MarTIN: I would like to finish that. Of course, if they had carried
on for a fairly substantial period, they could have said they had acquired
these rights.



16 STANDING COMMITTEE

Senator FLyNN: I have just two other questions. I want to make sure that
the establishing of these straight baselines would follow only technical princi-
ples rather than the situation of fact effected by negotiations or treaties or
historic rights.

Hon. Mr. MARTIN: They will be drawn by the people in the departments
concerned.

Senator FLynN: I notice the Department of Mines and Technical Surveys
is represented, because this is a technical problem.

Hon. Mr. MagrTiN: They will be drawn in consultation with all the depart-
ments concerned, including the Department of External Affairs, and they will
be drawn by technical people.

Senator FLynn: And only taking into account the technical problems and
not treaty problems? That would be something different.

Hon. Mr. MarTIN: Yes, that is something different.

Senator FLYNN: You could establish a baseline based on technical rules
and yet, at the same time, recognize the rights of the United ‘States, for in-
stance, to fish in certain areas?

Hon. Mr. MarTIN: I do not want to go too far into this, perhaps for
obvious reasons. The closing of certain bodies of water will be gradually
effected by what is done in certain areas on the straight baseline principle.

Senator FLYNN: So, in conclusion, the Government is satisfied, as far as
establishing straight baselines is concerned, it has sufficient authority with
the decision of the International Court—at least, sufficient support by the
viewpoint of other nations, to establish those straight baselines?

Hon. Mr. MaRrTIN: That is right.

Senator FLYNN: The Government is also satisfied that the three-mile terri-
torial limit would not be contested seriously?

Hon. Mr. MARTIN: The three-mile territorial limit is now a fact. It suits
our practical purposes to continue the three-mile territorial sea, which is the
area where our sovereignty runs beyond the land. It was not the position we
took at Geneva when we agreed to a six-plus-six formula; but we did that
because we thought it was the way by which we could better achieve our
objective of a 12-mile fishing zone. But we have now come back to the three-
mile territorial sea because we believe it is in our interests and because it
serves navigation and other needs.

Senator FLYNN: Therefore, there would be these additional nine miles
which would complete the fishing zone?

Hon. Mr. MARTIN: Yes.

Senator FLynn: That is really the big problem still?

Hon. Mr. MaRrTIN: That is right.

Senator FLYNN: And the Government is satisfied it can negotiate success-
fully within a period of a year or so, or less?

Hon. Mr. MARTIN: Well, I am hopeful. This is a very difficult negotiation,
senator.

The CHAIRMAN: Senator Thorvaldson?

Senator THORVALDSON: Mr. Minister, there is one question on which I might
have heard you wrongly, but I thought you said it was the intention that the
United States, particularly, would continue with its historic and treaty rights.

I presume it is intended to negotiate with that country in regard to treaty
interests and historic rights?

Hon. Mr. MARTIN: Yes. Basically, of course, their position with respect to
fishing rights will not be changed. What we are concerned with is that they
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will not take a position which would make it difficult for us to extend to the
limit we would like the principle of the straight baseline system. This is par-
ticularly so with regard to certain bodies of waters in which we claim a
proprietary interest.

Senator THORVALDSON: However, these treaty rights concern much more
than just the question of the baseline, they concern the right of fishing in
certain waters.

Hon. Mr. MARTIN: Yes, which we do not propose to disturb. United States
fishing will not be affected by what we are proposing to do. We have made this
clear to them.

Senator THORVALDSON: This is really my question, Mr. Minister. Therefore,
it is not the intention to attempt to disturb in any way in perpetuity or at—

Hon. Mr. MARTIN: Basically.

Senator THORVALDSON: Or at least as long as this lasts, it is not intended
in any way to negotiate with the United States on these matters?

Hon. Mr. MARTIN: That is right.

The CHAIRMAN: I thought I gathered from what the minister said that we
would not negotiate in connection with the making of fishing regulations.

Senator THORVALDSON: This was my question. I just wanted to know how
far these negotiations would presumably go. It is just in regard to baselines
and regulations and no more?

Hon. Mr. MARTIN: That is right. There will be no disturbance of their treaty
rights or what they regard as their historic fishing rights. The negotiation is
not in that area whatsoever. The negotiation is with regard to the consequences
of our application of a straight baseline system, in their mind. That is the
area of negotiation.

Senator THORVALDSON: May I ask also with regard to our treaty or treaties

with France. Is it also expected that we will not be able to negotiate completely
with regard to those treaties, or do you expect success in doing so?

Hon. Mr. MARTIN: I think the situation with France is very satisfactory.

Senator THORVALDSON: Does the Government hope that you might get a
complete abrogation in due course of the French treaty?

Hon. Mr. MARTIN: No, no, we do not intend to seek an abrogation of the
fishing rights which France enjoys under treaty.

Senator THORVALDSON: I take it, of course, you propose—

Hon. Mr. MARTIN: We propose fully to respect treaty rights. We never
intended in any way to take action that would involve in any way a diminution
of treaty rights.

Senator THORVALDSON: Consequently this bill and the result of it could not
possibly have as favourable a result as would have been the case if the 1960
conference in Geneva had succeeded in approving of the resolution which was
before it, even with the 10-year phasing out period.

Hon. Mr. MARTIN: If it was intended in Geneva to abrogate treaty rights,
that would be the case; but I am not so sure that that was the intention. What
was sought there was the establishment of a 12-mile fishing zone by multi-
lateral agreement.

Senator THORVALDSON: Then would I be correct in saying that if historic
and treaty rights are not to be negotiated with those countries, the results
of this bill cannot be very considerable.

Some hon. MEMBERS: Oh.
20764—2
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Hon. Mr. MaRTIN: It will have tremendous effects. First of all it will
" establish the 12-mile fishing zone, which is the objective. That is the achieve-
ment.

Senator THORVALDSON: I recognize that.

Hon. Mr. MaRrTIN: That is what we are after and that is what we are going
to do. No matter what happens to the negotiation, that is what we are going
to do. That is provided in section 4 of the bill.

Senator THORVALDSON: We do that unilaterally of course.

Hon. Mr. MARTIN: That is the objective and we had recourse to this only
as a last resort. The United States and France have certain historic rights,
certain treaty rights, and we have made known we respect these. The answer
to your question would have to be determined in the light of the nature of the
catch, the worth of the catch of the two countries concerned. This will have a
tremendous effect for us and will add considerably to the potential of the
economic power of Canada’s fishing industry.

Senator THORVALDSON: I was going to ask a question about respecting treaty
rights and historic rights. The substance of my question was that it is pre-
sumed that there will be no negotiations in regard to those rights on the basic
element of the right to fish in certain waters?

Hon. Mr. MARTIN: That is clear. We have made that clear. In the Prime
Minister’s announcement of June 4, he said that we would fully respect these
treaty and historic fishing rights. I would just like to go back to one other
question. You drew an inference that what we would get out of this bill
would be substantially what we hoped to get out of a successful international
conference. It did not yield the result we wanted.

That is not exactly the situation. We will be getting, as a result of this
bill, unilaterally, a 12-mile fishing zone. But we will also be adjusting our ter-
ritorial sea and our fishing zone on the basis of straight base fishing lines, which
is new.

Senator KINLEY: I submit that the present arrangement with the United
States under the bilateral treaty is that there is 10 miles across the bays as a
baseline. The United Nations has raised that to 24 miles. With regard to the
rights of the Americans, I think that any rights they have in the restricted ter-
ritory would be subject to the method of fishing. The municipal law or the treaty
rights make them respect that. I have it right here and will quote it to you.
It is the Agreement signed with the United States on July 20, 1912 and it says:

In every bay not hereinafter specifically provided for, the limits of
exclusion shall be drawn 3 miles seaward from a straight line across

the bay in the part nearest the entrance at the first point where the width
does not exceed 10 miles.

The United Nations in 1959 raised that to 24 miles. I think Mr. Ozere will agree
with me on that. Article 1 (1) says:

All future municipal laws, ordinances, or rules for the regulation of
the fisheries by Great Britain, Canada, or Newfoundland in respect
of (1) the hours, days, or seasons when fish may be taken on the treaty
coasts; (2) the method, means, and implements used in the taking
of fish or in carrying on fishing operations; (3) any other regulations
of a similar character; and all alterations or amendments of such laws,
ordinances, or rules shall be promulgated and come into operation within
the first fifteen days of November in each year; provided, however, in
so far as any such law, ordinance, or rule shall apply to a fishery con-

|
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ducted between the 1st day of November and the 1st day of February,
the same shall be promulgated at least six months before the 1st day of
November in each year.

This whole question is the method of fishing—the machine method of
fishing, the mass production by which the Russians, the Americans and our-
selves have produced conditions that we think dangerous to conservation.
At present we make our own fishermen stay outside 12 miles in the deep sea.
Of course there was considerable ministerial discussion on this law. We only
want them to do as we are doing ourselves, and I think that as far as
American rights are concerned that is a fair proposition.

Hon. H. RoBICHAUD: I have very little to add to this except that, as has
been said, the American fishery operation would not be disturbed. It has
been made clear in our negotiations that any operation within Canadian waters
will be subject to agreed Canadian fishery regulations. I think this is the point
you had in mind.

Senator McCuUTCHEON: I assume this means that you contemplate when this
becomes effective, requiring the American trawlers, the large trawlers for
example, to stay outside the 12-mile limit, just as ours are.

Hon. Mr. RoBicHAUD: This is a matter which is under negotiation. This
has been discussed between the Americans and ourselves. We cannot say at
this time exactly what the decision would be but we are negotiating with the
Americans as to their operation, the operation of their draggers and ours of
similar size.

Senator McCUTCHEON: So you still have a situation where our fishermen
using one type of equipment would have to stay outside, beyond the 12
miles, and other fishermen using similar equipment would be able to fish
within it?

Hon. Mr. MarTiN: I think it will be possible to arrive at some under-
standing with the United States which will provide through some conciliatory
arrangements the application of rules to both countries.

Senator McCuTcHEON: But that will involve negotiation?

The CHAIRMAN: Yes, that is what he said.

Hon. Mr. RoBicHAUD: We hope there will be finalized negotiations whereby
there will be no discrimination between United States fishermen and our
Canadian fishermen.

Senator McCutcHEON: Well, that is a matter for negotiation.

Mr. Chairman, the minister in his statement referred to what would be the
legal effect of this bill coming in and in the first place he referred to countries
which had no historic fishing rights. He said they will not be able to come in,
and he interjected, “at least, according to Canadian law.” Is there not the
possibility they might come in, and if so, what happens?

Hon. Mr. MARTIN: That was the point anticipated by Senator Brooks in
his speech. He talked about enforcement. I think we have got to feel our way
in this, senator. We will proclaim our law, and Canada will have to take every
measure at its disposal to see that that law is enforced. After, of course, we
will have concluded certain arrangements with countries with which we are
now negotiating, I am satisfied that they will respect our law. However, if they
or any other country do not, we would regard that as a violation of our law,
and would have to take those steps within our power to enforce it.

Senator McCuTcHEON: Including going to the International Court of
Justice? -

Hon. Mr. MARTIN: It could involve that, or could involve arbitration.
20764—2}
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Senator McCUTCHEON: Coming to the baselines, you used the words, I
believe, “includes Canadian internal waters.”” Is the minister free to state
what bodies he has in mind in that connection?

Hon. Mr. MARTIN: Our case is pretty well based upon the submissions made
by the Fisheries Council to the Minister of Fisheries last January. I can see no
harm in my reciting the names of the bodies of water, although I don’t want
to get into any detailed discussion about our position. The ’podies are: Bay of
Fundy, Gulf of St. Lawrence, Hudson Bay, Hecate Strait, Dixon Entrance, and
Queen Charlotte Sound. .

Senator McCuTcHEON: So that really what the bill will do, when it be-
comes fully effective, is to create some Canadian internal seas over which we
exercise complete and absolute jurisdiction. It will create a territorial zone,
which will be effectively larger than the present territorial zone?

The CHAIRMAN: By the difference between sinuosity and straight lines.

Senator McCuTcHEON: Yes, and that might make quite a difference.

The CHAIRMAN: Yes.

Senator McCuTcHEON: And create a nine-mile fishing zone outside that.
Really, it is a series of negotiations of fishing rights which are on the base-
line principle?

Hon. Mr. MARTIN: Do you mind if I do not answer that, in the interest of a
successful negotiation?

Senator McCUTcHEON: I will not ask any question to embarrass negotiations
at all.

Hon. Mr. MARTIN: Thank you, honourable senator. With regard to the
United States and France, there is no difficulty on the question of their inter-
pretation of their fishing rights.

Senator McCuTcHEON: I think you have answered my question.

Senator THORVALDSON: I wonder if I might ask one more question? I want
to say to the minister that I do not ask in a critical way, because I am very
pleased that a method has been found to deal with the problem, which I
realize is a long term one. However, I think it is of some importance for the
committee to know further in regard to the question that I asked some time
ago, that is, whether the phasing-out period of ten years, which was 1960,
and which I suspect was proposed by the United States delegation at the
conference, did or did not include first the question of treaty rights—and
perhaps it did not—but historic rights. I see Mr. Alan Gotlieb present, and he
was at that conference. Possibly he can answer that question, because I feel
that I want to express the view that certainly it is essential for us to negotiate
in regard to historic rights sooner or later.

Hon. Mr. MARTIN: The fact is that nothing happened at Geneva which
would have abrogated or diminished the treaty rights enjoyed.

Mr. Alan E. Gotlieb, Deputy Head, Legal Division, Department of External Affairs:
As I understand it, sir, the conventions to be adopted at Geneva on those points
would not have abrogated existing treaty obligations. They would have been
solemn obligations, which once established one would be compelled to honour.

Senator THORVALDSON: I quite realize that we could not expect information
which would affect treaty rights, but what about historic rights? As Mr.
Gotlieb knows, there is a serious question in the minds of the majority of
countries in the world on historic rights which continue to have any basic
significance, because the rights held by the old maritime nations are not had
by the new nations.
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Mr. GoTLIEB: Sir, I think the intention was that historic rights would be
allowed for ten years, and after would cease; but unfortunately the countries
of the world could not get agreement on that rule.

Senator THORVALDSON: That is an answer to the question.

Hon. Mr. MARTIN: The senator points out, though, and this goes back to
his earlier question to me, that if that conference had succeeded more would
have been yielded from it than would have yielded from some aspects of the
bill before us. I think we have to admit that is the case. But the conference
did not succeed. Against that, we have in this bill the straight baselines that
were not provided for at the conference.

Senator BROOKS: Mr. Chairman, I would like to ask one question in that
connection. Has Norway not adopted the phasing-out period? You were speak-
ing about the phasing-out period and the conference in Geneva of 1960, and
I am asking if Norway had not adopted that phasing-out period as far as other
nations were concerned?

Mr. GoTLIEB: I believe Norway has been involved in rather a series of
negotiations with other countries, and in some cases, in any event, they have
been seeking a phasing-out period.

Senator BrROOKS: Without too much success?

Mr. GoTLIEB: I believe they had some success with certain countries, but
they have been mnegotiating on this for quite a while.

Senator THORVALDSON: There is one more question that I think should be
on the record. Canada, of course, supported the resolution which included the
10-year phasing-out period; isn’t that correct?

The CHAIRMAN: Any other questions?
Senator KINLEY: I should like to put on record, Mr Chairman, something

I shall read from volumes I to III of the “Conference on the Law of the Sea,”
under “Fishing Rights”. This is from the official records of the United Nations.

Article 13 reads:
If a river flows directly into the sea, the baseline shall be a
straight line across the mouth of the river between points on the low-
tide line on the banks.

Now, with regard to “going it alone,” as it is called, I should like to read
from page 139, article 6, which is an interpretation:
A coastal state has a special interest in the maintenance of the
productivity of the living resources in any area of the high seas ad-
jacent to its territorial sea.

Then article 7:

Having regard to the provisions of paragraph 1 of article 6,—
—and that is the one I read—

—any coastal State may, with a view to the maintenance of the pro-
ductivity of the living resources of the sea, adopt unilateral measures
of conservation appropriate to any stock of fish or other marine resources
in any area of the high seas adjacent to its territorial sea, provided that
negotiations to that effect with the other States concerned have not led
to an agreement within six months.

That is definite. You have to justify it afterwards, and the question was
asked if there was any appeal from this. There is no immediate appeal, but
you have 12 months to work it out, and then there can be an appeal.
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Article 8 says, in part:
2. If no agreement is reached within twelve months, such State may
initiate the procedure contemplated by article 9.

And article 9 says:

4, The commission shall determine its own procedure, assuring
each party to the proceedings a full opportunity to be heard and to
present its case. It shall also determine how the costs and expenses
shall be divided between the parties of the dispute, failing agreement
by the parties on this matter.

That would take about three years to carry out afterwards. It seems to me
that the way you proceeded by unilateral negotiation is the way it is intended
in the charter.

Furthermore, I said there was 24 miles.

4. If the distance between the low water marks of the natural
entrance points of a bay does not exceed 24 miles, a closing line may
be drawn between these two low-water marks, and the waters enclosed
thereby shall be considered as internal waters.

5. Where the distance between the low-water marks of the natural
entrance points of a bay exceeds 24 miles, a straight baseline of 24
miles shall be drawn within the bay in such a manner as to enclose
the maximum area of water that is possible with a line of that length.

Then paragraph 3:

For the purpose of measurement, the area of an identation is that
lying between the low-water mark around the shore of the indentation
and a line joining the low-water marks of its natural entrance points.
Where, because of the presence of islands, an indentation has more
than one mouth, the semi-circle shall be drawn on a line as long as the
sum total of the lengths of the lines across the different mouths. Islands
within an indentation shall be included as if they were part of the
water area of the indentation.

That defines what the United Nations have done since we made our agreement
with the United States.

I want to say with regard to the treaty rights of France and the United
States, I think their presence on the coast of Newfoundland makes their in-
terests almost similar to those of Newfoundland. I also wish to say that they
had the right to cure and dry fish. That was outmoded 50 years ago; the
Americans do not do that any more in Newfoundland.

Furthermore, the right to fish in perpetuity let them go up the coast line.
They had that right on the west coast of Newfoundland, and I do not think
you can do much otter trawling on the west coast of Newfoundland because it
is too rocky. The treaty coast also extends from Ramea Island to Cape Ray,
and also on the coast of Labrador and the Magdalen Islands. But surely they
will not dare to go inside the three-mile limit, and if we make it 12 miles the
Americans and we must conform to the same thing. We have to have equal
rights because we must stop mass production on the coast for the protection
of the inshore fishermen.

The CHAIRMAN: Are there any other questions you want to ask the minis-
ter? I should point out to you, for your guidance, we have here the Minister of
Fisheries, Mr. Robichaud, and his Assistant Deputy Minister, Mr. Ozere; and
from the Justice Department, Mr. Affleck, the Assistant Deputy Minister. Mr.
Martin has his assistant, the Assistant Under Secretary of State for External
Affairs, and Mr. Gaskell of the Cabinet Secretariat. We also have present Mr.
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O’Brien of the Fisheries Council of Canada; and the Department of Transport
represented by Mr. Macgillivray, who is the assistant counsel.

If there is any point on this bill, legal or factual, on which you want
further information we have a large array of witnesses here, and it is for the
committee to decide to what extent they want to hear them.

Senator BROOKS: I understood that the special reason for having this meet-
ing this morning was to hear Mr. Martin, who is leaving the country and who
would not be available for some time. This is a great array of information that
we would have.

The ‘CHAIRMAN: I am offering it to you.

Senator BrRoOOKs: But are we to take it all at one gulp?

The CHAIRMAN: Your capacity is pretty good, Senator Brooks.

Senator Brooks: Not that good. I think we should hear the Minister of
Fisheries, and then perhaps these other gentlemen could attend later.

The CHAIRMAN: I was going to suggest we could excuse Mr. Martin now,
who has other duties to attend to. I want to thank him on behalf of the com-
mittee for the excellent presentation he has made.

Senator BROOKS: And we wish him bon voyage.

Hon. SENATORS: Hear, hear.

The CHAIRMAN: Now, Mr. Robichaud. Gentlemen, we have the Minister of
Fisheries present. Are there any questions you would like to direct to him, or is
there a statement you would like to make, Mr. Robichaud, in addition to what
Mr. Martin has said?

Hon. Mr. RoBicHAUD: Honourable senators, no, I do not think there is
any need for any additional statement. My colleague has covered the whole
aspect of the bill. ;

Senator BROOKS: There were certain phases which he did not mention,
as Senator Kinley mentioned, and that is the preservation of the fish and
the fisheries our fishermen have in certain areas where outside fishermen come
in to trawl. I think we would like to have a statement on that.

Hon. Mr. RoBICHAUD: Mr. Chairman, I understand that the matter raised
by Senator Kinley has to do with fishing on the high seas and, as we all know,
we have international commissions which are dealing with that aspect of the
problem. We have, on the Atlantic coast, the ICNAF—the International Com-
mission of North Atlantic Fisheries—where all the countries interested in the
fishing operation of the North Atlantic area are part of this commission. On the
Pacific coast we have also a number of commissions, such as the North Pacific
Treaty, and others. So the matter raised by Senator Kinley had to do particu-
larly with this aspect of the fishery. Besides that, as has been mentioned by
my colleague, the present interpretation of the baseline will by itself give
additional protection to our inshore fishermen.

Senator BAmrD: That is the very purpose of the bill, I presume?

Hon. Mr. RoBicHAUD: Exactly. I could also add, for the information of
honourable senators, that it is our intention and we are now considering
applying special fishery regulations to certain areas, particularly on the At-
lantic coast where there is a very active inshore fishery. This we will do for
the specific protection of our inshore fishermen.

Senator HOLLETT: I am very happy to hear that. I am from Newfoundland.
I am sorry I came in late, and I did not hear the honourable minister at all.
As I came in late, this may have been touched on. In regard to the base fixing
the geographical co-ordinates, has it been determined where these points will be
located? Take Placentia Bay, for instance—there are others too—can you tell
us whether these co-ordinates will protect the whole bay or only part of it?
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Hon. Mr. RoBicHAUD: I think this matter has been covered by my colleague,
the Secretary of State for External Affairs, and it has been made very clear
that at this time, while negotiations are still going on—and as has been men-
tioned, we have completed the first phase of our negotiations and we are now
getting down to details—it would not be fair to some of the countries involved
if we made public now the exact points which would be used. But I think it
has also been clarified, to some extent, by my colleague when he mentioned the
proposal that was made to the Government in January, 1963 by the Fisheries
Council of Canada, and he said we have particularly used that proposal that
was made to the Government as a matter of discussions or negotiations with the
countries interested.

Senator HOLLETT: How are we going to know whether to support this bill
or not, if we do not know what part of our coast is going to be affected? You
say it would be unfair to say so now?

Hon. Mr. RosicHAUD: If we made public now the co-ordinates by which
the order in council wil be determined, which this Government gives power
to make by enabling legislation—I want to repeat what has been said by my
colleague—it would not be fair. It could render more difficult our negotiation.
I repeat what he said, that the basis of our negotiation has been the proposal
made to the Government by the Fisheries Council. This is a public document
and I think, Mr. Chairman, that if anyone goes through those proposals, he
will have a pretty good idea of the basis on which the discussions are taking
place.

Senator Brooks: May I ask the honourable minister this. He says, “We
have completed our first phase of negotiations”. How many phases does he
expect the negotiations to comprise, and what were the first phases of the
negotiations? Could he tell us that, or how far we have got with it?

Hon. Mr. RoBicHAUD: The phases of negotiations have been different with
different countries. For example, with the United States we have met with
them on three or I could say four different occasions because personally I had
a special meeting last week with them. With some of the other countries, they
have sent their representatives. We have made clear to them what our intent
was. We have made clear to them on what basis we were prepared to have
discussions or negotiate.

Senator BrRoOOKS: For instance, you have made it clear to them that you
have an intent to have the Bay of Fundy as territorial waters?

The CHAIRMAN: As an inland sea?

Hon. Mr. RoBicHAUD: If you want this as an example, I am not prepared
to say this was the term that we have used, but we have made clear to them
what our intentions were, to establish a new territorial sea which would have
three miles based on headland to headland and then with a nine miles fishing
zone as provided by this bill.

Senator HOLLETT: Would it be fair to say with what countries you have
negotiated?

Hon. Mr. RoBicHAUD: Yes we have negotiated already with the United
States, France, Norway, Spain, Portugal, United Kingdom, Denmark, Japan
and Italy.

Senator HoLLETT: Not with the U.S.S.R.?

Hon. Mr. RoBicHAUD: Not at this stage.

Senator THORVALDSON: Why has all this negotiation been necessary with
these countries? I presume you would be able to follow the principles laid
down or set forth in the Anglo-Norwegian case of 1951, and I would have

thought, that fixing our baselines, was our own business more than anyone
else’s.
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Hon. Mr. RoBicHAUD: It is true, Mr. Chairman, that it has been made
clear we are taking a unilateral position; but the Prime Minister made a
statement in the House on June 4—and I think could read the last paragraph
—making it very clear it was the intention of the Government that, before
proceeding in taking this unilateral position, the countries involved would
have a chance of discussing with us, that we would make it clear to them what
our position was and then we would have discussion with them.

Senator THORVALDSON: Did he specifically refer to the question of
baselines?

Hon. Mr. RoBicHAUD: He referred to the whole proposal. We are taking
a unilateral position on baselines, on territorial sea and on fishing zones. Those
were the three points mentioned by the Prime Minister in his statement. The
last sentence of his statement in the House said:

Discussions will also be opened as soon as possible with other countries
affected, and it is our hope and belief that we will be able to reach
agreement with such countries on mutually satisfactory arrangements.

This is the procedure that we have been following.

Senator HoLLETT: In other words, that order in council under section 5
will depend on negotiations you have with the various countries fishing off
our coast?

Hon. Mr. RoBicHAUD: To some extent, yes.

The CHAIRMAN: I would say, if agreements are reached.

Senator HOLLETT: If agreements are reached, that will be quite simple.
But if no agreement is reached?

The CHAIRMAN: Then we have to take our own course.

Senator KINLEY: I would like to say something which would be of interest
to fishermen. You must put lighthouses on the points of the coast from which
these lines are to be measured, so that there will be no question of their not
knowing where the demarkation lines are.

The United Nations say that you must put up a lighthouse on the points
in the bays from which these lines are measured so that there will be no
trouble among the seamen, no confusion, and they will know whether they
are inside or outside the line.

Hon. Mr. RoBicHAUD: When the maps have been drawn up, as was men-
tioned by my colleague from the department concerned, they will be made
available to the countries who are operating in our waters. They will know
just as well as they know at present where the three-mile limit is.

Senator KINLEY: They do not want to take the wrong light.
The CHAIRMAN: Then we would have to work out a system of colours.

Senator FLynN: I think there is some contradiction between the answer
we obtained from the Minister of External Affairs and the answer given by
the Minister of Fisheries now. If we were not to establish a 12-mile fishing
zone, but only to define the territorial sea of three miles with a straight base-
line, we would have to negotiate.

Hon. Mr. RoBicHAUD: If we limit ourselves?

Senator FLYNN: To establish the three-mile territorial sea based on a
straight baseline.

Hon. Mr. RoBicHAUD: Mr. Chairman, I think the question is, we would have
to negotiate?

Senator FLyNN: Yes.
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Hon. Mr. RoBIcHAUD: No, I do not think we would have had to negotiate but
we would have had to have enabling legislation to do it, because it affects five
or six different bills.

Senator FLYNN: That may be; this is only a legal question.

The CHAIRMAN: Senator, even the three-mile territorial sea as provided
for in this bill, the location and the area that it will occupy, will be different
by reason of being based on straight baselines as against the sinuosities of the
coastline.

Senator FLYNN: I agree, but the Minister of External Affairs said, if I am
right, that the rules laid down in the Anglo-Norwegian case were generally
accepted, that we could base a baseline on straight lines.

The CHAIRMAN: I understood what the minister said was that that was
their interpretation of that case.

Senator FLynn: I think he went further than that and said it was prac-
tically the accepted rule now.

Senator THORVALDSON: That was my point a moment ago.

Hon. Mr. RoBicHAUD: I might go a little further than I did when I first
answered the question. Negotiations would still have been possible, because
even if we were only establishing a new territorial sea based on headland to
headland, it would affect countries like France and the United States which
have treaties with us, and to some extent, probably to a lesser extent, it would
also have affected other countries which have established historic rights.

Senator Brooks: That would be in closed bays, and so on?
Hon. Mr. RoBICHAUD: Small bays and inlets.

The CHAIRMAN: And the extent to which the territorial area was being
involved.

Senator FLYNN: It seems to me that the treaty rights and the method of
drawing lines are two things entirely different and that we can very well
establish a territorial sea of three miles based on straight baselines and, consid-
ering that the treaty rights of France and United States are not affected thereby,
they would apply to other countries and those countries in other respects.

Hon. Mr. RoBicHAUD: This is a legal point which is a little difficult.

Senator FLYNN: I was merely asking you did you negotiate on this par-
ticular point?

The CHAIRMAN: Usually, Senator Flynn, but there are exceptions to the
general laws sooner or later.

Senator FLYNN: I will have questions to put to the representative of that
department,.

Senator HOLLETT: I did not hear the honourable minister. I am thinking
of places in Newfoundland. I am sure the honourable minister has dealt with
that. From one point, my indication is that it is about 100 miles. So it would
appear that a large part of any bay would be open to foreign competition. That
is important to our fishermen and to our livelihood. I wonder if the minister
could make that clear.

Hon. Mr. RoBIcHAUD: We realized the importance and, for the protection
of our fishermen, have certain of those bays closed by the establishment of a
line, headland to headland. But again I think I agree with what my colleague
has said, if we gave details on certain points, whether it should be ten miles
or five miles, we would have no more justification than if it were 100 miles or
90 miles. That is why I referred the honourable gentleman to the proposal that
was made to us by the Fisheries Council. I am sorry, but again I have to limit
my reply on the point to that.
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Senator HoLLETT: That is all I want to know. It has not been established
yet.

Senator McLEAN: Mr. Chairman, I have something I wish to call to the
minister’s attention. About two weeks ago I read an item in the Christian
Science Monitor from the New York Times. Senator Henry Jackson, a sen-
ator from Washington, and one of the most influential senators in the United
States Senate, asked the question if any assurances had been made to Canada
that historic and treaty rights would be preserved if this bill went through. He
did not get an answer. He spoke, of course, of the west coast, and of some his-
toric fishing places there off the coast. Another senator said, “We are buying
$140 million worth of fish in Canada every year, and this matter should be
looked into.” Apparently the Senate did not have any information at that time,
at least Senator Jackson did not get it.

The CHAIRMAN: That does not prove they did not have it.

Hon. Mr. RoBicHAUD: They started to ask for details of negotiations that
had taken place. It could make it much more difficult for us to arrive at a
favourable agreement with them; and I can add that it has also been mentioned
that retaliation might be taken, as you have mentioned, vis a vis our exports.
This matter has never been in question, has never been brought up in our
negotiations. We were discussing the fishery operation, the baseline, the terri-
torial sea, and the fishing zone.

The CHAIRMAN: Any other questions?

Senator HOLLETT: Is there no question of bringing the matter again before
the United Nations before the weeks pass? It almost succeeded, you know.

Hon. Mr. RoBIcHAUD: My colleague, again, has referred to that possibility,
Mr. Chairman, but we all know that it would have taken probably many years,
or a number of years, before the United Nations may have accepted to discuss
this matter again, which came so close in 1960 to being accepted. In the mean-
time, certain countries whose operations are being activated year after year
off our shores may have established historic fishing rights which they would
have claimed then, and this is one of the main reasons for the Government to
proceed at the earliest possible date with the implementation of this legislation.

Senator THORVALDSON: We have been talking a lot about treaty rights. Is
one of the treaties involved the Washington Treaty of 1871, which gave the
United States rights particularly on the east coast?

Hon. Mr. RoBicHAUD: Mr. Chairman, the main treaty involved is the treaty
of 1818.

Senator KINLEY: I do not think the fishing rights under the Washington
Treaty exist any more.

Senator THORVALDSON: That is the point I wanted to make.
Hon. Mr. RoBicHAUD: No; I am told the 1871 treaty is not in effect.

Senator THORVALDSON: So the treaty rights essentially of the United States
and Canada result from the 1818 treaty?

Hon. Mr. RoBicHAUD: That is right.
Senator BRooks: That is on the east coast?
Hon. Mr. RoBicHAUD: That is right.

Senator THORVALDSON: I take it, then, there is no intention whatsoever to
try and renegotiate the 1818 treaty, even in the light of developments in
international law since that time, concerning fishing? I want to see if we can
get a clear answer to that.

Hon. Mr. RoBicHAUD: Mr. Chairman, I can add again what my colleague
said. Not at this stage. We have not taken any decision to renegotiate this treaty.
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The CHAIRMAN: Any other questions?

Senator WHITE: The witness speaks about the fishing rights of the entire
Canadian waters. Have Canadians under this treaty any rights to fish in
American waters?

Hon. Mr. RoBicHAUD: I could add at this time that it has been made clear
the Canadian fishermen should have the same rights, that should the day come
when the Americans decide to impose a 12-mile limit, or its like, we should
have the same historic rights as their fishermen have in our waters.

Senator WHITE: But at the present time do Canadians fish down there?

Hon. Mr. RoBIicHAUD: Yes, they do.

Senator KINLEY: Under the Washington Treaty Canadians had reciprocal
rights on the American coast. That had been abrogated by the Americans.

The CHAIRMAN: Any other questions for the minister?

Senator ASELTINE: Mr. Chairman, I should like to know what organizations
in Canada have been notified of these meetings to consider this bill. I believe
the Fisheries Council of Canada had been notified, and are presently repre-
sented today?

The CHAIRMAN: That is right.

Senator ASELTINE: It is a large organization—with headquarters in Ottawa,
and embraces 15 regional fish trade associations. There is also the Vessel Owners
Association of British Columbia, Vancouver, B.C.; the Newfoundland Federation
of Fishermen, St. John’s, Newfoundland; the Fishermen’s Union; the United
Truckers of Vancouver, B.C.; the Newfoundland Association of Fish Exporters
Limited, St. John’s, Newfoundland. I think these organizations, if they have
not been notified, should be notified, so that they can make representations if
they wish to do so.

The CHAIRMAN: I think the minister has an answer to that.

Hon. Mr. RoBICHAUD: Perhaps I could clarify the position. I mentioned
before that representations had been made last January 1963 by the Fisheries
Council of Canada. In January this year we had, as you all know, the Federal
Fisheries Conference, where all provinces were represented, and where the
industry, or any fisheries organizations were invited to present their briefs.
We had at the time representations made by some of the organizations you have
mentioned, senator, in addition to this, at the time of the Fisheries Council
.meeting in Charlottetown on April 20, I personally met with the ministers of
fisheries for the Atlantic provinces and the representative from the Quebec
Government, where we discussed in as much detail as we could the implications
of legislation which at the time we had decided to present, either to the House
of Commons or to the Senate. So the representations have been made, the view
of the different groups have been expressed.

Senator ASELTINE: But since that time this bill has been introduced.

The CHAIRMAN: But I understood the minister to say that the proposals
incorporated in this bill were discussed with these people he met.

Hon. Mr. RoBICHAUD: That is right; not the details of the bill, because the
bill had not been introduced.

Senator ASELTINE: I still think they should be notified that the bill has
been introduced so that they can satisfy themselves if the bill does comply
with what they feel should be in it.

The CHAIRMAN: Mr. O’Brien, Manager of the Fisheries Council of Canada
is here. Since you are here, Mr. O’Brien, would you come forward? Mr. O’Brien
is subject to any questions which you wish to ask relating to the bill.

Senator ASELTINE: Perhaps he has a statement that he would like to make,
and we could question him later.

R
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Mr. C. Gordon O’Brien, Manager, Fisheries Council of Canada: Mr. Chairman
and honourable senators, I really have no statement. We made our statement
a year ago last January—

Senator ASELTINE: Not before this committee.

Mr. O’'BRIEN: —and it appears from the comments this morning we are
pretty well stuck with it.

Senator LEONARD: Perhaps Mr. O’Brien might file with the committee
a copy of the statement which the Council made so that it could be made part
of our file record.

The CHAIRMAN: This will be appended?

Senator LEONARD: Not printed; just made available to us.

Senator SmritTH (Queens-Shelburne): Mr. Chairman, how large is the
document? Is it very extensive?

The CHAIRMAN: The document itself is only eight short pages?

Senator ASELTINE: I move it be printed as an appendix.

The CHAIRMAN: I take it these are the member associations of the Fisheries
Council of Canada who supported this brief, and I see their names on page
11 of this memorandum:

Atlantic Fisheries By-Products Association,
Halifax, N.S.

Canadian Atlantic Salt Fish Exporters Association,
Halifax, N.S.

Fish Distributors Association of Ontario,

Toronto, Ont.

Fisheries Association of B.C.

Vancouver, B.C.

Frozen Fish Trades Association Limited, The

St. John’s, Newfoundland

Lake Erie Fisheries Council,

Wheatley, Ont.

Montreal Fish Merchants Association,

Montreal, P.Q.

New Brunswick Fish Packers Association,
Moncton, N.B.

Nova Scotia Fish Packers Association,

Halifax, N.S.

Prairie Fisheries Federation,

Winnipeg, Man.

P.E.I. Fisheries Federation,

Charlottetown, P.E.L

Prince Rupert Fishermen’s Cooperative Association,
Prince Rupert, B.C.

Prince Rupert Wholesale Fish Dealers Association,
Prince Rupert, B.C.

Quebec Fish Producers Association,

Quebec, P.Q.

Quebec United Fishermen,

Montreal, P.Q.

These constitute the group in respect of which this presentation was made
by the Fisheries Council of Canada to the Government, is that right?
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Mr. O’'BRIEN: Yes.
The CHAIRMAN: I see no reason why it should not be printed as an
appendix to our printed proceedings. Are the members of the committee in

favour of that? .
Hon. SENATORS: Yes.
(For the text of brief, see Appendix “A” to to-day’s proceedings.)
Senator Brooks: Perhaps while Mr. O’Brien is here he could let us
know some of the main recommendations made by his Council to the Govern-

ment.
Senator THORVALDSON: Before that is printed in the record, I think we
should know if it deals exclusively with the problem we are considering?

Senator Brooks: That is the point I wanted to make.
The CHAIRMAN: Even without reading it, I just look at the table of
contents and it says:
Introduction.
National Waters.
Straight Base Line.
Breadth of Territorial Seas and Exclusive Fishing Zone.
Historic Fishing Rights.
Unilateral Declaration and Enforcement.
Conclusion.

Senator Brooks: Yes, those are all points it would be very interesting
to hear Mr. O’Brien’s comments on.

Mr. O’BrieN: Perhaps I could read the six points in the conclusion, where
we summarize the brief?

The CHAIRMAN: That is page 8.
Mr. O’BRIEN:

Action by the Government of Canada is required to:
1. declare certain bodies of water as Canadian national waters.

We specify certain bodies in the brief and illustrate them on the maps which
we attach to the brief.

Senator BRooks: The list is not long?

Mr. O’BrieN: No. I will not read it in its entirety, but just hit the high-
lights. Dixon entrance and Queen Charlotte Sound, on the west. On the
Atlantic coast, the Strait of Belle Isle, the Gulf of St. Lawrence and the Bay
of Fundy—recognizing at the same time we had already declared Hudson
Bay as national waters. Those were the specific items.

Again referring to the conclusion:

2. establish a straight base line to enclose the national waters,
3. proclaim an exclusive fishing zone to seaward of the base line,
4. recognize and negotiate historic treaty fishing rights,
Senator THORVALDSON: May I ask a question here? What do you mean by

“historic treaty fishing rights”? There are treaty rights and, as I understand it,
there are historic rights, and they are entirely different.

The CHATRMAN: This is developed in some paragraphs in this brief. Would
you like some of it read?

Senator THORVALDSON: No, that is all right.
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Mr. O’Brien: It is perhaps the most lengthy part of the brief, the ex-
planation of historic fishing rights.

Senator BroOoOkS: What was your main reason for recommending the
recognition of the historic rights? Was it trade with the United States?

Mr. O’BrieN: We have treaties with two of the countries involved. The
plain fact is we know the Portuguese have been fishing there longer than we
have, probably, and with a situation like that negotiation would obviously
be necessary.

The CHAIRMAN: And desirable?

Mr. O’BriEN: Yes, and desirable. I think, basically, I could not put it any
more plainly than that, sir.

5. make a unilateral declaration with regard to the aforesaid decisions,
and

6. enforce the above progressive steps.

These are the six points summarizing it.
Senator HoLLETT: How do you propose enforcing them?

Mr. O’BrIEN: We left that to the discretion of the people to whom we
presented the brief.

Senator Brooks: Did you make any different recommendations on the con-
servation?

The CHAIRMAN: The conclusion generally follows what Mr. O’Brien has
enumerated:

The Fisheries Council of Canada is aware that positive action in
implementing the aforesaid progressive steps by the Government of
Canada will not solve all the problems of the Canadian Commercial
Fishing Industry. It will, however, bring about the orderly development
of sound programs of fishery conservation and management for the bene-
fit of present and future generations of Canadians.

Mr. O’'BrieN: I think too, in the introduction to our brief you will see,
when you read it, it is the conservation aspect which prompted this approach
to the Government; this is our main concern.

Senator THORVALDSON: Mr. O’Brien, did you make any recommendation
in regard to what you would like the Government to do concerning the treaty
rights of other countries? You referred to the two countries that had treaty
rights.

The CHAIRMAN: At the bottom of page 6 there are some recommendations.
Mr. O’BRIEN:

It is, therefore, recommended that, in view of these long-standing
Treaties which exist on both coasts, that the Government of Canada im-
mediately enter into negotiations with France and the United States with
the objective of reaching a mutual understanding with regard to their
histori¢ fishing rights in Canada’s national waters as enclosed by the
proposed base line.

Nations not having treaty fishing rights with Canada would be
denied access to the marine resources in Canadian national waters.
With regard to these nations, the Fisheries Council proposes that the
Government of Canada implement Clause No. 3 of the joint Canada-
United States proposal as submitted to the 1960 Law of the Sea Con-
ference. This clause provides that any nation whose vessels have made
a practice of fishing in the outer six miles of Canada’s proposed exclusive
fishing zone for the immediate preceding five years would have the
right to continue to fish for a period of ten years.
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Perhaps I should explain that reference to six miles. Our proposal to the
Government was for a six-mile territorial water plus a six-mile fishing zone,
based on the 1960 resolution which did not quite succeed at Geneva. However,
we are quite happy. What we were concerned about was the 12-mile fishing
zone from the straight baseline. Whether it is three-and-nine or six-and-six
really makes no difference as far as we are concerned.

Senator Isnxor: I wonder if Mr. O’Brien would care to comment with
respect to the bill now before us, as to whether it meets the main suggestions
as outlined in the brief?

Mr. O’Brien: I think, Mr. Chairman, I cannot comment very specifically
on this bill. It is enabling legislation. I think we are going to be very interested
when the Government has concluded its negotiations with the countries in-
volved and tells us, as well as members of Parliament and the honourable sena-
tors, just where these lines are going to go. We do support in principle the
procedure of getting legislation on the books so that we do not have to run
too many more years before the Russians say to us: “We have been fishing
long enough to have historic rights.” At least, this establishes a date on which
we took some definite action and which we can point to. The fact that it may
take a little longer than some of us would like to establish co-ordinates, and
so on, is not a serious matter. We would support getting this thing on record,
that we are taking action to implement the Government’s announced intention.

Senator Bairp: In other words, you are anxious to see that it gets on the
statute book?

Mr. O’BRIEN: Yes.

Senator PHILLips: In the Fisheries Case, they were very definite on the
fact that they wanted certain waters declared as international waters. I wonder
whether Mr. O’Brien would declare whether this bill meets that request or not.

Mr. O’BrieN: I guess I would have to give the same answer, that the bill
is is not specific in regard to these things and until agreements have been
reached with other countries we would not be able to say whether we are
satisfied with what the Government has done, until they tell us what exactly
they are going to do.

The CrHAIRMAN: To tell you where the straight baselines are going to be
located?

Mr. O'BrieN: And what bodies of water will be enclosed. We would hope
that all those we have suggested would come within the new baselines.

Senator PHILLIPS: If the co-ordinates to be published later on follow those
suggestions, you believe they would include all the waters you want.

Senator THORVALDSON: Mr. O’Brien, I do not think you could answer this
question. I am referring now to the east coast of Canada. Could you give the
relationship and the adverse effect on Canadian fisheries by, first, the fishing
that is done on the east coast under treaty rights; and then, on the other
hand, the fishing that is done by various nations either under historic rights
or simply by the rights that they consider they have from international law
at present?

Mr. O’BrienN: The fishing that is done under treaty rights is almost
insignificant in the total picture.

Senator ASELTINE: I understand the brief will be printed as an appendix.
The CuHAlRMAN: That is right.

Senator HoLLETT: Might I ask if this 12-mile limit will assist in the
protection of our sealing industries on the front, as it is called, on the east
coast. Has that been considered?
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Mr. O’BrieN: I think that it would assist. I know that the sealing industry
of Newfoundland particularly is very much concerned over this matter and
would perhaps like to see the baseline in one or two places extended much
farther out than we proposed originally.

Senator PHILLIPS: Following on Senator Hollett’s question, I believe the
minister in Charlottetown made a statement along that line. Perhaps he would
like to comment on it?

Hon. Mr. RoBicHAUD: If I am allowed to comment on it, I may say it will
affect the sealing operations within the 12-mile zone and waters that will be
declared Canadian waters. Outside of that, on the high seas, I want to repeat
that we are attempting to bring into force the protocol of I.C.N.A.F. and it
will be discussed at the annual meeting in Hamburg in June.

The CHAIRMAN: Are you ready to examine the bill clause by clause?

Senator Brooks: Are there any other people who should make rep-
resentations?

The CHAIRMAN: Let me go over the list of those who are here so that
we can see whether there is anyone you would like to call. We have Mr.
Wershof, Assistant Under Secretary of the Department of External Affairs;
Mr. Gaskell; Mr. Affleck, Assistant Deputy Minister, Department of Justice,
who is here on legal aspects. We have the minister; you have heard Mr.
Robichaud. We have the assistant deputy minister, Mr. Ozere. From the
Department of Mines and Technical Surveys we have Mr. Gray, Chief
Dominion Hydrographer, and Mr. Cooper of the Dominion Hydrographic
Survey Branch. We have had Mr. O’Brien. We have the Department of Trans-
port, represented by Mr. Macgillivray, who is Assistant Counsel. Are there
any of these men you would like to hear?

Senator BRoOOKS: Certain legal points were brought up this morning
which neither the Minister of External Affairs nor the Minister of Fisheries
cared to answer. I would think that the legal representatives of th® Depart-
ments of External Affairs and Justice should be heard.

Mr. J. D. Affleck, Assistant Deputy Minister, Department of Justice: I can speak
for the Department of Justice. I think, gentlemen, that the legal experts in the
Department of External Affairs are probably more familiar with this.

The CHAIRMAN: We could gather them round, too.

Senator FLYNN: My question is that which I put before. The present
baseline mentioned in paragraph 3 of article 5, baselines which remain in effect
until there is an order in council adopted under this bill—under what authority
are they established? '

Mr. AFFLECK: There is no existing legislation or in fact anything describing
baselines at all. There is no general legislation.

Senator FLYNN: Who has established in fact those baselines?

Mr. AFFLECK: I do not know any statute describing baselines. If one were
to consider what is a baseline now on one part of the coast, one would have to
consider the established feature of the coast in any case. It could be the low
water mark, it could follow the historic bays, or the harbour works.

Senator FLYNN: There is nothing in our statutes that would give any
legal value to any baselines which are presently applicable, as mentioned in
paragraph 3 of article 5 of this bill?

Mr. AFFLECK: There is no general statute which now provides for the
creation or description of baselines.

Senator FLYNN: Nothing special?
20764—3
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Mr. AFFLECK: There is of course now in the case of a couple of statutes,
for their own specific purposes. In the Customs Act you have a definition of
Canadian waters; it does not prescribe a baseline but there is a definition of
what is intended to be included in that act. You have also in the Coastal
Fisheries Protection Act a definition—I am not sure what the existing term
js—the Canadian territorial waters for the purpose of that act—but again these
are definitions in specific statutes for the purposes of those statutes; and there
is no general law. ;

Senator FLYNN: Could we conclude, therefore, that you could establish
straight baselines without this legislation, which would be as valid and as
applicable as the present baselines. This does not improve the situation?

Mr. AFFLECK: I am not quite sure how you could do it. I suppose people
could draw maps and put lines on them, but I suppose it would be better to
have some statutory authority before that takes place.

Senator Cook: In other words, you have no statutory authority to draw
lines on the maps?

Senator FLYNN: The baselines are prepared by the Department of Mines
and Technical Surveys?

Mr. AFrFLECK: I do not think there is any map showing existing baselines.

Senator FLYNN: To what are we referring in this paragraph 3, article 5
when we say “Baselines remain those applicable immediately before the
coming into force of this section”? It must refer to something factual.

Mr. ArrFLECK: We could mean that up to a given part of the coast could
properly now be regarded as a baseline; for that part of the coast it frequently
would be the low water mark. '

Senator FLYNN: The low water mark would serve for these baselines,
because it is in accordance with tradition now. If we adopt the rules laid down
in the Norwegian case, we could draw baselines in fact in the same way as
we have®drawn those baselines based on the low water mark?

Mr. AFFLECK: Yes.

Senator FLYNN: Because in this legislation we are not referring to any
specific rule to establish those straight baselines, we are not even referring to
the case, which apparently is the leading case in this matter, and upon which
is based the idea of establishing straight baselines.

The CHAIRMAN: Except, senator, the Secretary of State for External Affairs
did say the old lines for determining the territorial waters seemed to proceed
on the sinuosity of the coastline; and this is intended to be a departure from
that and to establish straight lines.

Senator FLYNN: But it is not stated in the act as it is drawn.

The CHAIRMAN: Under section 5, that is a job still to be done after the bill
becomes law and the act is proclaimed by Governor in Council.

Senator THORVALDSON: May I ask a question, to continue on the question
of the baseline? I would like to know whether the law officers of the Crown
are not able to advise the Government, following the principles of the Anglo-
Norway case, whether Canada itself is not empowered in international law to
draw its own baselines without negotiation with other countries.

Mr. AFrLECK: I think the people from External Affairs could answer that
better than I. My own impression is that Canada can unilaterally apply the
baseline system as is proposed in this bill.

Senator THORVALDSON: That is my view. ;

Mr. ArFLECK: This would not prevent other countries challenging what-
ever line is drawn, and possibly, for that matter, seeking some kind of
adjudication in the International Court of Justice at some later date.
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The CHAIRMAN: Senator Thorvaldson, I cannot imagine any other country
drawing our baselines. They might dispute a baseline, once we said ‘“this is it”.

Senator THORVALDSON: That was my whole point, Mr. Chairman, and
consequently I was concerned and could not understand why all this negotia-
tion was taking place with other countries. I can quite see that other countries
might want to challenge what we do, but I cannot see why Canada does not
simply go ahead and draw its own baselines, and then negotiate subject to
challenges.

The CHAIRMAN: Except that that is an arbitrary course of action.

Senator THORVALDSON: It is not arbitrary at all, Mr. Chairman.

The CHAIRMAN: Arbitrary in the sense that you are saying ‘“this is it”,
whereas, as I understand the plan here, there will be some discussion as to
whether that straight line is going to enclose in the waters a five-mile area or
ten miles. You can extend your territorial limits on this by the location, by
the departures you make from sinuosity, and how far out you start your
straight line. That distance may be a matter of negotiation, and with friendly
countries I presume that is a better way of dealing with the situation.

Senator THORVALDSON: We may not be very far apart on this point, Mr.
Chairman. I have another question. I wonder if we could get a statement from
some of the law officers, either from the Department of Justice or the Depart-
ment of External Affairs, as to what in their opinion the general legal effect
of this bill under the present status of international law will be.

Mr. AFFLECK: I am not quite sure what you mean by your questiomn,
senator.

Senator THORVALDSON: In other words, apart from the question of base-
lines, which I maintain we have a right to draw ourselves, pursuant to
the decision of international law we have been talking about, has this bill
any other effect than merely as the prelude to negotiations with other states?

Mr. AFFLECK: Yes. I think this bill will have a domestic effect, as far
as domestic law is concerned. The territorial sea is described in it, and the
fishing zone, where applicable, in other states. It will serve as a sort of interpre-
tation act for other Canadian laws, from a domestic point of view.

Senator THORVALDSON: Is it anything more than simply a statement of
what Canada believes should be a territorial sea three miles from the base-
lines, and then a contiguous fishing zone of nine miles, after a three mile limit?
Is this ont merely a statement of what we hope to achieve through negotiation?

The CHAIRMAN: No, I think, honourable senator, if I might answer, it
goes further than that.

Senator THORVALDSON: Mr. Chairman, please—

Senator CRERAR: Mr. Chairman, I rise on a point of order.

The CHAIRMAN: That is in order at any time.

Senator CRERAR: The question of where baselines are, how they would
be drawn, how far zones should extend, is a matter of Government policy, and
I do not think we should ask the civil servants who are here, and who have
intimate relationships with the Government, to pass their opinions upon these
matters.

The CHAIRMAN: But, senator, the question did not go that far. As I
understood the question, this witness was asked what did he think this
bill, if it becomes law, would achieve. Is it only an expression of the Gov-
ernment’s viewpoint, or what effect will it have?

Senator THORVALDSON: That is right—what effect will it have?

The CHAIRMAN: So it is not a disclosure of policy.
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Mr. AFFLECK: I cannot comment, of course, on policy. I do not know
what baselines will be drawn, in any event. But the bill will, when you take
all parts of it, apply the concept of the territorial sea and the fishing zone as
measured from straight baselines, once the whole scheme is in operation and
the list of co-ordinates are published to maintain legislation. Now, six statutes
in part 2 are the ones most affected, and probably the most important piece of
legislation is the Coastal Fisheries Protection Act.

Senator THORvVALDSON: I think probably your answer is complete. In other
words, the bill applies a Canadian concept?

Mr. ArrLECK: That is right.

The CHAIRMAN: Any other questions?

Senator KINLEY: Mr. Chairman, I should like to have a comment from the
law officers with respect to article 2 of an agreement signed at Washington,
July 20, 1912, and entitled, “Agreement between His Majesty and the United
States of America respecting the North Atlantic Fisheries.” It reads as
follows:

In case of bays the 3 marine miles are to be measured from a
straight line drawn across the body of water at a place where it
ceases to have the configuration and characteristics of a bay. At all
other places the 3 marine miles are to be measured following the
sinuosities of the coast.

It continues:

Now, therefore, it is agreed that the recommendations, in so far as
the same relate to bays contiguous to the territory of the Dominion of
Canada, to which Question V of the Special Agreement is applicable,
are hereby adopted, to wit:

In every bay not hereinafter specifically provided for, the limits
of exclusion shall be drawn 3 miles seaward from a straight line
across the bay in the part nearest the entrance at the first point
where the width does not exceed 10 miles.

For the Baie de Chaleurs the limits of exclusion shall be drawn
from the line from the Light at Birch Point on Miscou Island to
Macquereau Point Light; for the Bay of Miramichi, the line from
the Light at Point Escuminac to the Light on the eastern point of
Tabisintac Gully; for Egmont Bay, in Prince Edward Island, the
line from the Light at Cape Egmont to the Light at West Point;
and off St. Ann’s Bay, in the Province of Nova Scotia, the line from
the Light at Point Anconi to the nearest point on the opposite shore
of the mainland.

I think that is definite.

Mr. ArrFLECK: That is a treaty, though, on fishing rights. I am afraid I
am not too familiar with that.

Senator KINLEY: This shows where the lines will be drawn.
Mr. ArrLECK: This does not affect the baselines drawn under this bill.

Senator KINLEY: No. This is an agreement between His Majesty and the
United States, and I believe it still exists.

The CHAIRMAN: That is right.
Senator KiNLEY: But the United Nations has raised it 24 miles.

The CHAIRMAN: Any other questions of Mr. Affleck? I think we Havé had a
pretty solid working period, senators. I never like to run away from anything,
but if the senators feel we should adjourn and start again some time—
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Senator ASELTINE: I would like an opportunity to read a report of this
committee.

The CHAIRMAN: What is the wish of the members?

Senator BROOKS: I see the Deputy Minister of Fisheries here. He has the
reputation of being one of our best men. I should think we could hear from him,
perhaps not this morning, because we have had a busy morning.

The CHAIRMAN: We have had a good working period. Shall we adjourn now
until the call of the Chair?

Hon SENATORS: Agreed.
The committee adjourned.
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INTRODUCTION

The Fisheries Council of Canada representing the commercial fishing in-
dustry of Canada,! has an interest in ensuring that the fisheries resources
in the waters adjacent to our coastlines are conserved and developed in the
interests of Canadian citizens, both at the present time and in the future.
For this reason, the Council wishes to present its views with regard to the
jurisdiction over waters adjacent to Canada.

The Fisheries Council of Canada recognizes that there are many inter-
national and national complications with regard to establishing the breadth
of territorial seas and therefore, it is not intended that this submission should
apply to any other aspect of national or international laws except fisheries.

The rapid increase in world fishing effort and efficiency has focused
attention on the fact that unless adequate safeguards are taken, the marine
resources, that have played such a vital role in the development of the
Canadian economy, will be harvested by foreign fishing fleets. It is our opinion
that unless Canada takes immediate action to protect and conserve the marine
fishery resources, they will be rapidly depleted by reason of the incursion of
foreign fishing fleets.

Fishery resources harvested by Canadian fishermen in or out of Canadian
territorial waters are also exploited by fishermen of other countries in the high
seas adjacent to Canadian territorial waters. For several centuries the fishery
stocks in the Northwest Atlantic have been exploited by the fishermen of
Europe as well as those of North America. Similarly, on the Pacific Coast of
Canada, the fishery resources on which the Canadian fishing industry depends
are accessible to foreign fishermen beyond Canadian territorial waters. The
same problem exists in the Great Lakes region where a common fishery
resource is exploited by both the Canadian and United States fishermen.

To meet the problem of conservation of certain fishery resources, treaties
have been negotiated with some participating countries. In addition to these
bilateral and multilateral treaties between nations jointly interested in certain
fishery resources, considerable progress has been made recently in inter-
national meetings to establish an all-embracing code of the Law of the Sea.
Such a code would establish international rules for the conservation and
management of high seas fisheries which are beyond the national territorial
limits and as such are not within the jurisdiction of any nation, except to the
extent that any state may exercise control over its own nationals and vessels.

To protect, conserve and develop the fisheries resources adjacent to
Canadian shores, the Fisheries Council of Canada urges the Government of
Canada to take the following action:—

1) Declare certain bodies of water as Canadian national waters, and
adopt the straight base line principle, from which line the breadth of territorial
seas and exclusive fishing zone would be measured.

2) Recognize the historic fishing rights of France and the United States
of America in Canadian national waters as established by the Treaty of
Utrecht and the Convention of 1818.

3) Enter into negotiations with France and the United States _seeking
recognition of Canadian national waters and the base line enclosing these
waters.

iSee Appendix No. 3.
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4) Make a unilateral declaration with regard to Canadian national waters
and the straight base line, once an understanding is reached with France and
the United States.

5) Enforce the Canadian maritime boundaries, thereby preventing all
other foreign fishing fleets, save the aforesaid, from exploiting the marine
resources in the declared national waters and the territorial seas.

Positive action by the Government of Canada in implementing the above
progressive steps is imperative and will permit planned programs of fisheries’
management and conservation. Such programs will ensure a means of live-
lihood for Canadians engaged in the primary fishing operation and in the many
processing and ancillary industries.

NATIONAL WATERS

Canada must declare that certain bodies of water adjacent to her coasts
are, for the purposes of fishing regulations and conservation, Canadian national
waters in which no foreign fishing fleets may operate without the consent of
the Government of Canada.

Early records of the Government of Canada as well as Provincial docu-
ments make many references to the fact that bodies of water partially enclosed
by the mainland are Canadian national waters.

Respecting Pacific coast waters, a report of The Committee of the Privy
Council, dated July 6, 1909, and approved by The Governor-in-Council,
declared that the waters of Hecate Strait shall, for the purpose of fishing
regulations and conservation, be deemed part of the territorial waters of Canada
and within the jurisdiction of the Federal Department of Fisheries. It is
essential that this Order-in-Council be re-asserted and enlarged to include not
only the waters of Hecate Strait, but also Dixon Entrance and Queen Charlotte
Sound. The Fisheries Council of Canada stresses the importance of the Govern-
ment of Canada declaring these waters to be Canadian national waters.

On the Atlantic Coast the Strait of Belle Isle, the Gulf of St. Lawrence
and the Bay of Fundy should be declared and recognized as Canadian national
waters in the same manner as Hudson’s Bay, which has been recognized inter-
nationally as Canadian national waters for at least thirty years and has been
so declared by Parliament (see Statutes of Canada, 1932, c.42, s.9(4)).

The claim to jurisdiction over these bodies of water on both the Atlantic
and Pacific Coast is justified by the extensive fishery carried out by Canadian
fishermen for many decades.

STRAIGHT BASE LINE

To protect the fishery resources in water adjacent to Canada, the Council
advocates that the breadth of territorial seas be measured seaward from a
straight base line. This base line would be drawn headland to headland fol-
lowing the practice of other maritime nations of the world and would be in
accordance with the decision of the International Court of Justice in the case
of the United Kingdom versus Norway, known as the An<ns1:XMLFault xmlns:ns1="http://cxf.apache.org/bindings/xformat"><ns1:faultstring xmlns:ns1="http://cxf.apache.org/bindings/xformat">java.lang.OutOfMemoryError: Java heap space</ns1:faultstring></ns1:XMLFault>